
Incline Village General Improvement District 
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin. 
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451 • (775) 832-1100 • EMAIL: info@ivgid.org 

www.yourtahoeplace.com 

The regular meeting of the Incline Village General Improvement District Board of Trustees will be held starting at 6:00 PM on 
October 25, 2023 in the Boardroom, 893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada. 

Public comment is allowed and the public is welcome to make their public comment via telephone at (877) 853-5247 (the webinar ID 
will be posted on our website on the day of the meeting). The meeting will be available for viewing at  
https://livestream.com/accounts/3411104. 

A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE*

B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES*

C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Remarks by speakers during any public comment period shall be limited to three (3) minutes each. The 
Board Chair reserves the right to reduce the time allowed for public comment so long as such reduction is clearly communicated prior to the 
commencement of the comment period. Each individual’s right to comment is subject to reasonable time, place, and manner restrictions as set forth in 
Board policy and this agenda statement. Public comments must be addressed to the Board Chair only, and not to staff or other attendees. No person may 
allocate their unused public comment time to any other person. The Chair may prohibit a person from continuing to make a public comment if it becomes 
clear that the content of the comment is a topic that is not relevant to or within the authority of the Board, or if the content of the comment is willfully 
disruptive of the meeting by being repetitious or interfering with the rights of other speakers. Any restriction on public comment for these reasons must be 
viewpoint neutral. The Board of Trustees may address matters brought up during public comment at the conclusion of the comment period but may not 
deliberate on any non-agendized item.

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (for possible action) 

The Board of Trustees may make a motion for a flexible agenda which is defined as taking items on the agenda out of order; combining agenda items with 
other agenda items; removing items from the agenda; moving agenda items to an agenda of another meeting, or voting on items in a block. 
-OR- The Board of Trustees may make a motion to accept and follow the agenda as submitted/posted.

E. REPORTS TO THE BOARD - Reports are intended to inform the Board and/or the public.

1. SUBJECT: Verbal report to the Board on Point of Sale Request For Proposal solicitation results, 
and staff recommendations. (Requesting Trustee Sara Schmitz and Requesting Staff Member: 
Director of Information Technology Mike Gove)

2. SUBJECT: Report to the Board on Fiscal Year 2022/ 2023 Fourth Quarter Budget Update: 
Popular Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Status Report through June 30, 2023 (unaudited).
(Requesting Staff Member: Interim Director of Finance Bobby Magee) – pages 4 - 12

3. SUBJECT: Treasurers Report - A Summary of the Activities of the District Treasury.
(Requesting Trustee: Treasurer Raymond Tulloch) – pages 13 – 24

NOTICE OF MEETING 

mailto:info@ivgid.org


Agenda for the Board Meeting of October 25, 2023 - Page 2 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

F. CONSENT CALENDAR (for possible action)

1. SUBJECT: Approval of the Meeting Minutes of September 19, 2023 – pages 25 - 114

2. SUBJECT: Approval of the Meeting Minutes of September 27, 2023 – pages 115 - 181

3. SUBJECT: Adopt Policy and Procedure No. 143/Resolution No. 1904 regarding advertisements in the 
IVGID Magazine and other District publications, at District-owned venues and District-sponsored 
events. (Requesting Legal Counsel: Josh Nelson and Anne Branham) – pages 182 - 193

Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees adopt the amended Policy and Procedure No. 
143/Resolution No. 1904 regarding acceptance of advertisements for the IVGID Magazine and other 
District publications, at District-owned venues and District-sponsored events.

G. GENERAL BUSINESS (for possible action)

1. SUBJECT: Review, discuss, and potentially answer the remaining community questions received at the 
October 11, 2023 Townhall (Requesting Trustee: Chairman Matthew Dent) – pages 194 - 207

2. SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Authorize the Purchase Order Agreement utilizing 
Sourcewell Contract Pricing, for Six (6) Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers  - 2023/2024 Capital 
Improvement Project; Fund: Community Services; Division: Golf; Project #Rolling Stock; Vendor: Turf 
Star Western, in the amount of $109,404.48. (Requesting Staff Member: Interim Public Works Director 
Kate Nelson) – pages 208 - 279

Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to:

1. Approve a purchase order agreement to Turf Star Western, for six (6) Greensmaster Flex 1021 
mowers utilizing Sourcewell Contract Pricing, for the total amount of $109,404.48.

3. SUBJECT: Review and discuss the Total Project Cost for completion of Phase 2 of the Effluent Export 
Pipeline including the negotiated schedule of values, risk reserve, contingency, and 
administration/inspection requirements prepared for Guaranted Maximum Price (GMP)2; 2023/2024 
Capital Improvement Project; Fund: Utilites; Division: Sewer; Project #2524SS1010 and provide 
direction on finalizing the CMAR contract for GMP2. (Requesting Staff Member: Interim Director of 
Public Works Kate Nelson) – pages 280 - 288

Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to:

1. Approve Granite Construction as the CMAR for the Construction of GMP2.
2. Direct Staff to finalize a contract for the completion of Phase 2 of the Effluent Export Pipeline 

with Granite Construction as CMAR under GMP2 at the Nov. 8, 2022 Board of Trustees 
meeting.



Agenda for the Board Meeting of October 25, 2023 - Page 3 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

4. SUBJECT: Review, discuss and possibly approve augmentations to the Fiscal Year the 2023/24 
approved budget to reflect carry-forward of available appropriations from the 2022/23 budget in support 
of ongoing capital improvement (per NRS 354.598005 procedures for augmentation) and other projects 
with funding provided in the prior fiscal year, subject to further context provided in the discussion and 
background sections of this memorandum, and the attachments hereto. (Requesting Staff Member: 
Interim Director of Finance Bobby Magee) – pages 289 - 297

Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to approve augmentation of 
the 2023/24 approved budget to reflect carry-forward of available appropriations from the 2022/23 
budget in support of ongoing capital improvement and other projects with funding provided in the prior 
fiscal year, subject to further context provided in the discussion and background sections of this 
memorandum, and the attachments hereto.

H. REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS (for possible action)

1. SUBJECT: Redactions for Public Records– pages 298 - 300

I. LONG RANGE CALENDAR

1. SUBJECT: Long Range Calendar– pages 301 - 304

J. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE

1. SUBJECT: Verbal Report from Capital Investment Committee Chairman Raymond Tulloch on the 
Committee's first meeting held on September 26, 2023

2. SUBJECT: Verbal Report from Golf Advisory Committee Chair Michaela Tonking on the Committee's 
first meeting held on October 24, 2023

3. SUBJECT: Contracts Review by Trustee Sara Schmitz per Policy 3.1.0– pages 305 - 309

K. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - See Item C for applicable rules.

L. ADJOURNMENT (for possible action)

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING OF THIS AGENDA 
I hereby certify that on or before 9: a.m. on Friday, October 20, 2023, a copy of this agenda (IVGID Board of Trustees Session of October 25, 2023) was delivered to 
the post office addressed to the people who have requested to receive copies of IVGID’s agendas; copies were e-mailed to those people who have requested; and a copy 
was posted, physically or electronically, at the following locations in accordance with Assembly Bill 253:

1. IVGID Anne Vorderbruggen Building (893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada; Administrative Offices) 
2. IVGID’s website (www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas) 
3. State of Nevada public noticing website (https://notice.nv.gov/) 

/s/ Heidi H. White 
Heidi H. White  
District Clerk (e-mail: hhw@ivgid.org/phone # 775-832-1268)

IVGID Board of Trustees: Matthew Dent - Chairman,  Sara Schmitz,  Michaela Tonking, Raymond Tulloch and David Noble 
Notes: Items on the agenda may be taken out of order; combined with other items; removed from the agenda; moved to the agenda of another meeting; moved to or 
from the Consent Calendar section; or may be voted on in a block. Items with a specific time designation will not be heard prior to the stated time, but may be heard 
later. Those items followed by an asterisk (*) are items on the agenda upon which the Board of Trustees will take no action. Members of the public who are disabled 

https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas
https://notice.nv.gov/


 
 

 
Agenda for the Board Meeting of October 25, 2023 - Page 4 

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
and require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to call IVGID at 832-1100 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. IVGID'S agenda 
packets are available at IVGID's website, www.yourtahoeplace.com; go to "Board Meetings and Agendas”. 
 
 



  M E M O R A N D U M Item E.2.

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM: Bobby Magee
Interim Director of Finance

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Fourth Quarter Budget Update:
Popular CIP Status Report through June 30, 2023 (Unaudited)

DATE: October 25, 2023

I. RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Board receive and file this informational report.  

II. BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION

This informational report represents the FY2022/23 4th Quarter Popular CIP Status Report 
intended to provide an update for the District’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget for 
activities for the period from July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023. This report complies with Board 
Policy 13.1.0.2 relating to periodic reports on the status of the District’s capital projects.

Overview

The District’s FY2022/23 approved capital budget adopted by the Board on May 26, 2022 (Item 
G.1) provides for appropriations totaling $44,748,400 in support of planned capital projects across
all District activities, including Administration ($633,000), Utilities ($15,588,700), Community
Services ($28,041,700), and Beaches ($485,000).

The FY2022/23 capital budget was subsequently amended by Board action, reducing staff 
spending authority for the Watermain Replacement Crystal Peak Road Project by $196,382 on 
March 8, 2023 (Item F.3).  This amount is shown on the attached Capital Improvement Projects 
Report under the Water Fund – Watermain Replacement – Crystal Peak Road line item.  In 
addition, the Recreation Center Expansion Project was canceled with the cancellation amount set 
at $24,348,044.  

This agenda item, via attachment, provides the Board with the fourth quarter CIP Popular Report, 
reflecting unaudited financial results through June 30, 2023.  As the Finance Department 
continues to work through the end of year close process, these numbers reflect a draft trial 
balance and are still subject to minor modifications.  

Overall, capital budget expenditures through the fourth quarter of FY2022/23 (June 30, 2023) 
totaled $12,573,455, or 37.1% of the combined amended CIP capital and expense budgets, which 
total $33,905,455.  An additional $14,202,265 in budgeted appropriations were encumbered 
through executed contracts or purchase orders, bringing the total of expended and committed 
funds to $26,775,721, or 79.0% of the approved budget.

FY2022/23 Final
BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward
FY2022/23 
Amended

FY2022/23 
Expenditures

Budget 8/31/2022 Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (06/30/2023)
Capital Budget - CIP and Expense Projects

General Fund 740,700$    -$  -$ -$ -$ 740,700$   503,464$    
Utility Fund 16,723,700 5,887,795 - 1,740,611 - 24,352,106 8,228,386
Community Services 28,348,200 3,075,713 - 481,983 (3,426) 7,554,426 3,661,028
Beach 569,000 689,223 - - - 1,258,223 180,577

Total All Funds 46,381,600$      9,652,731$   -$  2,222,594$  (3,426)$   33,905,455$   12,573,455$   

Page 4 of 309



FY2021/22 Fourth Quarter CIP -2- September 28, 2022
Popular Status Report 

Capital Projects vs. Capital Maintenance and Repairs 

A major focus of the FY2022/23 budget process was to identify projects included in the District’s 
multi-year capital improvement plan that do not meet criteria for establishing capital assets and 
thus should be expensed within the fiscal year rather than depreciated over the useful life of the 
asset.  

While this report provides a summary of all projects approved as part of the FY2022/23 capital 
plan, separate attachments to this report provide a summary of activity for projects that meet 
capitalization criteria (Attachment A), and projects that will be expensed within the current fiscal 
year (Attachment B).

Through the fourth quarter of the fiscal year, expenditures against approved capital improvement 
projects (CIP) totaled $11,890,621, or 37.9% of the adjusted budget of $31,384,702 (See projects 
details – Attachment A).  An additional $13,939,563 of budgeted appropriations were encumbered 
through executed contracts, which results in a total of $25,830,184 (82.3%) in expended or 
committed funding through June 30, 2023. 

Additionally, through the fourth quarter of the fiscal year, expenditures against projects that do 
not meet criteria for capitalization totaled $682,834, or 27.1% of the adjusted budget of 
$2,520,753 for these projects. (See projects details – Attachment B).  An additional $262,703 of 
budgeted appropriations were encumbered through executed contracts, which results in a total of 
$945,537 (37.5%) of expended and committed funding through June 30, 2023.

Project Status – 

In addition to reflecting Board-approved budget modifications as well as actual project 
expenditures for each approved capital improvement project through June 30, 2022, the report 
also includes a brief “status” classification to assist in understanding the information contained in 
this report as well as to help track changes project status from quarter to quarter.  

Carry-Forward Estimates - 

This report also reflects amounts of funding requested for carry-forward to the FY2023/24 fiscal 
year to support ongoing projects, projects that have been delayed and procurement of equipment 
that was not delivered prior to July 1, 2023. 

FY2022/23 Final
BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward
FY2022/23 
Amended

FY2022/23 
Expenditures

Budget 8/31/2022 Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (06/30/2023)
Capital Budget - CIP Projects

General Fund 633,000$           -$                         -$                      -$                     -$                     633,000$           442,549$             
Utility Fund 15,588,700 5,532,700 - 1,740,611 - 22,862,011 8,043,667
Community Services 28,041,700 2,827,350 (24,348,044) 481,983 (3,426) 6,999,563 3,356,216
Beach 485,000 460,000 - - (54,872) 890,128 48,189

Total All Funds 44,748,400$      8,820,050$              (24,348,044)$         2,222,594$           (58,298)$              31,384,702$      11,890,621$        

FY2022/23 
Final

BOT Approved  
Carry Forward

FY2022/23 
Amended

FY2022/23 
Expenditures

Budget 8/31/2022 Adjustments Reallocation Budget (06/30/2023)
Capital Budget - Expense Projects

General Fund 107,700$    -$                  -$                  -$                 107,700$     60,915$        
Utility Fund 1,135,000 355,095 - - 1,490,095 184,719
Community Services 306,500 248,363 - - 554,863 304,812
Beach 84,000 229,223 - 54,872 368,095 132,388

Total All Funds 1,633,200$ 832,681$           -$                  54,872$            2,520,753$ 682,834$      

Page 5 of 309



FY2021/22 Fourth Quarter CIP -3- September 28, 2022
Popular Status Report 

Attachments: Popular CIP Status Report - FY2022/23, through June 30, 2023
• Attachment A – Capital Projects
• Attachment B – Capital Maintenance and Repairs
• Attachment C – Project “Status” Definitions

Page 6 of 309



Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment A

Fund / New TYLER FY2022/23 Final

BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available Project Status 

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget (8/31/22) Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget (6/30/23)

 Recommended 

Carryforward Encumbrance

General Fund

Accounting/Information Systems

1099OE1401 Replace Xerox Printer -                          24,197                       24,197                   24,197                      -                          Completed

1213BD2106 Network Closet Updates (HVAC) 15,000                   15,000                   -                            15,000                   Delayed 15,000                 

1213CE2101 Power Infrastructure Improvements 78,000                   (24,197)                      53,803                   25,272                      28,531                   Completed

1213CE2102 Network Upgrades - Switches, Controllers, WAP 285,000                 285,000                 235,613                    49,387                   In Progress 49,387                 49,387                

1213CE2104 Fiber Installation/Replacement 25,000                   25,000                   -                            25,000                   Delayed 25,000                 

1213CE2105 Security Cameras 100,000                 100,000                 92,659                      7,341                      Completed

1315CO1801 HRIS, Payroll, & Finance Software Implementation -                          -                          61,140                      (61,140)                  Xfer to Operating

Sub-Total 503,000                 -                                   -                               -                              -                              503,000                 438,881                    64,119                   89,387                 49,387                

General

4378LI2104 IVGID Community Dog Park 100,000                 100,000                 573                           99,427                   Ongoing

1099CE2201 CE23100100 Board Meeting - Technology Upgrades 30,000                   30,000                   3,095                        26,905                   In Progress

Sub-Total 130,000                 -                                   -                               -                              -                              130,000                 3,668                        126,332                 -                       -                       

 Total General Fund 633,000                 -                                   -                               -                              -                              633,000                 442,549                    190,451                 89,387                 49,387                

Utilities

Public Works Shared

2097CO2101 Public Works Billing Software Replacement -                          20,000                            20,000                   -                            20,000                   Delayed 20,000                 

2097HE1725 Loader Tire Chains - 2 sets -                          20,000                            6,352                          26,352                   -                            26,352                   In Progress - On Order 26,352                 26,352                

2097HE1729 2002 Caterpillar 950G Loader #523
-                          265,000                          (6,352)                        258,648                 -                            258,648                 In Progress - On Order 225,000               225,000              

2097HE1730 2003 Caterpillar 950G Loader #525 -                          265,000                          265,000                 -                            265,000                 In Progress - On Order 225,000               225,000              

2097LE1720 Snowplow #300A -                          19,000                            19,000                   -                            19,000                   In Progress 19,000                 

2097LE1721 Snowplow #307A -                          19,000                            19,000                   -                            19,000                   In Progress 19,000                 

2097LI1701 Pavement Maintenance, Reservoir 3-1 WPS 4-2/5-1 90,000                   130,000                          220,000                 -                            220,000                 In Progress 220,000               

2097LE2221 LV23200100 Medium Duty Truck Plow 16,500                   16,500                   16,564                      (64)                          Completed

2097LV2220 LV23200200 Chevy 1/2-Ton Pick-up Truck 37,200                   37,200                   37,166                      34                           Completed

Sub-Total 143,700                 738,000                          -                               -                              -                              881,700                 53,730                      827,970                 754,352               476,352              

Water

2299DI1707 Burnt Cedar Water Disinfection Plant Emerg. 

Generator Fuel Tank -                          137,429                          137,429                 14,766                      122,663                 In Progress - Multi Year 122,663               6,663                  

2299WS1705 Watermain Replacement - Crystal Peak Road 1,500,000              68,642                            (196,382)                    1,372,260              915,764                    456,496                 In Progress - Multi Year 456,496               418,748              

2299WS1802 Watermain Replacement - Alder Avenue
65,000                   65,000                   1,731                        63,269                   In Progress - Multi Year 62,956                 7,000                  

2299WS1706 Watermain Replacement Slott Peak Ct
72,230                            72,230                   25,306                      46,924                   Completed

2299DI1102 Water Pumping Station Improvements 50,000                   50,000                   33,565                      16,435                   Ongoing 16,435                 23,000                

2299DI1401 Burnt Cedar Water Disinfection Plant Improvements 25,000                   19,208                            44,208                   -                            44,208                   Ongoing 44,208                 12,807                

2299CO2203 SW23200100 LIMSs Software 55,000                   55,000                   -                            55,000                   See Footnote 1 55,000                 

Sub-Total 1,695,000              297,509                          -                               (196,382)                    -                              1,796,127              991,132                    804,995                 757,758               468,218              

Sewer -                          

2524SS1010 Effluent Pipeline Project
10,000,000            2,069,507                       1,936,993                  14,006,500            6,227,909                7,778,591              See Footnote 2 7,778,591           10,182,490        

2599SS2010 Effluent Pond Lining / Storage Tank
3,000,000              1,069,185                       4,069,185              573,443                    3,495,742              See Footnote 3 3,495,742           724,406              

2599DI1703 Sewer Pump Station #1 Improvements 500,000                 1,038,370                       1,538,370              10,759                      1,527,611              In Progress 1,527,611           

2599DI1104 Sewer Pumping Station Improvements 50,000                   50,000                   24,700                      25,300                   Ongoing 32,248                 14,885                

2599SS1102 Water Resource Recovery Facility Improvements 100,000                 86,607                            186,607                 94,046                      92,561                   Ongoing 92,561                 40,040                

2599SS1103 Wetlands Effluent Disposal Facility Improvements 100,000                 173,523                          273,523                 18,483                      255,040                 In Progress 255,040               200,524              

2599SS2107 Update Camera Equipment
60,000                            60,000                   49,465                      10,535                   Completed

Sub-Total
13,750,000            4,497,191                       -                               1,936,993                  -                              20,184,184            6,998,805                13,185,379            13,181,793         11,162,345        

 Total Utilities             15,588,700                         5,532,700                                    -                      1,740,611                                  -               22,862,011                  8,043,667             14,818,344           14,693,903          12,106,915 

FY2022/23 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET  

Page 7 of 309



Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment A

Fund / New TYLER FY2022/23 Final

BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available Project Status 

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget (8/31/22) Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget (6/30/23)

 Recommended 

Carryforward Encumbrance

FY2022/23 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET  

Community Services Funds

Championship Golf

3141LI1202 Cart Path Replacement - Champ Course
55,000                   114,667                          169,667                 5,716                        163,951                 In Progress 163,951               

3141LV1898 Championship Golf Course Electric Cart Fleet and 

GPS
533,360                          533,360                 533,360                    -                          Completed -                       

3153BD2001 Recoat Chateau F&B Grill and Catering Kitchen Floors 39,700                   39,700                   -                            39,700                   Delayed 39,700                 

3142LE1741 2016 Bar Cart #724 20,000                   20,000                   -                            20,000                   In Progress - On Order 20,000                 20,000                

3142LE1742 2016 Bar Cart #725
20,000                   20,000                   -                            20,000                   In Progress - On Order 20,000                 20,000                

3142LE1744 2014 Toro Tri-Plex Mower 3250D #694 42,781                            42,781                   -                            42,781                   In Progress - On Order 42,781                 42,781                

3142LE1745 2017 Toro 3500D Mower #743 36,184                            36,184                   -                            36,184                   In Progress - On Order 36,184                 36,184                

3142LE1746 2012 JD 8500 Fairway Mower #670 93,486                            93,486                   93,486                      -                          Completed

3142LE1747 2011 Toro Groundmaster 4000D #650 66,211                            66,211                   -                            66,211                   In Progress - On Order 66,211                 66,211                

3142LE1750 2013 JD 3235 Fairway Mower #685 98,000                   98,000                   -                            98,000                   In Progress - On Order 97,467                 97,467                

3142LE1759 2014 3500D Toro Rotary Mower #693 40,028                            40,028                   40,028                      -                          Completed

3142LE1760 Replacement of 2010 John Deere 8500 #641 92,000                   92,000                   93,486                      (1,486)                    Completed

3143GC2002 Range Ball Machine Replacement 20,000                            20,000                   4,234                        15,766                   In Progress 5,000                   

3199OE1501 Championship Golf Printer Copier Replacement 

955 Fairway
10,000                   10,000                   -                            10,000                   In Progress - On Order 6,419                   6,419                  

Sub-Total 334,700                 946,717                          -                               -                              -                              1,281,417              770,310                    511,107                 497,713               289,062              

Mountain Golf -                          

3241LI2001 Mountain Golf Cart Path Replacement - Phase II 1,100,000              -                                   1,100,000              99,860                      1,000,140              In Progress 1,000,140           416,640              

3241GC1404 Irrigation Improvements 18,000                   18,000                   785                           17,215                   In Progress 12,831                 12,831                

3242LE1726 2016 Bar Cart #726 20,000                   20,000                   -                            20,000                   In Progress - On Order 20,000                 20,000                

Sub-Total 1,138,000              -                                   -                               -                              -                              1,138,000              100,645                    1,037,355              1,032,971           449,471              

Facilities -                          66,048                      

3351BD1703 Aspen Grove Outdoor Seating BBQ and Landscaping 10,000                   10,000                            20,000                   2,109                        17,891                   Delayed 17,891                 

Sub-Total 10,000                   10,000                            -                               -                              -                              20,000                   2,109                        17,891                   17,891                 -                       

Ski -                          

3453BD1806 Base Lodge Walk In Cooler and Food Prep (Kitchen) 

Reconfiguration 110,000                 31,398                            478,557                      619,955                 35,795                      584,160                 In Progress 584,160               516,390              

3462HE1702 Lakeview Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements 1,613                               1,613                      4,248                        (2,635)                    Completed

3462HE1701 Lodgepole Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements 18,000                   18,000                   2,361                        15,639                   In Progress 15,639                 

3462HE1712 Red Fox Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements
75,000                   75,000                   11,559                      63,441                   In Progress - On Order 63,441                 61,371                

3463HE1722 Loader Tire Chains (1-Set) 9,750                               3,426                          13,176                   -                            13,176                   In Progress 13,176                 13,176                

3463HE1723 2002 Caterpillar 950G Loader #524 265,000                          (3,426)                        261,574                 -                            261,574                 In Progress - On Order 265,000               225,000              

3464LE1601 Ski Resort Snowmobile Fleet Replacement
17,000                   14,295                            31,295                   16,904                      14,391                   Completed

3464LE1729 Snowplow #304A 19,000                            19,000                   -                            19,000                   In Progress 19,000                 

3464LE1734 2016 Polaris Ranger Crew #723 19,000                   19,000                   19,384                      (384)                        Completed

3464SI1002 Snowmaking Infrastructure Replacement 3,227                        (3,227)                    Completed

3467LE1703 Replace Child Ski Center Surface Lift 10,000                            10,000                   3,600                        6,400                      Completed

3468RE0002 Replace Ski Rental Equipment 259,133                          259,133                 -                            259,133                 In Progress 131,880               131,880              

3469HE1740 14-passenger Van
125,000                 125,000                 -                            125,000                 In Progress 125,000               

3469BD2101 Replace Ski Lodge Facility Equipment
115,000                          115,000                 1,027                        113,973                 In Progress 110,494               6,500                  

3453FF1706 Replace Main Lodge/Snowflake Lodge Dining 

Furniture and Fixtures 49,000                   49,000                   2,364                        46,636                   In Progress 46,636                 

3499OE1502 Skier Services Printer/Copier 8,870                               8,870                      8,870                        -                          Completed

3499CE2201 CO23340100 Installation RFID - Software and Gantries 410,000                 410,000                 319,594                    90,406                   Completed

Sub-Total
823,000                 734,059                          -                               481,983                      (3,426)                        2,035,616              428,933                    1,606,683              1,374,426           954,317              

Parks

4378LI2104 IVGID Community Dog Park -                          -                                   -                          -                            

4378LI1604 Pump Track 78,196                            78,196                   28,042                      50,154                   In Progress

4378BD2202 Skate Park Enhancement 10,000                   10,000                   -                            10,000                   In Progress

4378LE1742 2015 Ball Field Groomer #706 24,000                            (13,000)                      11,000                   -                            11,000                   Cancelled

4378LE2220 HV23370100 Toolcat with Bucket and Snowblower 70,000                   70,000                   61,367                      8,633                      In Progress 8,633                   8,633                  

4378LV1734 2011 Pick-Up with Lift gate #646 50,000                   13,000                       63,000                   -                            63,000                   In Progress 63,000                 

4378LV1735 2005 Pick-up Truck 4x4 (1-ton) #554 45,166                            45,166                   45,166                      -                          Completed

4378RS2103

Village Green Drainage and Park Improvement Project

20,000                            20,000                   -                            20,000                   Cancelled

Sub-Total 130,000                 167,362                          -                               -                              -                              297,362                 134,575                    162,787                 71,633                 8,633                  

Page 8 of 309



Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment A

Fund / New TYLER FY2022/23 Final

BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available Project Status 

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget (8/31/22) Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget (6/30/23)

 Recommended 

Carryforward Encumbrance

FY2022/23 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET  

Tennis -                          

4588BD1604
Tennis Center Renovation

Total
-                          

Recreation Center

4884BD2201 BI23350100 Recreation Center Expansion Project 25,435,000            (24,348,044)                (38,009)                      1,048,947              680,146                    368,801                 Cancelled/Complete

BI23350300 Recreation Center Tennant Improvments 38,009                       38,009                   13,047                      24,962                   Cancelled/Complete

4884BD2202 BI23350200 Rec Center Exterior Wall Waterproofing & French 

Drain 100,000                 100,000                 7,372                        92,628                   In Progress 92,628                 5,850                  

4899FF1202 Rec Center Locker Room Improvements 969,212                          969,212                 1,176,820                (207,608)                Completed

4884BD1804 Chemtrol System for Recreation Center Pool 22,000                   22,000                   -                            22,000                   Completed

4886LE0001 Fitness Equipment
49,000                   49,000                   42,259                      6,741                      Completed

Sub-Total 25,606,000            969,212                          (24,348,044)                -                              -                              2,227,168              1,919,644                307,524                 92,628                 5,850                  

Community Services Shared

-                          

Total -                          

Total Community Services             28,041,700                         2,827,350                 (24,348,044)                       481,983                          (3,426)                6,999,563                  3,356,216                3,643,347             3,087,262            1,707,333 

Beaches

3970BD2601 Burnt Cedar Swimming Pool and Site Improvements 350,000                          (44,872)                      305,128                 17,755                      287,373                 In Progress 175,000               75,928                

3972BD1501 Beaches Flatscape and Retaining Wall Enhancement 

and Replacement 55,000                   110,000                          165,000                 5,824                        159,176                 Cancelled -                       

3972BD2101 Ski Beach Boat Ramp Improvement Project 100,000                 100,000                 1,151                        98,849                   In Progress 98,849                 

3999BD1708 Ski Beach Bridge Replacement 120,000                 120,000                 -                            120,000                 See Footnote 4 120,000               

3999FF2201 FF23390100 Beach Furnishings 10,000                   (10,000)                      -                          -                            -                          In Progress -                       

3972BD2102 Beach Access Improvements 200,000                 200,000                 23,459                      176,541                 In Progress 176,541               

Total Beaches
485,000                 460,000                          -                               -                              (54,872)                      890,128                 48,189                      841,939                 570,390               75,928                

-                          

Total All Funds  $         44,748,400  $                    8,820,050  $             (24,348,044)  $                2,222,594  $                   (58,298)  $         31,384,702  $            11,890,621  $         19,494,081  $      18,440,942  $      13,939,563 

Footnote 1 - On hold until laboratory equipment is in place; software must match equipment

Footnote 2 - This is a multi-year project funding will be expended fall/winter of 2023

Footnote 3 - This is a multi year project construction will begin May 2024 after USACE NEPA clearance

Footnote 4 - Grant in progress with Nevada Division of Wildlife; keeping in the budget pending grant outcome

Page 9 of 309



Incline Village General Improvement District Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment B

Fund / New TYLER

FY2022/23 

Final

BOT Approved  

Carry Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget 8/31/2022 Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget Project Status

 Recommended 

Carryforward  Final Carryover Encumbrance

General Fund

1212OE1701 EX23100100 Accounting Printer Replacement 8,400             8,400              -                   8,400                     In Progress 8,462                   8,462                     

1213CO1703 District Wide PC, Laptops, Peripheral Equipment and 

Desk Top Printers
75,000           75,000           60,915             14,085                   Ongoing 47,592                   

Total 83,400           -                          83,400           60,915             22,485                   8,462                   56,054                   

4999OE1399 EX23100200 Web Site Redesign and Upgrade 10,000           10,000           -                   10,000                   In Progress 10,000                

1099LI1705 Pavement Maintenance - Administration Building 14,300           14,300           -                   14,300                   In Progress 14,300                

Total 24,300           -                          24,300           -                   24,300                   24,300                -                         

 Total General Fund          107,700                              -             107,700               60,915                     46,785                  32,762                     56,054 

Utilities

Shared 2097DI1401 Adjust Utility Facilities in NDOT/Washoe County Right 

of Way
60,000           183,000                 243,000         42,974             200,026                 Ongoing 200,026              

2097LI1401 Pavement Maintenance, Utility Facilities 180,000         141,495                 321,495         48,405             273,090                 In Progress 273,090              

4999OE1399 EX23100200 Web Site Redesign and Upgrade 10,000           10,000           -                   10,000                   In Progress 10,000                

NEW EX23200200 Rain Gutters, Garage Door Openers, Drainage, Heat 

Tape for Building C
100,000         100,000         -                   100,000                 In Progress 100,000              

NEW EX23200300 Utility Infrastructure Masterplan 500,000         500,000         57,559             442,441                 In Progress 442,441              

Total 850,000         324,495                 1,174,495      148,938           1,025,557             1,025,557           -                         

Water 2299DI1103 Replace Commercial Water Meters, Vaults and Lids 40,000           40,000           4,663               35,337                   Ongoing 35,337                15,350                   

2299DI1204 Water Reservoir Coatings and Site Improvements 60,000           25,000                   85,000           13,973             71,027                   In Progress 71,027                

Total 100,000         25,000                   125,000         18,636             106,364                 106,364              15,350                   

Sewer 2599BD1105X Building Upgrades Water Resource Recovery Facility 30,000           5,600                     35,600           2,269               33,331                   Ongoing 33,331                

2599SS1203X Replace & Reline Sewer Mains, Manholes and 

Appurtenances
55,000           55,000           14,876             40,124                   Ongoing 40,124                

NEW EX23200400 Effluent Pipeline Repairs 100,000         100,000         -                   100,000                 Ongoing 41,800                41,800                   

Total 185,000         5,600                     190,600         17,145             173,455                 115,255              41,800                   

 Total Utilities 1,135,000     355,095                 1,490,095      184,719           1,305,376             1,247,176           57,150                   

Community Services

Championship 3141GC1103 Irrigation Improvements 15,000           15,000           12,206             2,794                     In Progress

3141LI1201 Pavement Maintenance of Parking Lots - Champ 

Course & Chateau
25,000           17,500                   42,500           25,575             16,925                   In Progress 16,925                

Total 40,000           17,500                   57,500           37,781             19,719                   16,925                -                         

Mountain 3241GC1101 Mountain Course Greens, Tees and Bunkers 8,000             8,000              3,194               4,806                     In Progress 4,806                   

3242LI1204 Pavement Maintenance of Parking Lot - Mountain 

Golf Course
12,500           17,400                   29,900           4,088               25,812                   In Progress 25,812                28,355                   

Total 20,500           17,400                   37,900           7,282               30,618                   30,618                28,355                   

Facilities 3350BD1103 Chateau - Replace Carpet 49,500           49,500           55,942             (6,442)                    Completed

3350BD1506 Paint Exterior of Chateau 22,300                   22,300           -                   22,300                   In Progress 22,300                

3350BD1803 Replace Carpet in Chateau Grill 2,090                     2,090              -                   2,090                     Completed

3350BD1505 Paint Interior of Chateau 40,500           40,500           -                   40,500                   Delayed 40,500                

3351BD1501 Aspen Grove Replace Carpet 3,880                     3,880              408                  3,472                     Completed

Total 90,000           28,270                   118,270         56,350             61,920                   62,800                -                         

Ski 3469LI1105 Pavement Maintenance, Diamond Peak and Ski Way 75,000           25,000                   100,000         80,960             19,040                   In Progress 19,040                67,206                   

3499BD1710 Diamond Peak Facilities Flooring Material 

Replacement
20,000           35,603                   55,603           37,738             17,865                   In Progress 17,865                

Total 95,000           60,603                   155,603         118,698           36,905                   36,905                67,206                   

Parks 4378BD1604 Resurface and Coat Preston Park Bathroom, Mech. 2,100                     2,100              -                   2,100                     In Progress 2,100                   

4378BD2001 Grout Repair Upstaris Parks Office & Tile Replace 10,000                   10,000           -                   10,000                   Cancel -                       

4378LI1303 Pavement Maintenance, Village Green Parking 5,000             -                          5,000              10,434             (5,434)                    Completed

4378LI1403 Pavement Maintenance, Preston Field 5,000             7,500                     12,500           1,610               10,890                   In Progress 10,980                

4378LI1602 Pavement Maintenance, Overflow Parking Lot 5,000             5,000                     10,000           890                  9,110                     In Progress 9,110                   

4378LI1802 Pavement Maintenance - Incline Park 6,000             7,500                     13,500           1,357               12,143                   In Progress 12,143                

4378RS1601X Playground Repairs - Preston 7,500             -                          7,500              -                   7,500                     Cancel

Total 28,500           32,100                   60,600           14,291             46,309                   34,333                -                         

Tennis 4588LI1201 Pavement Maintenance, Tennis Facility 5,000             5,000                     10,000           2,396               7,604                     In Progress 7,604                   

Total 5,000             5,000                     10,000           2,396               7,604                     7,604                   -                         

Rec Center 4884LI1102x Pavement Maintenance, Recreation Center Area 7,500             7,500                     15,000           1,668               13,332                   In Progress 13,332                

Total 7,500             7,500                     15,000           1,668               13,332                   13,332                -                         

FY2022/23 CAPITAL PLAN  - EXPENSE ITEMS

Page 10 of 309



Incline Village General Improvement District Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment B

Fund / New TYLER

FY2022/23 

Final

BOT Approved  

Carry Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget 8/31/2022 Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget Project Status

 Recommended 

Carryforward  Final Carryover Encumbrance

FY2022/23 CAPITAL PLAN  - EXPENSE ITEMS

CS Admin 4999OE1399 EX23100200 Web Site Redesign and Upgrade 20,000           79,990                   99,990           66,346             33,644                   In Progress 33,644                

Total 20,000           79,990                   99,990           66,346             33,644                   33,644                -                         

Total Community Services 306,500         248,363                 554,863         304,812           250,051                 236,161              95,561                   

Beaches

3972BD1301X Pavement Maintenance, Ski Beach 15,000           8,500                     23,500           1,556               21,944                   In Progress 21,944                

3972BD1707 Burnt Cedar Dumpster enclosure 27,648                   27,648           -                   27,648                   Canceled

3972BD2102 Beach Access Improvement Project 40,775                   40,775           69,901             (29,126)                  In Progress 16,899                   

3972FF1704 Beach Furnishings 21,000                   10,000                  31,000           -                   31,000                   In Progress - On Order 31,000                31,000                   

3970BD2601 Burnt Cedar Swimming Pool and Site Improvements 44,872                  44,872           29,785             15,087                   In Progress 15,087                

3972LI1201 Pavement Maintenance, Incline Beach 6,500             6,500                     13,000           3,210               9,790                     In Progress 9,790                   

3972LI1202X Pavement Maintenance, Burnt Cedar Beach -                 24,800                   24,800           1,142               23,658                   In Progress 23,658                

3972RS1701X Playground Repairs - Beaches 7,500             -                          7,500              -                   7,500                     Canceled

3973LI1302 Incline Beach Facility Replacement -                 100,000                 100,000         25,760             74,240                   In Progress 74,240                

3999DI1706 Burnt Cedar Beach Backflow Device Replacement 55,000           55,000           1,035               53,965                   In Progress 53,965                6,038                     

Total 84,000           229,223                 54,872                  368,095         132,388           235,707                 229,684              53,937                   

Grand Total  $   1,633,200  $              832,681  $                         -    $               54,872  $   2,520,753  $        682,834  $           1,837,919  $        1,745,783  $                         -    $              262,703 

Page 11 of 309



Attachment C

IVGID Capital Improvement Project Reporting

Definitions for Status Terms

• Added – An unbudgeted project that meets capital improvement criteria and established after the start of the fiscal 
year.

• Cancelled – A project that was scheduled but is no longer being considered for construction or acquisition.
• Carried Over – A project re-scheduled to another fiscal year and has had its remaining budget updated.
• Completed – A project that has finished all phases and is set up as a capital asset.
• Delayed – A project timeline extended for either for a change in scope of work or the conditions without 

adjustment to its budget.
• In Progress – A project which is not completed and may incur additional costs.
• In Progress – On Order – A project which is in progress and materials/equipment has been ordered but the project 

is not yet completed.
• In Progress - Multi-Year – A project that has been started and was scheduled to be executed over multiple fiscal 

years to facilitate each phase (pre-design, design and construction or acquisition).
• Multi-Year – A project scheduled to be executed over multiple fiscal years to facilitate each phase (pre-design, 

design and construction or acquisition).
• Ongoing – A project that represents a continuous flow of rehabilitation or renewal of an operating system with 

added revenues and costs over time.
• Opened Early – A scheduled project that starts ahead of plan due to a change in conditions or assumptions.
• Postponed – A project with some reason to not be active but is still intended to be executed at some future time.
• Reallocation – A project added or altered by the addition of spending authority from a specified completed or 

cancelled project from the same fiscal year.
• Xfer to Operating – A project that will be transferred to the capital plan – expense items.

Page 12 of 309



Item E.3.

Page 13 of 309



Page 14 of 309



Page 15 of 309



Page 16 of 309



Page 17 of 309



Page 18 of 309



Page 19 of 309



Page 20 of 309



Page 21 of 309



Page 22 of 309



Page 23 of 309



Page 24 of 309



   INCLINE VILLAGE  
GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING  
PUBLIC MEETING  

Live and Via Zoom 

Held at 893 Southwood Boulevard 
Incline Village, Nevada 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 

Reported by:  Brandi Ann Vianney Smith 
Job Number:   IVGID 4 

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 2
A P P E A R A N C E S 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 
MATTHEW DENT, CHAIR 

SARA SCHMITZ, VICE CHAIR  
RAY TULLOCH, TREASURER 

MICHAELA TONKING, MEMBER  

ALSO PRESENT 
ANNE BRANHAM, LEGAL COUNSEL (via Zoom) 

HEIDI WHITE, DISTRICT CLERK 

-o0o-

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 3
I N D E X 

PAGE 
A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 4 
B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES 4 
C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 4 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 30

E. REPORTS TO THE BOARD
E 1 32
E 2 39

F. CONSENT CALENDAR 40

G. GENERAL BUSINESS
G 1 41
G 2 45
G 3 57
G 4 80

H. REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC 92
RECORDS REQUESTS

I. LONG RANGE CALENDAR 92

J. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE 100

K. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 105

L. ADJOURNMENT 107 
-o0o-

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 4
Incline Village, Nevada - 9/13/2023 - 6:00 P.M. 

-o0o-

(No audio during call to order.)
A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

(Pledge of Allegiance.)
CHAIR DENT:  Thank you for that.  Next

item, item B, roll call of trustees.
B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES

CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Tonking?
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Schmitz?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Tulloch?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  And Trustee Noble has let us

know, he will not be present for this evening's
meeting.  I'm Trustee Dent, so four out of the five
trustees are present.  We do have a quorum.

Moving on to item C, initial public
comment.
C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENT

CHAIR DENT:  You will be allowed three
minutes for your initial public comment.  And before

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Item F.1. 

Page 25 of 309



   5
we open it up to public comment, I just want to
mention that item G 4 has been removed from the
agenda.

I will open it up to public comment.
MR. WILSON:  Good evening.  My name is Don

Wilson.  My wife and I are full-time residents of
Incline, and over the last few years have become
aspiring golfers.  

I'd like to introduce myself tonight and
express my interest in being considered for the
at-large role on the Golf Committee.  Thank you to
the Board of Trustees for your assistance and
consideration for this.  

Our IVGID amenities are unique and
precious resources that should be protected and
nurtured.  I am a strong advocate for community
service and support, and would welcome the chance to
apply my experience and passion toward this common
good.  

Over the course of my career, I've been an
entrepreneur, corporate executive, board member,
volunteering in capacities ranging from
not-for-profit organizations to youth sports.  That
experience has included P and L ownership with full
budgeting, operational and capital improvement,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   6
strategic planning.  Experience ranging from
startups to $100 million projects.  I've spent my
career thinking outside the box to find innovative
paths to success.  

I've reviewed the packets of the
candidates, and it is an impressive group.  The
important question becomes:  What makes me
different?  

I believe there are three ways in which I
can complement the other members of the committee:

First, I focus on bringing people
together.  I don't have any ulterior motives, other
than the best interest of our residents.  I spent a
career building consensus, finding common ground,
and mutually beneficial wins.

In the corporate world, I've been
fortunate to be a part of companies who excel in
their culture and emphasize the how as much as the
what.  I would bring a goal of operational
excellence, but more importantly, a desire to find
solutions that benefit all interested parties, and a
focus on the people and the how just as much as the
bottom line.  

Second, my career experience in tackling
the toughest challenges and fining operational

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   7
excellence across many industries.  As a software
entrepreneur, a transformational execute in the food
industry, and with an operational excellence
concentration in business school, my goal has always
been finding ways to become better.  Not just better
economically, but better holistically, finding wins
for all stakeholders.  

Finally, diversity in perspective.  I'm
relatively new to golf, if you count 40 rounds this
year as new, I'm still a beginner, and wholly
embrace it with a passion.  This is a perspective
that I think is invaluable to reach that
demographic.  Also, I'm still working.  While
retirement will come one day, I do think the casual
golfer having to work around a work schedule is also
an important constituency.  

Finally, I don't currently belong to a
golf club, with no plans to do so anytime soon, and
I believe the Golf Committee would be best served by
a well-rounded set of perspectives, members to
represent golf clubs, which are a vital component to
the culture and success of our courses, but also
members to represent the casual, aspiring golfer
with no additional ties.

Thank you all for the opportunity to be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   8
considered.

MS. McKOWEN:  Trish McKowen.  Incline
Village resident.

It's clear to many residents in town that
the board meeting that should have taken place last
Wednesday was moved to tonight for several reasons.
The Board has said it was because they missed the
posting time.  You could have rescheduled the
meeting on another day that didn't disrupt multiple
events happening this evening, like the Incliner
event, and another large gathering at Ski Beach.  

It's clear to me that Trustees Schmitz,
Dent, and Tulloch did not want any more public
comment prior to the submission of the petition
signatures.  

I will be reading a public comment tonight
from Christy Wells, who could not attend this
evening because she's in charge of running an
Incliner event at Aspen Grove.  Here is her public
comment:  

"In reviewing tonight's agenda, I
see that Frank Wright has applied
for the Golf Committee.  I
respectfully ask that you void his
application and ban him from

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 26 of 309



   9
applying from any future IVGID
committees.  
"I'm submitting several recent
interactions with Mr. Wright that
he has had with community members
on Nextdoor, all clearly showing
he is not capable of having civil
discussions about difficult
topics.  And please note this is
just a small collection of posts
that have taken place over the
last month.  There are hundreds
more.  And you can hear how he
speaks about IVGID staff and
community members every time he
leaves a public comment.  
"I believe the Golf Committee
would be faced with some tough
challenges in the coming year, and
I do not feel that Frank has the
ability to keep his calm when
interacting with IVGID staff or
other community members.  
"I'm submitting these examples for
the record and trust you will make

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  10
the right decisions for IVGID
staff, fellow community members,
and those in the community who
regularly have to interact with
him."
"Thank you on behalf of Christy
Wells."  

And she went ahead and she brought in some
of these interactions he's had in the community, and
she wants these in the public record.

MS. HOLLAND:  Good evening.  I'm Katherine
Holland.  I live at 250 Pine Cone Road.  

And I'm also a candidate for the Golf
Committee.  I'm very disappointed that the
interviews were not initially held two weeks ago.
And then nothing happened again last week.  And I'm
disappointed that we're not going to have interviews
tonight.  I think it's really important to have
two-way conversations with potential candidates
because I think that's when you really find out the
truth about people.  

But, nonetheless, I still remain a
candidate.  I'm very seriously concerned that we had
the resignation of Darren Howard yesterday, our
Director of Golf and Community Relations.  I think

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  11
this is a very large loss for our community and our
golf course.  But I remain passionate about and
committed to being a productive member of the Golf
Committee, if I'm selected, and continuing the work
that I did on the prior Golf Committee.  

Thank you.
MS. MARTINI:  Good evening.  Margaret

Martini.
The reduction of the rec fee was required

to comply with NRS.  How many of those who signed
the recall petition took the time to read the
statute and understand the reason that the rec fee
was reduced?  This made it necessary to reduce the
punch card value.  Not a hard concept to grasp.  You
don't even have to be a math wizard to comprehend.
You are not prohibited from bringing guests to the
beach, and it does not cost one dollar more to do so
by buying beach passes or accompanying them with
your credit card.  

Beach crowing was number one in all the
surveys and the loss of purchasing unlimited punch
cards has eliminated the overcrowding.  And the
Picture Pass Card parking rule has made it more
convenient for parking for property owners.  Is that
a bad thing?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  12
Another disinformation incentive to sign

the petition was accusing Sara of losing the
Duffield grant money.  I challenge any one of you
that supported the recall to produce actual
documentation that commits Duffield to that amount.
In actuality, it was the reduction of the scope of
project to include a women's gym, dedicated
gymnastics room only for only women.  The equipment
needed for men is, of course, different and was not
part of the plan as submitted.  

As a government, it is not possible to
provide facilities to one gender.  Staff informed
Sara that adding on to the plan was not a very
viable solution, so it was not part of the plan to
accommodate a men's gym.  

So before you run with the outrageous idea
that you have lost something, think about the
legality of doing just the one planned women's gym.
Put on your thinking cap and look at the legal
ramification and the cost of such.  

The Secretary of State has dismissed the
claims of violation regarding the loan between
Matthew Dent and the Doblers.  It was determined
that Mr. Dent submitted the FDS in full compliance
with Nevada law.  There were no violations and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 27 of 309



  13
allegations in the election integrity violation
reports are dismissed.  That horse has been beaten
to death, unnecessarily, if those accusers had taken
the time to read the Secretary of State
determination.  

How many recallers have taken the time to
research all of the false accusations or are they
just following three uninformed initiators of the
recall petition into the clueless pit screaming
"recall" all the way?  Sadly, not informing
yourselves of the true facts has its pitfalls of
classifying yourselves as total follow the leaders.

MR. KATZ:  Good evening.  Aaron Katz.  I
have several written statements I've submitted to be
added to the minutes of the meeting.  

I'm here to speak about how much more of
Susan Herron does the public have to endure?  She's
a glorified secretary, paid like the Director of
Human Resources.  She uses the IVGID magazine as a
propaganda tool, telling us the dignity and respect
she allegedly has for us when her acts demonstrate
she has none.  

She commits Open Meeting Law violation
after violation.  She couldn't post the agenda for
the Board's September 13 meeting in a timely manner,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  14
so the meeting had to be canceled or another Open
Meeting Law violation.  

And now she pulls a waiver stunt for
tonight's meeting, insofar as character misconduct
and professional competence is concerned, associated
with our applicants for the Golf Advisory Committee.
She tells applicants execution of the waiver is
required.  Then she drafts a document which recites
that the waiver was voluntarily signed, and she
knows this is untrue.

She notices the agenda item to be for the
selection of members to the Advisory Committee, then
she turns it into a hearing on the character of
applicants, which hasn't even been noticed.  She
knows she hasn't complied with the notice
requirements of NRS 241.033, yet hypes this fact by
coming up with these waivers instead.  

Who decided to turn this into an ambush
hearing for members or applicants to the committee?
Who decided there would be waivers?  Where in the
NRS does it talk about a waiver for a situation like
this?  It's just one thing after another after
another.  Her loyalties are with special interests,
rather than the public.  

I ask Ms. Herron, resign.  Resign like

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  15
your fellow colleagues.  Resign like Darren Howard.
And if you refuse to resign, I ask the Board to
agendize a meeting to terminate her employ after
giving her proper notice and the opportunity to be
heard.  

Thank you very much.
MS. USINGER:  Caroline Usinger, Incline

Village.  
I'd like to reiterate that Mr. Katz' goal

is to eliminate IVGID.  He has said it on multiple
occasions, his desires to get rid of the entire
staff, so all of his comments should be put in that
context.

I wanted to talk today about the elephant
in the room again.  The elephant in the room today,
and has been, is that IVGID has no real general
manager, lost its finance manager, its controller,
its food and beverage manager, public works, as of
yesterday, the golf manager, even the attorneys, as
well as countless other staff.  And yet the meeting
minutes today talk about protecting Mr. Dobler and
the Golf Committee, which is a legitimate thing, but
they don't talk about the item in the room, which is
that no one wants to work for IVGID, and that's
because it's a toxic organization.  Nobody wants to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  16
work for you.  Employees don't want to work for you.
Senior managers don't want to work for you.  Vendors
don't want to work for you.  Volunteers don't want
to work for you.  This has to be addressed or IVGID
will not ever recover.  

You're talking about doing little things,
which I call Band-Aids, but these are serious and
needs operation.  The operation needs to be that all
of the hostility towards the staff has to be
eliminated.  You are shooting IVGID in the foot, and
you are supposed to be protecting it.  This is
inexcusable.  

An operation is needed, not a Band-Aid.
And the operation is the recall.  And I'm sorry.  I
don't really want to go through a recall, but a
Band-Aid won't help.  Being nice to -- or having
Mr. Dobler get off the committee because it will
look better, will not help.  

What will help in the resignation of Sara
Schmitz and Matthew Dent with a commitment by the
remaining of the Board to take this operation, look
at what it did to the employees, and make an
absolute change.

MR. EPPOLITO:  Hi.  My name is John
Eppolito.  I'm a resident of 27 years.  Been a real

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 28 of 309



  17
estate broker for 25 of those years.  

The petition, I don't like how it's
dividing our community.  No matter which side you're
on, it bothers me.  I'm going to save the rest of
those thoughts for another day when I actually have
a chance to write them down because I don't want to
say anything wrong.  

What I mostly wanted to talk about tonight
is the bigger issue that's going to affect everybody
in the region, and that's all the development.  

I spent the day at Washoe County
Commissioners' meeting today, and they passed the
land bill, and that was passed three to two, imagine
that.  You guys don't know what that's like, right?
And it was passed three to two.  And the reason I
even went to the meeting is because one of the
Commissioners came into another meeting I was at the
other day and said it got rushed, and that person
wanted people to come speak.  

The biggest thing that I got out of the
meeting is the economic development.  There's
probably -- if this continues to go through, and
this comes from one of our Senators, Rosen.  If this
continues to go through, there will probably be a
lot more land for development in Reno,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  18
unfortunately.  And the thing is is that is also
going to impact us.  

Anyone who listened to Cindy Gustafson at
one of the meetings in Placer County, she said this
summer, that there's more people than ever within an
hour's drive of Lake Tahoe, which is part of our
issue in the summer.  I believe she said a million
people within an hour drive of Lake Tahoe.  

And the last two summers are the busiest
we've ever had.  Kings Beach is worse than it is
over here, for now.

Not too long ago, I told Ann Nichols,
quote, "I used to think you we're crazy, Ann.  Now
it's worse than you said it was going to be."  End
quote.  And that's because there's more developments
than -- Ann was initially fighting one development.
Now there's twelve large developments in process,
the north shore, west shore, and plus the 800 houses
in Martis Valley.  That's what we should be
fighting; not fighting amongst each other over
silly -- I think that are silly things, but I'm not
going to get into that.  That's what I think we
should be focusing on as a community.

The -- yeah, so we've already changed the
zoning here in town, but that's not just for the one

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  19
project.  That's for that whole core.  So I don't
know how many more -- and those units are between
$2.5 and $5 million, hardly low income or employee
housing, and that's what's going to happen.  We're
going to have more of those -- Incline is going to
be a small part of it, but all the people close by,
plus all the big developments on the California
side, it's going to greatly impact us, and we're
going to have a heck of a time getting out of here
in case of a fire, especially if we have to go that
way.  I think that's what we should be focusing on.  

Thank you very much.
CHAIR DENT:  Can we go to Zoom, please?
MR. DOBLER:  Yes.  (Inaudible) to obtain a

recall signature no matter what is false, what is
made, board policies are broken, NRS is violated,
and confidentiality is tossed aside.  

Now about the Capital Investment
Committee.  It was created because the engineering
staff simply continued to fail in all aspects of
their jobs.  It would not follow board policies and
were unwilling to act in a responsible manner.  A
few examples over the last two years:  

In 2021, the staff awarded a contract for
Phase 1 of the Mountain Golf Course cart path rehab,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  20
which was not in accordance with big documents.  The
bike path park was never complete five years ago and
the permit expired leaving opened-up possibility of
liability.  When the engineering design was
completed last year, the total budget was only
80,000, but the construction bid alone was over
750,000.  The project is dormant.  

The contract to remodel the Rec Center
locker rooms exceeded the 969,000 budget by 208,000,
21 percent.  The Board was never informed and board
policies were violated.  

The current project to remodel to Diamond
Peak kitchen and food service area was upside down
from the start.  A 516,000 contract was awarded, but
the contractor forgot to include kitchen equipment.
A recent change order was issued for 298,000, a 58
percent increase, and the total was above the
original budget of 620,000.  An additional 321,000
was slipped into the 2024 budget to cover the
kitchen equipment and additional work.  

The latest is the CMAR contract with
Granite Construction, wherein the CMAR percentage
fee was left blank, but the engineering staff
continues to pay 14 percent of costs based on some
ambiguous conversation which took place one year

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 29 of 309



  21
ago.  It is against the law to pay a contractor for
items not in a contract.  

Project summaries for 2023/'24 have not
been completed, yet the District is almost three
months into the new fiscal year.  

After careful consideration and based on
the above examples, I have decided to step aside as
a committee member.  My views on how to perform
capital projects differs too much with the
approaches by IVGID staff.  Please make this written
statement part of the minute meetings.  

Thank you.
MS. MILLER:  Judith Miller for the record.
I regret I'm unable to attend in person

this evening.  I hope the Board will consider my
application to be on their very first
board-appointed venue advisory committee.  

I'd like to briefly discuss the waiver.  I
haven't signed the waiver.  It would force me to
relinquish any right to privacy or fairness.  If I
were an employee, the Board could consider character
and competence only in a closed session and only
after proper notice.  

I've been informed that this so-called
voluntary waiver is required, allowing any false

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  22
accusation from any source to be discussed in a
public meeting and without allowing me to be
represented by an attorney or provide evidence.
Even the most innocent lamb among us would be
foolish to sign such a waiver.  I hope the Board
will recognize that this is uncalled for.  

I've applied for and served on a number of
public boards and committees.  None required a
waiver.  All you need to do is avoid discussing our
character and professional competence.  You've got
12 candidates, many of whom are personally known to
you.  If you truly believe this type of discussion
had to take place, it should have been in a closed
session, just like it is for employees.  I trust
you're going to do the right thing.  

Moving forward, I'm ready to roll up my
sleeves as a member of this committee.  As I've
demonstrated before, I'm a worker.  I can do
research, crunch numbers, delve into land use
regulations, write survey questions and reports,
make presentations, and even drive a tractor.  But
most important of all, I can work collaboratively.
I believe I'll be an effective member of the Golf
Committee.  

On another agenda item, I fully support

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  23
the request by interim Director McGee.  However, I
would like you to consider a change in the reporting
structure for the internal auditor position.  The
job announcement draft states the position reports
to the GM.  Best practices and my own personal
experience in public administration requires this
position report, functionally, to the Board directly
or to the Audit Committee, and administratively to
the GM.  That's should be made clear in the
announcement.  

Here's a quote from a Pete Marwick audit
committee publication:  Internal audit has for all
practical purposes a dual reporting relationship
where the head of internal audit reports to
executive management, ideally the CEO, or GM in our
case, for assistance in establishing direction,
support, and administrative matters, and to the
audit committee for strategic direction,
reinforcement, and accountability.  

I think you will find similar
recommendations in most other organizational
guidelines.  Please discuss this with staff and make
the necessary modification to ensure the
independence of this position.  

Thank you.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  24
MR. WRIGHT:  Frank Wright.  Crystal Bay.  
I'm not going to restate everything that

Ms. Miller just stated on this waiver.  It's
horrible that this thing was delivered to me
yesterday, and I was told to sign it.  Then I had
another one, and I was told to sign that and was
required.  

I don't think any board member knows
anything about this waiver.  It's not appropriate
for a volunteer committee; it's more of a personnel,
and I'm not even sure if it was appropriately
handled.  But let's skip through that because that's
already been dealt with.  

Let's talk about me, as a citizen of this
community, and what I have done here.  I have been
here for 40 years, 40, four zero, plus, I have
uncovered all kinds of things and exposed them to
the District.  And let's just talk about the Golf
Committee.  I exposed the tee times that were given
out in February to private golf clubs on a public
course.  PGA fees paid for people in those private
clubs that you and I can't enjoin because we're not
qualified for their standards and their
requirements.  We had to pay for the PGA fees for
out-of-town members that are members of these clubs.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 30 of 309



  25
And the members from out of town and the members of
all these clubs, they got all the preferred tee
times that we're paying with our rec fee and the
losses on that golf course.  These secret clubs have
all kinds of rules and regulations.  

I served on the Ordinance 7 Committee for
15 months.  And I hate to tell you, but I'm the one
that uncovered the fact that the employees cannot be
on the beaches.  Yes, I did.  Margaret Martini and I
kept pushing that issue.  We finally got an attorney
to give us a ruling.  We saved the beaches.  It's
really ironic that somebody from Crystal Bay had to
save Incline beaches.

It's sad that we have to be in this
situation with the recall.  It's sad for a lot of
things that are going on here.  I have worked in a
way to try to diffuse the people who are coming into
our community and doing things that are very bad.
The recall is very, very bad.  

Tonight we had Ms. McKowen get up.  I
don't know this lady.  I don't know who she is, and
she has a friend, Christy Wells, and these two work
in concert.  Tonight, she took a shot at me, and she
has all these things that supposedly I said on
Facebook.  Well, if I said them on Facebook, they

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  26
should be taken down if they're not right, but it's
not part of my character.  It's part of me trying to
express to people that we got a bad element in this
town.  

Because of all the things that are going
on right now and the attack mode that these people
are in, I am respectfully declining to serve on this
Golf Committee.  It would be beneficial to you if I
did, but I think it's better that we put some new
blood out there and do it.  I'm just going to
withdraw my application --

(Expiration of three minutes.)
MS. KNAAK:  Yolanda Knaak, Martis Peak

Drive.
I just wanted to weigh-in on something

that John Eppolito has mentioned, and we do have
some serious concerns with zoning change for Area 1
in our town.  It's putting us over 56 (inaudible)
risk, something we really need to take a stand on.

Then also these land deals, it's
practically impossible to get information.  If I had
known that it was going to be in the meeting today,
the Washoe County Commissioners' meeting, I would
have tried to weigh-in on it at that time.  

But this is something that, you know,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  27
taking -- having the federal government take our
land is (inaudible) correct, is not what should be
happening.  So it's something we really need to
oppose.  

Thank you so much.
MS. CARS:  Linda Cars.
I just wanted to say that, twice, I

submitted documents about Cliff Dobler that were
part of the public domain, and they were not put
into the record.  I'm not going to repeat the
horrible things and the interactions that he had,
but I am only saying that I think the Board of
Trustees should focus on -- not on what happened,
but on the actions of the person.

You seem to have the wrong priorities in
terms of people that are on staff that have very,
very bad interactions with staff.  They should not
be on committees.  

I also have been listening to all the
comments, and it's just unfathomable the lies that
Margaret Martini and all these people view about the
recall committee.  The recall, there's not a
committee.  The recall is a grassroots organization
of hundreds and hundreds of people in this community
from all walks of life.  They are not representing

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  28
one topic at all.  And they should be listened to.
The people supporting the recall speak the facts,
they don't tell lies.  And the truth will come out.  

And we hope that Sara and Matthew will not
put the community through a recall election and do
the right thing and resign.  The latest losses of
the Director of Golf, the Golf Pro show how poorly
you have been working with the community and the
horrors you have created that you can't keep staff.
Please do the right thing.  Please spare us the
agony of an election.  But if you don't want to,
there will be one.

Thank you.
MS. McKOWEN:  Kevin McKowen.  335 Ski Way.
You know, there's so many issues going on

in town.  No one likes the divisiveness.  But, you
know, after being in business for 45 years, what I
find atrocious, if I had all my senior managers quit
in a company ran, I would immediately find out who
they reported to and get rid of them.  

So Sara and Matt, I mean, you're sitting
back, you know the recall's going on, and I think
the appropriate thing to do is to resign.  

Now as far as Frank Wright goes, Frank
Wright's called my wife every name in the book.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 31 of 309



  29
Frank Wright has two aliases on Nextdoor, everybody
knows it.  He is just a thorn in this community and
this town's side.  

So look, we have a lot of people in town
that would be great on the IVGID board.  Here's why
they will not run, which hurts us all.  It's because
of the angry eight.  Most of them would rather shoot
themselves in the face than deal with all the angry
eight, Frank Wright, you know, all the people,
right?  Katz and Martini.  They are all lovely
people, I'm sure, but I don't know why they stay in
town when they just can't stand it here.  I mean,
just leave.  And create the harmony that we all
moved here for, whether we retired here.

The other thing I liked Mr. Eppolito
saying, yeah, there is an issue of us granting
rights to multimillion dollar condos being built
when Reno and Carson has great jobs, why can't we
get people?  Why do the several restaurants in town
open three or four nights?  Gee, I'll tell you why:
They can't find help.  Why?  Because people can't
afford to live here, and they're not coming up from
Reno and Carson, especially in the winter, with the
weather.  

Darren Howard's a great guy.  He and Nick

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  30
Holligan both resigned today.  These are great --
Nick is from Scotland, he's got an A-plus record.
What is going on?  And Kyle.  Kyle and I have been
friends for years.  Kyle left because of the Board.
Dee left because of the Board.  Bill left because of
the Board.  

It seems like we are taking crazy pills.
We got to get back sanity.  Look, the recall, in the
all documents they had, we're factual.  

Now Sara is knocking door to door, calling
people, asking them to recant on their signature,
which is abysmal, I think, because when you sign a
document, that means you know clearly and you're
sane in signing the document that you know what
you're signing.  And she's going, "I want you just
to withdraw your name."  What?  I mean, what is
going on?  Sara, look -- 

(Expiration of three minutes.)
CHAIR DENT:  Anyone else on Zoom?
MATT:  That was our final comment on Zoom.
CHAIR DENT:  All right.  That'll close out

public comment.  Moving on to item D.  
D.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

CHAIR DENT:  Any questions or concerns
with the agenda?  We've already removed item G 4.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  31
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'd like to move item F

1 from the consent calendar to the general business.
I made a request previously that we had details of
why this payment was due.  This is, I understand,
something going back to the previous board, but
there's still no explanation of it, just that
somehow we're due 7,200, so I'd like to move this to
general business, please.

CHAIR DENT:  Does anyone have an issue
with moving that to general business?

TRUSTEE TONKING:  (No microphone.)
CHAIR DENT:  Regarding that item?  
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Yeah.
CHAIR DENT:  We can have a discussion on

that item at that point, if you're opposed to moving
that, now would be the time to bring that up.  

TRUSTEE TONKING:  My only concern with
removing it, and I think Annie would have to speak
to this, because it was discussed in a legal
nonmeeting, how much of it can we disclose?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah.  To the extent your
question, Trustee Tulloch, are going to relate to
what's in the staff report or if staff can clarify
what's in the staff report, that would be okay.  

But it's a good point by Trustee Tonking,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  32
we should probably limit the discussion to what has
been provided by staff and brief answers to any
questions that you might have.  But we should be
careful not to delve in to anything that could be
considered legal in nature.

CHAIR DENT:  Thank you for the reminder on
that. 

Any other questions or concerns with the
agenda?  

All right.  The agenda is approved.  We
will move item F 1, that will become item G 1.
Moving on to reports to the board.  
E.  REPORTS TO THE BOARD 

E 1. 
CHAIR DENT:  Report E 1 and E 2.  Report E

1 is interim General Manager's monthly status
report.  Can be found on pages 4 through 34 of your
board packet.  

MR. BANDELIN:  With the interest of
providing and improving communication, staff has
provided a different look to the General Manager's
report within your packet.  Staff will be providing
a monthly venue status report for key venues and
operations to the Board of Trustees and the
community.  Looking for some feedback on those

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 32 of 309



  33
particular reports this evening.  Do not have staff
to, like, actually answer any questions on the
reports this evening.  They are not here, but
certainly looking for some feedback on how to
improve as we continue to provide a different look.  

These reports will be prepared for public
works, parks and recreation, finance and accounting,
human resources, IT, and ski and the golf, when
they're in season, or possibly other times when
there is relevant information from those venues to
report on.  

Not really in the report, but I thought it
might be a good opportunity -- if I can expand on
this a little bit next month in the Diamond Peak
report, I just wanted to share where we are with the
Diamond Peak special use permit application.  This
application is nearly complete.  I've been working
with the U.S. Forest Service administrator for the
Lake Tahoe Basin Unit, and a couple more things to
do.  And I would imagine by the end of next week
that this application process will kind of be
forwarded to the actual Forest supervisor with the
Lake Tahoe Basin Management Unit for review and
acceptance.  And then I can bring back the special
use permit to the Board of Trustees.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  34
I might say that if there's been any kind

of misconception about the acreage of the special
use permit, that the -- all the infrastructure,
including lifts, facilities, snow pipe, trails and
so forth, all the constructed trails, those are all
within District private property.  So, the special
use permit is really just the related ski area, ski
terrain, what we call the "Solitude Canyon area" of
about 296 acres, and then Golden Eagle Bowl, about
96 acres.  

So, even if they're -- in the future, if
there were concerns about the permit, the permit is
for ten years, that it doesn't really affect the
actual facility or the District-owned property.  

Just a couple of updates:  Starting at the
end of this week and through next week, we will be
doing pavement maintenance, a lot of the community
services venue.  The Mountain Golf Course cart path
project is nearly complete.  Construction work
schedule to be completed by the end of October.
Then returning in the spring for the slurry sealing
project.  Phase 1(b), is we're calling it, of the
effluent export line replacement project of 2,200
linear feet is also scheduled to be completed within
the last week of October.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  35
So, again, kind of a different look to the

GM report.  We just want to continue to be kind of
precise and accurate.  I think in the future,
working with the Director of Finance, getting caught
up a little bit, that we will see a lot more
financials within the report, even sources and uses
and acquisition.  Then be able to eventually work
with the Capital Improvement/Investment Committee,
and kind of report on capital projects in a little
bit more financial way versus just narratives.

CHAIR DENT:  Any follow-up questions from
my colleagues?

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I find the report much
easier to read.

The one thing I would just request, could
we, going forward, as it relates to golf, there's
nothing in here that see I that relates to food and
beverage or events.  And I think those are two
essential components of our business, and I would
like them to be included in the report.

As far as questions, I will follow up with
individual staff related to questions, given your
suggestion this evening.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Refreshing change.  A
report we can actually read and actually contains

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  36
information.  I think it's a great start.

I do have a question on page 13 with
regard to the Dog Park Committee.  I'm a little bit
confused.  It just doesn't seem to align with what
the previous direction from the Board.  I'd also be
concerned if there's a community survey going out
and a community forum just been hosted purely by the
Dog Park Committee, I don't think that was the
intention of the Board.  I don't think that was the
direction from the Board previously.

And I see statements like continued
community support for a dedicated dog park.  I think
that was one of the reasons for the survey going
out, to see if we did have that support.

I can take it up with Director Leijon, if
that's easier.

MR. BANDELIN:  Just consider that noted,
and I'll follow up.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  On that same subject, I
didn't realize that the area that they were
intending to encroach upon that goes toward the
stream area in that upper area, that is in the disc
golf.  So that would have an impact on that.  

So, you know, there were things that I
don't think we clearly understood.  And I agree with

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 33 of 309



  37
the comments made by Trustee Tulloch that I thought
we were going to be doing a community survey, and
then also surveying the dog owners.  

I was hoping that maybe we would have some
of that analysis already done.  But we'll sit tight.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I was just going to say
I think my understanding is that there was a
community survey, and we talked about possibly
having at one of our community forms, the topic be
the dog park.  I think that's where that's coming
from.

I think we gave direction to -- from the
Board to start doing the survey.  But if not, do we
need to bring the item back to make sure we can give
that direction?  Just so we can put it on the
agenda.

CHAIR DENT:  If that's something that
needs to come back at the next meeting, let's get it
on the agenda this week.

Any further discussion or comments?  I,
too, like the new format, so thank you for that.  It
is a little bit more clear to have everything broken
down by department.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I do recall that we
clearly gave direction to do a community survey.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  38
And also there was direction that was given by, I
believe, Director of Parks and Rec, that she wanted
to do some informal surveying of the dog owners.  

So, that direction was given.  I would
like to see it on our calendar to see the results of
that.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  We don't need to approve
the survey or anything; correct?

CHAIR DENT:  I think we already gave
direction --

TRUSTEE TONKING:  No.  I just mean we
don't have to approve the actual survey itself?

CHAIR DENT:  We've never approved a
survey, so no.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  I just know that
the last Dog Park Committee, we brought it back to
be approved, so I just wanted to clarify.

CHAIR DENT:  General Manger Bandelin,
perhaps you could get back to us offline regarding
this item.  Appreciate it.  Thank you.

Any other comments or questions regarding
the General Manager's report?

Seeing none, that will close out item E 1.
Moving on to item E 2, the treasurer's report,
payment of bills.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  39
E 2. 

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just on page 35 of the
packets, shows the major bill payments done per
month:  

3.18 million paid out, a large part of it,
to Granite Construction for the pipeline, the major
one's just over 2 million and a quarter of a million
to Granite Construction.  

NV Energy, our regular one.
Western Nevada Supply, 81k.  
Mike Menath Insurance, our annual

insurance premium, 225k.
Geotechnical Enviromental Services, 112k.

I believe that was also for the pipeline.  
Clark Equipment, Dell, for IT equipment,

and Dell, again, for their -- 
I would also like to say that I've been

working with interim Director of Finance, I think
next month's treasurer's report is going to be a lot
more informative, a lot more effective.  We've been
developing a financial report that should be --
actually meaningful and tells us what is happening.
I'd love to say it tells us what is in the bank, but
we still haven't reconciled the bank account, so
it'll give an approximation.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  40
But, yes, I think you'll find a material

change in next month's treasurer's report.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Annie, I promise not to

go off script.
I just wanted to bring to the Board's

attention that we all received an email from a
constituent expressing concerns about the CMAR
contract with Granite.  

And I did take time and reviewed all of
those contracts, and I do have some questions in
regards to it.  And if we want to talk about that
any further, we can do that at the end of the
meeting with our update section.

CHAIR DENT:  Any other questions or
comments for our treasurer?

All right.  Seeing none, that will close
out item E 2.  Moving on to item F.  
F.  CONSENT CALENDAR 

CHAIR DENT:  We have removed item F 1.  We
do have the approval of the regular meeting minutes
for July 26th, we have the approval of the special
meeting minutes from August 24th, and we have the
approval of the regular meeting minutes for August
30th.

I'll entertain a motion.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 34 of 309



  41
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I move the Board of

Trustees approve the consent calendar.
CHAIR DENT:  A motion's been made.  Is

there a second?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Second.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Any further discussion by the Board?  
All those in favor, state aye.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.  
Motion passes, 4/0.  Thank you.  That will

close out the consent calendar.  Moving on to item G
1, formerly F 1.  
G.  GENERAL BUSINESS 

G 1. 
CHAIR DENT:  Approve and final payment in

the amount of $7,200 to Erickson, Thorpe and
Swainston for legal services in the Smith vs. IVGID
lawsuit.  This can be found on pages 37 through 38
of your board packet.

Trustee Tulloch, you did pull this item.
Did you want to ask a question of legal counsel?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I just -- the reason I'm

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  42
asking is, obviously, this contract predates me on
the Board.  And I was under the impression the
previous board approval for amount of this had all
been settled.  That's just -- I'm curious with how
we're suddenly faced with another $7,200 for
something that -- a contract I believed to be
previously settled.  That was the reason -- I think
I expressed this last time this was on the agenda.
That's why I asked for some further information.

CHAIR DENT:  Annie, do you mind speaking
to this?  

MS. BRANHAM:  Sure.  My understanding of
the situation is that there was a final invoice for
the services provided by that firm.  I don't know if
it was that it just wasn't paid at the time, and
everyone didn't realize until many months had
passed, and that's why it came back up so late.  Or
if it was something where they weren't aware that
they hadn't billed for certain work they had done
and finalized.  

I think what happened, whatever that
discussion was, resulted in the settlement
discussion in the amount that they were originally
claiming was over $10,000, so part of the settlement
was to say, okay, we're going to reduce that by

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  43
approximately 5,000, and then we'll consider the
claim settled.  

But I don't think there's any dispute that
the services were actually provided on behalf of the
Board.  I think it's probably just one of those
wrinkles of when the invoice was actually mailed or
if it fell between the cracks or something like
that.  But I think the work itself was under
contract.

CHAIR DENT:  I just want to add to this,
and since you were part of the negotiations, if
there's something that you would like to speak to
regarding that, you're welcome to, interim General
Manager.  

As it relates to this item and having sat
on that board, it's my understanding former general
manager and former board chair reached an agreement
with this law firm, and we were not going to be
paying anything further, given that we cannot find
anything in writing in any documentation of that.  

It has since come to our -- I guess, we
have since been noticed by the law firm that we
still owe them a bill.  

So, I think we all thought this was behind
us; however, there's nothing that has been

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  44
documented, and now it's something that the interim
General Manager been tasked with figuring out.

Any further discussion?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I have a clarification

question:  Do we know whether this was within
budget, and do we know that this work that was
requested was approved by the board?

MR. BANDELIN:  I can't answer that.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Thank you.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  That clears it up.  It

was my understanding that project had been closed,
and they authorized an amount to be spent.  

I just wanted some clarification.
Appreciate that.

CHAIR DENT:  I'll entertain a motion on
this.  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll make a motion that
we approve the settlement as per the $7,200 to be
paid to Erickson, Thorpe and Swainston in settlement
for the work conducted in Smith vs. IVGID.

CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made.  Is there
a second?  

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Second.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Any further discussion by the Board?  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 35 of 309



  45
Seeing none, all those in favor, state

aye.  
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.  
Motion passes, 4/0.  That will close out

item G 1, formerly F 1.  Moving on to item G 2.
G 2. 

CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss, and possibly
appoint members of the community to the Board
Advisory Committee on Golf.  This can be found on
pages 586 through 633 of your board packet.  The
applicants are: Armand Simon, Seven Ross, Robert
Watson, Elyse Gut, John Johnson, Polly Wolf,
Katherine Holland, Robert Riccitelli, Harry Swenson,
Judy Miller, Todd Wilson, and, finally, Frank
Wright.

Trustee Tonking, this is your item, so I
will go ahead and pass this to you.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I believe Frank Wright
has removed his name, just as an update.

And then in terms of -- as you all know,
this has been a long process.  We had it scheduled,
we moved it because we felt like there should be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  46
alternatives for people who could not be here.  From
there, then we had it scheduled, but due to the
meeting changes, I had more than half of the
candidates not be able to show up, so we felt it
made sense to add -- to have them answer the
questions from the committee and do that with the
opportunity to speak during public comment.  So that
was the process that took place.  Chair Dent and I
had those discussions.  

And then my one concern, Annie, is I have
one waiver that has not been signed.  Does that
matter?  Is there a way we can work around if we
aren't talking about character?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  I will give you the
conservative legal advice.  I'll kind of explain
what the statute says and what's been done
historically, then, ultimately, you can make the
finally call, but I will give you a couple of
options that I would recommend.  

It's always been our recommendation since
we've been counsel that there are ways under NRS
241.033 that you can open up a discussion like this
for discussion of someone's competency/character,
you know, that term is pretty broad, it's been
interpreted pretty broadly, which is why it's always

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  47
a recommendation to follow that statute.  

You can either provide notice, in advance,
by personal service or by mail in advance to the
person.  In that case, you don't need a signature,
you don't need the waiver, you don't need anything
like that.  The waiver is an alternative to that
option.  So if you send the wavier out, you let the
person know we're going to be discussing your
character, your competency, things like that, at
this meeting as it relates to the Golf Committee,
then they can sign the waiver voluntarily, return
it, and then we don't have to worry about the notice
procedures.  

It's always been our recommendation to
notice people.  I understand we have a couple
examples of people who have joined a committee and
said, Well, I don't remember receiving notice or
signing a waiver.  

Apologies if that's not been done in the
past.  It's -- we have documentation that we've
always advised that the wavier be signed or, at the
very least, that the notice be given in accordance
with the statute.  So, anything that's been done in
the past is not something we're discussing tonight.  

But we did try to get all the candidates

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  48
to sign those waivers so that you guys could have an
open and frank discussion about the qualifications
of the committee members.  Given that one of the
candidates who, you know, one withdrew, didn't sign
the waiver, we have one remaining who didn't sign
the wavier, our recommendation, two parts, is either
to postpone this again so that we can provide
them -- she doesn't have to sign a waiver, but we
could provide her the notice and that way you can
have a full and open discussion of that candidate as
well.  Or just to remove that candidate from the
pool of potential applicants so that you don't have
to worry about the violation.  

But our recommendation is not necessarily
to go forward with a full discussion of every
candidate, including the one who didn't sign the
waiver, just over concern that section of the OML
would be violated.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I have another question,
actually.  Is there a way around that if we don't
feel the need to talk about a candidate's character
right now?

MS. BRANHAM:  It's a gray area, I'll say.
We don't have a lot of guidance on what it means to
talk about character or competency.  Our advice on

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 36 of 309



  49
that point tends to be broad because it's not
entirely clear what a court would feel falls under
the category of character or competency.  

As you're discussing the qualifications of
someone for a committee, I think it's difficult to
say you're not falling within the broad category of
competency, just to choose one of the words.  That's
our thinking on it, that it's difficult to have a
discussion about a candidate without discussing
their competency.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  I was just going
to say, personally, I don't feel like there's a need
to talk about any candidate's competency.  But if
people feel differently, that they want to have a
robust discussion, then I do believe we remove that
one candidate.  But if people don't feel the need, I
think we can leave it.  I don't know how others
feel.

CHAIR DENT:  I'm very much in line with
you as it relates to this.  We've never had to go
through this process before as it relates to
noticing people, and this is a fairly new thing that
we are practicing, I guess, at the District.  And
I've asked legal counsel to brief all of us on this,
and it could be outside of this meeting because

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  50
there's a lot of questions that have come up as
we've gone through this process.  

I am fine not talking about anyone's
character.  I appreciate all the applicants and
their willingness to be a part of this process.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think that's -- well,
I'll refrain from comment.  I know when I previously
applied to committees, this was never something
involved, but be that as it may.  

I would have thought that, given that
we're not able to interview the candidates in
question, as a member of the audience pointed out in
public comment, this is much more effective as a
two-way one, I think since we're not able to
actually do that, I think the only course of action
is to base or decisions based on forms returned.
We've told candidates that is going to be the modus
operandi, so I don't think it would be fair to
discuss candidates in any other form in the terms of
that.  All we can do is select candidates based on
the returns and based on our knowledge of people.

CHAIR DENT:  All right.  Okay.  Well, then
I think we are all on the same page that we're
fine moving forward, and we don't need to disqualify
someone for not signing the waiver that we didn't

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  51
have time to notice them on.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Perfect.
So there is 11 candidates.  I believe that

Chair Dent sent us all an email to send to Annie or
her email address so we could send her with our
choices.  Does anyone want to have a discussion?

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I just want to say thank
you for all the qualified applicants.  This is not
an easy decision to narrow this down.  I was sort of
saying, Maybe we should pick a few so that when we
all put our votes in, there's names that will pop
up.

But just -- I want to acknowledge the
wonderful community members who have applied for
this committee.  There's a field that are very, very
well qualified, so if you're not selected, please
don't take anything personally.

CHAIR DENT:  Next steps would be we're
emailing Annie.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Then I'm guessing if
there's a bunch on the cusp, then we'll keep doing
this process.

CHAIR DENT:  Yeah.  One thing maybe we do
is let's do -- we have four.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  We have five.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  52
CHAIR DENT:  Let's send our top five, and

that way it allows the process to move forward
without stopping.  Let's do our top five.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah, not sure how you
can do five at once.

MS. BRANHAM:  If I could just jump in
really quick.  I can give you kind of a procedural
what we were thinking.  So you'll send me your top
five.  The email itself that you send me will be a
public record after the meeting, so just keep that
in mind.  It's for purposes of just aggregating so
that it's not clear who -- which specific trustee
voted for which specific person at this time.  

If you send me your top five, I'll collect
them all, and then what I am planning to do to is
count and say this candidate got five total votes,
top number one or number two, or I'll go through and
say how many votes each person got.  And then if we
need to rank further, we can.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  How about put them in
order one through five.

(Board sending emails to Ms. Branham.)
CHAIR DENT:  We're going to take a

five-minute break.  If you need the little bit more
time just let us know.  Resume at 7:15.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 37 of 309



  53
(Recess from 7:08 P.M. to 7:21 P.M.)
MS. BRANHAM:  We had one person get four

votes, that was the top, so that was Mr. Wilson.  We
had two people get three votes, that would be
Swenson and Riccitelli, apologies if I'm
mispronouncing any names.  I think we've got one,
two, and three set on the committee.  

Then we have a three-way tie with two
votes each.  So I think you'll need to discuss how
to go about choosing of these candidates.  So with
the three-way tie with two votes, we have
Mr. Johnson, Ms. Holland, and Mr. Simon for that
fourth spot.  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Are you counting the
alternates in that?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  I took all five that
everyone named and added -- did everyone name them
in the order they wanted them picked in?  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Can I just make a point
of clarification?  Because, theoretically, if you
just count the alternates in there, theoretically,
one -- five people could vote for the same
alternate, and you can get more votes than the four
that we selected.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Can you tell us without

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  54
the alternate, and then just do the top four,
without people's alternate?  

MS. BRANHAM:  Yep.  Sure can.  Give me one
more second.

CHAIR DENT:  We don't know.  The question
was:  Who was already selected?

You guys, turn your mics on when you're
talking, please.

MS. BRANHAM:  Okay.  That has narrowed it
down a bit.  We have -- not counting alternate votes
this time, we have Mr. Wilson with four, he would be
the top vote getter, and then we have Swenson with
three, and then Mr. Riccitelli with three, so that
would be one, two, and three.  Now we have a two-way
tie for Johnson and Simon.  That narrowed it down by
one person.

CHAIR DENT:  Johnson and Simon, this is
using the top four candidates.  Okay.  Committee
chair Tonking -- trustee Schmitz what's wrong?

(Inaudible response due to no mic.)
CHAIR DENT:  Correct.  We can have a few

minutes.
Trustee Tonking, do you want to discuss

the next steps?  
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Yeah, so I think then we

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  55
take Johnson and Simon and decide and send an email
or text to Annie.

CHAIR DENT:  Correct.  
Trustee Schmitz, do you need a few more

minutes before we vote?
(Inaudible response due to no mic.)
CHAIR DENT:  All the candidates are good.

I would agree.  
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I do have a concern that

we might think about going forward, is that the only
woman is going to be myself on that committee.  So
just a thought to think about if we need to think
about it going forward.  I just realized that.

CHAIR DENT:  Understand your concerns, but
I don't think that's one of the qualifications that
would -- yeah.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  That if we want that
perspective, we do not have it.

CHAIR DENT:  Annie, have you received a
response from all of us?  

MS. BRANHAM:  Just waiting on Trustee
Schmitz.  

I have received the votes for the fourth
spot, and that will be Mr. Simon.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  So just to run through

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  56
those, we have Mr. Wilson, Mr. Swenson, Mr. Simon,
and Mr. Riccitelli; is that correct?

MS. BRANHAM:  That's correct.  That
matches my record as well.

CHAIR DENT:  Thank you.  We appreciate you
helping us through that process.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah, based on that, I'm
assuming, Annie, then if somebody drops out, the
alternate would be Mr. Johnson?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  As long as that works
for you all, if we get consensus on that, I'm fine
with that.

CHAIR DENT:  I will entertain a motion on
this item.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I make a motion to
nominate Mr. Wilson, Mr. Swenson, Mr. Riccitelli,
Mr. Simon, and Mr. Johnson as an alternate on to the
board-appointed Golf Committee.

CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made.  Is there
a second?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll second.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Any further discussion by the Board?
Seeing none, call for question, all those

in favor, state aye.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 38 of 309



  57
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.  
Opposed?  Motion passes 4/0.  Thank you

for that.  And thank the committee members or our
newly formed Golf Committee.  We appreciate -- the
folks that weren't selected, we appreciate you
putting your name in the hat and thank all of you.  

That will close out item G 2 -- G 3.  That
will close out item G 3 -- G 2.  Moving on to item G
3.  

G 3.   
CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss the financial

ratification of the Department of Finance's staffing
increase and approval of recommended adjustments for
consulting services.  Requesting staff member
interim Director of Finance Bobby Magee.  This can
be found on page 634 through 646 of your board
packet.

MR. MAGEE:  Thank you, Chair Dent and
members of the Board.  

This item tonight, while it's a new staff
report and new item, this is a continuation of the
discussion that the Board held on August 9th and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  58
August 24th, and just to recap very, very briefly,
the actions the Board took at that time.  

On August 9th, the Board directed staff to
create an internal auditor position, and so we have
been working with the human resources director on
developing that job scope.  Then there were a number
of other items that were approved that are there in
the staff report.  

And then on August 24th, the Board
conceptually approved the addition of two positions,
one being an assistant director of finance, and the
second one being a management analyst.  And that was
pending final approval by the Board at tonight's
meeting.  I know that the Board had an interest in
looking at what the final title -- the recommended
title of these positions was, the salary grade, and
the job descriptions.  

And so just in the interest of full
transparency, we have attached the job descriptions
for all three of these positions; one has already
been approved by the Board, two of them were
conceptually approved by the Board pending final
approval, so that's what we're recommending tonight
is ratification of the remaining two positions.  

And I will say that the job descriptions

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  59
that have been developed, they've been approved,
administratively, by the interim General Manager,
which is the normal process.  We've included them
into the Board's packet; however that is not a
recommended actionable item for tonight because, as
time moves on and these positions are recruited a
second time or a third time, staff would need the
flexibility in order to change a single word if they
needed to, and if the Board were to approve it,
staff would have to come back to the Board to make
any change at all.  So that's why we're including
that as information only.  

At the August 24th meeting, the second
item that the Board directed us to bring back was
identifying any additional consulting services that
may be needed for the future budget augmentation,
which I'm anticipating will come sometime in late
January, early February, once we get the final
figures worked out.  

And so there were two items that we
identified, and the first one is related to the
audit and what is known as the ACFR, the annual
comprehensive financial report, and actually putting
that document together.  That is a very
labor-intensive process that, right now with so many

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  60
vacancies in the finance department, we just don't
have the staff to be able to do that.  And so we
reached out to Davis Farr.  They indicated that they
would -- they did have capacity to help us with
putting that document together.  The expected cost,
they said, would be somewhere around $8- to $9,000.
We're recommending 10 so there's a little bit of
contingency money in there should anything go
sideways on that project.  

And the second item that we're
recommending has been completed in years past.  My
understanding is that previous director did one of
these a few years ago, which is a long-range fiscal
sustainability plan and a long-range financial plan.
And essentially what this document is is it takes a
look at the expected revenues over a ten year
period, the expected operating expenses and known
capital needs over that same period, and puts
together a plan, a thoughtful plan, on whether we
believe that budget solutions will be needed in
order to balance the budget in future fiscal years,
or if we believe that we're meeting the current
demands.  

And I will say to the Board that this is
more of a nice-to-have item tonight.  There are a

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 39 of 309



  61
number of things that staff would need to complete
before we could even issue an RFP for a long-range
financial plan or fiscal sustainability plan.  

We would need to, for example, take a look
and bring back to the Board some of the five-year
capital improvement projects, make sure that we're
all on the same page with what it is the Board's
priorities are prior to us being able to issue this
plan anyways.  

And so we were directed at the August 24th
meeting to identify these types of things, and I do
want to make it clear to the Board that if this item
is ultimately approved tonight, this will very
likely not be issued until the very end of the
fiscal year, and it may even roll into the next
fiscal year before an activity like this would be
able to commence, given all the other work that
needs to happen prior to this RFP for these types of
services being issued.  

With that, I'm happy to answer any
questions that the Board may have.

CHAIR DENT:  Thank you.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think, overall, this

is a good approach.  As we discussed in the
long-range financial plan, I think the difficulty in

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  62
trying to do that is, given that we're not a
traditional government with just most of our
revenues coming from tax revenues, given that 75 to
80 percent of our revenues come from user fees, it
becomes a bit more speculative.  

And also looking at the Moss Adams
proposal, which I think we all recognized and need
to revise the strategic plan, I think, yeah, I would
park this until we improvise the strategic plan.  I
think it would be more effective then.  I don't
think it would show very much at the moment.  I
think we need to revise the strategic plan.  

And that would also need to integrate with
the long-term -- the five-year capital plan that,
hopefully, the Investment Committee is going to get
to.  

Otherwise, I think, yes, I'm on board with
this.  

One suggestion, you mentioned there will
be salary savings.  There's none of these savings
shown here.  Have you got an idea of what the level
of salary savings you're expecting?  

MR. MAGEE:  Yes.  That's correct.  And so
of the items that are listed on the table here, we
believe that that is the fully loaded cost if

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  63
everything went completely sideways.  We believe
that the ultimate ask for the budget amendment will
be something less than that.  

Now, for example, the internal auditor
position, that current estimated cost cell, that is
the fully loaded cost and benefits salary of that
position for the entire fiscal year.  Obviously,
it's already September 19th, so we know we're not
going to spend that full amount.  

The reason we included into the table is
we're currently using consultants to provide some of
these services that we believe will ultimately be
filled through that position, the assistant director
of finance position, and the management analyst
position.  

What actual saving are, I would hate to
speculate.  What I will tell you is these items are
ready to go, the human resources director is
listening tonight.  If the Board ultimately ratifies
these last two positions, all three positions will
be floated within the next hour and out to the
public, and we will start the recruitment
immediately.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Okay.  Maybe I didn't
make myself clear.  Given that we have various

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  64
vacancies in the finance department at the moment,
there will be commensurate salary savings there
because we've authorized additional funds for all
the consulting staff, haven't we?

MR. MAGEE:  That is correct.  And that's
one of the items that we will be looking at very
closely before we come back with a final recommended
budget augmentation, is that we know we have
existing vacancies within the department now, such
as the controller, the accounts payable technician,
and the senior accountant position, for example.
All of those are currently vacant.  And those will
be factored in.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'm not sure if we've
confirmed it, but my understanding is we have a new
controller starting soon?

MR. MAGEE:  Yes.  I actually have
wonderful news on that front.  After the Board made
the adjustments to the controller position in the
way we advertised it and adjusting the salary grade
slightly, on August 9th, we instantly received just
a flood of highly qualified, highly educated
candidates, and we immediately jumped on that.  

We were able to identify the top-rated
candidate, and I'm exceptionally happy to announce

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 40 of 309



  65
that we expect her to start on October 9th, would be
her start date.  She is exceptionally well qualified
for this position.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.  That's
important.  The sky is not really falling, and the
last I looked, toilets still flushed and faucets
still run as well.  That's good.  And things are
moving forward on the finance front.  

One final point, I think there was an
excellent point made in public comment, which I
would fully support, with regard to the reporting
structure for the internal auditor.  I would ask you
to think about that as we move forward as well.  I
think that would be commensurate with my views on it
and my experience in these positions.

MR. MAGEE:  Yes.  Thank you.
For that, we did discuss that internally

at the staff level on whether this position should
report to the General Manager or directly to the
Board.  Obviously, we want this person to have a
degree of autonomy in doing their work.  And so here
in the western United States, it's a very common
structure to have the Board have one employee, which
would essentially be the General Manager, and that's
ultimately where we landed on this recommendation.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  66
If the Board wished to have a second

employee, which would be the internal auditor, if
the Board would provide that direction tonight, we
can certainly make that change.  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah.  I think the
suggestion that was floated was, yes, it's basically
reporting to the General Manager for wages and
conditions, if you like, and just the general
housekeeping, but also reporting line -- I think the
suggestion made was the director of the Audit
Committee, which I think it probably the safest
place, rather than reporting to the Board.  But
that's just a personal view.  I think that was the
comment expressed in public comment.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  One of the things
that -- in the job description for the internal
auditor, one of the things that I thought the Board
had given clear direction on is that we wanted the
internal auditor to also review and assist in
standard operating procedures, and I didn't see that
listed in the summary of responsibilities.  And so I
wanted to ask if that can be something that's added,
because I think that was the direction of the Board.

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  We can certainly get
that added.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  67
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Okay.  Then this -- I

spoke with Washoe County's internal auditor, but
this was a long time ago when I was working on
drafting the Audit Committee charter.  And I am
recalling that their internal auditor does report to
the general manager, but I believe with the dotted
line to the audit committee.

If that's not something that we feel
comfortable with and, perhaps, there should be some
sort of a dotted line to the Board.  The whole
reason behind it is to have assurance of
independence and have the ability for someone to not
be influenced one way or another, but to do their
job independently.  So, I think that's something
that should be thought about.

The other thing from my perspective is
that I still -- first of all, to back up, I concur
with Trustee Tulloch's comment about the long range.
I really like what you put in here, I thought it was
great, and this is something that the District
hasn't had and we really need it.  It helps us to
understand our long term, what we intend to have for
a rec fee and that sort of thing, so I think it's
good.  

But I do agree with Trustee Tulloch that,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  68
given where we are and given what we found with the
Moss Adams report, that, perhaps, we need to take
that step first.  So that will be on our long-range
calendar, I believe, to make sure we take the next
step with the Moss Adams report.  

But as it relates to the assistant
director of finance, I still -- I feel like you're
building a great team, and I'm not sure that that's
something that we need to actually act upon at this
time.  

I feel like we're maybe taking too much
on, and I don't disagree with it in concept, but I
think that now we're building a good accounting team
and we've got the controller coming in and we need
to work on these Moss Adams initiatives and we're
working on bringing in an internal auditor, I think
we should just take one step at a time.  I would
recommend that we sit tight on actively trying to
recruit and trying to fill that particular position
at this time.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm also in agreement
with Trustee Schmitz and Trustee Tulloch on removing
that long-range financial plan/fiscal sustainability
plan until a later date, especially given the
conversation you also mentioned that we might not

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 41 of 309



  69
even get into it until the next budget year.  So
maybe that's something we talk about during the
budget.

I was thinking in terms of the internal
auditor, you could even just do, like, a line that
says reports to GM, the Audit Committee, or Board of
Trustees, given whatever is the safest, because I
think Trustee Schmitz hit a good point that
sometimes none of those are the right people to
report to.  So I just think adding all options is
probably good.  

But in terns of the assistant director of
finance position, I was opposed to this position
until I sat down with interim Direct Magee, and we
spent a lot of time talking about this and then
during our discussion at the end of the month.  I
feel like this position is there to help deal with
that list of things that was brought to us, and I
it's think really important we start getting through
some that.  

So, I'm still in favor of that position.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah.  Just, again,

thinking out loud here, and I haven't discussed with
Director Magee or HR or anything.  Perhaps -- I hear
what both Trustee Schmitz and Trustee Tonking is

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  70
saying.  Yeah, I'd also expressed concerns
previously about it.  

Maybe the correct approach now is -- we
have acting -- interim Director Magee -- interim
Director of Finance doing there and moving things
forward, maybe the option now is to go with this
assistant director in the meantime, and start slow
rolling, pull back on recruitment of the new
director of finance in the short term, since interim
Director Magee is covering things.  I think he's put
in place lots of good plans.  

Maybe that might be the sensible approach
in the short term.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  So are you suggesting
recruiting for the assistant director of finance
with the thought and expectation that that person
would take over the role of the director of finance?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Not necessarily at this
stage, but I think we have -- we need some
continuity here.  I think interim Director McGee has
been putting some really good plans together, but I
think that might be an option, rather than bringing
in an assistant director of finance, then suddenly
we've got another director of finance starting at
the same time, and we loose the continuity.  I kinda

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  71
like the direction that we're actually achieving at
the moment.

CHAIR DENT:  I tend to agree with you on
that.  

And to your point, Trustee Schmitz,
perhaps the assistant director of finance does
become the director of finance, and I think that is
something we talked about a month or so ago when
this item came up, and we were working through it.  

As it relates to the long-range financial
plan, I'm fine putting that on hold for right now.
And I think I align with all three of my other
colleagues on the Board.

There was one other item on here that I
wanted to weigh-in on that you guys did.  Drawing a
blank.  The assistant director -- nope.  I don't
know.

I'll just say I think the discussion on
this item was good.  I do like that idea.  I think
that may be the right approach right now.  I mean,
if we do -- if we are recruiting for a director of
finance, we find a well-qualified individual, high
rating, and we bring them in, now we have two
director of finance that are kind of competing.
Right?  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  72
I think the right approach is just to

focus on that assistant director, potentially cool
down the recruiting aspect when it comes to the
director of finance, allow interim Director Magee to
continue to move forward with the plan he has in
place, and the plan he's implementing.  

Anyone else want to weigh-in on this item?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I will agree with you,

if we are filling this position with someone who
could potentially become a director of finance.
Because I think with the efforts that are being put
into play today, that the organization will be much
more stable and much more refined, as far as having
work processes, work procedures, that sort of thing.
So I think what we're doing is laying a good bedrock
for a solid finance department.  

And if we can recruit someone who
potentially could be a director of finance, then I
can support that.

CHAIR DENT:  Any further discussion on
this item?  Because I'll entertain a motion.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I move that the Board of
Trustees ratify the additional positions of
assistant director of finance, grade 40, and
management analyst, grade 28, to the Department of

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 42 of 309



  73
Finance that were conceptually approved by the Board
at the August 24th, 2023, special board meeting,
while cooling down recruitment of the director of
finance.  

I also move that the Board of Trustees
approve the additional items identified by staff for
consulting services and direct staff to add the
items of future budget augmentation without the
long -- or with the exception of the long-range
financial plan and fiscal sustainability plan.

CHAIR DENT:  A motion's been made.  Is
there a second?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll second.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I have a question.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Further discussion by the Board?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  That motion didn't

include anything about the internal audit position.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm fine modifying the

motion to include adding some language around -- the
language discussed within the Board about the
internal auditor position.

CHAIR DENT:  Motion has been amended.
Second amended as well?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Second.  Yep.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  74
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Amended again.
I will amend that again just to say that,

in addition, the job responsibilities will be
modified to include standard operating procedures as
part of the responsibility of the internal auditor.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  That's fine.
CHAIR DENT:  Director Feore?
MS. FEORE:  Can I ask a quick question

regarding the direction from the Board on the
internal auditor position?  I overheard that the
recommendation is is that this position possibly
report to the General Manager and/or the Audit
Committee chair.  Did I understand that correctly?

CHAIR DENT:  Great question.  That's what
I wanted to weigh-in on.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  My understanding was
reports to the general manager, Audit Committee
chair or Board of Trustees, as the issue deems fair.

MS. FEORE:  Okay.  So my only question on
that one that I just wanted to ask is if the Audit
Committee chairperson is a volunteer, how does a
District employee report to a volunteer?  So that
would just be something that we can speak offline
about.  

And/or, Annie, maybe I can get some

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  75
clarification from you on that one.  That would be
my only concern.  And I believe that's why we have
recommended that the position report to the General
Manager.  I did do some research.  

And, Trustee Schmitz, I did see that the
internal auditor position with Washoe County does
report to the management team there, but this is a
unique position.  

I just wanted to make sure I wasn't
misstating anything or misunderstanding the
direction.

CHAIR DENT:  Great questions.  We
appreciate you bringing those up.  I will go to
interim Director Magee.  And then I think maybe the
three or four of us give a little clarification on
how we think that that individual should be
reporting.

MR. MAGEE:  My question is for counsel.  I
want to make sure that we -- when we were discussing
this internally, we wanted to make sure that staff
had the ability to modify job descriptions moving
forward.  And if the Board makes the recommendation
to add this, then does that lock in this particular
job description or just lock in that statement,
even, on this particular job description?  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  76
Because we can certainly make that change

without a formal motion, I believe, but if the Board
has a level of comfort, we'll certainly accept that
direction.  I just would like some clarification on
what the human resources director authority would be
to modify this particular job statement moving
forward.

MS. BRANHAM:  I think the Board could,
maybe, clarify specifically if their intent is to
just include this specific statement in the
document, and then allow staff to make additional
changes in the future at their discretion, or if you
want the whole description itself to come to the
Board every time?

CHAIR DENT:  It's my understanding from
the discussion that was had at the Board that the
Board has added that section to the job description
to be included, per the discussion, the direction
the Board has formerly -- or already given to staff.

So, there's no new action being taken by
this board.  We are just saying the Board has
already directed staff to do this, and we're just
asking that that be cleaned up and that description
be modified to that prior direction the Board has
given.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 43 of 309



  77
Do we still have concerns?
MS. FEORE:  Annie, I don't know if this is

something that you can speak on, but if the position
has a reporting responsibility to a committee
member, have you seen that in other agencies, and
how does that typically work?

MS. BRANHAM:  No.  I don't want to get out
over my (inaudible) and say for sure it is or it is
not permissible, but I'm happy to look into it if
the Board wants a specific paragraph in the job
description.  

It may be that there are legal concerns
with one of these approaches.  And so we may want to
double check that before we have a motion to
formally add a certain phrasing to the job
description.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  Continuing on with our
discussion.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  For clarification, I
don't think that the Board is indicating that they
want this job description to be the responsibility
and -- of the Board.  

We were just giving feedback that had
already been provided, and so we would expect that
staff would just take that feedback and going

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  78
forward, this is staff's -- staff has the authority
to change the job description.  We just wanted to
add the one thing that we had requested prior.  Does
make sense?

And as it relates to reporting to a
committee, I fully appreciate the concern.  Perhaps
what we should suggest for assurance of independence
of the internal auditor, that they report to the
General Manager, and they have a dotted line to the
Board Chair.  So that there is another path if that
internal auditor runs across something that they
feel needs to come to the Board.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yes, I tend to concur
with Trustee Schmitz.  I think it's important
that -- my view is that the internal auditor reports
to the General Manager for paying rations, for want
of a better phrase.  But it's important -- it's
essential the internal auditor has independence.  

The internal auditor should not need to go
through the whistle blower policy if something was
-- in the unlikely circumstance that something was
rejected or sat on by the General Manager.  

So, I'm okay with that -- with the dotted
line reporting to the Board Chair, I think makes an
acceptable compromise.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  79
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm fine with it, but

what do we do with this motion?
MS. BRANHAM:  For clarity, we should

consider the previous motion dead, if we have a
consensus on that, and then, maybe, start over with
a new motion.

CHAIR DENT:  The previous motion has
failed, and I will entertain another motion.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Trustee Schmitz, I may
need you to add the one thing about operations.
But -- okay.  

So, I move that the Board of Trustees
makes a motion to ratify the additional positions
for assistant director of finance, grade 40, the
management analyst, grade 28, for the Department of
Finance that were conceptually approved by the Board
at the August 24th, 2023, special board meeting,
while cooling down recruiting for the director of
finance.  

Additionally, I move that the Board of
Trustees make a motion to approve the additional --
the Board of Trustees approve the additional items
identified by staff for the consulting services and
direct staff to add the items to the future budget
augmentation without the long-range financial

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  80
plan/fiscal sustainability report, to add a line
asking the internal auditor to report to the GM with
a dotted line to the Board Chair, as well as the
internal auditor, to be part -- overview the
operations.

CHAIR DENT:  A motion's been made.  Is
there a second?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll second it.  
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  No further discussion, I'll call for
question.  All those in favor state, aye.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.  
Motion passes, 4/0.  All right.  That will

close out item G 3.  Moving on to item G 4, formerly
G 3.

G 4. 
CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss, and possibly

adopt Board Policy 23.1, policy regarding access to
confidential non-public information.  This can be
found on pages 647 through 652 of your board packet.

Annie, would you like to provide an
overview of this policy we're seeing for the a first

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 44 of 309



  81
time?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  I would be happy to.
And thank you for saying that.  What I was going to
kick off with was this is our first time considering
this policy.  I understand, in particular, there's
still a highlighted portion, so there may be
discussion, this policy may need to come back.  Just
putting that out there in the beginning, but let me
give you a brief overview of how we got here.  

Historically, trustee access was more
restrictive, and I understand that trustees used to
have to put in public records requests to get access
to certain information, which doesn't always
contribute to a strong staff/leadership connection.

So, modern practice has been for trustees
to be able to access District documents and
information, with the exception of certain things,
which include personnel files for all employees,
other than the general manager.  So there's not a
lot that you don't have access to, but what this
policy is intended to do is capture the range of
types of documents where you, as trustees, have
special access to those documents, they are not
necessarily public documents, and they should not be
disclosed as such.  And there are a limited category

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  82
of documents that even the trustees don't have
access to because you only employ the general
manager, and so personnel files go through the
general manager only, and/or, perhaps, human
resources.  

So, a general, brief summation is that
there are four types of documents, which would be,
going from least restrictive to most, public
records, which anyone can access.  Trustees have
free access to them, the public, if they put in a
public records request, has access to them.  

Second, there are personnel files, other
than the GM, which trustees do not have access to,
the public does not have access to.  So those are
pretty restricted documents.  

And then there's the category that we're
calling "non-public and confidential."  So, those
are documents to which some kind of privilege has
attached, and it would take a majority vote of the
Board to decide to waive that privilege and release
the documents anyway.  So there's a layer of
additional protection there.  Although the Board
itself is entitled to view those documents.  

And then, fourth and finally, GM personnel
records, which the Board does have access to as the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  83
employer of the general manager.  

So, that's kind of the brief
categorization.  We've given some examples of those
types of documents in the policy itself, but I will
remain available for any questions that the Board
may have.

CHAIR DENT:  Questions from my colleagues?
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I just have two quick

questions.  
Is this the type of policy you would see

in other organizations similar to this?  
MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  There's frequently --

it's not always entirely clear, and that's not on
this board, that is just in general, the way that
the law is.  It's not always clear what trustees
have access to that is above or different than what
the public generally has access to, so it's not
uncommon to clarify by giving examples or by setting
up specific definitions of what those documents are,
when you have access to them, when you do not have
access to them, and how you can sort of override
claims of privilege to release them, regardless.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  In terms of the
non-public information, how are we deciding that and
how are we making sure trustees are informed if

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  84
something is non-public and making sure we're not in
violation of NRS 239?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah.  It's going to be a
case-by-case determination, as is the case for all
public records.  So when we get -- one way that it
could happen, we might get a public records request
for a certain document from a member of the public,
and determine, through application of the law, that
it's not a public record.  It doesn't meet the
criteria in some way, either it's privileged or it's
not ordinarily held by the District, it doesn't meet
the criteria in some way to be a public record.  

That doesn't mean that the trustees do not
have access to that document.  So that's intended to
capture the limited situation where, for some
reason, a document -- I think the example we give
here would be documents regarding recreational
privileges, which might come out from the HR
department, or fees.  Documents involving fees, a
lot of times will have personal information related
to them, and so they're not public records, but you
would have access to them.  

So, that's what that category is intended
to capture.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think I understand the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 45 of 309



  85
concepts behind this, Annie.  I think there's -- to
your earlier statement, I think there's still a lot
of work to be done.  

If I look at 0.6, I've got to say I'm kind
of confused by this.  That's maybe not surprising.
But what's the point of trustees not disclosing
copies or excerpts if their entitled to discuss the
underlying facts and circumstances?  Because then
it's affect, we're putting the whole thing out
there.  

It's also -- it leads to ambushing of
trustees or of the public because it's only here the
trustees shall confer with the general manager and
general counsel, not with other board members.  

If I look at employee access to
information, 0.7, there's no details for what's
there.  The Board should not be finding these
confidential documents released on social media by
current or former staff members, that should not be
the first we're aware of them.  I think it needs a
lot of work there.  I think it needs to be very
carefully defined which documents we're talking
about, which staff are actually able to access
these, and there should be full logs of any access
to these.  So I think that needs a lot of work there

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  86
as well.

And I think in violations, it obviously
needs remedies for violations, both by trustees and
by staff.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I think that this is a
good start.  I want to back up a second because this
limitations on access, to me, it just is another
type of classification, and it should be
confidential and non-public.  It should just state:
The trustees do not have access to HR files.  

I mean, I just think that putting it here,
as opposed to being over categorically different, it
just lays it out.  Okay?  We have access to these
things; we don't have access to this.

From my perspective, when you look at the
confidential, when it says "non-public information,"
I don't think that -- I think, frankly, this
document, it should say "documents that are related
to IVGID that are not confidential, but are not
public record, that they should not be discussed."  

I mean, I don't know how you can have
something that's not public information, and then
allow the trustees to discuss it publicly.  Then
it's not non-public information.

So, if the trustees are allowed to discuss

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  87
non-public information publicly, then why isn't that
a public record?

So, to me, the non-public information, we
may not be discussing this publicly.  That's how I
see it.  Otherwise, it just opens up a Pandora's
box, in my opinion.

So, that would be my suggestion that if
it's not a public document, it cannot be discussed
publicly.  Period.  Otherwise, it's a public
document.  

Then over in the request for information,
in the yellow text, I appreciate the fact that you
highlighted this in yellow.  Given what has
transpired in the past month or so, my feeling is
that it is -- anything to be provided should be --
go back to the old, hard copy with confidential
stamped on it, and we are able to review it, but
only in a printed hard copy that we don't take
pictures of, and it gets handed back to staff for
shredding.  Because the minute you share something
electronically, you have the opportunity for
somebody, inadvertently, to suddenly share it
publicly, and that would be putting the District at
legal risk.  So, that would be my recommendation.

And then in the duty not to disclose, it

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  88
says, "The trustees should not disclose any
confidential or non-public information."  That is
our duty.  Otherwise, it's public information.  So,
those are the things.  

Then under 07, which Trustee Tulloch just
touched on, perhaps it should be added to say that
the general manager will implement policies for the
control and access of documents, because I think,
you know, that's part of it as well; it's not just
the access, it's control and the access.  So, those
are my suggestions.  

One other point, which is in the bottom of
.04, the very last sentence, it says "The entire
Board of Trustees will be promptly notified."  I
would change to say "immediately notified of any
request under this subsection," so that we have the
opportunity to review the same materials.

Those are my comments and suggestions.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Do you think it would be

beneficial if we sent any of our edits to Annie and
Josh, and go from there?  Because I also have some,
but I don't need to walk through them all.

CHAIR DENT:  Correct.  And I think we all
have -- there may be some similar ones, and so we
shouldn't be restating them.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 46 of 309



  89
Are you guys okay with sending an email to

Josh and Annie so the recommendations that you
brought forward for changes then get added to the
document, and it's brought back as a draft at a
future meeting?

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I have no problem, but I
really would like to hear if there's other areas
that Trustee Tonking wants to have thought about.  I
mean, we're here to discuss it, so I'd welcome that
opportunity.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm fine at this moment.
CHAIR DENT:  And I agree with a lot of

things that Trustee Schmitz brought forward, and
same with Trustee Tulloch.  I don't need to repeat
every single one of those.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I guess what I'm saying
is, like, there are some of the things that you said
that I agree with; some I don't.  And so then I'll
just, like, add similar track changes along those
lines.  Then I think we can all talk about our track
changes together, if that kinda makes sense, like
we've done in the past policy reviews.

CHAIR DENT:  Yeah, I think that's fine.  
Annie, that's fine, as long as we -- none

of us know what each other put -- our

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  90
recommendations are until it's brought forward in a
board packet; correct?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  Please send them,
individually.  It would be great if you could do
them in track changes.  

And then what we will do on our end is try
and look for areas where there is some kind of
consensus, if we can phrase it in a way that seems
to align multiple edits.  If not, we'll kind of
present any conflicting edits to you guys at the
next meeting, and then, yeah, go from there.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Annie, also in the past,
we've done it -- or I guess, maybe, it was just
Trustee Schmitz and I did it on one document.  But
we each had our, like, a combined version, and then
our each, individual, track changes so we could walk
through some of those too, which might be helpful
for us all to see.  

MS. BRANHAM:  You would like a version
with all of the changes in, maybe, different colors
or something like that?  

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Or just, like, a
separate section for each of us too.  Like, you'd
have your combined, and then you would just have --
so that we don't forget what we had said, also.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  91
MS. BRANHAM:  Yes, that can be done.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  You don't think about

the boomers here.
CHAIR DENT:  Any further discussion on

this item?
Annie, we appreciate your overview, and we

will be sending you an email.  The turnaround for
the next meeting is too short, so I'm assuming we
can bring this back at the October 11th meeting.
Would that be a goal we can shoot for?  

MS. BRANHAM:  That works for me.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I am in Thailand on the

11th.  So I will not be joining, due to the
15-and-a-half-hour time difference.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  So then -- and then
Trustee Noble hasn't weighed-in on this either, so,
Annie, if we could get his feedback on some of these
changes or concerns with the policy as well.

MS. BRANHAM:  If you want to push it to
the second meeting in October, that will be the one
that I'm covering, so for continuity, it might be
better anyway.  That way -- I mean, Josh can
obviously handle it as well.  Just wanted to bring
that up.

CHAIR DENT:  Any concerns by the Board?  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  92
We'll shoot for the last meeting in

October for bringing that back.  Thank you.
All right.  That will close out item G 4.

Moving on to item H.  
H.  REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS.  

CHAIR DENT:  Redactions.  No action on
this item.  Moving on to item I.
I.  LONG RANGE CALENDAR 

CHAIR DENT:  The long-range calendar can
be found on pages 653 through 657 of your board
packet.

MR. BANDELIN:  I'm all over the place with
this long-range calendar.  It's changed quite a bit.

CHAIR DENT:  Feel free to make the changes
to this like you did with the GM report, and we
could see what you come up with.

MR. BANDELIN:  Yeah, we're hoping to have
packet material out tomorrow or early Friday
morning.

CHAIR DENT:  Any concerns or questions
with the long-range calendar?  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah, for the September
27th meeting, I'd like to add the Moss Adams -- the
update from Moss Adams and potential action items.  

CHAIR DENT:  If you would like to have

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 47 of 309



  93
that at the next meeting, then the packet material
needs to be to the clerk first thing in the morning,
and I need your agenda item, because it's on my desk
for approval.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Does the packet need to
be for tomorrow morning?  I can give the agenda
item.

CHAIR DENT:  The agenda item needs to be
for tomorrow.  We could publish supplemental
information at a later time.  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah, I think -- yeah.
CHAIR DENT:  We could put that on the

agenda for you guys, and then we can give you a
couple extra days to think about it.  But we have a
quick turnaround.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yep.
CHAIR DENT:  Is that fair?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yep.
CHAIR DENT:  Okay.
We just added another one to your list.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I just had an item on

here about additional training, which made me think
about when we were scheduling our second training.

CHAIR DENT:  Good question.  I will work
with our district clerk.  The General Manager and I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  94
had a conversation on that earlier today.  The goal
would be to schedule for next week and do something
in the later afternoon.  And we'll send an email
for -- and it's more of a board training this time,
using past examples of things.

Any other questions?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  On October 25th, with

the carryforward, we have -- that was pulled from an
agenda a meeting or so ago.  If that is what this
is, the carryforward, I'd like to make sure that we
add the Diamond Peak van at the same time because
that was an agenda item that was needed to carry
over.  So if we could please get that on the same
agenda, that would be great.

I think we should put on an agenda, in the
near term, a community survey.  I think that it's
really important that we discuss our five-year plan.
We have not had any discussion about our five-year
plan.  It was included in our budget, but we never
discussed it.  And I think that if we're going to be
discussing a five-year plan, I think the first step
is to do a broad community survey to get feedback on
what community's priorities are so that we can
incorporate that and have a discussion when talk
about our five-year plan.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  95
I think that we need to make sure that we

have on our agenda the RFP for the forensic due
diligence.  

And I had spoken with you, when is that
going to be on the agenda?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I would like to add
that -- I've been working with interim Director
McGee.  Our objective was to try and have that at
the next meeting.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Which next meeting,
September?  

CHAIR DENT:  September 27th.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Okay.
CHAIR DENT:  I look forward to seeing your

agenda item in the packet material in the morning.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  No pressure.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Okay.  All right.
And then I think that other thing is is

that I believe the utility master plan should be
roughly coming to conclusion.  I think we approved
that, roughly, about a year ago, so I'd like to at
least get on our long-range calendar, perhaps, in
November, just at least to review it and see what it
has to say.  

But I also think skate park that we have

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  96
now pushed all the way to November 8th needs to be
pulled in.  We've been -- that was brought to the
Board -- what? -- in April or May, and November is
really pretty late.  I want to make sure that we've
got time to review it and if there's changes or what
not, but it seems like that's been pushed into the
future a bit far.  And maybe it has to be there.

The other thing that is not on our agenda
that was supposed to be is that we were supposed
hear back from staff about the winter beach
operations, how they were recommending we handle
winter beach operations, and that hasn't been put
back onto our long-range calendar.  

And I think we also have to make some
decisions about the dog park, and that those
community surveys haven't gone out and I don't see
on our calendar either.  

So those are things I think we need to not
forget about.

CHAIR DENT:  Our clerk is taking notes
over there, so I think cleaning up this long-range
calendar and getting some of these items that we've
had pushed off is very important.

General Manager Bandelin, do you want to
speak to the skate park item that's been pushed off?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 48 of 309



  97
It was July, then August, October, and now November.

MR. BANDELIN:  That's staff's intention
coming from our engineering and project management
team, that the bandwidth that we're allowed right
now is having the beach facility in there and the
skate park.  Just providing the information of how
they've scheduled those particular meetings to come
back and discuss those items.

CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Schmitz, it's my
understanding they're bringing back proposals when
they come back in November.

MR. BANDELIN:  Correct.  So it's actually
in the venue status report.  And we have an
agreement with the Incline Beach House design build
award on November 8th.  And also at that same
meeting, November 8th, is the agreement skate park
design build award.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  One more.  One more is
that I know that -- I apologize, I should have the
date.  I don't have it.  But we have RPP that is out
for point of sales systems.  And I believe that they
were to be returned back to the District sometime in
October, so I think that we should probably have
that penciled in early November as well.

MR. BANDELIN:  That's correct.  I think

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  98
questions to be answered were the third week in
September, from the people receiving the proposal,
and then, I think, second or third week in October
when they were due.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I'll defer to the
General Manager when that needs to be scheduled.  I
just don't want it to be forgotten.

MR. BANDELIN:  Right.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I see on October 25th,

it's the effluent pipeline GMP2 award.  My
understanding was that the Board wanted to see what
was happening on the CMAR fee, and it wasn't
necessarily award, it was to decide whether we were
going to go out to bid, or as opposed to just
awarding it to existing contractor.  Unless that's
going to be one of the options presented to the
Board at the time.

MR. BANDELIN:  I believe what you'll see
is -- we talked about it when -- at the last meeting
when we talked about the 90 percent GMP2 discussion
with Mr. Klien, that were waiting for the other
bidding opportunities for the third-party
contractors to come up with a full GMP2 price, and
then we would present that to the Board.  And then
there would be discussion at some level of -- on

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  99
discussion of moving forward with the process.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  It's not actually award.
It's just effluent pipeline GMP2 costings and
things, rather than the actual award.  I think
that's probably the change.  

MR. BANDELIN:  Okay.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.
MR. BANDELIN:  Then if I might just add,

to your question about beach access and staffing
during the winter, I think that was addressed from
the Director of Parks and Recreation in a GM report.
I can pull it back.  That was a conclusion made from
talking with counsel Kathy Parks, I believe.  

And so let me respond back to that
particular question in a narrative that was included
in the General Manager report a few meetings back.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  Just making sure there
isn't action that needs to be taken on our part and
something is not going to happen because we didn't
plan to take action.  So if you could get back to us
offline regarding where we're at in that process,
we'd appreciate it.  

Any additional questions regarding the
long-range calendar?

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  From our last meeting, I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 100
had a note, and it said "IVGID survey.  IVGID
Magazine survey results," and I had the note under
the September 27th, but I don't see it on the
September 27th.  So what was the plan with that?

MR. BANDELIN:  We will be bringing the
District advertising policy to the Board on the
September 27th meeting.  And the survey is actually
still open until the middle of October.  But I'm
sure Mr. Raymore might be able to give you a little
preview of survey results at the September 27th
meeting, in regards to the magazine users survey
responses.

CHAIR DENT:  Anyone else, long-range
calendar questions?  

That will close out item I 1.  Moving on
to item J.  
J.  BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE 

CHAIR DENT:  Any updates for Board of
Trustees?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just to say we're having
the first meeting of Capital Improvement/Investment
Committee on Tuesday, 2:00 P.M., so that's
scheduled.  We're having it in person and with Zoom
access for some of the members that can't make it.
I felt it was important for the first meeting to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 49 of 309



 101
have it in person.

Thank you to Mr. Clark and General Manager
Bandelin for making the arrangements there.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I have a few updates.  
As it relates to contracts, we discovered

that there was an issue with actually converting
from Word to PDF that caused some errors.  There's
been some technical analysis that has been done and
some additional review that is going to be done to
ensure that we don't have errors that are introduced
during that conversion process.  

Also working with legal counsel and
staff -- I'm not working with them, but they are
working together to define the process for signing
because it appears that a contract was dated prior
to the fixes being made to the contract, so we're
reviewing that.  So things are improving, but we're
still having some challenges.  

And I will produce a formal written, you
know, my Excel spreadsheet, I'll get that updated.
I just hadn't had time before this meeting.  

The thing I actually really enjoy about
reviewing the contracts is that I know what's going
on, I know we're doing the slurry sealing, I know
that we're doing the geotech on the tennis courts,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 102
so I'm in the know.  I like that.

Then, as it relates to pickleball, I had
my first opportunity to meet with their
self-appointed committee and with the Director of
Parks and Rec and also the manager of the Tennis and
Pickleball Center.  They're being very proactive,
and their next step is to conduct an elected group,
as opposed to a self-appointed group, and they
actually have drafted an informal charter.  And once
they have their non-self-appointed but their elected
group, they will be bringing to the Board their
charter for us review.  So I'm pretty excited about
that.  It's a great group of people.

And then I also, as it relates to the
beach liaison, I wanted to just at least update the
Board.  It was brought to our attention, if you
recall from public comment, that the water safety
class was not allowed to be conducted at our beaches
this year.  And I was unaware of that because we had
discussed -- the Director of Parks and Rec and
myself had discussed a process of how the schools
would still have their opportunity to use the
beaches for their water safety.  

But what I learned is that the Director of
Parks and Rec had been informed by the Washoe County

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 103
School District that they would not allow the
elementary school to provide rosters that would
allow IVGID to verify beach access, and because of
Family Education Rights and Privacy Act -- I don't
know why this particular privacy act created an
issue for elementary school because I was informed
the middle school was able to access it, as was the
Lake Tahoe School, so there's some issue that needs
to be investigated as to why the elementary school
wasn't able to conduct their program at the beach.  

So, I'm still learning.  I don't know what
the fix is.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Maybe this goes back to
long range, but can we bring an item that discusses
this to the Board about Washoe County School
District and access to students?  Because I've
(inaudible) it, and we probably can't discuss it
now.  

And then I'd also like an item brought to
the Board that talks about what we're going to do
with committees that decide to be their own
committee versus board -- we just really need to,
like, hash that out.  

So I would like both of those added to
long range to be addressed too.  Thank you.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 104
MR. BANDELIN:  Yeah, could there be

possible discussion on the Board of Trustees town
hall open forum?  On the calendar on September 27th,
we were just asking if there might be some
discussion on what that forum looks like.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Yeah.  I have a memo to
give you on that forum by tomorrow morning.

CHAIR DENT:  Yeah.  And we can talk about
that, because what we did talk about was we would be
here an hour before the meeting to have discussion
with our bosses, the community.  I don't know if we
need a formal memo, but we could talk about that
offline.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  And I will share with
the Board the information that I was given from the
Director of Parks and Rec when I asked about this
situation, because we -- I thought we had a plan.
Obviously we didn't, and they ended up at Sand
Harbor.  

So I will work to try to find some
additional information on this, and share it with
the Board.

CHAIR DENT:  And then I do have an
announcement I'd like to make that the Secretary of
State has investigated my financial disclosure

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 50 of 309



 105
statement, per the two complaints they received, and
they have closed out and dismissed the allegations
against me.  I'm happy to include the complaints, as
well as the letter I received from the Secretary of
State into the record for these meeting minutes.
And I'll provide that to the district clerk.

Any other questions, concerns, issues,
trustee topics?  

All right.  That will close out item J.
Going on to item K.  
K.  FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 

CHAIR DENT:  Do we have any final public
comment from those still in the room?  Seeing none,
let's go to Zoom.

MS. KNAAK:  Yolanda Knaak, Martis Peak
Drive.  

I just wanted to congratulate those
members of the Golf Committee.  And, also, I wanted
to thank the IVGID Board for all their hard work.  

Thank you.
MR. DOBLER:  Yeah, this is Cliff Dobler

here.  
I'd like to have you pay attention for a

couple of minutes.  I'm not opposed to any staffing
of the accounting department because I've told you

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 106
over the last six years that it's been very
deficient.  

But I really think you need to study this
general fund and realize that what you're pulling on
board and then also adding the parks to the general
fund and then errors in the existing budget, you're
going to be flat broke by the end of next year.

So I don't know what you're planning on
doing, but your revenue on the general fund is more
or less fixed by just property taxes, personal
property taxes, so they don't get any fees, other
than these taxes.  

So I think this general fund should be
looked at earlier than January, what Mr. Magee said,
and then there ought to be something to tell the
public that if you want to go with all this staff
and keep the parks in the general fund, then you're
going to have raise, substantially, the central
service cost allocations, which mean more expenses
will be going to the venues, which mean rates will
have to go up at the venues, or it's going to have
to be subsidized by the facility fees.

But I don't know if this is something that
should wait for the next three or four months.  It's
one fund, but you're whacking it.  Last year, by the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 107
end of June, you had 5.3 million, and you're
expecting to only have 2.6 million at the end of
June, but you just added a 1.1 or 1.2 million, and
then you have a half-a-million-dollar mistake.  So
you won't even meet board policy on reserves.  

And I really think you should maybe look
at this.  You talk about long-range calendars, I
think this, a long range, is maybe a year, that that
might be considered long range.  

So, you know, Tonking, you can pay
attention or not, but at any rate, that's all I got
to say.  I think this is a serious problem that
should be looked at.

CHAIR DENT:  That will conclude public
comment.  We will move on to item L.  
L.  ADJOURNMENT 

CHAIR DENT:  It is 8:35.  I want to thank
all my colleagues and staff.  We are adjourned.

(Meeting adjourned at 8:35 P.M.)

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 108
STATE OF NEVADA ) 

)  ss. 
COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

 
I, BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH, do hereby 

certify: 
That I was present on September 19, 2023, 

at the Public Meeting, via Zoom, and took stenotype 
notes of the proceedings entitled herein, and 
thereafter transcribed the same into typewriting as 
herein appears. 

That the foregoing transcript is a full, 
true, and correct transcription of my stenotype 
notes of said proceedings consisting of 108 pages, 
inclusive. 

DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 25th day of 
September, 2023. 
 

    /s/ Brandi Ann Vianney Smith 
 

 
___________________________ 
BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH 

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 51 of 309



INVOICE
BAVS SM-LLC

brandiavsmith@gmail.com
United States

BILL TO
Incline Village General Improvement
District
Susan Herron

775-832-1218
AP@ivgid.org

Invoice Number: IVGID 4

Invoice Date: September 25, 2023

Payment Due: October 19, 2023

Amount Due (USD): $998.00

Items Quantity Price Amount

Appearance fee
September 19, 2023 BOT meeting

1 $350.00 $350.00

Per page fee
September 19, 2023 BOT meeting

108 $6.00 $648.00

Subtotal: $998.00

Total: $998.00

Amount Due (USD): $998.00

Charge to 100-11-100-6030

S. Herron 09-27-2023

Page 52 of 309



Page 53 of 309



Page 54 of 309



Page 55 of 309



Page 56 of 309



Page 57 of 309



Page 58 of 309



Page 59 of 309



Page 60 of 309



Page 61 of 309



Page 62 of 309



Page 63 of 309



Page 64 of 309



Page 65 of 309



Page 66 of 309



Page 67 of 309



Page 68 of 309



Page 69 of 309



Page 70 of 309



Page 71 of 309



Page 72 of 309



Page 73 of 309



Page 74 of 309



Page 75 of 309



Page 76 of 309



Page 77 of 309



Page 78 of 309



Page 79 of 309



Page 80 of 309



Page 81 of 309



Page 82 of 309



Page 83 of 309



Page 84 of 309



Page 85 of 309



Page 86 of 309



Page 87 of 309



Page 88 of 309



Page 89 of 309



Page 90 of 309



Page 91 of 309



Page 92 of 309



Page 93 of 309



Page 94 of 309



Page 95 of 309



Page 96 of 309



Page 97 of 309



Page 98 of 309



Page 99 of 309



Page 100 of 309



Page 101 of 309



Page 102 of 309



Page 103 of 309



Page 104 of 309



Page 105 of 309



Page 106 of 309



Page 107 of 309



Page 108 of 309



Page 109 of 309



Page 110 of 309



Page 111 of 309



Page 112 of 309



Page 113 of 309



Page 114 of 309



   INCLINE VILLAGE  
GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING  
PUBLIC MEETING  

Live and Via Zoom 

Held at 893 Southwood Boulevard 
Incline Village, Nevada 

Wednesday, September 27, 2023 

Reported by:  Brandi Ann Vianney Smith 
Job Number:   IVGID 6 

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 2
A P P E A R A N C E S 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 
MATTHEW DENT, CHAIR 

SARA SCHMITZ, VICE CHAIR  
RAY TULLOCH, TREASURER 

MICHAELA TONKING, MEMBER (via Zoom) 

ALSO PRESENT 
ANNE BRANHAM, LEGAL COUNSEL (via Zoom) 

HEIDI WHITE, DISTRICT CLERK 

-o0o-

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 3
I N D E X 

PAGE 
B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES 4 
C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 4 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 30

E. REPORTS TO THE BOARD 30

F. CONSENT CALENDAR 30

G. GENERAL BUSINESS
G 1 31
G 2 54
G 3 77
G 4 85
G 5 99
G 6 145

H. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE 154

I. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 156

J. ADJOURNMENT 160

-o0o-

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 4
Incline Village, Nevada - 9/27/2023 - 6:00 P.M. 

-o0o-

(Zoom audio starts here.)
B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES

CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Tonking?
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Schmitz?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  Trustee Noble?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  And Trustee Tulloch?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Here.
CHAIR DENT:  I'm Trustee Dent.  All five

trustees are present.  Moving on to item C.
C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENT

CHAIR DENT:  You will be allowed
three minutes.

MR. DOBLER:  Cliff Dobler, 995 Fairway.
This written statement is to be made part

of the meeting minute.  I see under general
business, item G 1, that possible action may be
taken against former human resource director Dee
Carey regarding retention and disclosure of

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Item F.2. 

Page 115 of 309



   5
non-public IVGID documents.  So what about that
current trustee, David Noble, obtaining and then
disclosing non-public information regarding an
internal draft letter written by Dee Carey, dated
October 1st, 2020, and addressed to me?  The
disclosure occurred at Board meeting on August 9th
2023.  

It is remarkable that Mr. Noble sought
approval from the outside attorney, Nelson, to
disclose to draft letter.  Mr. Nelson provided a
false verbal statement to Mr. Noble that the draft
letter could be read because I provided a waiver of
my rights to determine character and competence for
my potential appointment to the IVGID Capital
Improvement/Investment Committee.  Mr. Nelson simply
lied by stating the "character," which was not part
of the waiver.  

This verbal statement paved the way for
Mr. Noble to jump on the opportunity to libel me by
reading certain sections of the draft letter, which
I never received.  The allegation that I had a
conversation with a female staff in February of 2018
wasn't totally false.

I was Palm Desert from November 2017 to
May 2018.  I lived there.  As a side note, no golf

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   6
course in Incline Village is open in February.
Mr. Noble did not bother to check any facts prior to
reading the draft letter.  

After all, Noble's intent was to smear me
to get at Trustee Dent and Schmitz over the recall
effort.  

Subsequently at a later Board meeting, an
associate of Mr. Nelson clearly stated to the Board
that disclosure of non-public IVGID documents could
not be released to the public without Board
approval.  So a single trustee and an incompetent
lawyer perpetrated a smear on my character by
breaking the law and reading false information about
a conversation which purportedly happened over
five years.  

Within the few days after Mr. Noble
exposed the confidential information, the draft
letter was obtained by Mary Becker, a local
resident, and was posted on social media for the
world to see.  The character assassination went
viral as to the alleged 2018 conversation.

As such, I respectfully request that a
general business item be included on the agenda for
the next Board meeting to review, discuss, and
possibly take action against David Noble and Joshua

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   7
Nelson for mishandling non-public IVGID documents.

Thank you very much.
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Good evening.
I'd like to address the situation with the

premise of this recall, which is driven by
self-ambition, self-serving SRT owners and some
realtors who have profited by this financial
involvement in becoming a city of Incline.  These
matters would have waited until the campaign in
2024.  This is a diversion and a deflection,
purposely, not to become a city so that we cannot,
as residents, vote on what should happen in our
community.  

For example, I went to the Candy Dance
festivities in Genoa, and I met up with a woman from
Zephyr Cove that was adamant in getting signatures
from everybody there to stop STRs in number
community.  Everyone in the basin has a program to
stop them.  But it seems like it is done by special
not to.  

Cheryl Delahante (phonetic) who is to
representative of the realtors of Incline Village
supported the STRs, and said it would gather a
revenue for our city or for, actually, our village.  

Our 28 has been rezoned for commercial

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   8
multiuse, which those businesses are in jeopardy
from the US Bank all the way to Alder Avenue.  We
are faced with code reds, we have no viable wildfire
exit, unsustainable tourism, and yet you have people
on Facebook that are promoting STRs and saying that
the anti recall people want to destroy IVGID.  That
is nothing but a boldface lie.  

I have posts here, a Chris Huer, who, I
believe is the husband of Cristy Wells that has an
STR, made quite an interesting post saying that the
anti recall people want and they seemingly are
corrupted members of the Board want to destroy IVGID
from within to cease control of the town and kick
out all STRs, lock down the beaches year round,
privatize our community assets, and keep the town
empty except for them, just like it was back in the
day.

In addition, Mary Kleingardner (phonetic),
who is on the recall committee, insists that, you
know, not interested in STRs, however, she writes in
an excerpt there:  So, back in the day is five years
ago.  They should all move out to the middle of
nowhere and start their own town.  Only miserable,
grumpy conspiracy theorists allowed.

This is unreal.  So I suggest that people

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 116 of 309



   9
take their name off of the petition.  You have a lot
of people that are new here and --

(Expiration of three minutes.)
MR. KATZ:  Good evening.  Aaron Katz.  I

have several written statements I've given to the
clerk to be attached to the minutes of meeting.  

I just took a little look around.  Where
are all the haters?  I guess there must be a meeting
at the Incliner's tonight or something.  

Please do not pass the proposed board
policy for advertising insofar as the IVGID magazine
is concerned.  The policy amounts to censorship and
unconstitutional viewpoint discrimination.  

Also, hopefully, we're going to be
terminating the magazine because it's nothing more
than if propaganda rag.  And if we do, then we don't
need the policy.

The idea of coming up with a media kit
similar to Tahoe Donner to sell sponsorship for
everything we do is not the purpose of government,
and I find it a disgusting concept for us.  And the
fact that Mr. Raymore doesn't understand this means
he should not be employed by us.  Just showing the
rest of the haters that have left.  

Let's talk about the alleged Dee Carey

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  10
leak of confidential district materials.  You need
to put Susan Herron on administrative leave, hire a
forensic IT professional to learn the truth as to
how these materials were removed from our computer
servers, and then take action based upon the
results.

Finally, I want to speak to the haters in
our community.  No, not the angry eight or the nasty
nine, but the hundreds of recall advocates who are
the nastiest, ugliest, dirtiest, most hypothetical
and unethical people one can imagine.  Aren't you
the ones who proclaimed we should all get along with
one another, respect each other's differences, be
more civil to one another?  Well, now we see, they
were all lies.

When this recall thing is said and done,
our community will be more divisive than it has ever
been.  Congratulations to you people.

I said it before, and I'm going to say it
again:  I'm embarrassed to call you my neighbor.  

And if you think you're not portraying
this behavior on social media, you're sadly
mistaken.  I saw something on YouTube the other day
titled "Seven reasons why Incline Village may not be
for you."  I would ask whoever put this piece

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  11
together to take that look at the real haters in
your community.  You're the reasons why Incline
Village may not be the right choice for those
considering our community.  

Thank you.
MS. MILLER:  Good evening, Trustee.
First, I want to share some bad news.  I

lost -- we had to put down our 12-year-old Golden
Retriever, who absolutely loved to swim.  And I've
been advocating for some time that we at least share
our beaches for a portion of the year so that dog
owners could take their swimmers down to the
beaches.  

I know you're going to do a survey, and
I'm hopeful that as part of survey, you will ask how
many people would be interested in having their
dogs, at some limited hours, limited locations, give
them some beach access.  She dragged me, she
literally tried to drag me across the street to the
beach the final week of her life, and I had to look
her in the eye and tell her, "No.  I'm sorry.  We
can't."  Anyway, please consider.  

Okay.  Moving on to some wonderfully happy
topics.  

Some are of the opinion that bigger

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  12
government is better, especially with it comes to
IVGID.  IVGID is like no other entity -- government
entity I've come across.  Even though it has limited
powers, it potentially has unlimited revenues in the
form of something they call a "facility fee."  It
comes on your tax bill, so everyone assumes it's a
tax.  

But in Nevada, property taxes have a cap.
IVGID's facility fee have to cap.  If they were
called "taxes," they would exceed that limit.  

The recall core promoters consist largely
of people with real estate interest and various axes
to grind, disgruntled former employee, and trustees.
They have distorted the truth with lies about losing
grants, closing venues, and increasing fees to stir
up and enlist several large, well-connected groups.  

Independent residents and property owners
who only want transparency and accountability have
little means to communicate their viewpoints.  

Sadly, there are few reliable sources of
information in our community.  We no longer have a
paper with local news.  The largest established
local Facebook groups are controlled by a one-sided
dictator, who immediately removes posts not in
keeping with his personal political views.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 117 of 309



  13
IVGID is notorious for giving glowing

reports for all its activities instead of sharing an
honest picture of its performance.  Once the truth
becomes more widely known, likely after a forensic
audit, I believe few would still support the recall.  

We will all need time to heal from this
horrific attack on our elected leaders.  

If you feel you've been misled, it's
really not too late.  Until the signature
verification is completed, you can email
electionsdepartment@WashoeCounty.gov.  Give them
your and address and state which petition or
petitions you want your name removed from, be it the
recall of Matthew Dent or the recall --

(Expiration of three minutes.)
MR. EPPOLITO:  My name is John Eppolito.

I've been a local real estate broker associate in
both states for 25 five years.

Regarding the recall, immediately after
that Rec Center debacle, I spent time studying what
happened and wrote this.  I learned there were
several missteps by staff long before Sara's no
vote.  I'll submit this for the record, and I have
copies for anyone who's here.

Back in October, I stated to this Board

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  14
that I did not agree with Sara's no vote.  For a
long time, there has been a small group of people
who come to these meetings to berate, intimate, and
bully this Board and former general managers.  

Now there is a small group of people on
the, quote, other side who support the recall who do
the same thing to the two board members here and on
social media.

In my opinion, the majority of the people
who sign the petitions have honorable intentions.
But, unfortunately, I believe the large group of
petition signers have given the small group at these
meetings and on social media the leverage to bully,
intimidate, micromanage two members of this board.

I don't know if Sara was overzealous with
staff or people trying to get on to our beaches.
All I know is I've never seen Sara or Matt be
disrespectful to anyone.  Even as people are rude
and disrespectful to them, both -- here at these
meetings and on social media, both of them have
always shown decorum and respect for others.  

This is in director opposition to way some
act.  In particular, the realtor slash best friend
of former board president who is leading the recall
attempt.  Recently, I've seen her disrupt two of

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  15
these meetings and be disrespectful and rude to
current board members.  

It appears the goal of some people who
support the recall is to replace polite, respectful
people with someone who is rude and disrespectful.  

Recently in comments to this Board, I've
question the subjective language in the petitions.
Now in this article in the Nevada Globe, she says
the language in the petitions may violate NRS
306.21.  

Whether language in the petition is
approved or not, I, for one, would like to see a
community forum to discuss the issues on the
petitions, plus the current financial status of the
District.  

Thank you.
MS. USINGER:  Caroline Usinger, Jackpine

Lane, Incline Village.
I don't appreciate -- for all the people

who have just called the recall people all those
names, I do not appreciate it.  And I do not
appreciate being categorized as a realtor or any of
other things.  I am not and I am not misled.

Tonight's agenda would be hysterical if it
weren't so tragic.  Tonight, we get to watch the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  16
Board retaliate against Dee Carey for sins, while
letting Cliff Dobler off from any public criticism
for his nasty behavior towards IVGID staff, both in
2019, and most recently, this year.

Ms. Carey was simply trying to support
IVGID staff from more toxic interactions with Cliff.
Let's make sure we punish her hard for that.

Let's turn to the Moss Adams' report.  It
says that the Board approved a contract in its
May 1st, 2023 meeting.  Too bad there was no IVGID
board meeting on that day, and I can't find any
evidence of contract.  I'm wondering how much IVGID
is paying for phase one, and what phase two will be
about.  I also question the entire report since
recommendations to redo a strategic plan are
irrelevant when IVGID has virtually no senior staff
and is in the middle of a trustee recall.  Nice use
of IVGID funds.

The Moss Adams report is hilarious in
recommending that there be a community survey to
determine it's needs and preferences, given that
over one-quarter of the people who voted in 2020 are
currently voicing their opinions in the current
recall.  

I've been sitting in front of Raley's all

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 118 of 309



  17
summer and can save IVGID a whole lot of money on
this survey.  The community wants the current board
majority out.  It wants IVGID staff treated like
they are part of our community, not evil to be
pushed out.  It wants everything as it was before
the current Board screwed it up, with the exception
of working on a viable, non-drastic way to handling
overcrowding on the beaches.  And that does not mean
putting walls around the beaches or making employees
sit on streets to each their lunch.

But back to the Moss Adams report.  What
about Moss Adams's recommendation to have an
employee survey?  That will go over really well,
given they're all being micromanaged with the threat
of retaliation over their heads.  Let's be sure to
spend a lot of money on that one too.  

What about their recommendation to change
the management structure, conveniently demoting
Susan Herron?  This make a whole bunch of sense,
give the report says there are no reported problems
with the current system.  So let's upend more things
so we can pay Moss Adams to create new policies and
procedures, shall we?  

Particularly enjoyed Moss Adams'
recommendation to pay $25- to $40,000 to set up an

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  18
onboarding training for the Board since they don't
seem to understand their role.  I can save everyone
a bunch of money here too.  Stop micromanaging the
staff, stop sending endless emails to them, and let
them do their job.  There.  Training done.

MR. WATSON:  Hi.  I'm Rob Watson, live on
Country Club Drive, been here about six years.

I'm going to hand over a political
platform for the recall committee so it's on the
record.  I've been a little stressed over a lot of
other things right now, so I didn't have a lot of
time to prepare for this.  

I'm really here to support the thousands
of members of our community are behind the recall.
And I do social media.  I believe anybody that does
that is just whacked.  But I've heard some things
that have been posted on social media, and actually
brought up in this meeting, by the, quote, angry
eight.

Frank Wright believe that the gen fees are
paid by IVGID in golf clubs.  That's a complete lie.
Show me the facts.  That's just not true.  Cliff
Dobler, you lied to the Board about a suspension on
August 8th.  You've gone out there professed that
you, quote, own this board.  I mean, come on.  I'll

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  19
talk Dee here in a minute.  Judith Miller derates a
top financial executive for a fortune 50 who
volunteers his time to this community, and she has
no financial experience.  Pretty ignorant if you ask
me.

Mr. Dent, I read the article where you
talk about the beach deed and the plain language
that we had to rule on because of a, quote, legal
opinion.  I've had a lot of lawyers work for me in
business.  You get ten of them in a room, and you'll
get ten differing opinions.  I question whether or
not that had to be done to impact our employees.  

Also, the comment about being on the Board
for over eight years, and you see this turnover in
senior management every two to three years.  That's
crazy.  But I will say, because I'm running out of
time, Mick Holman put a nice article together you
all you Board members regarding G 1, so I hope you
pay attention to that.  It talks about
whistleblower.  And if you look at your Moss Adams
report -- which I thought was very good, quite
honestly -- we have a major gap in our whistle
blower policy.  We also have a full gap in our
non-discrimination policy and anti-harassment
policy.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  20
Let's talk about observations that they

made, and I'm not going to have enough time to go
for it, but I really recommend everybody read that
report.  It talks about what a board is not supposed
to do, and their not supposed to micromanage.  And
that is what observed six months ago when I was
dealing with the golf stuff.  

This Board made a decision on the
cancellation policy, then they had to change it.

Sara, I guess we have a golf committee,
you've already reached to golf committee members,
you're not even the trustee from the Board, why are
you reaching out to them?  That's micromanagement.
That's got to stop.  That's why the recall is
happening.

Thank you very much.
DR. WYMAN:  Well, a first confession.

Andrew Wyman, 170 Village.  
I ran out of to door to come over here

tonight.  I took fifty paces and then realized I
didn't put in my new hearing aids.  So I had run
home and them now, and now I'm ready.

To start, the Capital
Improvement/Investment Committee met for their first
meeting yesterday.  I sat through the meeting, along

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 119 of 309



  21
with one other community member, and found it --
while I'm not an expert, I found it to be a really
extraordinarily good effort.  The people on that
committee, presently, have no ax to grind, and they
seem to be highly competent and good at what they
do.  So I'm looking forward to that committee being
very helpful.

What I want to talk about tonight is
bullying.  The concept of bullying.  Something
that's widely acknowledged when it comes to kids.
There's been a whole lot of research on that.  And
in recent years, there's also been a whole lot of
research on bullying amongst adults and in
organizational structures.  I would commend the
Board read some of that information.

A definition of bulling:  Bulling seeks to
harm, intimidate, or coerce somebody.  It involves
an individual misusing power over a person who feels
unable to stop it from happening.  It is frequently
deliberate and repeated.  Verbal bullying includes
such things as name calling, insults, intimidation,
or verbal abuse.  

Peculiarly, the bully is frequently the
last one to know what they're doing.  Why?  Because
bullying is in some sense, particularly amongst

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  22
adults but also kids, a narcotic.  A bully feels
empowered.  A bully feels strong.  A bully does what
they want to do until somebody stops the bully.

IVGID, as a community, has a long history
of public bullying at these meetings.  The impact of
that: demoralization, disgust, withdrawal of
community members and staff.

When staff are bullied, the outcome of
that is a deficiency in morale and in performance.
Both plummet.  There's a great deal of research on
that.  There's a recent example of bullying just at
the last meeting, one community member talked about
a dirty public employee who was absolutely out of
control, incompetent, and a liar, a cancer on the
community, that person wanted employment terminated
immediately.

I have more to say.  I might wait until
the end.

CHAIR DENT:  Can we go to Zoom, please?
DR. RINER:  Dr. Myles Riner, Valerie

Court, Incline Village.  
Chairman Dent, when you disclosed your

loan from Mr. Dobler prior to voting on his
appointment to the Capital Investment Committee, we
all got the message from you that you had contacted

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  23
your friends on the Ethics Commission, and they
advised you that if you disclosed your loan from
Mr. Dobler you could feel free to vote on his
appointment.  This may not have been the message you
intended to send, but it is the message we all
received.  We now know this would have been
impossible because the Ethics Commission has a
policy prohibited them from advising elected
officials as to whether or not they need to abstain
from voting on a measure.  

In any case, when a representative of the
Nevada Secretary of State's Office, paid to Incline,
to educate the Board on ethics issues, she made it
clear that trustees should recuse themselves
whenever there is even the suggestion of a conflict
of interest.  

That is what you should have done.  You
may believe that this is a moot issue now that
Mr. Dobler has withdrawn from this committee, and
that might have been the case had you not chosen to
consider taking action against Dee Carey for
purportedly revealing the letter to Mr. Dobler
rescinding his golfing privileges for three months
because of appropriate interactions with IVGID
staff.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  24
Here's the problem:  Considering the fact

that certain trustees seem to take the question of
conflict of interest when voting on committee member
assignments lightly -- or committee appointments
lightly, and that candidates are still, per the
District's legal counsel, required to sign waivers
allowing public discussion and consideration of
their qualifications for appointment.  And that
Ms. Carey undoubtedly believed that the existence of
this letter to Mr. Dobler and certain portions of
the contents of the letter had already been made
part of the public record while his appointment was
being considered.  The pursuit of action against
Ms. Carey for disclosing what had already been
disclosed will only come cross as vindictive and
mean.  

Everyone involved in the decision to
appoint.  Mr. Dobler to the Capital
Improvement/Investment Committee has something to be
embarrassed about.  Perhaps least of all, Ms. Carey.

If you must, remind everyone about keeping
confidential documents confidential, and then for
everyone's sake, move on.  The greater question is
how will this Board and this community be able to
protect or IVGID staff, especially our younger

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 120 of 309



  25
staff, from inappropriate interaction --

(Expiration of three minutes.)
MS. WELLS:  Hi.  Christy Wells, Incline

Village resident.
At the start of last week's meeting,

Chairman Dent removed item G 4, the Dobler
investigation, from the agenda.  Everyone in this
community knew what was going to happen next.  And,
of course, as expected shortly after the change was
made, Mr. Dobler called in during the public comment
period and resigned from the Capital
Improvement/Investment Committee.  While this should
have happened two months ago, I will take this
opportunity to say thank you for finally doing the
right thing.  

The Board also discussed the need to
create a new policy around the handling and
distribution of confidential or non-public
information.  While it's clear that several members
of this Board cared more about how these in these
documents got out than what was actually in these
documents, policy should be developed so that IVGID
staff has clear guidelines around that handling and
potential distribution of said materials.

Item G 1 on tonight's agenda, this now

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  26
feels like an attempt to intimidate IVGID employees
and staff from ever speaking up again.  And if this
is not intimidation, then it could be perceived as
retaliation on behalf of Mr. Dobler.  

Ms. Carey should be commended for trying
to protect other IVGID staff.  You are trying to
smear her name and discredit her knowledge.  It's
disgusting, and the community sees who you are.  

Chairman Dent and Trustee Schmitz, this is
yet one more reason why we are asking you to resign,
as you are putting items like this in an agenda
while sweeping others under the rug.  You are not
acting to the benefit of the community, but simple
for the benefit of a single community member.  It's
disgraceful.

I would encourage you to remove this item
from tonight's agenda and stop any attempt to
tarnish this former employee's reputation.  

Thank you.
MR. WRIGHT:  Frank Wright, Crystal Bay.
First of all, Mr. Watson, I provided

documentation where we paid for PGA fees.  It was
given to me by the district.  

Second of all, listening to the people who
are coming forward and spouting off without any

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  27
information or information that can be substantiated
and attacking those people who have provided facts,
documentation, information is just sick.  But, you
know, I can't stop you.  You can say anything you
want to say.  It's a public forum.  

As far as the mess that we have with Dee
Carey, let me make this very clear, Ms. Wells, she
committed a crime.  She took public documents home.
She quit this district, she went someplace else, and
she took IVGID property with her.  That is a crime,
and she should be prosecuted.  

As far as Trustee Noble, I have contacted
the Washoe County board of commissioners, and I'm
asking them to sensor Mr. Noble for his behavior as
a licensed attorney, not knowing better, and reading
something that was never to be provided to the
public, something that was never adjudicated, he
read it, and he did it one intent and that was to
embarrass a community member.  He was elected by
this community to represent us, not to destroy us.

The people that have come forward and have
gone after Mr. Dobler since that was out -- and,
yes, Mr. Wells, you're one of them -- really should
look in your mirror and say, wait a minute, am I a
good person?  Do I have documentation that can prove

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  28
all these allegations?  Or am just going to spout
off and start saying things about Dr. Dobler that I
think might be true?  

He's never had a hearing.  He's never had
due process.  And the things that you're saying, I
think, could be held against you could held for
libel.  All of you.  Everyone one of you has posted
on social media.  Should look in the mirror and find
out just where you are socially good.  Are you a
good person?  I don't think so.  I think this has
got to come to an end.  I think the District has to
do something about these people, and find out the
chain where this thing went.  

And Mr. Noble, you should resign.  What
you did is horrible.  Absolutely horrible.  I can't
believe, as an attorney, you would even get involved
in this stuff.  I can't believe you did that.  And
now, hopefully, the Board will take action.  And,
hopefully, a sheriff will be going to Ms. Carey's
house and getting the rest of the stuff that she
probably has on other citizen in our community which
hasn't has been adjudicated.

Thank you.
MS. WATSON:  Thank you.  My name is Maria

Watson, and I happily married to Robert Watson.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 121 of 309



  29
I just want to share a couple of things.

I'm a sideliner.  I do not have a dog in this fight.
I don't need three minutes.  And much like Ms. Katz
and Ms. Dobler, I know what my husband stands for.
I am not here to defend anything that has come out
of his mouth.  I am my own brain.  But I will tell
you this:  I sat at recall tables at the beach, at
Raley's, and the people that came up to thank me for
being there.  I'm not even active in this community.
I have a day job.  But these employees that
identified themselves as IVGID employees thanked me,
repeatedly.  

And we need to understand if you don't
think we have a case, go talk to the employees.  I'm
at the Rec Center every morning, working out every
morning, and now I have seen a lot of the faces that
go with the people that I watch in the Rec Center.
We're all good people.  But this community, this
village that I love so much is going down the drain.
We are allowed to opinions.  That's America.  We
don't all have to agree, and we don't all have to
call each bad people.

But this village better get a clue that
our employees are gonna flee.  They are not happy.
They talk about being micromanaged.  They talk to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  30
me, and I'm nothing in the scope of all of this.  I
have no power, but I listen and I'm innocently
caring about people that feel wronged.  So let's get
it right.  

Thank you.
CHAIR DENT:  Any other public comments?
MATT:  We do not at this time, Chair.
CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  That'll close out item

C, initial public comment.  Moving on to item D.  
D.  APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

CHAIR DENT:  Any concerns, questions, or
movement with the agenda?

All right.  Seeing none, we'll say the
agenda is approved.  Moving on to item E.  
E.  REPORTS TO THE BOARD 

CHAIR DENT:  No reports to the Board.
Moving on to item F.  
F.  CONSENT CALENDAR 

CHAIR DENT:  Item F 1, review, discuss,
and possibly enter into a short form construction
contract between the District and Tahoe Works for
exterior painting services at Diamond Peak Ski
Resort facilities for a total amount $64,708.  This
can be found on page 4 through 29 of your board
packet.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  31
I'll entertain a motion to approve the

consent calendar.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I make a motion that the

Board approve the consent calendar.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made.  Is there

a second?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll second.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Any further discussion by the Board?  
Call for the question, all those in favor,

state aye.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.
Motion passes, 5/0.
Moving on to item G 1.  

G.  GENERAL BUSINESS 
G 1. 

CHAIR DENT:  Receive a verbal report
regarding non-public District documents being
published on social media and provided to members of
the public by a former IVGID staff.  

Review, discuss, and possibly take action

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  32
against former human resources director, Dee Carey,
regarding the retention and disclosure of non-public
IVGID documents.

Legal counsel, Anne, you are up.
MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  Erin could not be here

this evening, so I will take this item, and it's
just brief update for you tonight.

Two things:  One, we did provide notice to
Ms. Carey that the meeting was going to be held
tonight, so she had notice that she was welcome to
attend.  

But, tonight, all I have to report is that
on September 20th, we did send a letter demanding
the return of any documents that she may still in
her possession relating to her time at the District.
That includes: paper files, electronic files,
anything at all.

So that letter is with her.  We've asked
her to return those documents.  We have not heard
anything back yet, but we did also note in the
letter that we reserve all rights to pursue
additional legal action as necessary.

So, the update is that the letter is out
there.  The ball is in her court now.  We're asking
her to return any documents that she may have.  And

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 122 of 309



  33
that is all that I have for you at this time.

CHAIR DENT:  What are the next steps as
far as following up or how much time did we give her
to respond to the request to return the documents
she took from us?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah.  I believe we asked
for a return within the month.  And so Josh and I
will stay on top of monitoring the timeline and just
ensuring -- because we also asked for a
certification, a returned, signed document if she
says she doesn't have any documents, then we have a
copy of a signed form that says.  So, that's what
we're asking for, either the return of any documents
or a certification that there are no documents to
return.

And then based on that, at that time we
can take next steps if there are still documents
we're aware are outstanding.  Or if there are
documents that come out later when she said that she
didn't have any documents, then we'll have
certification of that fact.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  
We've received a brief update on this

item.  Any questions for legal counsel?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I have a couple of

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  34
questions.  What is the District's policy relative
to District property upon separation to from the
District?

MS. BRANHAM:  That's a question for Erin.
I'm sorry that she couldn't be here tonight.  

I imagine it would be a personnel internal
policy.  I don't want to speak out of turn and say
something that turns out to be inaccurate.  I would
advise, maybe, reaching out to Erin and confirming
that with her.  

But off the top, I don't know what that
this or if it's an internal policy.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Would you say,
categorially, that it's pretty typical that property
not be taken from the District of any sort?  Do we
know whether she has a computer, or do we have any
idea how many files she might have in her
possession?

MS. BRANHAM:  I don't have any sense of
that.  In the letter, we were broad, on purpose, to
ensure that there's no sort of loophole, you didn't
ask for X, so I didn't return X.

I don't believe she has any physical
property, but, again, that's kind of an intricacy
that I haven't been privy to.  So, if you want to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  35
talk to Erin offline, I think that would be
appropriate.  

But, generally speaking, yes, folks return
their goods that were related to their job place
when they leave.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  And I'm just curious,
one final follow-up on that, the timetable of a
month.  I would think that the District is concerned
about what other documents she might have, what
might do with other documents that she may have.  

So why -- I'm just curious why we would
allow that length of time, given the fact that she
has shown that she will share documents publicly
that she has in her possession.

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah, that's a good point.
There's no reason why we can't reach out of before
then.  And nice to have a record in writing.  So now
that we've sent the letter, let me talk to Josh.
I'll find out if there's something that we can do to
follow up in the meantime and see if we can get a
hold of her and talk about what that might look
like.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Well, I'm just curious,
how did you come with the month?  I'm assuming there
was some logic and reasoning behind that.  I'm just

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  36
curious.

MS. BRANHAM:  Just generally, even when
folks are engaged in litigation, which, of course,
is not the case here, but there's a certain amount
of time, even if you're asking them to turn over
documents to you, you have to give them enough time
to collect the documents.  This all interplays with
the fact there may be a policy that I, at this time,
am not aware of.  

So, I'll do some digging on my end.  If
there's a way to expedite the process, then we can
certainly look into that.  The idea is to give
someone process time to gather their things and
return them.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just a couple of
clarifications.  I would expect that a director of
human resources would have full knowledge of the
policies and what's -- what she can do and not do.
In that respect, you would expect a higher standard
of care from somebody there.  And the same way if
it's a legal matter, you would expect a much higher
standard of care from somebody that claims to be an
attorney.  Is that the case?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah.  I mean, I think
there's a certain amount of responsibility that

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 123 of 309



  37
comes with that position, responsibility to the
District to be a good caretaker of their information
and their documents.  

We, of course, have reserved the right to
take whatever action we may need to take from a
legal perspective if things are not done
voluntarily.  I want to assure you that nothing is
closed off at this point, but if we can get any
documents that may be out there back without any
litigation, that would obviously be the goal.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  So a director of human
resources would know very well that this is an
untoward action.  This is not -- it's not a
legitimate action.  And the same way, I'm sure, a
lot of the people are complaining that this is a
witch hunt, would be up in arms if Ms. Carey, as a
hypothetical, let's say, released information saying
that a general manager was in a performance plan or
something, as a hypothetical.  I'm sure everyone
would be all -- people would be taking an opposite
view here, but be that as it may.  

We've also heard claims that this,
Ms. Carey, was being a righteous whistleblower.
Now, correct me I'm wrong, but my understanding, a
whistleblower would be only be applicable if there

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  38
were disclosing information of fraudulent or
misconduct behavior by IVGID.  It's not a
whistleblower, by my understand, by my legal advice,
for a director of HR to then release possibly
damaging information about community members.
It's -- I don't understand that being covered by the
whistleblower; is that correct?

MS. BRANHAM:  We do have a whistleblower
policy in the District that is in compliance with
state law, and so I would say to the extent the
actions were not consistent with the whistleblower
policy, that's how were handling the outcome of what
happened here.

So, we have the policy in place for a
reason, and we want to make sure that we follow it.
So all that is taking place behind the scenes,
review of the policy and ensuring that we're
following all the correct steps and taking the
correct action.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Understood.  I'm
actually quite familiar with the whistleblower
policy, as I drafted a large part of it when I was
on the Audit Committee.  I'm actually pretty
familiar with it.  

But I'm not aware of any whistleblower

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  39
that allows an employee to then make public
assertions about an unrelated person.  I mean, that
used to be called "tittle tattle," or something, or
"cliping," or whatever.  Whatever phrase you want to
use not.  

I'm not aware of any circumstance where
that would fall under a whistleblower statute.

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah.  Is that a question
or?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yes, it's a question.
Sorry.

MS. BRANHAM:  I mean, I don't want to say
anything that might impact subsequent actions that
we might have to take.  I'm not trying to be
obfuscatory, I just want to make sure that we're
preserving all of our arguments and our rights
later, if we need them.  

So, rest assured that this is something
that legal counsel is taking a look at, researching
and compliance with the law, and that we've
purposely retained the right to pursue any steps
that we need to in the event that we don't get the
result that we're looking for from the letter.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.
And to be clear, I was posing -- I was

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  40
doing some musing posing some hypotheticals here
from my understanding and from legal opinions that I
have received on it.  

That was all.  I'm not trying to put you
on the spot.  I'm just actually clarifying the
situation, because you hear all these, well, we're
being bad people because we're taking action against
something.  

And I think that, if my hypothetical was
the case, I think you'd see opposite opinions.  So
I'm just trying to make the associate clear.  I
mean, basically, this appears to have been theft of
IVGID records and then improper use of it, but I'll
leave that to the attorneys to sort out.  

Thank you.
CHAIR DENT:  I have a follow-up question

for you.  In your experience, how often do you come
acrossed an issue like this?  Where someone in a
high-level position that has, you know, tons of
access to personnel records, keeps them, and then
leaks them after they've left an organization.

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah, in my career,
fortunately, that hasn't happened before.  It is an
unfortunate situation.  I understand the
frustration.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 124 of 309



  41
So, no, I've never seen that before, and

as was alluded to, I think that's part and parcel
with the responsibility of being a director-level
position, is an understanding of internal policies
about document retention and things like that.  

So, yeah, it's not something I've gone
through before.

CHAIR DENT:  Understood.  Thank you.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Your letter to Ms. Carey,

was it asking for original documents or copies of
documents that she has, allegedly?  And whether or
not IVGID has those origins still?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  So we asked for any
file in electronic format to be returned onto a
flash drive or similar type of thing, and that the
originals be destroyed.  And that if there were
original hard copies of anything, or any copies of
the original, that all of that be returned and that
she certify that these are all of the copies, this
is all of the electronic documentation, and/or she
has nothing, and she's certifying that there's
nothing further.  So, we tried to cover all the
basis.  

But, yes, originals would be returned as
part of the request.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  42
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Okay.  But with regards to

copies of originals, is that -- does your letter
include these as well?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  And if those -- that

material has already been put out in the public
sphere, what is the purpose of that letter?  Or are
you trying to make sure that any information she has
that hasn't been made public, whether or not she was
the one that provided that information, is returned?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah, the latter.  There's
no putting the horse back in the barn for things
that have already been released.

So I think this is intended to capture
anything that may not already have been made public,
but which is her files -- may be in her files, and
so there's not much that can be done at this point
about something that was already posted, made the
rounds publicly.  

There are, potentially, legal things that
can be done about that, but there's nothing to be
done from a document clawback standpoint, as far as
I'm aware.  

So, this is intended to capture documents
that are still, potentially, outstanding that we

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  43
don't want to be shared.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Okay.  And correct me if
I'm wrong, but there's been no disclosure of any of
IVGID personnel record; is that correct?

MS. BRANHAM:  That is my understanding.
I'm not aware, I've not heard of anything like that.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Okay.  And the information
that allegedly has been disclosed, what is rationale
for it being declared confidential or non-public?

MS. BRANHAM:  I think -- there's a couple
of prongs of this.  It relates to the Nevada Public
Records Act, and it relates to the release of
internal staff documents.  So we made the
determination that, if it had not already been made
public, that it was not a disclosable document under
the NRS.  And, in addition, I understand there's
some discussion of whether it was a draft or a final
document.  I'm not privy to all of the details of
that, but if there are draft documents, our position
has been that those are internal personnel
documents, and they're not appropriate for release,
especially not without the consent of the Board.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  What about final documents
that are not drafts?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah, there's still some

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  44
interplay with the Nevada PRA in that case, the
Public Records Act.  If a document is confidential
under the Public Records Act, even if it's,
quote/unquote, a final document, it may be
privileged or withholdable on other grounds.  

But if a document is public, there's no
basis for withholding, and it's a final document,
typically that become a public record at that time.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  And then the documents
that are subject of this, is the NRS statute that's
being asserted for non-disclosure, is that 239 or
105?  

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes, that's correct.  And
that should be in the reports that we make on Public
Records Act withholdings to the Board.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Okay.  I'm just going to
let everybody know:  I reviewed the enabling
legislation for 239 and 105, that was AB 31 in 2005.
And in reviewing the transcripts for the hearing
before both the Assembly and Senate Committees for
that legislation, the folks that were promoting it,
various city governments, their concern was that
personal identifying information for people who sign
up for recreational leagues or groups that are
offered by those governments would not be made

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 125 of 309



  45
public, because they are concerned about people --
marketers going after them or unsavory folks going
after them, and not having, say, somebody requests,
I want all the names and addresses and medical
information -- because it usually has medical
information -- of every boy playing U10 soccer in
the City of Las Vegas on such and such days.  

So with regards to -- I believe, the whole
discussion here is with regards to the suspension
letters for Mr. Dobler, that is well beyond, in my
opinion, the umbrella that was meant to be captured
by NRS 239.0105.  So I think that with regards to
all this, given that, not only is it a final
document or final documents provided by IVGID to
Mr. Dobler, but also under our own Ordinance 7,
specifically paragraph 102, envisions a public
process with regards to suspension of any
recreational activities.  

So, I'm just putting that on the record.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  A question for Trustee

Noble.  He's stating this is in his opinion.  Is
this your legal opinion as a member of the Nevada
bar, or just a member -- a lay member of the Board?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I'm only speaking as a
member of the Board here today.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  46
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.  So it's not

actually a legal opinion.  A legal opinion will come
from our counsel, as I understand.  

And in terms of Ordinance 7, my reading of
Ordinance 7, the only time it becomes public if it
goes through an appeal -- there is appeal processes
when a person decides to make an appeal to the
Board.  It's not standard practice, but if Trustee
Noble wants it to become a standard practice, well,
maybe the Board should pass a resolution every time
some member of the community commits, what's in some
people's eye, a sin, they should be castigated in
the public square, maybe we can bring back public
floggings or something, but we should certainly take
adverts in the Tahoe Tribune to highlight and -- to
name and shame people in public.  Is that what we're
trying to do as a Board?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I don't think this is a
joke.  The Nevada State Bar, whenever somebody is
reprimanded or suspended, it actually goes into the
Nevada State Bar magazine.  Perhaps, people would
actually behave if they knew that their actions
would be public -- part of the public forum.  

And you can say whatever you want, but I
think it's disgusting that you're making a joke out

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  47
of this.

MS. BRANHAM:  If I may, I just want to
bring this back.  The topic for tonight was the
documents, I just want to keep us on track here.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  So, I have one question,
and I just want to say that I understand the need to
have our documents back, but I also think this is a
much bigger issue, and we must be respectful to our
employees.  I'm just stating that before we derail
this conversation anymore.  It's kind of
embarrassing as leaders.

But my question is in terms of this is --
this was not deemed at any point a confidential --
or a privileged item; is that correct?

MS. BRANHAM:  So, the process was that I
think after the document had already been made
public, and my understanding is that it was made
public, initially, by the release by Ms. Carey, we
received a Public Records Act request, and that
piece of it, there was the discussion of whether it
was a public record under the Public Records Act.
And because of the citation that Trustee Noble has
put on the record, our finding at that time was that
it was not releasable by the District under the
Public Records Act.  Because once the District

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  48
releases something, then it can lose some of its
claims of privilege or claims that it should have
been withheld.

And so regardless of what was happening
elsewhere in the community with that document, we
had -- our role was to the District to ensure that
we're following the PRA, that we're handling each
request as its own separate request.  And so that
determination was made.  It came to the Board, the
Board -- the opportunity to override that decision
to withhold the document.  

I think there's kind of two different
things happening here, which are employee retention
of documents or District materials after separation,
and then making Public Records Act findings, which
we do have a very defined process for.  

I think this happened to be the
convergence of two separate issues, so it's all kind
of tangled up together.  But I think those are the
two issues as I see them.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  And you'll be giving us
an update as we hear back on the record?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  This item tonight was
just for handling, you know, an update on what we're
doing as the legal team to ensure the District is

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 126 of 309



  49
protected on the document retention side,
separately.  

But, yes, we will keep you updated.  To
answer your question, yes.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  Great.  
I think, as I said, I would like -- I

understand the need for a document, but I also think
there's a much larger concern here, and it's
employee well-being.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just for the record,
while I may seem sometimes to be somewhat frivolous
about things, I'm actually deadly serious here.  

Trustee Noble quotes actions taken by the
Nevada Bar to name and shame their members.  These
members have actually signed up for various
different things.  Here, we're talking about naming
and shaming community members, and it seems on a
selective basis.  

The point I'm making is if we're going to
do it, we need to be even handed, we do not need to
just use it to lynch political rivals or lynch
people that might object to our positions.  As
trustees, we're meant to represent the community.  

I think where these incidents take place,
Ordinance 7 covers the process for it.  It only

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  50
becomes public if it goes to the final stage.  If we
follow Ordinance 7, none of the processes carried
out at that time followed Ordinance 7, as I've
stated here before.

So, if we're going to observe process and
we're going to be fair, we need to make sure we're
even handed in our actions.  We don't just use it
selectively.  

I'm not making any joke of this.  I
understand the seriousness of the situation.  But
what I'm pointing out is if we have processes and
policies, we need to make sure we follow them.  

The Moss Adams report -- which was a
subject of a contract, just for the record --
pointed out that we don't seem to bother observing a
lot of our policies.  And what's the point of having
them if they're optional to do there?  

All I'm pointing out is that we have
policies, we should be following them, and we should
be following them in an even-handed manner.  We
should not be expecting our community members to be
held to the same standards as the Nevada Bar.  

Thank you.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Just a quick follow-up.

I'm not getting into the discussion about what

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  51
document, what was in it.  That, to me, isn't the
point.  The point is that we have a policy that upon
separation, you do not take District property with
you.  And in this case, that policy was not adhered
to.

And as a board and as a management team --
as a board, we set policy; the management team sets
HR policy.  And this is a case where our policy was
not adhered to, and we, as a board, should make sure
that policies are adhered to, and if there needs to
be a change for how things are handled at the time
of separation, then we need to look at that as well.

But I'm looking at this as policy
compliance.  I'm not getting into the details about
this memo and where it was.  To me, we don't know
what else Ms. Carey has taken with her, and we don't
know what else she will do with documents.  

We need to get the documents back.  They
are the property of the District.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yes, I totally agree
with that.  That's the crux of the matter.  This is
not a case of being selective on things; it's making
sure that we actually observe a normal policy.  

I do have another question for you, Anne.
It's my understanding Ms. Carey is still currently

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  52
employed as a director of human resources with
another company.  Now, obviously, if IVGID recruited
a director of human resources and then found out at
some point this had happened in her capacity here,
we would be concerned.  

Does the District have any exposure if
Ms. Carey proceeds with similar actions at her
current employer?

MS. BRANHAM:  No.  So, this is handled
totally separately, and it is a good point, though,
which is why we wanted to bring this update to
reassure you that we're taking the steps that we can
to -- because as Trustee Schmitz mentioned, it's not
that there wasn't a policy about this, it's that you
can't always control the level to which someone
complies with your policies you set.  Right?

And then at that point, it's just a matter
of disciplinary action and what's available to you.
Because she's no longer employed with the District,
you sort of lose to options that are available as an
employer.  

But what we can done is what we've done,
which is initiate contact to try to get back any
documents that are still out.  Then should that not
go the way that it needs to go, then we've retained

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 127 of 309



  53
the option to pursue additional legal remedies,
which is you unrelated to current employment.  

There may have been reference checks,
things like that, but we as a district, our
liability is being handled through our contact with
her try to get those documents back.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  That was kind of my
understanding.  I just wanted to make sure we didn't
have any legal exposure on it.  

Thank you.
CHAIR DENT:  I have a question for you as

it relates to Dee Carey, topic of discussion
tonight.  It's alleged it came from Dee Carey.  How
do we know that?

MS. BRANHAM:  That's a good question, and
not one that I'm equipped to answer.  Yeah, I think
you're talking about subpoenaing wherever it was
that it was posted.  If it's a Facebook issue,
there's been -- as I'm sure you've seen in the
past -- media reports about how difficult it could
be to track down where information originates from.
I don't know for sure, yeah.

CHAIR DENT:  Do any other trustees want to
answer that question?  Because we have gotten emails
from an individual that received it from Dee Carey,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  54
is what they allege.  That same individual has come
to the meeting several times with her husband and
asked to put it into public record.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Can we get the legal --
or the policy, do you have it or do I need email
Erin to get a copy of the policy?

MS. BRANHAM:  For the personnel documents
after separation?

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Yes, please.
MS. BRANHAM:  Yes, I would email Erin.

That would be an internal HR policy, I believe.
CHAIR DENT:  Any further discussion on

this item?
All right.  That will close out item G 1.

Moving on to item G 2.  
G 2. 

CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss, and possibly
approve the issuance of a request for proposal for
financial forensic audit.  The requesting staff
member is interim Finance Director Bobby Magee.
This can be found on page 30 through 38 of your
board packet.

MR. MAGEE:  The item before you tonight is
related to the simple request for proposals document
for forensic auditing services for a forensic due

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  55
diligence audit.  

Just to remind the Board a couple of
things that we talked about previously.  On August
24th, 2023, the Board directed staff to develop this
draft document and to bring it back for the Board to
take a look at it before it was released to the
public.  And I do want to remind all the interested
parties that this is not a fraud investigation, that
is not what this document is.  We have no evidence
of fraud, no suspected evidence of fraud.  

However, the reason for doing a forensic
due diligence audit is to have somebody take a
deeper look at our financials, really dig in and see
if there is any suspected evidence of fraud.  And
part two of this process would be to do a current
state assessment to see where the potential for
fraud may occur, if they were to find something.

And so with that as a background, I wanted
to just very briefly walk the Board through the
request for proposals document and what this is and
what it is not.

And so this document is intended to find
the highest-rated firm to do the work for the
District.  It is not intended to be comprehensive on
what the final scope of work is, that's still to be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  56
negotiated, as well as agreed upon procedures on how
they will be doing their work.

And so you'll note in here that it's an
incredibly compress timeline.  The idea is to get
through this process as quickly as possible, get
somebody on board doing the work.  

And so one of the things I would like to
point out is, in the scope of work, again, this is
intended to be completely comprehensive.  This is
intended to communicate to the vendor community the
types of activities that we would be looking for,
and then we intend for the responses to solve our
issues for us, which is what are your
recommendations for moving forward through this
process?  And then we can negotiate that.

And so, ultimately, a report will be
issued, and, as I mentioned they will be doing a
current state fraud risk assessment based on current
operations.  So, of course, they would be looking at
internal controls, whether internal controls are
being followed, our accounting procedures,
theoretically, our IT procedures, and some
operations items as well.  

And so I have talked to a couple of
forensic audit professionals, and shared this draft

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 128 of 309



  57
scope of work with them, and said, "Am I on the
right track here?"  And they have indicated that
they believe that this is something that their firms
could respond to appropriately if this is ultimately
deemed to be the final version.  

One of the things that I did want to share
was the evaluation criteria on here.  It is my
understanding that the Board had an interest in
finding the most-qualified firm to do the work, even
if that takes a little bit longer to make sure that
the work is done completely appropriately.  And so
the way that I have recommended the evaluation
criteria is heavily weighted on qualifications and
experience.

Now, the reason that's important is that
communicates to the vendor community how they should
put their proposals together for, ultimately, the
RFP review team to make its recommendation.  So if
the goal was expediency, we might change those
things a little bit, knowing that junior forensic
auditors may be working on this.  

But given that I believe the Board has
asked me to find the most-qualified one, that's why
you see this heavily weighted toward qualifications
and experience.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  58
The way the overall scoring will work is

that there will be an RFP review committee, which is
to be named at a later date, I will develop a vendor
section plan, and I will train the members of that
review committee on appropriate use of scoring using
this document.

And so when we go through that overall
process, those individuals will be held in
confidence, they should not be communicating with
each other on the various proposals, and they will
score them in a silo.  And then, ultimately, they
can get together and have a discussion based on the
score -- the overall scoring, and they could choose
at that point to make a recommendation back to me --
I will be the project manager running the RFP
process -- to come back to the Board with their
final recommendation.  They can also choose to
ask for interviews to get further information from
any one of the firms or all of the firms that are
within the competitive range of still winning a
contract.  

And so if the committee decides to move on
to phase two, then the interviews would constitute
one hundred percent of the final scores, and they
would rescore the ultimate documents and as

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  59
presented by the interview process itself and that
would be the final recommendation that come before
the Board.

And so with that, I'm happy to answer any
questions the Board may have.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  How did you come about
this -- like, what did you use for a template to
create this RFP?  Basically, how did you derive
this?

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  So the document itself,
the request for proposals document itself is the
District's standard request for proposals template
that was developed by the District legal counsel.

And the scope of work, that was developed
by myself.  I went out and did research on a number
of different other governmental agencies that have
issued similar types of scopes of work, and then I
started putting these things together, based on my
understanding of what the Board was looking for.
And then I reached out to a couple of my colleagues
in the consulting world, asked to make some contacts
with some potential forensic auditors, and I bounced
it off of them off them, am I on the right track
here with the scope of work that you might respond
to?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  60
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Right.  We don't have

like what we see in other organizations put out for
RFP on this?  Do you have any examples of that?

MR. MAGEE:  Yeah.  Honestly, I don't have
them handy.  I did save a couple of them that I
found other agencies had done.  I rewrote that into
my own words, base on my understanding of what this
Board was looking for you.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  What would you say some
of the differences are that we have requested and
you've seen done in other agencies?

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  If I'm being completely
candidate, this is the first time I've been through
a process like this, and I have not seen this at any
other agencies.  

But I did identify a couple of agencies
that did this, and I reach out to a couple of other
cities.  In their cases, they actually had suspected
evidence of fraud, and they were asking a forensic
auditor to come in and uncover the fraud.  

In our case, we don't have any suspected
evidence of fraud, but we're still going through
this process to see if there is any suspected
evidence of fraud.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  What do you think

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 129 of 309



  61
this is going to cost?

MR. MAGEE:  As I mentioned at the previous
board meeting, I would be hesitant to put a price on
this because I -- the proposals will ultimately come
back with some dramatically different prices.  And
the reason for that -- that's one of reasons why I
put a price factor into the scoring is because we
want firms to sharpen their pencils and provide
their most effective -- what they believe would be
their most-effective proposal to do the work at the
lowest cost imaginable.  

I have heard people say anything from
$50,000 to a couple million dollars on these types
of audits, depending on how deep you want the scope
to go.  Ultimately, that will be determined through
the contract negotiation process.  

What I am recommending as part of this
document is for the auditors to look back
five years.  I think that finding any documentation
past that would be incredibly difficult for us to
even come up with.  Our document retention just,
realistically, wouldn't be that strong anywhere past
that.  

In the range, I think we would be at the
lower end of those estimates that I received from

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  62
some of the other agencies that have gone through
this process.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  Can you remind me
how much we have in the budget for this?

MR. MAGEE:  There is not currently
anything in the budget for this.  This was part of
what the Board directed staff to add to the ultimate
budget augmentation that will come back,
theoretically, in late January or February.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Great.  So it's
unbudgeted.

And then can you tell me what you think
the timeline of this process will take?

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Like, to actually do the

-- not the timeline of the RFP.  Can you tell me the
timeline that you expect to see it proposed by,
contracted on this?

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  It's -- so that is not
one of the items that I did ask any of the potential
vendors that I requested.  My understanding is that
the Board would prefer to find the most-qualified
firm to do the work and make sure that they did a
thorough job.  

I would anticipate that this would take a

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  63
minimum of few months, though.  It takes time for
staff to even dig all these documents up, and for
them to do their due diligences in going through
them.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Great.
Can we ask -- and I might have missed on

the RFP.  Can you make sure that we include in their
response some estimate of, like, their deliverable
timeline?  

So, I know you asked for, like, an end
date, but, like, just some ideas of different, like,
benchmarking points and deliverables that we would
receive at those benchmarkings, would be great.  

And then I also ran into two errors on it.
Just for consistency purposes, I would do a control
F on "city", and make sure you change that to
"IVGID."  I think I've noticed it -- or "District,"
I think it was in there twice.  One of them was on
page 35.  

And then other thing I would do is,
there's date issues.  So on page 37, it's says that
is needed to be submitted by 4:00 P.M., Pacific
Daylight Time, on October 27th, 2023.  But then when
I was looking at page 33, it said that proposals are
due on the 17th.  So I'm sure it is just a typo, but

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  64
just so that nobody's confused when they're trying
to submit them, we don't let that to go unseen.  

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  Thank you.
Just for the record, I did do a control F

on the city, because I had recycled that language
from another, and I don't see it here.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  On page 35, I can
highlight it for you too.  But on page 35 --

MR. MAGEE:  Oh, got it.  
TRUSTEE TONKING:  -- it says "The city

expects that the forensic auditor," that part, yeah,
just change that to IVGID.

MR. MAGEE:  Perfect.  And just for
clarity, on the second, you said in the schedule of
events proposals due --

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Yeah.  So on the
schedule for events, you say the 17th, and then at
the very end, like at the end of the RFP, middle
section, you see no later than 4:00 P.M. on the
27th.  

So I don't know which date it is, but just
making sure that those two align.

MR. MAGEE:  Excellent catch.  That's why
we have multiple sets of eyes look on this.  Thank
you.  I appreciate that.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 130 of 309



  65
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Then the last question I

have is how are you selecting members to be on this
interview committee?

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  So my recommendation to
the general manager is that the RFP selection
committee would consist of at least one member of
the Audit Committee, at least one member of the
Board of Trustees, and one member of senior staff.  

And those individuals, when they are
selected, if they agree to serve on the RFP Review
Committee, their identities would be held in
confidence until the process is completed, and
that's so that nobody makes an attempt to lobby any
of those individuals as they're going on through
their process.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  What are we trying to
accomplish with this process?

MR. MAGEE:  Ultimately, I think that the
most important thing is in the scope of work, in the
second set of bullet points there, I think that
first bullet point is the most important thing that
we can get out of this process.  It's to complete a
current state fraud risk assessment based on current
operations.  

If there are -- if there is potential for

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  66
fraud.  If the elements of a fraud triangle are
present, we want to know.  We want somebody to take
a look at that and say these are the loopholes that
should be looked at and should be closed.  

And as part of the consultant's report,
they will certainly provide that type of information
to us.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  What, if any, impact
does potentially initiating this type of audit have
on our current audit and on our SRF loan?

MR. MAGEE:  Those are both excellent
questions we've addressed this week with Davis Farr.
Davis Farr has indicated to us that if there is an
open fraud investigation, they would not be able to
sign off on their final document.  And that's one of
the reasons I want to point out that this is not a
fraud investigation.  This is a due diligence
investigation.  And that's really what we're trying
to accomplish is is there any signs of suspected
evidence of fraud.  

It's entirely possible that the report
will come back that there is none.  It is entirely
possible that it may have happen and it was not
caught at various stages.  A lot of agencies
throughout to United States have had to deal with

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  67
that over the years.  

Now, with respect to the SRF loan, I do
not believe that this process will put any of that
funding into jeopardy.  That is something that I'm
actively working on right now.  I don't have
definitive answer tonight on what the State would
expect to see from us, but that is something that
I'm definitely going to reach out to the State and
ask them:  If the audit is not finalized, then what
would you want to see from us as we continue to go
through our due diligences in order to be in full
compliance with the statutory requirements and not
put the funding in jeopardy?  

And I do believe, in talking with the
various parties throughout this process, that that
can be accomplished without putting the funding in
jeopardy.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  And then, just to
continue on with this train of thought a little bit,
is, my understanding of your experience is that you
have come in fulfilled a role of an interim director
of finance for other organizations that have been,
maybe, a little bit troubled.  And you've helped
them right the ship, so to speak.  You never
encountered another situation where you have taken

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  68
this type action.

What is it that you're seeing that is
different that is making you bring this
recommendation to us?

MR. MAGEE:  Sure.  So, I think that in
this case, there is a lot of interest from the
community in seeing this type of activity looked at.
And that was a big driving force behind starting to
have these conversations on putting people's minds
at ease that just because we, the finance
department, say we don't see any evidence of fraud,
I think that we should -- it does not hurt at all to
take a deeper look at it.  And if we have the
opportunity to close the loopholes that may exist,
then we should do that.  

And given that the community has fairly
questioned us, I think that that's an excellent
recommendation for us to make at this time to take a
deeper look at this.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Then can I touch on some
things in the document here?

MR. MAGEE:  Absolutely.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Unless there's other

questions.
CHAIR DENT:  Go ahead.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 131 of 309



  69
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  So then is it okay,

could we narrow the scope of work and not go back
five years, but go back three years?  

I'm concerned about costs.  And if we
don't find anything in the last three years, then
doing five years is just adding more scope to the
project.  So my recommendation is that we not do
five years, but do three years.

And then I want to make sure that we don't
have yet another consult redo work we've had other
consultants do.  

So, I listed a few, but we had the
original Moss Adams, I think it was Moss Adams one,
that was deliverable in January of 2021.  And that
was the one that looked at the accounting and
contract management.  And management had -- in that
document, management had their responses.  

And then last year, we engaged Davis Farr
to sort of audit those responses, and Davis Farr
came back with sort of exactly that same gap
analysis, which indicated that the recommendations
and the actions that were stated to be taken, hadn't
been taken.  

So I don't want to go through another, for
the third time, to identify the same issues.  So I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  70
want to make sure that we provide that.  

And lastly, provide the current Moss Adams
report because I don't want another consulting firm
to be doing all of this type of gap analysis if
we've already had it done.  So I just want to make
sure we're doing that.  

And then last thing I have with it, I
don't know why on page 36, which is page 5 of the
document it's says, this is 6 (a):  Submit a
manpower loading matrix, (a) this section will not
include any estimates of cost.  

I don't know why we would stipulate that.
MR. MAGEE:  So, specifically what we do

not want -- the way this works, as a matter of best
practice, is we do not want the evaluators to see
the price.  We want the RFP evaluators to evaluate
the proposals on their merits, and then the price is
actually a separately sealed envelope, or in this
case, it will be a separate electronic file.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Okay.  It's not that
you're not asking for cost, you are just saying
don't put the costs here.

MR. MAGEE:  Correct.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  And then my last

question, under the -- below it, where it says

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  71
"proposed compensation," it says it's a firm, fixed
bid, why wouldn't we want to say a not-to-exceed
amount based on time and materials?  Is it because,
then, it makes it harder to evaluate one vendor
compared to another?

MR. MAGEE:  That's exactly correct.  And
so a not-to-exceed amount could theoretically be any
figure, and then how would I evaluate one proposal
against another?  

And so the idea is, based upon the scope
that we've provided, what is your base pricing?  And
then if you notice on the sheet that we're asking
the vendors to return, there's also some other items
that they could add a job title and an hourly rate
for any additional services that they may propose.  

That would be part of the negotiation
process.

CHAIR DENT:  Given that IVGID's business
has been pretty consistent the last five years, as
far as our model, and the amount of vendors we have
and the amount of invoices that come and go, would
it make more sense to get a price per year rather
than just capping it at three years or five years?
Because I feel like that's where Trustee Schmitz is
going, and I would hate to limit the timeframe or

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  72
the duration that we go back just based on us
thinking it might cost more.  We know it's going to
cost more.  It's probably the same out per year that
we go through.

So, I think, rather than changing it to
three or five years, give us some flexibility in
there where we could determine at a later time if we
want to go to three or five years.  Because in my
mind, it's probably the cost, a certain amount per
year to do this, and it's probably going to be
pretty consistent.

MR. MAGEE:  We can certainly do that.
What I would suggest is that we can change the scope
of work to say that the firm may do a due diligence
review of the books and records for fiscal years
'18/'19, and individual year through '22/'23, and
then ask for a per year price.  

And then we can certainly bring that back
to the Board, and the Board can make its decision on
how many you would like to go back.  We can
certainly do that, and it would absolutely be within
best practices still.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I hear some various
different things here.  I think, let's be clear,
we've said there's no direct evidence of fraud.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 132 of 309



  73
We can't say, categorically, there is no

fraud.  Bernie Madoff got away with it for 30 years.
City of Bell, California, got away with it for three
or four years under a very similar general manager
model.

So to say, let's speak very clear, because
I see it stated all places, you've said there's no
fraud.  We can't say there's no fraud.  We don't
believe there is any obvious fraud, but absent a
forensic audit, we cannot say that with confidence.

We've heard even -- when we're discussing
golf rates, we heard people saying that the numbers
we're using, which came from IVGID budgets, were
wrong.  I think to be categorical with these things,
all we can say is we haven't found anything.  

You see there's plenty of recent local
evidence of things happening. Douglas County, only
five or six years ago, where they admitted to over a
million bucks of losses in fraud through the fleet
department, subsequent to which they actually set up
an audit committee.  And their audit committee was
composed entirely of at-large members, not even
board members, to make sure it was there.  And the
fraud was parts, tires, et cetera, been sold off to
staff member and things.  It does occur.  I'm sure

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  74
Douglas County thought there was no evidence of it
there as well.

This is not a duplication of previous Moss
Adams-type audits or anything.  This is a different
type of audit.  We've heard it expressed that all
our Davis Farr audits and E Bailey before that, we
have issues with internal controls.  This should
identify.  It's not duplication.  I can assure my
colleagues, this is not meant as a duplication of
it.  This is not just a once-over, kick the tires,
this is a much more in depth.

And also what we discussed was the initial
phase of it would be do a thousand-foot level, and
then, depending on what's found, then the ten-foot
level to discover that.  The cost are going to vary
depending on what we find there.  

If there is no evidence, which we all hope
there is, then it can be truncated.  But it is
necessary to carry this out.

We could also ask them to quote for
three years and for five years.  I believe it needs
to go back -- should go back to five years, but I'll
defer to the Board's vote in terms of of that.

I think we just need to make sure that we
are completely aboveboard in these things.  We're

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  75
currently trying to borrow 56 million from the State
revolving fund, we've got about ten million of Army
Corps of Engineers funding.  

Now, it's all very well for people to say,
oh, well, it's okay.  I'm sure the State will just
happily give us it.  

I can say from my own finding from people,
it's not a slam-dunk in terms of that.  If I was a
lender, dishing out 56 million to an entity who
never borrowed anything of that level, and 56
million is probably half our asset value, if our
asset value is fairly stated, it's probably more,
maybe, our complete asset value.  So, it's a major
loan.  We've never taken on debt of this level
before.  Any lender would be looking at that, even
if it's the State, even the State looks very
carefully at that.  To just assume, okay, it's not
going to impact.  It will.  It will impact it.
Let's be very honest.  

So, I think I would command my colleagues
to move forward with this.  I think it is a
necessary evil, unfortunately.  I think puts to rest
a lot of claims made in the community on both sides
of the debate.  As the chair of the Audit Committee
previously expressed, and as I expressed when we

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  76
held a special meeting of finances, while there is
no immediate identification of it, there's three red
flags there, in terms of what is happening
process-wise.  We would be remiss if we didn't
follow up on that.  

Thank you.
CHAIR DENT:  I will entertain a motion on

this item.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I'll make a motion that

the Board approve the request for proposal for a
financial forensic audit with modifications
identified by Trustee Tonking, the consistency in
the date, the removal of the words "the city,"
replaced by "IVGID," and for a request for pricing
by three and five year terms, with the option if
they want to break it down by year, to give them
that option, and to include for their review the
identified prior reports.

CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made.  Is there
a second?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I second that.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Any first discussion by the Board?  
I'll call for the question.  All those

favor, state aye.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 133 of 309



  77
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.
Motion passes, 5/0 P.  Thank you.
All right.  That will close out item G 2.

Moving on to item G 3.  
G 3.   

CHAIR DENT:  Review and discuss Moss Adams
implementation proposals based on the Moss Adams'
phase one assessment, and possibly agree and take
action on the next steps.  Requesting trustees
Trustee Tulloch and Trustee Tonking.  Can be found
on pages 39 through 110 of your board packet.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.  
Moss Adams brought the proposals in

accordance with the contract, which was legally --
quite legally issued and can found in the District
website, I believe.  They reported back to us
four weeks ago now.  These meetings blend in some
respects.  At the time they had to still complete
their final recommendations for implementations,
give us some guidance in their proposals for
implementation.  I think it's -- we all agree, it

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  78
was a good report, lots of recommendations, and I'll
pass it across to the Board based on that for
progress.

I believe should -- there's a lot of good
work in it.  I believe we should be moving forward
with it as a whole, and deciding where it goes.  But
I stated to the Board at the time that we bring back
the implementation thoughts.  That's what we've
done, it's included here.

CHAIR DENT:  Any questions, comments?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll just add to that.

I think there's, obviously, some of pricing seemed
exceptionally high in some of the areas, in terms of
implementation.  I don't think this all needs to be
done externally.  A lot of this work can be done
internally.  

I think we've identified lot of things in
it, so I think as we move forward, we work identify
what can be done internally and what could be done
externally.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I just had a few
questions.  And, yes, I was surprised by the pricing
of some of these things.  

Under the strategic plan, the 1 G where it
says "Implement an annual representative community

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  79
survey," for us to do.  We have A lot of master
plans, but they've grown a little bit of dust on top
of them, and I think it would be important for us to
do this, but 20- to $40,000 seems like a pretty big
number.  But I do think that that's something that
we should do sooner rather than later so that we can
incorporate that into our five-year plan discussion.

But then when you flip to the next page,
same section, the second bullet, it says "Administer
and open non-statistically significant community
survey."  I was confused as to how this tied to the
other one, and why is it a non-statistically
significant.  And I also thought that we should
incorporate staff, staff input into that as well.
But I didn't know why is it sort of listed in two
different places like that.  I would assume it's the
same thing.

And with staffing 2 B, one of things that
I'm recalling is that they felt that our job
descriptions should be updated.  I know that the
director of HR has been doing a compensation study,
or it's my belief she's been doing a compensation
study.  But my question is:  Do we need to first
have the job descriptions updated before we did
anything like that?  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  80
I'm sort of siting here trying to figure

out, okay, what do we need to do first?  Because I
think that the compensation study is very important,
and I think we can start working on that before --
this says "wait for," or "in tandem of a new general
manager," but I feel like the community survey and
the job descriptions and compensation study, that
could be something that is moving forward before we
have the general manager.

And notice on the very last page, 110,
staffing 2 A, that's where it talks about updating
the job descriptions.  But my feeling that has to
happen before you do the compensation review.

So I think there's little bit of
organization of how would these things, from a
timing perspective, be rolled out.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I talked to him also
about prices, and I was like, I'm very concerned
about them.  

I think a lot of these things, if we
decide to do them not internally, we should think
about putting them out to RFP because I think some
of these prices are a little high, personally.

But I agree with Trustee Schmitz, I think
the community survey needs to be done soon.  And in

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 134 of 309



  81
the actual, like, report done by Moss Adams, they
say that that survey will tell us -- it was like one
of the first steps of the strategic plan.  So I
think we need to start that immediately.  

Do I think we need to be spending 40
grand?  No.  I also do surveys for my job, and I'm
not going to say -- hopefully no one's watching my
meeting, but we don't charge 40 grand.  But I think
that's definitely a first step.  

I looked at the timeline, and I don't know
if this helps at all, it's on page -- I don't really
know what of our board packet, but it's on page 11
of the very end of the report.  And breaks it out
into, like, developing a new strategic plan, that's
like quarter one.  Then it says "Update policies and
procedures," and then it says "Restructure senior
management team," then it says from there, "Update
job descriptions," and then the last one is
succession planning and framework.  

So it kind of laid out it out to us in the
quarter system.  And I think the idea was you do
your strategic plan and you do your policies and
procedures, and then from there you, you can decide
how you want the organizational chart to look.  And
then from there, once you've created that org chart,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  82
you're able to update your job descriptions,
probably deal with your salaries.  And then from
there, come up with your succession planing for all
new, like, not new, but through this org chart.

So I was kind of recommending we try to
follow that process.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Trustee Schmitz, I think
if you look at the implementation, if you look at
the timing against the different things, they're not
just -- they're not laid out sequentially in the
grid.  If you look at the last item, staffing 2 A,
that shows us two months.  It's not a case of going
through them per the grid; it's all sequential.

I think a lot of these things can happen
in parallel, and I think Trustee Tonking made a good
point.  Some of these things where they look pretty
spendy, we should be looking at going to RFP on it.  

Let's be honest, if I put my consultant's
hat on as well, if you don't put these proposals
before the customer, the customer is not going to
suggest them normally.  It doesn't necessarily mean
they're essential.  It a case of if you don't ask,
you're not going to get any of it.

CHAIR DENT:  Do we want to -- I guess, as
far as next steps, would we want to make a motion to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  83
accept the implementation of the -- excuse me.
Accept the Moss Adams plan and proposal that they
put in front of us, as far as next steps, and then
allow our employee, interim General Manager
Bandelin, to review this and take the next steps as
he sees fit, based on what's in this report and how
our employee is seeing how he can tackle the list?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yes, that was my
proposal.  That's why I've drafted the memo this.  I
think it's -- I think it's -- I think -- that is my
view.  We should accept the report, and then
Mr. Bandelin to start taking the lead on that.  

A lot of these things we have discussed
previously, particularly as Trustee Schmitz said,
the strategic plan is more than just gathering dust.
The grass is growing over it now in terms of that.
That's a very clear message to make sure that we're
actually doing -- we're initiating the projects that
align with the community now, not something aligned
with the community in 2015 or something in terms of
that.  

There's a lot there, but, yes, my view is
I'm happy to propose a motion along these lines.

CHAIR DENT:  I'll entertain a motion.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I move the Board of

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  84
Trustees accept the Moss Adams report and memo, and
give direction to Mike Bandelin to move forward if
he sees fit.

CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made.  Is there
a second?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll second that.
CHAIR DENT:  Motions's been made and

seconded.  Any further discussion by the Board?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Could we at least

identify for the interim General Manager what the
priority one is?  And it sounds like, based on our
discussion, that's the community survey.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  While moving forward
with ideas around the community survey.  I'll amend
my motion.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll second the amended
motion.

CHAIR DENT:  Motion and second has been
amended.  Any further discussion?

Seeing none, I'll call for the question.
All those in favor, please state aye.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 135 of 309



  85
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.
Motion passes, 5/0.  That closes out item

G 3.  Can we -- let's take a seven-minute break.  We
will resume at 7:55.

(Recess from 7:48 P.M. to 7:55 P.M)
CHAIR DENT:  All right.  We are moving on

to item G 4.
G 4. 

CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss, and possibly
approve a format for the Board of Trustees to an
informal conversation with the public or have a
structured conversation with the public on a
specific topic presented by staff member with the
Board of Trustees in attendance and possibly set a
date, time, venue, and/or specific topic depending
on the selected option.  Requesting trustee, Trustee
Tonking.  Can be found on page 111 of your board
packet.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  This is follow up to the
past conversations we just had on the forum, as well
as the meetings before that Chair Dent had spoke a
lot about, and I just move forward with discussing
them.

In this board packet, it is totally an
example, of how I was thinking it work where two

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  86
trustees -- I believe that's all we can have run the
forum -- would be assigned to a topic, and then we
just alternate working with different people.  So,
Ray, at some point, you'll have to work with me.

And so we'll go through each of those,
like, forums.  And so for example, you pick a date
and time, you'd pick a topic for the two of you to
talk about, and then people can come and give us
feedback on the topic.  In this, I just gave an
example using the beach house, the date, and then,
like, some conversations that it could be around.  

That was really all I was thinking on how
to run these.  I don't know of that makes sense to
others or what others are thinking.  This is truly
to suggest -- get the ball moving.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  Any comments,
suggestions, where do you guys want to go with it?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just some thoughts, not
that I'm opposed to working with Trustee Tonking,
quite happy to tag team with her in terms of that.  

I think the difficulty with the open
forum, if there's only two trustees present, given
the inevitable timeline between of meetings, I think
it drags out over a long period, and I think -- I
don't think it really gives a very good perspective.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  87
If there's just two trustees' perspectives there, it
makes it seem that the Board may be going in even
different directions in terms of that.  It's -- I'm
not in favor of that one.

As to sitting or standing around a table,
it becomes a bit like an election again.  I'm not
quite sure how that works.  It's -- I confess, I
don't have any alternative ideas.  I did like the
idea of a mixer before -- an hour before the
meetings, all trustees can be present, and the
public don't need to come out twice and can actually
raise issues then.  

I think the difficulty is to try to set
out as a formal setting, you run into so may
difficulties between Open Meeting Laws and different
perspectives and limited perspectives and things
being taken the wrong way, some people hearing one
thing, some people hearing another thing.  I think
it becomes very difficult.  I think we all need to
be -- unless you're aware of all sides of
conversation, it's very difficult for these things
to be successful.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  That makes a lot of
sense.

And I, by no means, am married to this

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  88
idea.  Again, it was just something we talked about
as ways to create Board communication.  I'm fine if
we just start with the informal meetings at
beginning and see how those go.  And maybe forums
could be something that -- on bigger issues, for
example.  So, like, getting feedback on the beach
house or the dog park or maybe stuff like that.  And
we could discuss if that's more applicable, because,
as you said, being held to Opening Meeting Law is a
hard situation.

But I'm fine to start with just the
mixers.

CHAIR DENT:  When -- I just think back to
when -- I think we've tried something like this one
time in the past, and I believe it was more of a
workshop.  There were some informative displays,
learn about your trash and a few other things, and
the trustees were welcome to sit down around their
little table and answer any individual questions.
All five trustees were welcome to do.  I can't
recall, it was so long ago, if all five trustees
were present.  I don't really think that matters as
much.  

But, Anne, feel free to correct me on
this, but as long as we notice it, we can do

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 136 of 309



  89
something like that if it is more of a
meet-and-greet, that's, I believe, how we had it set
up before was more just a meet-and-greet.

I like this idea and I think we can we
build upon it a little bit, and I would say if we
could have three trustees there or five trustees
there, whoever can make it, can make it.

And as we know from going to dinner or a
couple of dinners that we attended earlier this
year, I think one meeting we might have had three or
four.  Both of have them might have had four.  We
weren't all five of us able to get in the same room
together, given our schedules.  

So we could do something where it is super
informal, similar to, maybe, what happen at a
candidate forum.  Have -- instead of sitting at this
board table and these really nice comfy chairs, we
can actually have some comfy chairs, all of us could
have a mic, we could have an intake where questions
are asked, put up on the screen, and the trustees
that want to answer them, can answer them.  Or a
trustee that was asked a question can answer the
question.  I think that serves the purpose of
allowing the community to have their questions
answered.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  90
If we want to get more, I guess,

intentional about a specific topic, then I think it
would be good to have staff there, answering
questions, a presentation, and then we can answer
some questions.  

It's my understanding, as long as we
notice it, we can notice that meeting to be about
all topics IVGID or all topics -- really, anything
we can answer.  As long as we notice that, there's
no issue.

I like the idea, and it should be
something we do a couple of times a year or try to
do it every four months.  We have lot of other
things on our calendar, but if you spread it out
like that, we'd probably get to a point where more
and more, we would be able to do it in a room like
this rather, than in the a room at the Chateau.

Anyone else want to weigh-in?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I'm recalling a few

years back that there was something at Chateau, and
there was a moderator, probably Misty, maybe, where
you could submit questions on a card.  And I think
that that would be a good way to handle something so
that people can ask their questions, but they have
to -- someone else could read their question, and we

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  91
could, potentially, answer their questions.

CHAIR DENT:  There would probably be a lot
of similar questions, so I think it is good to have
people write them down and submit them.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I agree with that.  I
like that idea.  We've done that candidate forum
where somebody is correlating the questions as well
so we don't get multiple iterations of the same
question.  To me, that makes a lot more sense.  

It's interesting that you mentioned the
workshops, because that's something that came up in
our committee meeting yesterday.  It was -- in terms
of as when we're developing projects, we used to
have a lot more workshops, as I recall, just as a
member of the public before I got pulled into more
depth.  When I had a life.  

But, yeah, I think we should not rule out
the idea of workshops as well, particularly as we
develop some of these projects.  For the beach
house, as we get to final designs, it's something we
should bear in mind.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I was going to try to
recap what everyone had said to then try to work to
come up with a proposal.  Go ahead.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  When we get to the point

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  92
where it's workshops, I'm recalling -- this goes
back a few years -- at the Chateau, that they did
have, like, clickers or a method on your cell phone
where you could answer survey question.  And if
we're going to have something like the beach house,
that would be a nice way to get some instantaneous
community feedback as well.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  All right.  Listening to
what every one said, so coming up with some form of
forum that occurs once a quarter, and then working
with legal to kind of talk about how to have all
five us there, and also making sure that it's not
turning -- because we kept saying like a campaign
forum, and I just want to be careful that we don't
use the terminology.  It's also election year, so we
do not want to using -- so just making sure to word
it correctly.  I will work with legal on that.  And
have it, like, every three months, and it be like a
community forum of question and answer.  And however
many people we can get there, we can do it that way.  

And also coming up with some language
around, like, what workshoping would look like.
Just having those two.

And then, maybe, I guess I have a
clarifying question.  When do we want to start those

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 137 of 309



  93
community, like, the beginning of meeting hours,
social hours?  Are we doing that?  Do you want to
write a little blurb on that those three or is that
already moving forward?

CHAIR DENT:  I'd say let's do -- let's
come to the meeting, I guess, a half, an hour
before, and we could do that at the last meeting of
all the month.  Will that work?

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  Perfect.
CHAIR DENT:  And it could just be super

informal.  And I'll work with legal counsel on that,
because I believe as long as we -- I'll work with
legal counsel on how to approach that so we handle
that in a manner that doesn't violent Open Meeting
Law.

One -- your agenda item in improving
that -- or approving the agenda to go out, almost
two weeks ago, now, it got me thinking, and I was a
little proactive on this process in working with
staff and just asking the question of:  What does
the Chateau look like next week, the first week of
October as far as availability?  

And just seeing where this could go and
really having town hall, because we have been
talking about this probably since middle of year or

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  94
early in the spring.  

And then it came up, and talking with the
General Manager earlier this week, that the agenda
for October 11th meeting is pretty much dead,
however, we've all set time aside and plan to be at
that meeting on the 11th.  

So, we could -- Trustee Tonking I know
you're not in town for that meeting or not going to
be available for that meeting.  We could set
something up for one of three or four that we're
going to try and do annually, I would say more than
two.  And we could set something up where we do a
trial run on this we where we actually sit up there
and answer some questions, and then with the
commitment of doing another one this year.  

As we get into November and December,
those months, seems like there's not a lot to do,
typically, on the agenda.  It usually starts off
strong in January and kind of tapers off as the year
goes on.  And then we repeat everything we did the
year prior.  

We could definitely do that if the Board
wants.  October 11th is a Wednesday, two week from
now.  The Chateau is available.  I believe the
Chateau is available at 6:00 P.M., and staff looked

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  95
into that, so that is something in lieu of having
the meeting or potentially could be an agenda item
that we do start off, folks can submit their
questions while we're working through our general
business, in a maybe little less formal setting, and
then continue on to the -- we'll call the town hall
for a couple hour or two and a half hours.  

Anyone want to weigh-in on that idea?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I'm fine with that idea.

And I think that, given, as you mentioned, our
calendar's were a little bit light, it's the
opportune time for us to start planning for projects
that we want to begin implementing come next season.
Because we have to have lead time for construction.  

So it's prior to our budgeting.  It seems
like sometimes we're trying to do project planning
at the same time as budgeting, and it gets to be
really burdensome.  And if we could start doing some
of that project planing, in the fall, in this later
part of the year, I might make that budgeting
process easier, and it would be a great opportunity
to hear from the community in October too.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I think, given that is
going to be the first one, I'd like to see all five
trustee there, and the fact we know that Trustee

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  96
Tonking is not going to be there, I'd push it to
either the last one in October or the first one in
November.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I would also like to be
there for the first one.  This is something that
I've pushing for.  Again, I'm in Thailand, so it's
impossible for me to join.  And I've let you all
know for a while now.

CHAIR DENT:  Understood.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I don't agree with going

to the second meeting in October because then we'd
be expected to dress up in Halloween costumes as
well.

CHAIR DENT:  The second meeting in October
is fully booked.  Everything that was supposed to be
at this first meeting is now pushed to the second
meeting in October.  And there's timeliness
associated with it and then the agenda is going out
sooner and a few other things that are pushing
forward staff's preparation time.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Can we find a time,
then, that works -- I get back on the 13th, so the
13th or on?

CHAIR DENT:  I would say we could.  Is the
13th, that's a Friday?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 138 of 309



  97
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I mean, not that night.

I land at, like, 8:00 P.M.
CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  Yeah.  I don't know.

Once again, it's reaching out to Heidi, and then
it's having Heidi reach out to golf, and reach out
to the folks in charge of booking over there.  And
sometimes it takes a little while to figure out that
information.  I'll work with staff.  And, I mean,
the reason why I said the 11th is just because Mike
let us know we could have that night off.  I would
like to have everyone there, we've discussed that in
the past, but sometimes it just doesn't work out.  

And if we were to move forward and say,
Trustee Tonking, you weren't able to be there, we
would make sure we'd have another one, say, early
move, so then we're getting two out of way, and
we've kind of tackled that right out of the gate.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I feel like this is the
exact opposite of what you said, holding one every
quarter, and now putting two within a two-week span.
So I think, if that's the difference, let's just
throw it sometime in the next three weeks so we can
all be there.

CHAIR DENT:  It would be two within a
month, but I was trying -- saying we could

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  98
prioritize to do it because I might not be able to
be or Ray may not or David or Sara.  So I just -- I
know our schedules are tight, we commit to the
Wednesday nights, and just trying to move forward
this idea.

What's the Board want to do?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'm happy to leave it to

you, Chair Dent.  
One thing I would echo, Trustee Schmitz's,

though, because it reflects some of the things that
came in the investment committee as well, being able
to move faster and move earlier on some of the
project proposals and things.  I'm very conscious,
this year during the budget process, we kind of got
railroaded into very short timelines on a lot of the
capital proposals, and that's certainly something
that was mentioned, came through loud and clear.  

So the more further ahead we can get in
that, the better.

CHAIR DENT:  All right.  No more comments
about investment committee, and stay on topic.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would just say that
given that golf is winding down, that there should
probably be times that the Chateau is open in the
evening where all five of us can be available, at

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  99
least for the first one.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  I will work with
staff, and we will send out an email and coordinate
the timing of our first town hall.  And then we will
get that sent out through the IVGID channels to
market that.  

Any other discussion on this item?
All right.  That closes out item G 4.

Moving on to item G 5.
G 5. 

CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss, and
potentially adopt a Policy and Procedure number 143,
Resolution number 1904, regarding advertisements in
the IVGID magazine and other District publications
at District-owned venues and District-sponsored
events.  Requesting staff member Marketing Manager,
Paul Raymore and, I guess, through legal counsel.
And Anne is here to represent legal counsel.  This
can be found on pages 112 through 143 of your board
packet.

MR. RAYMORE:  Thank you, Chair Dent and
fellow members of the Board of Trustees.  

As Chair Dent mentioned, on pages 112
through 143 in the board packet tonight, is a memo
including a proposed District-wide advertising

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 100
policy, along with some additional materials
designed to foster a discussion on whether you would
like staff to explore expanding the scope of the
District's advertising and events sponsorship
programs.

The proposed District-wide advertising
policy, attached as pages 118 through 121, was
drafted by our legal team at BBK at the behest of
our interim General Manager.  If you'll remember,
the policy was originally drafted to pertain just to
the IVGID Magazine, but has been expanded in scope
to cover the District's advertising programs more
holistically at the Board's request.

So, staff is requesting that you review,
discuss, and potentially adopt the District-wide
advertising policy, and then, in addition, staff is
hoping to get direction from the Board tonight on
whether you would like us to look into possibly
expanding the scope of the District's paid
advertising and sponsorship programs.

To be very clear, staff is not advocating
for such an expansion, however, as you'll see in the
packet with the example materials from the Tahoe
Donner Association, there's a potential to generate
additional revenue for the District by formalizing

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 139 of 309



 101
and expanding the scope of event sponsorships and
other advertisements at District venues and on
District platforms, should there be a desire by the
Board to do so.  

I am happy to answer any questions you
might have on either of those topics.

CHAIR DENT:  Any questions, comments?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll kick off.  
Perhaps you can clarify for me what the

purpose of the IVGID Magazine is?  I go through it,
and it's a weird mix of advertorials for preferred
partners, it's primarily driven by realtors and
things, and then it has editorials by different
staff members and it has details of staff that have
been promoted.  It seems to be a really weird mix
between a complete mishmash of an advertising
product and something that should be an internal
staff newsletter almost, in terms of promotions and
things.  

Who is it targeted at, and what's the
purpose of it.

MR. RAYMORE:  I would say that the purpose
of IVGID Magazine is to, primarily, inform our
residents and stakeholders in the community of all
the programs, services, and venues available to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 102
them.  News and updates going on at those venues,
events happening at those venues.  Programs like
children's camps during the summertime, if you look
in the current edition, you look into our
fall/winter programs.  Updates from those venue
managers.  Updates from Darren Howard in this
current one.  A whole list of programs for active
adults, senior programs, other segments of the
community.  Recaps of things like our youth camps
that we did.  

It's certainly meant to inform our
community on all of what IVGID offers, mostly parks
and recreation oriented, and those recreation
venues.  

And then we do include some other updates
from staff, certainly from the public works team and
Waste Not, especially any events they have.  

We try to cover few a updates on major
capital improvement projects and progress that's
been made on those.  

And it's limited in scope.  We can't cover
everything that IVGID does, IVGID is.  The magazine
evolved out of what called "The Activity Guide,"
which was an in-house produced, multipage pamphlet
that was strictly, you know, the parks and rec

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 103
department and other venues, the activities, the
camps, the programs that were upcoming, and it's
evolved from there.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Okay.  Now, a lot of the
stuff that appears there is public works put a
newsletter out with the utility bill every month.  I
get an update from public works.  We see various
other things.  

You put it in a magazine coming out every
two and a half months or something.  It's almost out
of date by the time it comes out, and most of the
stuff is also available on the website.  

Again, I'm confused to who it's targeted
at.  Just targeted at residents, why are we putting
copies out everywhere in the Tahoe Tribune and
things like that?  And are we trying to sell venues?
Are we trying to sell access?  What are we trying to
do?  Because the clear message that comes to me from
the community is that we should be focusing on
members first, not trying to advertise it
externally.

And be I'm being serious.  I'm not being
flippant or anything.  I'm just trying to understand
what we're trying to target with it and what -- for
the purpose.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 104
I would have thought that we have -- all

the venues has guides as to what is coming up.  The
programs, it's all on the website.  I'm not quite
sure what we're actually achieving with it, apart
from burning more paper.  And there's no revenue
that comes to the District from it.  There's a cost
associated with it.  And a lot of it is just
duplicating information that's already been put out
there.

MR. RAYMORE:  As the marketing manager, I
can say that we try to communicate with our
residents our stakeholders and our community in
multiple different ways.  Certainly, coming of age
in the internet age, we try and keep that website
updated, first and foremost, so we hope that you'll
find always the most-current information on our
website.  But we also know that there are a lot of
people this community -- and let's face it, Incline
Village is an older-than-normal community who prefer
paper.  They trust do prefer reading things in a
magazine format, on a flyer.  There are folks that
go into the Rec Center and get their news by
chatting with folks in the lobby and talking to
folks at the front desk.  

And so from a communications standpoint,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 140 of 309



 105
we try to make sure that we are communicating in all
those different forums, all those different
channels.

So I feel like the magazine serves a
niche.  Certainly, there are those who know our
website well, get all the information they need from
there.  And you're right, this magazine shouldn't
contain anything new that's not on the website.  We
publish a digital copy of this on there, so all the
articles are online and available.  

As we mentioned, this latest edition,
there are those who say that they don't want to
receive a mailed copy anymore, and we're giving them
a chance to opt out of that.  Because we are
certainly not trying waste anybody's resources, we
don't want to add junk mail to anyone's mailboxes.
So if you don't want to pay for a copy, we're more
than happy to oblige.  That being said, there's also
a lot of folks who say they appreciate it.  

It is mailed to all of our parcel owners,
and a lot of those, you know, are second-home owners
and don't live in this community, so they don't
necessarily get their news through word of mouth
here town.  So that see that as an important way to
keep in touch with the District, the programs and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 106
activities that are available to them when they come
up and enjoy everything we have here at Incline.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I probably fall in that
category.  I am able to look at websites, a lot of
people are, and I understand some people want to
look at there.  

Again, I come back to it seems have turned
into more an advertising vehicle for people that get
no revenue from.  If it's to update the community,
perhaps, a slimed down version.  Why are we chasing
all sorts of advertising?  

And look through some of the advertising
proposals here and it seems to be selling Tahoe --
or, sorry, no, that's somebody else's phrase
already.  I see things like a realtor wants to
sponsor all our events and things, and I think we
need to be very careful about that.  Are we just
selling out?  We're a government organization.
We're not an HOA.  We're not -- I don't think you
can compare us to Tahoe Donner in terms of that.  I
get concerned when I see this let's just go out,
mass advertising and things.  And then we could have
banners hanging all over the place.  

I'm not quite sure what we're achieving
when it talks about our purpose is to generate

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 107
revenue from advertising.  I don't think that's
anywhere in our charter or anywhere -- that's
something that's been stated by the Board.

Again, I'm just trying to open the
discussion here because I think it's -- there's an
assumption that we will just drive down this
direction.  I'm certainly concerned about the
commercialization of that, of a government
operation.

MR. RAYMORE:  If I can respond.  Again,
like, staff does not have a dog in this fight.  We
are merely bring the expansion before you as option
and for discussion.  And we are looking for your
input.  

If there's interest in it, then we are
very happy to step away.  I just felt like we were
having this discussion on the District-wide
advertising policy, which I do believe will be very
helpful to us, especially in, you know, we have this
magazine, we do allow advertisements in it, and we
can give that policy to CC Media, our publishing
partner, and make sure that there's a Board-approved
policy in place.

The other discussion, again, is one
hundred percent, I just wanted to bring it to your

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 108
attention, this is an option.  There's a very
similar organization, granted it's an HOA; we're a
government agency.  I understand the difference.
But they have a more holistic advertising model.  It
generates, what they have said, is significant
revenue for them.  So I figured I would bring it
before you guys for a discussion.  I see a million
ads every day, and so I'm not necessarily saying we
should bring more into Incline Village.  

But, again, I just figured I would bring
it to you guys as an option, show you what's out
there, and get your feedback and move forward.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.  I've got
some other points I'll come back on, but I will pass
it to my colleagues.  Appreciate that.

MR. RAYMORE:  One more thing to touch on,
the advertisements in the magazine, again, those are
handled by CC Media, other than we have within the
contract with CC Media told them we don't want t see
things like advertisements for competing venues,
like cannabis products, anything like that.  Who
chooses to advertise in the magazine is basically up
to those advertisers, and they get the information
on where it distributed.  

So, yeah, it's a lot of realtors.  We're

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 141 of 309



 109
looking to outreach to our stakeholders, our
community, a lot of local business that provide
services.  Again, that's nothing we have control
over or much say over.

CHAIR DENT:  I like the line of
questioning.  I've heard it two or three times
tonight, and it goes back to our board training this
afternoon.  And it's what's the public opportunity
or public problem we're trying to solve?  Where are
we going with this?  And then another good one from
the starting point that goes along with what we are
discussing is how do we measure the results from it?
Like, what are we trying to achieve from doing this?  

And so if you start with us trying to
understand what it is we're trying to solve and how
we're measuring it, then we kind of know who it's
working, how it's not.

So, what does success looks like?  I guess
is appropriate question that we should be asking
ourselves with that, and that's what I -- I feel
like the underlying questions that are coming up
stems from our overall -- is a guide to good
decision-making for our good governance training we
earlier today.  And I feel like if we approach all
of out items that way, then, truly, we are serving

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 110
the public.

So I just think it's a good line of
questioning.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I just have a couple of
clarifying questions.  Do we -- as it relates --
because I know we have banners different places.  Do
we have a pricing policy that we have implements
across the District relative to banners in the Rec
Center or banners on the fields or tennis court or
anything?

MR. RAYMORE:  Not that I'm aware of.  I
don't believe there's any kind of District-wide
pricing policy or advertising policy, which, as I
put in the notes in the memo, leaves us kind of in a
situation where different venues are doing different
things.  Most venues -- mostly it's around either
event sponsorships where we're bringing in outside
partners to help sponsor and defray some of the
costs of events.  Something like the Incline Open
Tennis Tournament, for example, or the Trail of
Treats or the Tahoe Little League, that hangs little
league sponsor banners at our fields during the
little league season.

And so, right now, it is bit disjointed,
which is another reason to either potentially look

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 111
at expanding the scope or just developing a little
bit of a full-fledged District policy around
banners, sponsorships, that kind of thing.  And
staff is happy to do either of those to whatever
degree the Board would like.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  One of the things that I
liked in the Tahoe Donner was that they had then an
element of consistency.  And the consistent -- there
was a consistent look, it had the logo, you know
this is an IVGID event, that sort of thing.  

From that perspective, I really liked that
idea about there would be an element of consistency
and management across the venues.  

Then as it relates to the IVGID quarterly,
do you have a feel of how the survey results are
coming in at this point?  It seems like that survey
has been open for quite a long time, and I had
mentioned to interim General Manager Bandelin that I
was hoping that you could give us a perspective on
what those survey results are looking like so far.

MR. RAYMORE:  I'm not prepared tonight to
give you too much of an overview, other than what is
actually published in this current IVGID Magazine,
which I tried to summarize just a couple key points.

But my goal was to leave the survey open

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 112
through a couple of different magazine cycles so
that readers of the magazine have plenty of
opportunity to weigh-in.  So we promised that we
would leave the survey open through October 31st.  I
worry that it's, maybe, premature to summarize
anything before we truly close that survey.  But
there the a kind of preliminary data I shared that
shows what I would say is strong readership, decent
appreciation for it's.  Again, that was based as of
mid-August, so I really haven't looked into the
survey since that time.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Here's just a suggestion
people.  The people who don't open the IVGID
Magazine then done participate in the survey.  It
really would be nice to email it out to people so
that the people who don't look at it, at least are
providing why don't they look at it.  Why are they
not opening it up open.  Because if someone doesn't
open it up and look at it, they're not participating
in the survey.

MR. RAYMORE:  We have.  District emails,
shared on social media as well.  I'm almost
positive -- I mean, some of our emails are fairly
long, and if you don't scroll all the way to the
bottom.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 142 of 309



 113
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I did get it.  
MR. RAYMORE:  We will continue our reach

through all of our communication channels as we get
closer to that deadline.  And we're hoping to get
everyone's feedback, whether they read the magazine
or don't.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I did get it.  And I
think I didn't complete it because it was asking far
too much personal information, and I didn't want
something to say Trustee Schmitz said this.

Anyway, this is a little bit of a sidebar,
just curious on perspective.  In curious, I'm
assuming that you have been working with Mike Gove
on the website redevelopment type initiatives.  From
your perspective, do you think that enhancing and
making some of the changes Mike Gove is wanting to
make to our website, and you're probably working
very closely with him, do you think it will enhance
the method of communication with our community from
what we have today?

MS. BRANHAM:  We're a little outside the
scope of the -- 

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  It is.
MS. BRANHAM:  -- policy specifically, but

would be happy to bring it back at a future meeting.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 114
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Okay.  I would like to

just understand how we're communicating.  And with
the new website, is it going to be an improvement.
I know those little flyers that you talked about,
the activity guide, those are really handy.  

But back to the topic.  One of the things
that concerns me with the IVGID Magazine is the
amount of waste.  And I try to support Waste Not,
and I just get bothered with I see them stacked
everywhere and knowing and watching that they just
get swapped out.  I don't want us wasteful.  And I
don't want to waste natural resources.  It's just
one of my things.

But as it relates to the policy, something
that I wanted to make sure that we all understood is
that this policy would mean there's no Washoe
County.  I think Alexis Hill puts an ad in.  That
would be not allowed.  The IBCBA advertising would
not be allowed.  And think that there's just some
general community attributes that would be excluded
because this is saying it's commercial only.  And if
it's then for banners also, then it's commercial
only.  

I just -- it talks about advertising
sponsorships of third parties.  Do we need to have

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 115
some parameters around third parties?  Are they
supposed to be 501(c)3s?  If they have an MOU, do
they need to be in compliance?  

So I think that -- I think this is good,
but I think there's some things that we should, as a
board and as an entity and as working with, you
know, partnering with staff, we should just make
sure we're clearly understanding what we're
including and what we're excluding and what is the
definition of an acceptable third party.  

So were just some of my thoughts relative
to it.

MS. BRANHAM:  I just quick note, which is
that you look at part 1, A and B, in the policy
itself.  So pages 119 and 120.  We do carve out
specifically advertisements from other local state
or federal governmental agencies or legally
affiliated entities relating to public programs and
services and things like that.  

Even if those were not otherwise
commercial speech, we did want to carve out things
like allowing the county to still advertise local
events.  It's just a minor thing, but I wanted to
point that out.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Thank you.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 116
One other thing, down in 7, can I ask a

clarifying question?  
MS. BRANHAM:  Of course.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  It's about churches.

Why couldn't local churches advertise any program
available to anyone in the community?  I don't know
why we have to have it specific to summer or camps
for children.  Why couldn't we allow -- as long as
their saying they're open to anyone, I don't know
why we would restrict that.

MS. BRANHAM:  Yeah.  That's just a matter
of preference.  If the Board's direction is to
adjust that, the important thing to keep in mind is
that it's applied even-handedly and that it's
content neutral.  If it were something where we were
sure that we were only accepting advertisements
everyone in the community was welcome, then that
would be totally fine.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I actually like the IVGID
Magazine.  I also use the website.  So I think it's
just another avenue to reach out to parcel owners
and residents and guests in the area, as well as
those who live outside the area, but own property in
the area.  A lot of times, I'll thumb through the
IVGID Magazine quickly, see something, and then do a

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 143 of 309



 117
deeper dive on the website.

With regards to expanding advertising, I
think having more just a consistent policy across
venus would be appropriate.  I see, especially ball
fields in communities all over the place, there's
all sorts of advertisements.  If it's a way to
defray costs on venues where we're actually -- that
are not necessarily making money, I think that' a
great way to do it.  Again, though, how much is too
much?  If every single spot on the fence on the back
of the upper field at the middle school is plastered
with advertising, that might be too much.  But it's
one of those don't know until we try it, and I'd
rather us try it and see how that works out.  We can
always scale it back or dial it back at a later
point if it becomes too much or just not what we
thought -- the benefits they are not what we thought
they were.  

Those are my initial thoughts at this
point.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  A couple follow-up
questions on that.  We talk about defraying revenue,
but we don't see any numbers on that.  About the
only place I've seen a lot of banners posted on the
tennis center.  Then I look at the tennis center

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 118
revenue numbers, and it doesn't seem to reflect much
in the way of defraying revenue.  

We also went through a period several
years ago where we were just selling access passes
to the beach willy-nilly, and we were using the
wrong metric because people were considering, well,
we've done really good, we've made all this revenue
from the beach, but we destroyed the customer
experience because we have too many people on the
beach because we're selling passes to anyone and
everyone, basically.  So I think we need to be very
careful in terms of that make sure that we're not
destroying the customer experience on some of that.

Again, I'd like to to see some numbers for
what we're actually getting paid in terms of revenue
for some of these things, whether it is actually
substantial or not.

In terms of the survey, given that we're
sending out a copy of the magazine to everyone, so
we know what the denominator should be.  We should
be measuring the percentage of responses based on
the denominator.  If we sent out 8,000 copies, we
should be -- we shouldn't be just saying, well, 85
percent of the people have replied to this said they
like the magazine.  That 85 percent should be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 119
quantified as the numerator over the denominator to
get a real answer.  Otherwise, we're just getting an
answer -- it becomes a skewed survey.  If we've sent
it out to everybody, to every parcel holder, that's
approximately 8,000, to me, that becomes the
denominator.  

And as Trustee Schmitz pointed out --
response basically it tells you what to think of
that.  I don't recall seeing the email on it in
terms of that, but it's quite possible I missed
that.  I don't know.  

I think, equally, need to be careful.  Do
we have a way of making sure that people are not
making multiple responses?

MR. RAYMORE:  We will -- we look into the
back end and will investigate any suspected multiple
responses from the same IP address.  We didn't want
to make this survey so restrictive that you to type
in so much personally identifiable information to
make it that secure.  There was a balance of do you
want security so that we know everyone takes it once
or do we want it to be open and accessible to all
and look like we're big brother looking for
everybody's information.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I mean, the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 120
counterargument to that is that you could just be --
people could be trying to get results.  I don't
think we can place a lot of faith in it if we
haven't filtered the results.  If they're only
filtering them if we suspect fraud in a case, I
think it's very difficult to say with confidence
that, yes, we've has a mass response one way or
another.  If we're not monitoring it scientifically,
it becomes meaningless.  It becomes an opinion poll
on how many times you can click the button.
Particularly if we're leaving it open for four
months.  That destroys most of the statistical
validity in a survey.  That's why I'm asking.

The other thing here I see we're not going
to allow defamatory, false and deceitful ads.  So
we're back to malinformation and disinformation.  I
take a very simple view of it.  We have information.
People are born with a brain to decide whether
information is true or false themselves.  

What gives us the guidance to decide
what's false information, what's not correct?  Are
we entering into censorship here, depending on who
happen to hold the reigns and who happens to be
doing there?  I get very concerned when I see this.
When I see arbitrary decisions on what should be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 144 of 309



 121
allowed and what shouldn't be allowed in terms of
what goes by some individuals' opinions in terms of
that.  I think we need -- as I said earlier, I think
we need to be fair and balance in all these
respects.  If we're going to allow adverts from
preferred partners, shouldn't we also allow adverts
from non-preferred partners?  If it's an open forum,
I think we need to be careful that we're not trying
to sensor things that we don't like.

MS. BRANHAM:  If I may, I just have one
quick note on that.  In the agenda report, we kind
of discuss how -- the idea here is not to create an
open forum, and so the rules are a bit different,
and I don't want to get into all of the case law
behind this and things like that, but I tried to set
that out in the report.

It is impossible to come up with a policy
that's always going be applied exactly the same in
situations like this because advertisements are, by
their nature, tend to be subjective.  But the idea
here is to put guardrails in place.  So you will
notice, for example, it says: clearly defamatory,
grossly misleading.  

We try and qualify, to the extent that we
can, so it's a little easier to make that decision.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 122
I understand where you're coming from.  I think the
policies intended to set guardrails for
advertisement that may come in that are clearly
outside the scope of this policy.  

We always welcome staff to confer with
counsel if they have questions about things like
that.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think the difficulty
becomes who decides it's grossly misleading.  I
mean, some people believe everything they read on
social media is true in terms of that.  It depends.
A lot of that is influenced by the individual that's
actually judging it.  That's why I struggle with it.
I do believe in first amendment rights in terms of
that.  

But what is misleading to one person,
somebody else's freedom of expression in terms of
that.  And what you think is misleading might be
different from what I think is misleading, which
might be different from what Paul Raymore thinks is
misleading.  And that's why we start getting into
very subjective areas there.  

I appreciate you've tried to put some
guardrails, but a lot of these guardrails then raise
other issues.  To come back to Chair Dent's point,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 123
what is the problem we're trying to address here?
And are we just creating another knock on from the
same thing?

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm excited to see the
survey results.  I was easily able to access the
survey.  I received it my public -- my parks and rec
email.  I can send to you all too if you did not get
it.  It went to both my trustee and personal
account.

I'm going to push back a lot on that
survey comment that Trustee Tulloch had said because
if that's the case, then we shouldn't be trusting
any of our FlashVote surveys either.  So if that's
how feel about surveys, then we shouldn't be doing
them.  That may be an outside board discussion to
have.

Anne, I have a question for you in terms
of advertisement.  Do you feel like this policy in
any way -- well, my first question is did you review
this policy?

MS. BRANHAM:  Yes.  I helped write it.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  In any way, do you feel

like this policy is providing any form of
censorship?

MS. BRANHAM:  No.  Yeah, it's a good

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 124
question.  I understand that.  It's a little bit of
a convoluted area because there's a difference
between truly open public forums in constitutional
law and limited public forums, which are kind of a
middle level, and then what we're aiming for here is
a non-public forum, and by that, what we mean is
it's not a traditionally -- it's not a board office
where you're having a public meeting, it's District
property.  If you're talking about events where
there might be banners up or the magazine is put out
by the District, so the District is entitled to set
its own parameters on speech that's occurring,
specifically with respect to non-public forums.  

So, what we say in this report is the
intent here is not to create a public forum, but
you're allowed to set reasonable restrictions on
advertisements on District property because the
District is acting as its own speaker in that
instance, if that makes sense.  The District is
allows to say this is what we want and this is what
we do not want in terms of what's allows.

So, we've tried to -- it does have to be
viewpoint neutral.  I think that might have been
brought up in comments, but that -- this policy is
that it's not saying we will only accept one certain

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 145 of 309



 125
type of religious advertisement.  It's saying it's
all or none and it has to be open to the community.
And so that was the goal with this.  We can makes
tweaks to the extent that the Board has ideas for
adjustments that are still compliant with
constitutional law.  If you would like we can do
something like we've done with the non-public
information policy where -- I got, for example,
comments from Trustee Schmitz, and then I can input
those into a new draft of the policy and bring it
back if you feel you need more time to look at it
and put some actual substantive comments in.  That's
just one idea that I had.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  I have another
question, or a statement and a question.  I do want
to bring up again Trustee Schmitz' point about the
county non-profits.  I want to make sure that we are
not excluding anyone because of the specific
language in the policy.

And then the other things is if there ads
that the staff has decided to remove for a series of
time, legal can also help in that process to ensure
that there's no idea that there's some form of
sponsorship.  I feel like I'm not very worried about
this issue and what staff is going to do, but it

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 126
feels like others on the Board may be.  I think
that's a nice happy medium, if you're willing to do
that.

MS. BRANHAM:  We would welcome staff
questions.  If there's ever something on the fence
or -- as loosely as staff wants to interpret that
offer to be involved, I'm always happy to be asked
questions like that.  Feel free.

CHAIR DENT:  Question regarding the
overall, I guess, content or direction of the
magazine -- going back to what's the problem we're
trying to solve?  -- as far as who's the spokesman
for IVGID, it just kind of seems like we flip a coin
and decide who's going to be written up in that.
Sometimes it's the general manager, sometimes it's
the chair, sometimes it's other staff members, it
may be a director.  

Like, I know where talking about the
policy as it relates to the advertising, but should
we have a policy as it relates to the magazine, or
just some just clear direction to staff as it
relates to the magazine?  If we truly don't know
what the problem is we're trying to solve, we don't
know how we're measuring it, then, like, understand
some folks do get something out of this and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 127
appreciate it.  That's great, but should we have a
consistent message from the Board that's going into
the magazine as well?  Here are the quarterly
highlights of areas where the Board had direction
this quarter.  Here's the Board's priorities moving
forward.  Should we actually use it as an
advertising for the Board and advertising as to here
are our achievements, here's our plan, here's where
we're going.  Or is it strictly just advertising and
marketed for realtors and other folks in town,
non-profits and such that -- businesses as well.
Elevators, I see a lot of elevator advertisements in
there.

But I really think we're kind of hitting
on this as far as a policy.  Here's our advertising
policy, what's the District's policy as it relates
to the magazine?

MR. RAYMORE:  If I can address that and
then I'll turn it over to Mike.  

There is a big separation between the
advertising and that is what we really do want and
need a policy from you tonight, hopefully, on.
There is a timeliness aspect to this in that we have
another edition coming out in October, and
advertisers are asking if they can advertise right

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 128
now.  So, the policy is important for that aspect.

On the editorial side, which is what I
head up, we are very open to the Board and the rest
of IVGID's desires in terms of what content they
want to see in the magazine.  So if there's desire
by the Board for more input, as long as you guys
promise you can make deadlines, then I am very, very
happy to include it.  

What I would suggest is let's -- once we
get -- we once we close that readership survey, get
a little bit more data from what our readers are
saying they want to see in terms of content, then
let's have that discussion.  And I'll bring you back
all those data points from the survey as well as all
the comments, and then I'm very open to any content
that guys want to see in the magazine.  Ultimately,
you guys represent the District, and we will in what
direction you guys want to see it go.

CHAIR DENT:  The only reason I bring up my
comment about who is the District's spokesperson or
people, in speaking with legal counsel, IVGID has
taken a very different approach as to comparing to
what other agencies would do as it relates to their
magazine or their pamphlet or whatever you call it,
and there's always very similar people that are the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 146 of 309



 129
spokespeople for the district, where we've kind of
just anyone and everyone, it seems like, and I feel
like we should have, if we are one team, we should
have a consistent message coming from the District.
And given that we could do much better when it comes
to communication, using the IVGID Magazine to help
communicate, these are the things we're working on,
and this is what's on the long-range calendar for
the Board.  I think it's important to put in there
if as many people are looking at our magazine, then
they would be excited to know what we're working on
because a lot of people say they don't know what
we're doing, and we're just kind of doing things in
a back room, when everything we can do is actually
public, and it's sitting here at this board room
with these nice comfortable chairs.

So, I really think we should have a
spokesperson or a policy around that, and that's
coming from legal counsel that that's what other
agencies do.  And I think it's important that we put
some parameters around what this is and what it
isn't, and who is going to be in there.  Does
general manager approve the writeup that goes in
there ever single time by certain staff members?  I
don't know.  I don't know the process.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 130
I know this is your wheelhouse.  I don't

want to get involved in it, but I think there is a
piece of it, at a high level, that the Board should
have some input on, and I really think using it to
let the community know this is what we're working on
next quarter, could be very helpful in communicating
a message to them, as well as these were the
priorities that we said we were going to do over the
last quarter, and this is what we got done.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yes, I think that's
important.  Because we've seen in some recent
issues -- I recall not so long ago, our past chair
used the forum of IVGID Magazine to make derogatory
remarks, breaking the code of conduct against fellow
trustees, and --

MS. BRANHAM:  I just want to jump in and
caution against any statements about particular
people.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Let me say this is a
hypothetical.  And to come back to your point, Anne,
you talk about it should be viewpoint neutral, yet
we allow advertorials.  So, we can't have
advertorials if we're being viewpoint neutral as
well because that's -- some of these things are
couched as if it's been promoted by IVGID, when it's

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 131
an external organization.  So I think we need to be
very careful in terms of that.  

In terms of the survey, I mean, I will --
heard Trustee Tonking saying we can't trust any.
Well, actually FlashVote surveys do have guardrails
to make sure you can't vote multiple times in terms
of that.  So I think that's an important difference.  

Here, we're leaving a survey open for
about four months, and we've got no real guardrails
over how often people vote or who all can vote in
it, whether it's somebody outside the District or
not, and that's the point I was making.  For it to
have any statistical significance, we need to have
some proper controls over it.  

It's -- and equally, as Trustee Schmitz
pointed out, it was attached to the bottom of our
Rec Center email.  I don't recall -- get emails from
the Rec Center never, so I probably never received
it in that respect.  

But if this is so important, shouldn't we
just be sending it out as a separate survey to each
parcel holder in terms of that?  Wouldn't that make
it more effective?

MR. RAYMORE:  We've tried, through all of
our different communication channels, to promote the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 132
survey.  We're actively seeking feedback from as
many readers as possible, as well as any other
District stakeholders who do not currently read the
magazine.  If you live in a bubble and your head
buried in the sand and you don't know anything about
IVGID, I don't know how we're going to get the
survey in front of you, but we are certainly seeking
information.  

A lot of the survey is asking questions
about what kind of content people enjoy and what
more of.  And so that's valuable feedback for us on
the editorial team in terms of planning out that
content, whether some questions are do they want to
hear more updates from the Board of Trustees, do
they want to hear more updates about capital
improvement programs, do they only want to hear
about beaches updates?

CHAIR DENT:  Those are the questions you
have in the survey?

MR. RAYMORE:  Has nobody taken the survey
here?

CHAIR DENT:  I have not taken the survey.  
MR. RAYMORE:  Well, please do.  It was as

extensive as we could make it.  I can send you guys
all a personal invite tomorrow, via email, and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 147 of 309



 133
hopefully you'll find --

CHAIR DENT:  How many questions is the
survey?

MR. RAYMORE:  There's some branching
logic, so depending on if you're willing to take the
whole thing, I believe it's 25 to 30.  We're asking
to rate the value of certain content, on a 1 to 5
scale, whether you're more interested in the beaches
or parks and rec programs or Diamond Peak
information.

CHAIR DENT:  Does it take five minutes to
do or 20 minutes?

MR. RAYMORE:  Well, there's also options
to leave comments, and so it can take anywhere from,
I would say, three to four minutes, if you get
through it pretty quick, or you can spend an hour
typing.

CHAIR DENT:  Will you just send it to the
Board tomorrow?

MR. RAYMORE:  I will certainly do that.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I would like to suggest

that we add to this list: no advertisement for
short-term rentals.  

MS. BRANHAM:  I wanted to point out before
we go any further, that is in number 9.  And

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 134
short-term rentals and services will not be
accepted.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Got it.  Okay.  Thank
you.

Then my suggestion is for 1 A and B, where
we talk about sponsorships with third parties.  I
believe -- I'm going from memory, but I believe we
defined in a resolution, I don't remember what the
resolution is, but we defined what were acceptable
non-profits, I think.  I think they were
specifically 501(c)3s that received discounted use
of our venues.  

And I would suggest -- because we spent
the time to write that language, if we could lift
that and insert it here to define who is eligible to
do this sponsorships.  Because I would think it
would be the same definition that we have in that
resolution, but I'm going from memory.

But I believe that we said they had to be
a 501(c)3, and they had to be a non-profit, and they
had to be community oriented.  So I would just
suggest looking at that.  

And I think that -- I like the idea of
what Tahoe Donner did.  I like the idea of revenue
generation.  My concern is our residents'

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 135
experience.  And before we would go and embark on
anything, like they maybe did at Tahoe Donner, I
would want to find out:  Do our golfers want to see
advertisement on their things or not?  

Because I don't mean to do this only to
then think it's a great idea of revenue generation
but have our residents and our parcel owners not
liking the experience.  So I think that -- I like
the idea.  I think that we should just make sure
that we're going to do create a situation that we
think it's great for revenue generation, and then
the users at the Tennis Center or what have you
don't like it.  

Under number four, I don't know why an
advertisement would be offensive to a political
group.  So, I don't quite know why that would be
there.  If there's not some reason, I'd like to just
strike that.  We don't want it to be offensive to
anyone, but I don't understand why a political group
was listed.  

And then in the area for 1 B where it
talks advertisements from local, state, or federal
governments, agencies, I would like to add also the
same the qualifying non-profit community
organizations.  Because we do have them, and I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 136
believe they do currently advertise in the IVGID
quarterly.  And I noticed that this would have
restricted it.  And I think that whether it's Tahoe
Family Solutions, they do do commericial work, but I
think that we should make sure that we do have some
allowance in here for the community, qualified
non-profit 501(c)3 organizations.

That's my comments on the policy.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  To follow-up on that.

Revenue generation always sounds great.  Again,
let's be careful that we're not spending 20 grand to
generate 10 grand of revenue.  It's back to using
the wrong metrics.  I think the revenue generations
only become significant if it starts more than
covering the costs, and actually generating
something on top of it.  

I think for the golfers, drive for sure,
pot for door.  It's, yeah, I think let's not chase
revenue, but let's make sure it's revenue that's
actually worthwhile, actually generates some upside,
rather than just generating revenue and we hide the
costs elsewhere.  

With regard to the survey, again, I come
back to my previous question, which wasn't actually
answered, why don't we just make this a proper

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 148 of 309



 137
scientific survey and send it out to everyone that
we send the magazine to?  Send it as a separate
survey.  You've just said you can send it to Board
members.  I don't want special treatment.  I think
we should be -- if we just send the survey out to
everyone that receives the magazine, then it becomes
a more scientific survey, and then we can actually
be monitoring what's happening in it.  

I'm sorry, but in the current format where
it's open for four months, there's guardrails around
it, there's no real monitoring of multiple responses
and things, it doesn't really tell us anything.  

So I would ask that we just send the
survey out to each recipient of the magazine, and
then we know it's sensible.

MR. BANDELIN:  Just to clarify, the
problem is that there was no policy for advertising
content with the magazine.  We agendized that at a
previous meeting, and we were told, let's hold that
item, bring it back with a District-wide advertising
policy.

So, currently, all advertising wants or
needs are approved by the general manager.  I'm not
going to do that.  I have no qualifications to do
that, so that is the problem with why this agenda

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 138
item is here tonight.  

And the other one would be we can
certainly bring back an agenda item so you can have
full discussion on what you think the fate of
magazine is in the future, and we can provide ideas
of content and the Board should weigh-in on what the
magazine looks like in future, whether it's there or
not or what it reads like.

CHAIR DENT:  Thank you for that.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Well, I've made a few

suggestions on the language, and if my fellow
trustees are okay with it, I'll attempt to make a
motion.  

But I would like to please ask that we put
on our long-range calendar, a pricing policy related
to across the venues, banners and things like that.
And not for us to decide, but for us to receive
staff's recommendations.

MS. BRANHAM:  If you need assistance with
the motion, let me know and I can recap how I
understood.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  General Manager
Bandelin, that -- you followed up on my point.  

I think we've got two separate issues
here.  We've got the fate of the magazine and we've

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 139
got a more general advertising policy.  Yes, the --
I don't think it's appropriate to try to cojoin them
all in one motion.  

Equally, I think having gone through this
and having -- I've got a lot of red ink, I've got a
lot of score outs and comments on my copy.  I don't
think -- I don't believe we're ready to pass a
motion on this.  I think we should all be feeding
back some information on it.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I want to touch on one
of Trustee Tulloch's concerns.  When -- and it was
about that advertising should not be, you know,
basically incorrect.

When Trustee Dent and I went to place an
ad in the Tahoe Daily Tribune, they had to
investigate and prove that everything that we were
putting in that was factual and accurate, and asked
for backup documentation to ensure that our
advertisement was not deceitful or anything like
that.  

To me, this policy is doing just the same.
And I don't have a concern because I know that that
is sort of an industry standard as it relates to
advertising that there is an element of it needs to
be factual.  You can't just advertise deceit and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 140
false information.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  If I can respond to
that.  We basically outsource monitoring of that to
CC Media.  The Board has no input in terms of that.
And I think if something is demonstratively false,
that's one thing, but most advertising is -- it's
called "puff," I think.  It is there as designed to
influence you.  It's not necessarily true.  It's not
necessarily untrue.  

So how do we draw the line in terms of
that?  It's one thing making factual comments, but
adverts are not making factual comments and such.  

MR. RAYMORE:  Most advertisements in the
IVGID Magazine are for good and services that local
businesses are providing.  Whether that's a realtor
or an elevator company, they do run a lot.  And so,
obviously, they are pretty clearly in that
commercial-speech-type ballpark, and most of them
are very noncontroversial.  Whenever there is one
that is on the line that CC Media feels like might
be of issue, whether that's potentially a competing
business or something like a bottled water company
that wanted to advertise, they bring that to us, and
ultimately that has always gone to the general
manager to make a final decision, yes or no.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 149 of 309



 141
As Mike has mentioned, we really do want a

Board-approved policy to cover this.
CHAIR DENT:  I'll entertain a motion.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I make a motion that the

Board approves Policy and Procedure number 143,
Resolution 1904, with the following modifications:
Number 4, to strike "or political group."  Number 7,
to strike "summer camp or similar" and "children,"
pause for a second, that's just to say that the
churches can advertise as long they're open for
everyone.  Okay.  On my motion.

That we define for the advertisements in 1
A what a qualified third party is, and that, I
believe, is a non-profit 501(c)3 in our community,
as defined in our other practice.  And include in 1
B to also include "in addition to state, federal,
and governmental agencies," to include "the
qualifying non-profit 501(c)3 organizations."

MS. BRANHAM:  That matches what I had as
well.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I second.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion's been made and

seconded.  Any further discussion by the Board?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'd like to amend the

motion to delay it to the next board meeting to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 142
allow time submit some further input.  I mean, this
is the first time we've seen this policy.  I've got
a lot of red lines on it.  So my understanding was
this was coming up must discussion, not for approval
at this stage.  And it's up to rest of Board to
decide on that.  I think we're rushing into this.
We've seen this just for first time, I think it
create a whole number issues.  

I prefer to see it delayed until we get
some more input.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Question for Mr. Raymore.
Given that the next quarterly magazine is coming out
fairly soon, and you stated that you have
advertisers that are asking whether or not they can
advertise, do you need a decision tonight?

MR. BANDELIN:  Just to correct the record,
this is the second time that advertising policy for
the magazine has been on the agenda.  

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Then I'm ready to move
forward tonight.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I just -- we've talked
about advertising policy in the magazine before, but
this is a complete new District- wide advertising
policy, and that's where I'm putting the caution on
it.  It's one thing we've talked about the magazine

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 143
in the past, but this is a completely new policy.

CHAIR DENT:  Anybody else?
I'll call for the question.  All those in

favor, state aye.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Aye.
CHAIR DENT:  Aye.
Opposed?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Nay.
CHAIR DENT:  Motion passes, four to one.

Thank you, Trustee Tulloch.  I think you broke our
5/0 streak.  Moving on to trustees -- 

MR. RAYMORE:  Before we move on, just in
terms of guidance on the second topic here.  It
didn't seem like we got any really firm direction
other than the District would be served by a more
comprehensive and real policy in terms of the
current level of sponsorship and advertisement at
district venues and other events.  Happy to work on
that. 

But I didn't hear any real interest in
exploring more of Tahoe Donner style model.  Unless
you would like further -- I mean, I'm certainly
happy to bring back a more detailed proposal, or

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 144
not.  I'm just looking for -- I don't -- I mean,
we're getting into a very busy time for my
department particularly, and I don't need to waste a
lot of time running down a rabbit hole that you guys
have no interest in.  

But happy to do it and bring back more
information if there is interest in learning more.

CHAIR DENT:  I would just say, for me,
just let's stay with what have for right now, and
then we can have a further discussion as we approach
the budget season, which is right around the corner.

Anyone else want to weigh-in?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  I actually like the

idea, and I would like to know more about it.  But
back to the point of what is it going to cost versus
generate, and I also want to work with the venue
managers to understand what they're threshold or
tolerance is.  I think it's a good idea, and I think
we should put it on our long range-calendar.  

And if you don't need a decision soon, I
think we'll put it on our calendar.  I appreciate
you bringing it forward.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think we should take
it one step at a time.  Again, unless we have
substantial excess capacity to sell -- not quite

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 150 of 309



 145
sure what we're trying to achieve by trying drive
into a commercial model in yet another area.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm good putting it on
the long range and discussing a policy then.  Or not
policy, but a plan.  Then we can put it out a little
further, given that Paul's running into a tighter
timeline for other work.

CHAIR DENT:  Okay.  That closes out item G
5.  Moving on to item G 6.  

G 6. 
CHAIR DENT:  Review, discuss, and possibly

revise Board practices 6.2.0, community services and
beach pricing before products and services.
Requesting staff member, interim General Manager
Mike Bandelin.  Can be found on pages 144 through
158 of your board packet.

MR. BANDELIN:  As noted, staff is
providing this agenda item for review and discussion
on the District's board practice 6.2.0, community
services and beach pricing for products and
services.  The practice was last revised and
approved by the trustees at your meeting on August
31st, on 2022.

And staff is not recommending really any
action be taken on this item.  Our intent was to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 146
bring this practice to your attention to review and
possibly receive information from the trustees,
including input for possible future changes to the
practice.  And I think you'll recall that this was
in the parking lot on our long-range calendar, and I
just saw an opportunity to bring this up on to the
agenda and just provide you the open session
discussion on the policy.  

And, again, I might just add that we all
know this policy was kind of developed through
approval of the Board from the finance director as
we worked through not really having a good practice
in place.  So now with our interim Finance Director,
hasn't really seen this policy or I haven't really
had a chance to meet with him and discuss on how we
came up with overhead or capital costs and so forth.
Thought we take the opportunity bring it forward and
maybe review and we can come later date or if you
have some suggestions now, how you want to direct
staff to look at the practice, that's why we're
here.

CHAIR DENT:  Would direct staff to look at
the practice.  It was developed last year.  And it
sounds like going through some of the pricing and at
some venues, we ran into some issues.  And I would

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 147
love to get interim Finance Director Magee's input
on this.  

This was a response to, I believe,
having -- yeah, I believe this was a response to
having a rec fee that was just kind of out there,
and try to abide by NRS by collecting more money
than we should have been collecting, so I think it
was a reaction.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Well, I had -- this was
on the long-range parking lot for myself.  And why I
wanted this to be brought up for discussion is
because when we were going through our budget
process, we talked a lot about pricing and what
level of pricing and what level of cost recovery was
supposed to be achieved, and I felt like we weren't
being consistent.  And all I really wanted to talk
about was the pyramid.  And to make a conscious
decision about what things are we going to -- what
things are we going to subsidize and what level and
do we have consistency acrossed all of the programs
and whatnot.  And so I wanted bring it forward for
that reason.  

But I want point something out to all of
you -- and I just noticed this while I was sitting
here.  The very last pages, page 157 and 158 of our

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 148
board packet, this is a much more detailed
description of the pyramid that is at the end of our
pricing policy, but it has more descriptive language
to it.  But notice how the percentage costs
recoveries, this is supposedly our budgeting and
financial practice management, and it doesn't have
the same cost recovery description as the one in our
pricing policy.  So I think we should get that
consistent and get the language consistent because
they aren't, and our budgeting process should match
our pricing policy.

But it was to talk about the various
venues and programs and just consciously acknowledge
we intend to subsidize these things, and here's how
they fit.  So I just wanted to bring it back and
request that we have some discussion about
classifying programs and classifying rates.  

One of things, if you remember, when we
did golf pricing, and we talked about the Mountain
Course, we actually were working and said, "What is
the percent that we're subsidizing the Mountain
Course?"  And guess what, it came out to be that 33
percent.  And we talked about it as a board for past
years that we felt, yes, we should be subsidizing
the Mountain Course and that sort of thing.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 151 of 309



 149
So I felt good about what we were bringing

forward, and I mentioned that it fit with it.  But
we didn't have that discussion consistently with our
programs and whatnot.  That was sort of the reason
why brought it forward.  

And I want to also let you know that I did
bring this to interim Director of Finance's
attention this morning.  And brought to his
attention some of the language that I think we
didn't -- the last board, I think I voted against
this because the language, from a financial
perspective, is somewhat ambiguous, and I'll give
you an example:  Capital costs are defined as
depreciation.

Let's just use the word "depreciation."
Let's not confuse it.  So Mr. Magee did look at
these things, and he reached the same conclusion and
said that this was definitely a policy from the
finance department perspective that needed to have
language corrections so that it had more meaningful
terms to our financial statements.

So with that, I just want to point out a
couple of things that I noticed are missing.  

Under the venue-specific pricing, we don't
have, under golf, a discussion about rates for

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 150
rentals and lessons like we do in ski.  And I
believe golf as lessons and rentals also.  So I
noticed that was missing under golf.  

The other thing that was missing under
golf was the acknowledgement of that the Mountain
Course was being categorized as a community asset
that was going to be operationally subsidized in
addition to the capital improvement subsidy.

And the other thing that I just wanted to
bring out is that we have parks, recreation, and
tennis all in one.  And, to me, those are very
different things.  And so I think that we should
have them separated.  And if you look this paragraph
3.541, saying that the parks and Tennis Center and
programs are open to residents, guests, and
visitors, well, that's the case with all of our
venues.  So I just didn't even understand why that
language was there.  

So, I think that it's a good thing for us
to review and discuss and to have some input from
our Director of Finance.  With that, that was the
reason why I requested we bring it forward.  

So, I'm just explaining why I requested
this come forward, and I wanted us to have the
discussion about it and potentially bring it back

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 151
after some revisions or whatnot, but before we get
into the budgeting because I think this is a tool
that would help us with our budgeting.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think, going through
it, there's a whole lot of inconsistencies between
venues.  For instance, if I look parks, recreation,
and tennis, it says:  Will provide a discount to
pass holders.  

There's no target for what we're charging
for visitors and things, whereas, other places, we
ask for full cost recovery, and I think that's
equally appropriate here.

I also see other areas where, well, we
should charge, under venues:  Consideration should
be given to maintain facility rental and special
event services competitive within the regional
market place.

Does that mean we should sell them at a
loss?  Because if we've got -- if we're not
competitive in the regional marketplace, should we
be taking losses on that?  Should we just be booking
out the facilities to make the losses?  

We talk about market-driven profit
margins.  Again, unless we're actually covering
costs and making recoveries there, it's the same

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 152
thing.  I look at page 148, group rates:  Access to
and rental of venues for qualifying groups can be
provided at a discount, providing the discounted
pricing is set to cover the director costs of venue
access.  

So we're giving up slots that could be
used by residents to groups to just cover the direct
costs.  There's no upside there, we're
disadvantaging residents to let a group in without
any upside from.  Again, I think it's a lot of
inconsistencies and understand it was made up on the
fly a little bit last year, but, yeah, there's -- I
think we need to be consistent across it.  

And equally, as a board, we should not be
making up prices on the fly, like suddenly saying,
well, this should be 50 percent of the non-resident.
We need to be consistent.

We did have some language at one stage
that for visitors and guests, should be recovering
the full costs, including the debt cost and the
depreciation.  That seems to have vanished.

Again, there's lots of room to tidy up.  I
agree with Trustee Schmitz, I think it's a good time
to be looking at.  Again, let's try and be
consistent across the venues.  It shouldn't be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 152 of 309



 153
venue-specific on a lot of these.  And when see
market driven, we need to understand what we mean by
that.  Again, are we chasing revenue for the sake or
revenue, but then making a loss on it?  Or maybe we
chase volume and we increase the losses by the
volume.  

A lot of it is cleaning up language and
being even around it.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  And on that discount,
again, there's no definition of the qualifying
groups.  And I think if we have somewhere that we're
always referring back to, we can leverage that.  So
I had that flagged as well.  

The other in beaches, under beach pricing,
it doesn't reference hotel occupants.  And hotel
occupants are part of Ordinance 7, and it was
something.  So I think that's something that's
missing.  

And I think this is really -- it was a
good start, but I think we have some cleanup to do.

CHAIR DENT:  Does anyone else want to give
the interim General Manager some feedback on this
policy so he can bring it back?  Say, put on the
log-range calendar for a few months out?

Well, then if there's no more feedback,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 154
Mike, you've got a lot of information, suggestions.
We'd love to have your team look at it as well and
provide a redline.  Thank you.

That'll close out item G 6.  Moving on to
item H.  
H.  BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATES 

CHAIR DENT:  Any updates by board members?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I think I'll get a plug

in again that we held the first Investment Committee
yesterday.  I think it was good, setting the stage
for that.  A lot of good feedback for it.  Some
other kind of exciting ideas, which I won't share
with the Board at the moment, I need to do a little
bit further investigation, but something that
certainly help speed up our project process and
things.  It will involve some major change. I'm
working with Finance Director Magee and with legal
at the moment to make sure we can do some of these
things.  

But, yeah, some very encouraging stuff
came out of the Investment Committee.  I think it's
got -- we've got a good bunch of people on it.  I
think it will be very helpful.

CHAIR DENT:  Anyone else?
TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Am I allowed to clarify

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 155
a couple of things that were said in public comment
as part of a trustee update?

MS. BRANHAM:  I would keep it really,
really brief.

TRUSTEE SCHMITZ:  Oh, yeah.  It is really
brief.  

I think that we need to, as a community,
define what micromanagement is.  Because when we, as
a board, trustees as an individual, trustees have no
authority, we know we have no authority.  The only
authority we have is when we act as a board in a
public meeting.  And we do not make decisions, give
direction outside of these public meetings.  

And when you have people who apply for a
golf committee, and it's on our agenda, it's part of
my duty to reach out chat with people.  That is not
micromanagement, that is part of me doing my duty as
a trustee when you're making appointments to a
committee to actually interact with individuals,
especially because we didn't have an interview
process.

And we are not building walls around our
beaches.  I don't think that has ever come up on our
long-range calendar, nor has privatization of our
venues ever been discussed, and cannot have

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 156
discussions outside of these meetings, they have to
be discussed publicly, and I think we have people
who have a perception otherwise thank you.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just a couple of
clarifications to add to that on the Moss Adams
contract, which is a legitimate contract, as stated
at previous board meetings as well, yes the same
claim was made again tonight.  There is a proper
contract in place that was approved by the Board.  

And I've also received several emails from
people telling me to promote certain people to
certain positions.  Again, for clarification, the
Board has no influence other these things.  These
decisions are made by the General Manager and the HR
director.

CHAIR DENT:  Understood.  We may have all
gotten those same emails, so I was a little thrown
off by it.  

Any other trustee updates?  Seeing none,
that will close out this item, item H.  Moving on to
item I.  
I.  FINAL PUBLIC COMMENT 

MR. LYON:  Jim Lyon.  Two items related.
One is I'd like to invite trustees and general
public, if anybody's still listening, to Veteran's

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 153 of 309



 157
Club meeting tomorrow from 12 to 2 at the Chateau.
Lunch is available.  Free for members and guests,
and non-members, it's $7, it's pizza and salad.  And
guests is going to be Bob Nalin (phonetic) talking
about his Haiti disaster relief experience.

And the second item is I'd like to make a
formal thank you to Trustee Schmitz and her husband,
Patrick, for posting and maintaining the Veteran's
Club sign that's out on the corner by the 7Eleven.
They've been doing it for over a year, in the snow,
when the snow is up to chest.  And I just want it to
be recognized that they've been doing, and they just
volunteer as members of Veteran's Club.  

Thank you.
CHAIR DENT:  That will close out public

comment in the room.  We will go to Zoom.
MR. DOBLER:  This is Cliff Dobler again.  
In 1971, there was a Canadian rock group

called the "Electric Band," and sun a song called
"Sign, sign, everwhere a sign," and that's kind of
where we are in Incline Village.  

Now, I came here 30 years ago to enjoy the
forest, not to enjoy signs.  There are signs
everywhere.  And now what you've done here -- and
thank god you didn't pass the second part of it --

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 158
we want to do more signs.  

Now regarding the magazine, so don't do
anymore signs.  We don't need -- we got recall
signs, we got slow signs, we got fast signs, we got
signs for everything.  I don't want any more signs.
I think a lot of people would think the same thing
as I.

Number two, the magazine is only a
propaganda machine for IVGID staff.  If you really
think about it, everything is hunky-dory in River
City.  The financial, when they put them up, you
could actually need a microphone -- a magnifying
glass to be able to read see it, so, of course,
nobody reads it because you can't see it, it's so
small.  Now, that's done intentionally, because they
could use a page, of course make as small as you can
so nobody can read it.  

And then I think what's really interesting
is when things are really out of control, like the
pipeline that went from 23 million to $70 million,
that somebody might want to do an editorial on that
and say, you know, hey, this -- why this happened
and this was the problem.  But, of course, you don't
see any of that.  

And then the idea that the dog park's been

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 159
in the works for 18 years, and we can't seem to find
a site.  I don't know if I walk from end to end, I
think I can see every single parcel in Incline for a
dog park, but they can't seem to get it done in 18
years.  

So my biggest problem is I just wanted to
put a very simply ad up saying:  Our village voice,
a site for transparency and honesty.

And I can't get that done because I'm not
selling anything.  Well, I'm selling the truth, but
I guess that doesn't qualify under the policy you
just passed.  

Now, I don't know what you guys think
about this advertising, but you got the website, you
got the -- everybody's got an iPhone in the hind
pocket, and now you have a magazine, and all it is
is a promotion for how wonderful everything is going
in River City, meanwhile, we got an accounting
breakdown that's going to take a year to correct.
And I would just think that the magazine should
have, maybe, that all things aren't pretty in River
City, and not being propaganda machine for how
wonderful staff is because staff's got --

(Expiration of three minutes.)
CHAIR DENT:  Anyone else on Zoom?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 160
MATT:  Currently, not.  
CHAIR DENT:  All right.  That will close

out our final public comment.  Moving on to item J.  
J.  ADJOURNMENT 

CHAIR DENT:  It is 9:36.  I want to thank
staff and thank my colleagues at the Board.  We are
adjourned.

(Meeting ended at 9:36 P.M.)
  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 154 of 309



 161
STATE OF NEVADA ) 

)  ss. 
COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

 
I, BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH, do hereby 

certify: 
That I was present on September 27, 2023, 

at the Public Meeting, via Zoom, and took stenotype 
notes of the proceedings entitled herein, and 
thereafter transcribed the same into typewriting as 
herein appears. 

That the foregoing transcript is a full, 
true, and correct transcription of my stenotype 
notes of said proceedings consisting of 161 pages, 
inclusive. 

DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 8th day of 
October, 2023. 
 

    /s/ Brandi Ann Vianney Smith 
 

 
___________________________ 
BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH 

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 155 of 309



INVOICE
BAVS SM-LLC

brandiavsmith@gmail.com
United States

BILL TO
Incline Village General Improvement
District
Susan Herron

775-832-1218
AP@ivgid.org

Invoice Number: IVGID 6

Invoice Date: October 8, 2023

Payment Due: October 27, 2023

Amount Due (USD): $1,316.00

Items Quantity Price Amount

Appearance fee
September 27, 2023 BOT meeting

1 $350.00 $350.00

Per page fee
September 27, 2023 BOT meeting

161 $6.00 $966.00

Subtotal: $1,316.00

Total: $1,316.00

Amount Due (USD): $1,316.00

Charge to 100-11-100-6030

S. Herron    10-09-2023

Page 156 of 309



Page 157 of 309



Page 158 of 309



Page 159 of 309



Page 160 of 309



Page 161 of 309



Page 162 of 309



Page 163 of 309



Page 164 of 309



Page 165 of 309



Page 166 of 309



Page 167 of 309



Page 168 of 309



Page 169 of 309



Page 170 of 309



Page 171 of 309



Page 172 of 309



Page 173 of 309



Page 174 of 309



Page 175 of 309



Page 176 of 309



Page 177 of 309



Page 178 of 309



Page 179 of 309



Page 180 of 309



Page 181 of 309



ITEM F.3. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Board of Trustees 

THROUGH: Mike Bandelin, Interim General Manager 

FROM: Paul Raymore, Marketing Director 

SUBJECT: Adopt Policy and Procedure No. 143/Resolution No. 1904 regarding 
advertisements in the IVGID Magazine and other District 
publications, at District-owned venues and District-sponsored 
events. (Requesting Legal Counsel: Josh Nelson and Anne 
Branham) 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #6 - COMMUNICATION 
The District will engage, interact and educate to promote understanding of the 
venues, facilities, services, and ongoing affairs. 
DATE: October 25, 2023 

I. RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Trustees adopt the amended Policy and Procedure No. 
143/Resolution No. 1904 regarding acceptance of advertisements for the IVGID 
Magazine and other District publications, at District-owned venues and District-
sponsored events.

II. BACKGROUND 
AMENDED VERSION OF POLICY AND PROCEDURE NO. 143/RESOLUTION 
NO. 1904
On Sept. 27, 2023, the Board of Trustees voted to approve Policy and Procedure No. 
143/Resolution No. 1904, with amendments requested from our legal team at BBK 
Law during the motion. Attached to this consent calendar item are redlined and 
clean versions of the amended District Advertising Policy. 

Updates made: 

• Clarified definition of "commercial speech"
• Added criteria to allow for PSAs from government agencies and non-profits 

as defined in the policy
• Clarified District's position on political advertisements
• Clarified exceptions for local churches to advertise programs or events that 

are open to all members of the community

Staff is seeking approval of the final Policy and Procedure No. 143/Resolution No. 1904 

Page 182 of 309



attached. A redlined version of the original policy presented on Sept. 27, 2023 is 
also attached for reference. 
 
 
ORIGIAL DISCUSSION 
The District presently manages the production of the “IVGID Magazine,” which 
publishes five times per year. The District contracts with CC Media for design 
services, management of printing and distribution, and management of 
advertising submissions and rates, but the District has not adopted a formal 
policy regarding what is appropriate and acceptable for publication as an 
advertisement in the IVGID Magazine. In addition, the District owns and operates 
a number of public facilities and runs a number of public events where 
advertisements and sponsorship opportunities may exist, including but not limited 
to the Incline Open Tennis & Pickleball Tournament, IVGID Parks and Recreation 
facilities and events, Diamond Peak event sponsorships and Lakeview chairlift ad 
blocks, and the IVGID ball fields. 
 
In the District’s experience, certain types of advertisements can interfere with the 
District’s primary advertising purpose of bringing public awareness to important 
District issues and generating revenue to benefit District services. This policy 
advances the advertising program's revenue-generating and public service 
objectives by prohibiting advertisements that could detract from that goal by 
creating substantial controversy, interfering with and diverting resources from 
District operations, and/or posing significant risks of harm, inconvenience, or 
annoyance to District stakeholders and other members of the public. Such 
advertisements create an environment that is not conducive to achieving 
increased revenue for the benefit of District services or to preserving and 
enhancing the security, safety, comfort and convenience of its operations. The 
viewpoint neutral restrictions in this policy thus foster the maintenance of a 
professional advertising environment that maximizes advertising revenue. 
  
In short, the following categories of third-party advertisements will not be 
accepted under the draft policy: 

• Ads that do not qualify as “commercial speech” (i.e., only ads that propose 
commercial transactions, like buying/selling/economic exchanges are 
permitted) 

• Ads involving trademark/patent infringement 
• Obscene, pornographic, and offensive ads (as defined in the policy) 
• Defamatory, false, and deceitful ads 
• Ads advocating for violence or portraying violence  
• Ads directly or indirectly promoting any specific form of religion or religious 

practice, except for summer camps or similar programs that are open to all 
children in the community 

• Ads that imply the District has “endorsed” any service, product, or point of 
view without prior written authorization 

• Ads for tobacco, firearms, non-carbonated bottled water, cannabis 

Page 183 of 309



products and services, CBD products and services, and short-term rentals 
and services 

• Ads for ski areas, ski lesson providers, golf courses and golf shops, tennis 
and pickleball centers or services, recreation centers, fitness centers and 
gyms, and wedding and event venues, other than those that the District 
owns, operates, or manages 

• Ads that conflict with federal, state, or local law 

  
In addition, all advertisements submitted for review must clearly identify the 
sponsor of that ad. Any person who is found to have violated the policy may be 
prohibited from submitting ad requests in the future. Language will be included 
when appropriate, clarifying that the views expressed in the ad do not necessarily 
reflect the District’s position. And, the District’s GM or designee will retain the 
right to control the quantity, quality, and placement of all ads, and reject ads that 
do not comply with the adopted policy. 
  
Finally, staff notes that this policy will not affect the District’s ability to utilize 
existing advertising space to market its own facilities, services, and programs as 
it sees fit. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
No direct impact by adoption of the policy. Ads published in the IVGID Magazine 
support the production of the magazine. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
Below are alternatives to the recommended action: 

1. Adopt the proposed policy. 
2. Decline to move forward at this time with this proposed amendment. 
3. Suggest changes to the proposed policy and bring it back for discussion at 

the next meeting. 

 
VI. COMMENTS   
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
This item is not a "rule" within the meaning of Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 
237, and does not require a Business Impact Statement.  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy [BBK redlines 10 
2. IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy [BBK clean 10.13]-c1 
 

Page 184 of 309



IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES   
 

Page 185 of 309



 
 

Resolution 1904 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -1-  

WHEREAS, the Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) publishes 
or displays advertisements in IVGID publications and at IVGID facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, IVGID wishes to adopt this policy to outline the rules and 

regulations regarding these advertisements to ensure compliance with law and best 
practices; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, that it 
hereby adopts the attached Districtwide Advertising Policy. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the attached Policy and procedures will 

remain in effect until changed or rescinded by the Board of Trustees. 
 

* * * * * 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 1904, 
Policy and Procedure Resolution No. 143, as amended and adopted by the Board of 
Trustees of the Incline Village General Improvement District on the __th day of 
_______, 2023, by the following vote: 

 

 
AYES, and in favor thereof,  
NOES, 
ABSENT,  

 

____________________    
Clerk, IVGID Board of Trustees 

  

Page 186 of 309



 
 

Policy and Procedure No. 143 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -2-  

The Incline Village General Improvement District (“IVGID” or the “District”) is a general 
improvement district organized pursuant to NRS Chapter 318.  As part of its services to 
local residents and visitors to the area, the District publishes regular editions of the “IVGID 
Magazine,” and owns and operates a number of publicly available facilities such as parks 
and tennis courts, among other things. In addition, the District owns and operates a 
number of public facilities and runs a number of public events where advertisements and 
sponsorship opportunities may exist, including but not limited to the Incline Open Tennis 
& Pickleball Tournament, IVGID Parks and Recreation facilities and events, Diamond 
Peak event sponsorships and Lakeview chairlift ad blocks, and the IVGID ball fields. To 
support the publication of the IVGID Magazine, raise revenues for lawful District 
purposes, and facilitate oversight of advertisement/sponsorship opportunities at other 
District venues and events, the District accepts paid advertisements and sponsorships 
from third parties (hereafter, collectively referred to as “Advertisements”), subject to rates 
published by the District for such purposes and this Policy.  
 
In keeping with its functions noted above, and to the extent allowable by law, the District 
does not intend by accepting Advertisements to convert the IVGID Magazine or 
venues/events that it owns and operates into open public forums for public discourse, 
debate, or expressive activity.  Rather, the District accepts Advertisements as a means 
of generating revenue to support its operations, and communicating information about 
District services and events to the public.  In furtherance of this limited objective, the 
District retains strict control over the nature of Advertisements accepted for publication in 
the IVGID Magazine, in its venues, and at its events, and maintains such advertising 
spaces and opportunities as a non-public forum. This Policy prohibits Advertisements that 
could detract from the District's goal of generating revenue or interfere with the safe and 
convenient delivery of District services to the public. This Policy is intended to be an 
objective and enforceable standard for advertising that is consistently applied, and which 
is consistent with the free speech guarantees of the constitutions of the United States and 
the State of Nevada. Through this Policy, the District intends to establish the following 
uniform, viewpoint-neutral standards for advertisements in the IVGID Magazine and in 
other venues owned and operated by the District: 
 

1. In accordance with the revenue-generating purpose of this Policy, the District shall 
accept only third-party Advertisements which contain either “Public Service 
Announcements” (PSAs) or “Commercial Speech.”  

a. Commercial Speech is defined as speech for which the sole purpose is to 
sell products, goods, or services for a profit. Commercial Speech does not 
include advertising that combines a commercial message with a message 
that is not permitted under this Policy, e.g. an advertisement that both offers 
a product for sale and promotes the election of a certain candidate for public 
office.  

Deleted: ,
Deleted: which 

Deleted: that does no more than propose a commercial 
transaction, or is an expression related solely to the 
economic interests of the speaker and its audience (e.g., 
promotes for sale, lease, or other financial benefit a 
product, service, or other property interest)

Deleted: Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following 
types of content will be allowed:

Page 187 of 309



 
 

Policy and Procedure No. 143 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -3-  

b. An advertisement shall satisfy the following criteria in order to qualify as a 
PSA that may be accepted pursuant to this Policy:  

i. The sponsor of a PSA must be a local, state, or federal government 
agency or legally affiliated entity (including IVGID itself), or an eligible 
non-profit, defined as a local non-profit, national non-profit with a 
local chapter, or local government agency or school district providing 
services to the local community. Qualifying non-profits shall be an 
IRS 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation, shall provide supporting 
documentation of their non-profit status when submitting 
Advertisement requests, and shall otherwise comply with all 
applicable requirements in this Policy.  

ii. The PSA must be directed to the general public or a significant 
segment of the public, and must relate to:  

(a) Promotion of IVGID services or programs, including co-
sponsorships with third parties that relate to or support 
IVGID’s function and services;  

(b) Prevention or treatment of illness, or promotion of safety, 
health, or personal well-being;  

(c) Provision of family or child social services;  
(d) Local (within the Incline Village/Crystal Bay community) 

fundraising or community events.   
iii. A PSA may not include any Commercial Speech or mention a 

festival, show, concert, lecture, or other event for which an admission 
fee is charged for commercial purposes.  

2. Advertisements that infringe on any copyright, trade or service mark, title, or slogan 
without the written consent of the owner of said copyright or mark will not be 
accepted. 

3. Advertisements that are obscene or pornographic will not be accepted.  
4. Advertisements that promote or oppose a political party, the election of any 

candidate or group of candidates for public office, any legislation, initiative, 
referendum, or ballot measure, or any political action committee, political 
campaign, or political group advocating for a particular economic, political, 
religious, or social issue will not be accepted.  

5. Advertisements that may be perceived as offensive to any religious, ethnic, or 
racial group will not be accepted.  

6. Advertisements that are clearly defamatory or contain false, deceitful, or grossly 
misleading information will not be accepted.  

7. Advertisements that advocate for or portray acts of violence, murder, sedition, 
terror, vandalism or other acts of violence against persons, animals, or institutions 
will not be accepted. 

Deleted: <#>Advertisements from other local, state, 
or federal governmental agencies or legally affiliated 
entities relating to public programs, services, or events 
that do not otherwise qualify as Commercial Speech.¶

Deleted: , or political

Page 188 of 309



 
 

Policy and Procedure No. 143 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -4-  

8. Advertisements that directly or indirectly promote any form of religion or religious 
practice will not be accepted, except that local churches may advertise programs 
or events that are available to all members of the community.  

9. Advertisements that imply or declare an endorsement by IVGID of any service, 
product, or point of view without prior written authorization from IVGID will not be 
accepted.  

10. Advertisements for tobacco, firearms, non-carbonated bottled water, cannabis 
products and services, CBD products and services, and short-term rentals and 
services will not be accepted. 

11. Advertisements for ski areas, ski lesson providers, golf courses and golf shops, 
tennis and pickleball centers, wedding and event venues, and recreation centers, 
fitness centers, and gyms—or services other than those that the District owns, 
operates, or manages—are prohibited.  

12. Advertisements that otherwise are in conflict with any applicable federal, state, or 
local law, statute, or ordinance will not be accepted.  

13. All Advertisements must clearly identify the sponsor(s) of that Advertisement.  
14. Any person or entity who has previously violated any provision of this Districtwide 

Advertisement Policy may be prohibited from posting any Advertisements. 
15. All Advertisements published by the District shall be formatted in such a way as to 

not be confused with IVGID’s editorial content, and any “advertorial” style 
Advertisements shall clearly state that the content is a paid advertisement. The 
District reserves the right to place a statement in all publications that says: “The 
views expressed in the advertisements in this publication do not necessarily reflect 
the views of the Incline Village General Improvement District.” 

16. Quantity, quality, and placement of all Advertisements will be controlled by and 
subject to the specific approval of the District’s General Manager or designee, who 
reserves the right to review each Advertisement in advance and reject any 
proposed Advertisement that does not meet the District’s standards as set forth in 
this Policy.  

 
The District reserves the right, from time to time, to amend, suspend, modify or revoke 
the application of any or all of these standards as it deems necessary to comply with legal 
mandates, or to facilitate its primary functions, or to fulfill the goals and objectives referred 
to herein. All provisions of this Policy shall be deemed severable.   
 
District contracts granting advertising rights shall include this Policy as an attachment. 
The District reserves the right to contract with third party companies or agencies to 
manage and oversee the District’s Advertisement sales, but all such sales must be 
contingent upon compliance with this Policy.  

Deleted: summer camp or similar 

Deleted: children in

Page 189 of 309



 
 

Resolution 1904 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -1-  

WHEREAS, the Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) publishes 
or displays advertisements in IVGID publications and at IVGID facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, IVGID wishes to adopt this policy to outline the rules and 

regulations regarding these advertisements to ensure compliance with law and best 
practices; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, that it 
hereby adopts the attached Districtwide Advertising Policy. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the attached Policy and procedures will 

remain in effect until changed or rescinded by the Board of Trustees. 
 

* * * * * 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 1904, 
Policy and Procedure Resolution No. 143, as amended and adopted by the Board of 
Trustees of the Incline Village General Improvement District on the __th day of 
_______, 2023, by the following vote: 

 

 
AYES, and in favor thereof,  
NOES, 
ABSENT,  

 

____________________    
Clerk, IVGID Board of Trustees 

  

Page 190 of 309



 
 

Policy and Procedure No. 143 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -2-  

The Incline Village General Improvement District (“IVGID” or the “District”) is a general 
improvement district organized pursuant to NRS Chapter 318.  As part of its services to 
local residents and visitors to the area, the District publishes regular editions of the “IVGID 
Magazine,” and owns and operates a number of publicly available facilities such as parks 
and tennis courts, among other things. In addition, the District owns and operates a 
number of public facilities and runs a number of public events where advertisements and 
sponsorship opportunities may exist, including but not limited to the Incline Open Tennis 
& Pickleball Tournament, IVGID Parks and Recreation facilities and events, Diamond 
Peak event sponsorships and Lakeview chairlift ad blocks, and the IVGID ball fields. To 
support the publication of the IVGID Magazine, raise revenues for lawful District 
purposes, and facilitate oversight of advertisement/sponsorship opportunities at other 
District venues and events, the District accepts paid advertisements and sponsorships 
from third parties (hereafter, collectively referred to as “Advertisements”), subject to rates 
published by the District for such purposes and this Policy.  
 
In keeping with its functions noted above, and to the extent allowable by law, the District 
does not intend by accepting Advertisements to convert the IVGID Magazine or 
venues/events that it owns and operates into open public forums for public discourse, 
debate, or expressive activity.  Rather, the District accepts Advertisements as a means 
of generating revenue to support its operations, and communicating information about 
District services and events to the public.  In furtherance of this limited objective, the 
District retains strict control over the nature of Advertisements accepted for publication in 
the IVGID Magazine, in its venues, and at its events, and maintains such advertising 
spaces and opportunities as a non-public forum. This Policy prohibits Advertisements that 
could detract from the District's goal of generating revenue or interfere with the safe and 
convenient delivery of District services to the public. This Policy is intended to be an 
objective and enforceable standard for advertising that is consistently applied, and which 
is consistent with the free speech guarantees of the constitutions of the United States and 
the State of Nevada. Through this Policy, the District intends to establish the following 
uniform, viewpoint-neutral standards for advertisements in the IVGID Magazine and in 
other venues owned and operated by the District: 
 

1. In accordance with the revenue-generating purpose of this Policy, the District shall 
accept only third-party Advertisements which contain either “Public Service 
Announcements” (PSAs) or “Commercial Speech.”  

a. Commercial Speech is defined as speech for which the sole purpose is to 
sell products, goods, or services for a profit. Commercial Speech does not 
include advertising that combines a commercial message with a message 
that is not permitted under this Policy, e.g. an advertisement that both offers 
a product for sale and promotes the election of a certain candidate for public 
office.  

Page 191 of 309



 
 

Policy and Procedure No. 143 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -3-  

b. An advertisement shall satisfy the following criteria in order to qualify as a 
PSA that may be accepted pursuant to this Policy:  

i. The sponsor of a PSA must be a local, state, or federal government 
agency or legally affiliated entity (including IVGID itself), or an eligible 
non-profit, defined as a local non-profit, national non-profit with a 
local chapter, or local government agency or school district providing 
services to the local community. Qualifying non-profits shall be an 
IRS 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation, shall provide supporting 
documentation of their non-profit status when submitting 
Advertisement requests, and shall otherwise comply with all 
applicable requirements in this Policy.  

ii. The PSA must be directed to the general public or a significant 
segment of the public, and must relate to:  

(a) Promotion of IVGID services or programs, including co-
sponsorships with third parties that relate to or support 
IVGID’s function and services;  

(b) Prevention or treatment of illness, or promotion of safety, 
health, or personal well-being;  

(c) Provision of family or child social services;  
(d) Local (within the Incline Village/Crystal Bay community) 

fundraising or community events.   
iii. A PSA may not include any Commercial Speech or mention a 

festival, show, concert, lecture, or other event for which an admission 
fee is charged for commercial purposes.  

2. Advertisements that infringe on any copyright, trade or service mark, title, or slogan 
without the written consent of the owner of said copyright or mark will not be 
accepted. 

3. Advertisements that are obscene or pornographic will not be accepted.  
4. Advertisements that promote or oppose a political party, the election of any 

candidate or group of candidates for public office, any legislation, initiative, 
referendum, or ballot measure, or any political action committee, political 
campaign, or political group advocating for a particular economic, political, 
religious, or social issue will not be accepted.  

5. Advertisements that may be perceived as offensive to any religious, ethnic, or 
racial group will not be accepted. 

6. Advertisements that are clearly defamatory or contain false, deceitful, or grossly 
misleading information will not be accepted.  

7. Advertisements that advocate for or portray acts of violence, murder, sedition, 
terror, vandalism or other acts of violence against persons, animals, or institutions 
will not be accepted. 

Page 192 of 309



 
 

Policy and Procedure No. 143 
 

IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy 
 

Policy and Procedure 143/Resolution No. 1904 -4-  

8. Advertisements that directly or indirectly promote any form of religion or religious 
practice will not be accepted, except that local churches may advertise programs 
or events that are available to all members of the community.  

9. Advertisements that imply or declare an endorsement by IVGID of any service, 
product, or point of view without prior written authorization from IVGID will not be 
accepted.  

10. Advertisements for tobacco, firearms, non-carbonated bottled water, cannabis 
products and services, CBD products and services, and short-term rentals and 
services will not be accepted. 

11. Advertisements for ski areas, ski lesson providers, golf courses and golf shops, 
tennis and pickleball centers, wedding and event venues, and recreation centers, 
fitness centers, and gyms—or services other than those that the District owns, 
operates, or manages—are prohibited.  

12. Advertisements that otherwise are in conflict with any applicable federal, state, or 
local law, statute, or ordinance will not be accepted.  

13. All Advertisements must clearly identify the sponsor(s) of that Advertisement.  
14. Any person or entity who has previously violated any provision of this Districtwide 

Advertisement Policy may be prohibited from posting any Advertisements. 
15. All Advertisements published by the District shall be formatted in such a way as to 

not be confused with IVGID’s editorial content, and any “advertorial” style 
Advertisements shall clearly state that the content is a paid advertisement. The 
District reserves the right to place a statement in all publications that says: “The 
views expressed in the advertisements in this publication do not necessarily reflect 
the views of the Incline Village General Improvement District.” 

16. Quantity, quality, and placement of all Advertisements will be controlled by and 
subject to the specific approval of the District’s General Manager or designee, who 
reserves the right to review each Advertisement in advance and reject any 
proposed Advertisement that does not meet the District’s standards as set forth in 
this Policy.  

 
The District reserves the right, from time to time, to amend, suspend, modify or revoke 
the application of any or all of these standards as it deems necessary to comply with legal 
mandates, or to facilitate its primary functions, or to fulfill the goals and objectives referred 
to herein. All provisions of this Policy shall be deemed severable.   
 
District contracts granting advertising rights shall include this Policy as an attachment. 
The District reserves the right to contract with third party companies or agencies to 
manage and oversee the District’s Advertisement sales, but all such sales must be 
contingent upon compliance with this Policy.  

Page 193 of 309



Item G.1.

MEMORANDUM

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM: Matthew Dent, Chair

SUBJECT: Review, discuss, and potentially answer the remaining 
community question received at the October 11, 2023 
Townhall.

RELATED STRATEGIC
PLAN INITIATIVES: Long Range Principle #6 – Communication

DATE: October 25, 2023
________________________________________________________________

I. RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Trustees review, discuss, and potentially answer the remaining 
community questions received at the October 11, 2023 Townhall.

II. BACKGROUND

The District held a Townhall on October 11, 2023.  During the meeting, the Board 
of Trustees answered questions from the audience on various matters.  Given 
time constraints, the Board did not get through all of the questions.  This item 
would be an opportunity to answer some or all of the remaining questions.

III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET

None.

IV. BUSINESS IMPACT

This item is not a "rule" within the meaning of Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter
237, and does not require a Business Impact Statement.

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Remaining questions

Page 194 of 309



IVGID Townhall Questions 
 

* The questions below were submitted on or before October 11, 2023, the night of the Townhall the 
questions that have a line through them were selected and addressed during the Townhall/ Forum  

 

*Submitted via email 

 

1) Question for Trustee Schmitz 
 
Trustee Schmitz, why did you propose a 100 cost recovery target for the Champ 
Course when many residents besides golfers use the course, especially in the 
off-season, for dog walking, cross country skiing, snowshoeing, sledding, and 
level-ground hiking; and when every property owner in IV/CB benefits in terms of 
maintaining their property values by having this course in our community?   
 
GreenPlay, the inventors of the Cost Recovery Pyramid, would suggest that 
when a venue benefits such a wide swath of the community, and has a short 
operational window for revenue generation, the cost recovery target should be 
significantly less than 100%. 
 

2) What exactly is a general improvement district ("GID")? Not the verbiage 
contained in NRS 318.075 (a "body corporate and politic and a quasi-municipal 
corporation") which few understand but rather, what exactly is it? 
 

3) How exactly do GIDs differ from other "governmental subdivision(s) of the State 
of Nevada?“ 
 

4) What powers do GIDs possess, and how are they limited by Dillon's Rule, if at 
all? 
 

5) How do those powers differ from those permissibly exercised by other general 
governments? 
 

6) Where does one go to get answers to these questions other than reading the 
NRS for him/herself? 
 

7) Is IVGID exceeding its permissible powers? 
 

Page 195 of 309



8) If so, what remedies exist to address IVGID’s exercise of excess permissible 
powers? 
 

9) What is the status of the search for the IVGID General Manager and what is the 
targeted date for onboarding the successful candidate? It would be helpful for the 
Board to periodically update the community as the process continues. 
 

10) What is the status of the preparation of the District Strategic Plan for the period of 
2023/2024 through 2024/2025 and is it intended to be completed prior to the 
appointment of a new General Manager or subsequent to his/her onboarding? 
 

11) Has the Board defined expected revenue for each of the recreational facilities so 
that performance against objectives (Performance against Plan) can be 
evaluated?  Without expected metrics, how can performance be accurately and 
fairly defined? 
 

12) Has the Board and its counsel evaluated how the current agenda format limits 
public participation by virtue of having public comment before an agenda item is 
raised.  The current format has, for many interested parties, significantly limited 
public participation because reports from Board and Staff have been embargoed 
until the agenda topic is opened.   An obvious example is the April meeting of the 
BOT where the report outlining golf operations and possible changes was not 
released to interested parties despite having it ready at the sign-in table? 
 

13) Is it true that some or any of the members of the Board of Trustees have 
discussed the elimination of the organized golf clubs that currently use the Incline 
Village golf courses?  If so, why? 
 

14) Is it true that some or any of the members of the Board of Trustees or their Staff 
have discussed the possibility of selling any of the IVGID recreational venues to 
private investors or private operators?  If so, why, when and in what context? 
 

15) There have been rumors regarding the closer of the Mountain Course. What are 
the current views of the Trustee' regarding the Mountain Course? 
 

16) I understand that there are a couple of financial audits either being conducted or 
contemplated based on details provided by the Acting Director of Finance 
regarding the state of IVGID finances.  
 
What are the status and any interim findings of these efforts? 
 

Page 196 of 309



17) With the current turmoil created by the recall hopefully concluding, what are the 
next steps, and if the vote is unfortunately for recall, what are the selection 
process for new board members? 
 

18) Will Washoe County charge us for the cost of the recall special election? 
 

19) What is the status of the Recreation Center, remodel, or expansion? 
 

20) Is the Château undergoing a process of remodel or expansion?  
 

21) Will there be some revisiting and possibly changes to the some of the extensive 
changes to our all-you-can play passes for the golf course?  
 
Particularly the unreasonable increase in couples pass costs and very limited 
play on weekends for all-you-can-play passes. 
 
 

22) "Given that members of the BOT, members of the Audit Committee, and the 
surviving IVGID finance people see no evidence of fraud, theft, embezzlement or 
malfeasance in IVGID's conduct, why in the world is the Board authorizing 
spending $30,000 to $150,000 for a forensic audit?"  
  
I quote from investopedia.com 
 
During a forensic audit, an auditor seeks to derive evidence that could potentially 
be used in court. 
A forensic audit is used to uncover criminal behavior such as fraud or 
embezzlement. 
 

23) There seems to be some statements made around golf club members getting 
special golf play pricing that is better than Picture pass holders.  I believe this is 
not true. Please clear this up by either supporting or denying the above 
statement? 

 
24) Please state the open management positions that have not yet been filled with a 

full time employee.  Please list the dates that each position became open. Please 
give us (residents) an update on the current status of applicants in process for 
each of these open positions. 
 

25) What Environmental Impact study was submitted by NV Energy or conducted by 
IVGID prior to approving this project? 

 

Page 197 of 309



26) Since noise limitations within Incline Village are governed by TRPA Code of 
Ordinances Chapter 28, what noise impact report was submitted by NV Energy 
to IVGID? 
 
 

27) Specifically, what noise levels were projected? 
 

28) What noise monitoring equipment is currently operational to ensure that TRPA 
limitations are met? 
 

29) Was IVGID provided with a Safety Risk Analysis by NV Energy? (Such a study is 
standard within the aviation industry in order to identify operational risks and plan 
mitigations) 
 

30) What was so compelling about the Diamond Peak site that led the IVGID 
Trustees to discount the adverse impact on adjacent homeowners in favor of a 
commercial agreement in favor of NV Energy? 

 

*SUBMITTED AT THE TOWNHALL/ FORUM 

1) Trustee Noble – is your service on this Board what you thought it would be when 
you were elected? If yes, how so. If no, please elaborate 

2) Trustee Tulloch – your sense of humor has been found to be offensive – what 
are you doing to correct this behavior? 

3) At least 7 senior manager jobs have been vacated in a year. Why are we 
investigating fraud, when the apparent reason is micromanagement by Trustee 
Schmitz and Tulloch? 

4) Trustee Schmitz – is it true that you authorized the purchase of pickle-ball ball 
tossing machine that wasn’t in the budget for this year?  

5) How can Ms. Schmitz tout her fiscal responsibility when she loses a 25.9 million 
dollar grant, she’s looking to spend half a million dollars in hiring a new GM, and 
she’s complaining that the recall may cost the District $100,000.00? Resign 
already! 

6) Trustee Schmitz please tell us about your plans for the Recreation Center 
expansion and how you plan on putting together a funding source? 

7) /why did Vice-Chair Schmitz unilaterally shut down the months of work by the 
Dog Park Committee and choose the Village Green for the preferred sight for the 
Park which was in direct conflict with a large majority of the Community? 

8) Why does Vice-Chair Schmitz continue to engage in the daily operational 
activities at the Beaches and various other venues of the District when her job as 
Trustee is to provide input to the General Manager through the Board 

Page 198 of 309



deliberative process? No Trustee has the authority to demand reports, dictate 
operations or interfere in the day-to-day activities of the District. 

9) In recent audit meeting, Trustee Schmitz acknowledged that board involvement 
in staff work was not allowed. Yet she continually does it. What is the remedy? 

10) Question for Sara Schmitz: Why do you think there has been a mass exodus of 
senior IVGID management during the past 12 months under your tenure as a 
board member? 

11) Question for Sara Schmitz: You are known for “Micromanaging IVGID Staff”. 
Have you had the opportunity to reflect on how your actions have adversely 
affected IVGID staff? Do you take responsibility for your actions and how your 
excessive micromanagement has contributed to the lowest employee morale and 
the emergence of a toxic work environment for IVGID employees? 

12) Question for Sara Schmitz: You continually say that you don’t know that you 
had to vote yes on both initiatives regarding the David Duffield Foundation Grant. 
Why do you continue to deflect this? In the last Channel 4 News report it was 
clear that GM Winquest spoke to every trustee reiterating that the donation 
required unanimous support. Will you ever take responsibility for the loss of the 
$26 million dollar grant? 

13) Question for Sara Schmitz: Trustee Schmitz, you alone are responsible for the 
loss of the $26 million dollar grant from the Duffield Foundation. You and 
Trustees Dent and Tulloch spearheaded a campaign to remove GM Winquest. 
Which is costing the district $250,000 to pay out his remaining contract. If we 
make it to a special election the cot to the district will likely be $100,000. Have 
you thought about resigning to save the district the additional expense? 

14) How did the Board handle the complaint by staff that Trustee Schmitz had 
inappropriately interfered with staff handling her neighbor’s beach pass 
privileges? 

15) Why Does Vice-Chair Schmitz continue to lie regarding the Duffield Foundation 
Grant when she, herself, admitted in hindsight, that she made a mistake when 
questioned by Channel 4? 

16) Sara, how did you come up with the girls’ only gym? Totally wrong for the 
Duffield Donation. 

17) Sara – Why are you claiming the Duffield Donation was for a girl’s only addition – 
Total fabrication of the generous offer you solely rejected? 

18) Have you used the skate park? If so, when? 
19) Chair Dent, please explain why you did not think it was appropriate to recuse 

yourself from voting for Mr. Dobler’s appointment to the Capital Committee. 
20) Why would Board Chair Dent refer to the recall as “fun and games” when 

questioned by the media? There is nothing fun or gam-like when addressing a 
recall of 2 Trustees! 

21) Question for Matthew Dent: Did you know ahead of time that Trustee Schmitz 
was going to vote no on the design of the Duffield project? If you did, why didn’t 
you call for a recess, speak to the GM who in turn could have spoken to Trustee 

Page 199 of 309



Schmitz to possibly save the $26 million dollar donation from the Duffield 
Foundation. 

22) Question for Matthew Dent: When you were interviewed by Ben Margiott from 
Channel 4, can you tell me why you said, “It’s nothing new, it’s just the fun we 
like to have in Incline Village.” Do you think it was fun when IVGID employees 
lost access to the beaches? Was it fun when the long term employees who must 
endure a toxic work environment and micromanagement?  

23) Question for Matthew Dent: What are 3 objectives that you want to accomplish 
when you took office, and please share what exactly you have accomplished on 
each of them? 

24) Trustee Dent – Where is the documentation from the Ethics Commission that you 
said you would submit to be included with the meeting minutes? 

25) Trustee Dent – What is the status of your $800,000 loan with the Doblers? 
26) This Board said a survey wasn’t required for the dog park and now you have 

changed your direction and say it is. Is this going to be different from the 
community – wide survey OR standalone?  

27) You have put a time certain adjournment on this agenda and did so at the last 
minute – why? What was your Fear? And why 8:30 p.m. when typical Board 
meetings go to 10 or 11 p.m. 

28) Are you on the District’s health insurance plan? If yes, how does that work? 
29) Your Leadership, Chairman Dent, at meetings is deplorable as you never stop 

degrading comments towards Staff – Why? 
30) Trustee Schmitz – you have a rather colorful history with the Blackhawk 

community in Northern California – would you like to take this opportunity to 
enlighten us? Give us your side of the story?  

31) Why did Chair Dent refuse to honor the request of two of his fellow Trustees to 
delay the first Town Hall until five of the Trustees could be present? “Meeting 
dates are set on Wednesdays” is not an adequate answer as set dates have 
been changed by this Chair several times during his tenure. 

32) Mr. Dent, do you have any respect or regard for your fellow trustees? What you 
have done scheduling this meeting is quite bothersome. We know this was 
Trustee Tonking’s idea that you stole to use for your political wellbeing which is a 
joke. Do you think it may have been more advantageous if you waited until the 
entire BOT was available, not only out of respect for your co-trustees but for your 
community members who you’ve been elected to SERVE? Do you think it was 
wrong to form by vote a golf advisory committee without trustee Noble there? 

33)  Why would Board Chair Dent allow this meeting to take place when one of the 
Trustees, Tonking, was unavailable and had given prior notice over a month 
ago? And Trustee Tonking was a staunch advocate to hold Townhalls as 
evidence in her campaign literature.  

34) Why are you holding this forum when Trustee Tonking is out of town and this was 
her item? Isn’t that rude and disrespectful?    

35) Is resigning even a possibility? 

Page 200 of 309



36) This question is for Sara: How can you be so disrespectful of staff that have 
faithfully and proudly worked for IVGID longer than you’ve even lived here? 

37) Same question for Matthew and Ray. Why are you so disrespectful of staff? 
38) Why are you so intent on fixing a community that isn’t broken? 
39) Why do you continuously ignore most of the community members who are 

against what you are doing? 
40) Do you thrive on power so much that you ignore how you hurt so many others? 
41) The Board is implementing line-by-line online financial disclosure, which will 

enable a small group of citizens to micromanage and question every IVGID 
expense, no matter how trivial. The goal of some who do this is to dismantle 
IVGID. How are you going to protect IVGID staff and the larger parcel – holding 
community from this massive interference? 

42) Why does Vice – Chair Schmitz continue producing her biased newsletter 
through her 501-(c)3 Community First Foundation and solicit for folks to remove 
themselves from the petitions which is in direct conflict with the rules of a non-
profit engaging in political activities?  

43) Why are District employees expected to take abuse, suffer slander and liable by 
certain community and board members without recourse while Trustees are 
allowed to take valuable taxpayer time and dollars to defend themselves for the 
same type of abuse on the record at Board meetings? 

44) How did public outcry over ending the employee beach policy affect the Board’s 
thinking and future actions? 

45) How will the public outcry over putting Dobler on the long Term Assets Board 
affect your practices in the future? 

46) Micromanagement seems to be a term that this Board doesn’t understand – why 
not? 

47) Where does community benefits fall in Board decisions – since many of the 
benefits IVGID used to provide – discounts to non-profits, access to the beach for 
water safety purposes, access to the golf courses for the high school golf team, 
ect. Have all been discontinued; who changed IVGID from community based to 
penny-pinching money and rules based? I don’t think that was in any of the 
Board’s campaign goals. 

48) Social Media is an important communication tool – do you agree or disagree, and 
how do you use it? Please be specific as to the platforms you are or are not on/ 
using. 

49) How do you think the community will react if you have to increase the recreation 
fee to pay for all the capital investments that need to be made? 

50) Is it true that both Trustee Schmitz and legal Counsel are now reviewing every 
single purchase/ contract, no matter how small or menial? Is this not 
micromanagement? And what about the added fees being billed by legal counsel 
– is that reasonable? 

51) Why does Trustee Schmitz approve all Purchase Orders, when she is not 
supposed to be involved in the daily operations of IVGID? 

Page 201 of 309



52) The Mountain Niners are currently being “punished” due to what you conceive as 
a political statement, when it was intended to educate our members of the threat 
to golf and clubs in general. Where can we read where it says we can’t inform 
our members about possible threats to the golf course and/ or golf groups?  

53) Please explain the seasoning behind your decision to temporarily suspend the 
ability of one of the clubs to communicate with its membership. Was this a 
measure and rational means of displaying your disapproval or was it punitive and 
vindictive? Do you feel this is a good way to gain the support of a community that 
seems to have lost all respect for you? 

54) How were the Golf Advisory Committee members selected by the Board of 
Trustees, specifically, what was the criteria of each person? 

55) There are at least 200 woman golfers in golf clubs in Incline Village, how is it that 
not one woman was selected to the golf advisory board? 

56) Who is protecting staff from retaliation – and how – if they signed the 2023 recall 
petitions, since Trustee Schmitz has the list? 

57) It appears to the public that Trustee Schmitz has personal vendettas against 
certain employees – would you care to comment? 

58) Trustee Schmitz – how many times, on average, do you communicate with the 
Interim General Manager Bandelin? 

59) Trustee Tulloch – how many times, on average, do you communicate with the 
Interim General Manager Bandelin? 

60) If the wealthy on Lakeshore Drive can invite groups as guests on their property 
without sacrificing their property rights, why can’t IVGID invite their employees? 

61) Why was a $50,000 contract to give legal opinion on employee beach access 
signed over a month after the policy was announced to employees? And why 
would one legal opinion cost $50,000? 

62) Regarding the beach deed what EXACT question was posed to special legal 
counsel that resulted in this new and different determination? 

63) What is this Board doing about replacing beach access that you took away from 
employees? And why did you do away with a terrific recruiting tool? 

64) What was the intention of the Board to overturn the previous legal decision made 
to grant non-resident IVGID employee’s beach access when it was already 
determined it did not violate the beach deed? 

65) In California, businesses with high value property that is sometimes used by the 
public, take one day a year to close off their property to protect their private 
property rights. Why can’t IVGID simplify the beach deed problem and do the 
same thing? Were any discussions of alternative methods, other than banning 
employees from the beaches, made? 

66) Have you researched Kevin Lyons background in Governance before hiring his 
firm? 

67) When the Community speaks, do you listen? 
68) Why is Trustee Tonking’s request for an investigation into the high IVGID 

turnover rate being ignored? 

Page 202 of 309



69) What is your knowledge of the 2018 Master Plan? Why would you need a survey 
regarding the community service’s needs, when you already have this through 
the master plan? 

70) The Moss – Adams report recommended that the GM Job be split into 2 
positions. Trustees from the 2022 GM evaluation continually mentioned that the 
GM had too little staff and too much to do. In 2022, only Sara Schmitz gave the 
GM and evaluation under 7. Coincidentally, Sara Schmitz was embarrassed 
because she caused the loss of the $25 million Duffield Grant in the fall of 2022. 
How did we go from these facts to pushing out the GM, paying for an extra year’s 
salary for him, paying a recruitment company $50,000 and approving an 
Assistant for the GM? Why did the Board Allow Sara to retaliate against the GM 
at these huge costs to IVGID community? 

71) Why is the majority of this Board willing to spend close to $500,000 in search and 
hire of a new GM, who will have zero knowledge of the District, when we had a 
very capable and well liked GM already in the position? 

72) We have a community member who is verbally abusing staff. The Board is aware 
of it, so when is this Board going to address it, or are they just going to continue 
to ignore it and hope it goes away? 

73) The Board had a General Business item to appoint liaisons to the venues and 
then without a General Business item you “fire” Trustee Tonking and appoint 
Trustee Schmitz – I don’t think that was legal – would you care to comment? 

74) Has any Trustee filed a Voter Integrity Complaint in the last 6 months? If yes, 
was it more than one and what was the subject matter? 

75) After the issues with the application and selection of the Capital Improvement 
Committee, why would the Board suggest any future committee could self-
appoint and not follow the vetting process that the Board has previously 
approved?  

76) How did the Board handle the resignation of Mr. Homan from the audit 
committee, where he cited ethical problems and interference by Trustee 
Schmitz? 

77) Who decided to change 50 years of practice and not have the GM at the Board 
meeting with the Trustees – and when was it decided – since it was implemented 
before the new Board was installed and elected officers? 

78) Since in 2021 & 2022 Trustees Tulloch, Schmitz, and Dent were all either 
Trustees, on the Audit Committee, why suddenly in 2023, is there a big problem 
with the Finance Department and the concern about fraud? 

79) How was the GM protected from retaliation by Trustee Schmitz for protecting 
employees from her ongoing interference?  

80) Some vocal parcel holders want to dismantle IVGID completely. Given the 
numerous management vacancies, continual micromanagement, and inability for 
staff to get things done, it seems like the Board is bringing this parcel holders 
wish to fruition. How do you respond to this concern? 

Page 203 of 309



81) What do you think the Public should think when Cliff Dobler boasts, “I own the 
Board”? 

82) How did public outcry over the departure of the GM affect your actions in this 
event? How did you encourage him to stay? 

83) Why do we need a forensic audit – with a current budgeted cost of $150,000, 
plus a new position for Internal Auditor – plus the regular annual audit – plus an 
Assistant Finance Manager – when there is no indication of any fraud – and only 
evidence that a new computer system, too many special projects, and too little 
staff have caused the current financial backlog? This is wasting at least $150,000 
which could be used to fix the Tennis Courts, provide Spanish language services 
to the community survey tool, or any of the many projects that could actually 
benefit IVGID parcel holders. 

84) Why was Dobler, who admitted to contributing to some of the Trustees’ 
campaigns, put on the Long Term Capital committee when his behavior on the 
Audit Committee the prior year caused problems within the Committee and the 
Staff? 

85) Bobbie McGee, the Interim Finance Consultant, has reported that in his opinion, 
IVGID’s financial backlog issues are connected to implementing the new Tyler 
system and managing too many special requests, without enough staff. How 
does doing a forensic audit at the cost of $150,000 to $1 Million fix either of 
these? 

86) The Board is Responsible for providing a Safe working environment for 
employees – and Board members are not allowed to interfere or involve 
themselves with the staff – but only interact with the GM. Why is it that 
employees continue to complain about inappropriate behavior by parcel holders 
and interference by certain board members and seemingly nothing is done? 

87) How is this Agenda item Clear and Complete, which is required by NRS? You 
are in direct OML violation by continuing. 

88) Why doesn’t the Board talk about the ongoing IVGID management vacancies – 
but authorizes layer after layer of audits and consultants? 

89) While the board has not discussed venue privatization and contracting out 
venues, people financially supporting your campaigns have. Board decisions also 
seem to have been made prior to any board meeting, indicating some back-door 
discussions are happening. How can the public be guaranteed that privatization 
or contracting out venues will not be done? 

90) Why are we ignoring actual recreational needs, such as fixing the tennis courts 
and instead, spending so much money on audits, when there is no evidence of 
any problems except lack of staff? 

91) If it is true that you want to eliminate the golf clubs please explain why. If that is 
not true then explain why you think keeping the golf clubs is in the community’s 
best interest. 

92) Are you going to dismantle the golf clubs? If so, how and when are you going to 
do it? 

Page 204 of 309



93) Do you think you are treating all of our golf clubs equally? If not, in what way or 
ways are they not being treated equally? And if they aren’t being treated the 
same can you explain why? 

94) What is it that you have against the golf clubs? 
95) Do you believe this community’s golf groups are a good revenue source? 
96) Will eliminating golf clubs that guarantee substantial revenue be a positive or 

negative? 
97) What do you, Sara, know about golf and how clubs operate? 
98) If the gymnastics structure were built in the future, what are the estimated costs 

for maintenance and upkeep?  
99) How can you possibly say you are transparent when you do things that are so 

under the rug and secretive, only disclosing after the fact? 
100) Why did the Board of Trustees think they had a right to infringe on the 14th 

Amendment of the US Constitution by questioning LLC’s as a legal of title? Isn’t 
this discrimination and way outside of the Trustees purview and jurisdiction? 

101) Why do members of this Board keep inferring, through the Audit Committee, 
that fraud MAY have been committed with absolutely zero proof from the County 
or the State? 

102) When a Trustee is overstepping their boundaries and there are boundaries, 
what actions are taken to remedy the situation? 

103) The volunteer dog geese patrol has been a great success. How is it that a dog 
member of that patrol, owned by a Board trustee, is blind, must remain on a 
leash, and walks the beach during non-patrol hours… while other parcel holders 
cannot walk their dogs on the beach? 

104) The Chair should ensure the Board effectively governs IVGID and that trustees 
work well together. How does he think this is going? 

105) The Board had a General Business item to appoint the venues and then without 
a General Business item, you “fire” Trustee Tonking and appoint Trustee Schmitz 
– I don’t think that was legal – Would you like to comment? 

106) Why is the Board focus always on finances – not recreational benefits? For 
example, the Board recently bemoaned that the beach goers only spent $2.50… 
as if the goal was for Beach goers to spend $25. Isn’t the purpose to let parcel 
holders use the beach, not for IVGID to extract the most money it can from us. 
Do any of the Board members actually use the facilities – or do you just see 
potential profit centers everywhere? What do you think the public should think 
when Cliff Dobler Boasts, “I own the Board”? 

107) Who decided to ignore the longstanding, pyramid policy for cost 
reimbursement, where pricing is based on 0, 25%, 50%, and 75% of cost based 
on community versus personal benefits? The practice has been that the basic 
$650 annual recreation fee pays for most of the package of recreational venues, 
with additional charges added based on a pyramid approach. This approach is 
how Incline properties have been marked=ted and sold since the early 1970’s. 

Page 205 of 309



Who decided to flip the pricing so the individual fees are first, with the basic 
annual fee optional? 

108) What is the rationale behind locking down the beaches using gates when this 
doesn’t seem to be a problem? Isn’t signage enough?  

109) Why are you not allowing the IVGID employees access to the beaches? 
110) Why are there no women on the Golf advisory committee? 
111) Why did the Board of Trustees select the Village Green as the location for a 

dedicated dog park without consulting the community? 
112) Has any trustee, in the past 6 months, requested a formal Advisory Opinion 

from the Nevada Commission of Ethics? 
113) Do you think a blind Goose Patrol Dog can be effective? If so, why? 
114) Can you speak to your plans to address the gaps, opportunities, and 

recommendations outlined in the Moss Adams report? 
115) When will board members start supporting each other? 
116) Question for Mathew Dent: why do you allow members of the angry 8 to 

continually be disrespectful, assaulting, slanderous, and unprofessional? This 
does not represent our community in any way. Why do you allow this and is there 
no decorum for public comments? 

117) It seems that in addition to making repetitive, generally negative comments at 
each board meeting, some parcel holders also submit endless public request 
documents, endless emails, make phone calls, have meetings with Board 
members, and finance campaign costs to push their point of view. This is 
happening while people who come and make statement at the public meeting 
seem to be ignored. How should this problem be resolved? 

118) Will each question submitted at this Townhall be responded to? 
119) Are you or someone else prescreening the submitted questions and if yes, 

why? 
120) You have been accused of wanting to change this community into a vacation 

destination without regard to the model that Incline was successfully built on. Do 
you deny it? Have you received community support of such an action? 

121) Was your latest training session with Governance Sciences posted? And why 
wasn’t the public invited? 

122) What practices from your training have you put to use? 
123) Why do whistleblower complaints get submitted to the Audit Committee? 
124) How do you decide what investments should be bonded versus paying cash? 
125) Do you treat all staff members with respect? 
126) What is an Enterprise fund? Please be as detailed as possible. 
127) What does supporting staff look like to you? 
128) When a Trustee is overstepping their boundaries what actions are taken to 

remedy the situation? 
129) Please provide us any examples where public input has affected a board 

decision during 2023. 
130) What has been done in 2023 to fix the tennis and pickle-ball courts? 

Page 206 of 309



131) Why has this board refused to collect data instead of dismissing the pressing 
issue of staff morale? 

132) There have been issues delineating between the boards role and what the 
management team’s roles and responsibilities are. What do you feel this boards 
role should be? 

133) Are the IVGID Bank accounts now reconciled through 09/30/2023? If not, what 
month are they recoiled through, and are there any outages? 

134) The Board of Trustees is responsible for the oversight if the Districts financial 
reports and the systems of internal controls. When do you hold yourself 
accountable for the issues happening within IVGID? 

135) Why were there no lifeguards at the beaches in 2023? Did IVGID’s insurance 
rates for the beaches increase? 

136) What Changes can you make to the whistleblower policy to ensure that IVGID 
employees can submit complaints without fear of retaliation? 

137) What makes a Trustee a good Trustee? Details please. 
138) You have hired a number of consultants – shat has been the benefit that the 

community has reaped from the spending of these dollars? 
139) Why are so many of our Sr. Leaders departing? 
140) There has been discussion to allow new senior managers to work remotely in 

order to fill vacancies. What are the tangible costs of having remote executives? 
Why were no efforts made to retain existing executives? 

141) If a staff member has a complaint about a trustee, what happens? Please be 
detailed. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 207 of 309



ITEM G.2. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Board of Trustees 

THROUGH: Kate Nelson, Interim Public Works Director 

FROM: Richard Allen, Head of Fleet 

SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Authorize the Purchase Order 
Agreement utilizing Sourcewell Contract Pricing, for Six (6) 
Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers  - 2023/2024 Capital Improvement 
Project; Fund: Community Services; Division: Golf; Project #Rolling 
Stock; Vendor: Turf Star Western, in the amount of $109,404.48. 
(Requesting Staff Member: Interim Public Works Director Kate 
Nelson) 

RELATED STRATEGIC 
PLAN BUDGET 
INITIATIVE(S): 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

Capital Planning Multi-Year Capital Planning 
Policy 12.1.0; Capital Planning Capital Project 
Budgeting Policy 13.1.0; Capital Expenditures 
Practice 13.2.0; Purchasing Policy for Goods 
and Services Policy 20.1.0. 

DATE: October 25, 2023 

I. RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to:

1. Approve a purchase order agreement to Turf Star Western, for six (6) 
Greensmaster Felx 1021 mowers utilizing Sourcewell Contract Pricing, for 
the total amount of $109,404.48.

II. BACKGROUND 
This purchase of the Toro Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers is part of the FY 

Page 208 of 309



23/24 Capital Improvement Program which has been approved by the Board of 
Trustees. The new equipment will be utilized by Golf Grounds Maintenance at 
the Championship Golf Course. The Fleet Superintendent has evaluated the 
various options and determined that the chosen equipment will best serve the 
District. 
 
The golf grounds maintenance equipment purchases are part of a 
comprehensive program to replace the maintenance equipment for use at the 
Championship and Mountain golf courses. This ongoing program replaces daily 
use equipment on a scheduled cycle identified by maintenance cost records, oil 
analysis, visual inspection and overall condition. This is a vital link in assuring 
quality turf and ground conditions at the District golf courses, allowing current 
Fleet Mechanic staffing levels to provide the service and support needed for 
operations. 
 
The six (6) Toro Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers to be purchased from Turf 
Star Western, are the replacement of the Toro Greens Mowers #797, #798, 
#799, #800, #801 and #802 at the Championship Course. The current green 
mowers are 6-years old and the cutting units have reached the end of their 
service lives.  The existing mowers would require extensive overhaul, component 
replacement, significant repair downtime and costs to meet the service levels 
required to maintain the putting greens at the Championship Golf Course. There 
is currently an inventory of parts for these mowers as other similar units are in 
service. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
The Department of Treasury launched the Federal Strategic Sourcing Initiative 
(FSSI) in November 2005, requiring agencies to identify commodities that could 
be purchased more efficiently through strategic sourcing.  FSSI encourages 
cross-government collaboration and adoption of industry best practices. This 
allows the government to aggregate requirements; streamline processes; and 
leverage its buying power. As a result, best value and repeatable processes are 
created that can be used in any acquisition environment to drive down the cost of 
commonly purchased commodities. 
 
Sourcewell, (previously NJPA) authorized under the Minnesota State Statute, is a 
Minnesota-based municipal contracting agency that provides nationally 
leveraged, competitively solicited and cooperatively shared procurement 
contracts to its member agencies. They state that they combine the buying power 
of 50,000 government, education non-profit organizations and they hold 
hundreds of competitively solicited cooperative contracts. The organization’s 
mission is to assist in meeting the purchasing needs of clients in participating 
governmental units which could be better provided by the service cooperative 
than by the members themselves. The equipment proposed for purchase through 
Sourcewell was competitively solicited pricing and therefore Staff did not 
independently seek competitive bids. 
 

Page 209 of 309



Turf Star Western has exclusive Sourcewell contract sales rights for equipment 
brand and model. Consistent with the requirements of NRS 332.115.1.o, the 
purchase of supplies, materials, equipment or services that are available 
pursuant to an agreement with a vendor that has entered into an agreement with 
Soucewell or another federal governmental purchasing agency located within or 
outside this state are exempt from competitive bidding requirements. 
 
The District received six (6) separate quotes for the mowers. However, these six 
(6) quotes have been included in one purchase order and is included in 
Attachment 1.   
  

Description  Turf Star Quote # Price FY 23/24 Budget 
Greeenmaster Flex 1021 638873-00 $18,234.08 $18,500.00 
Greeenmaster Flex 1021 638874-00 $18,234.08 $18,500.00 
Greeenmaster Flex 1021 638875-00 $18,234.08 $18,500.00 
Greeenmaster Flex 1021 638876-00 $18,234.08 $18,500.00 
Greeenmaster Flex 1021 638877-00 $18,234.08 $18,500.00 
Greeenmaster Flex 1021 638878-00 $18,234.08 $18,500.00 

 Totals $109,404.48 $111,000.00 
  
  
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
Approval of the purchase order agreement with Turf Star Western for the six (6) 
Toro Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers will result in a combined expenditure of 
$109,404.48. The funding in support of these purchases is included in the 
FY23/24 Capital Improvement Budget; Fund: Community Services; Division: 
Golf; Project #: Rolling Stock;  
 
Replaced equipment will be disposed of through an equipment auction.  Although 
it is impossible to determine the exact revenue that will be generated from the 
sale, the estimated value of the Toro Green Mowers is $1,500 each. Revenues 
from equipment sales are credited to the area where the funds were appropriated 
for the original equipment purchase. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
Defer or eliminate replacing this golf grounds maintenance equipment and incur 
higher maintenance cost and increased equipment down time or complete loss of 
equipment usage. 
 
VI. COMMENTS  
In conclusion; 

1. The six (6) Toro Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers, to be purchased from 
Turf Star Western, are the replacement of the Toro Greens Mowers #797, 

Page 210 of 309



#798, #799, #800, #801 and #802.  
2. The six (6) greens Toro Greensmaster Flex 1021 Mowers will result in a 

combined expenditure of $109,404.48. The funding in support of these 
purchases is included in the FY23/24 Capital Improvement Budget; Fund: 
Community Services; Division: Golf; Project #: Rolling Stock.  

3. The proposed equipment purchase through Turf Star Western is a 
purchase through Sourcewell in the amount of $109,404.48. 

4. The proposed purchase is below the planned, budgeted and funded 
amount by $1,595.52. 

5. The District will be utilizing a purchase order agreement provided by the 
District legal counsel, which includes the agreement between Sourcwell 
and Turf Star Western. 

6. The purchase agreement between the District and Turf Star Western has 
been approved by the District Legal Counsel. 

 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
This item is not a "rule" within the meaning of Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 
237, and does not require a Business Impact Statement.  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. Equipment Purchase Agreement_Turf Star Western 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to: 

1. Approve a purchase order agreement to Turf Star Western, for six (6) 
Greensmaster Flex 1021 mowers utilizing Sourcewell Contract Pricing, for 
the total amount of $109,404.48. 

 

Page 211 of 309



 

 1  

INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

EQUIPMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This Equipment Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into as of October 26, 

2023, by and between the Incline Village General Improvement District, a Nevada general 

improvement district (“District”), and The Toro Company, dba Turf Star, Inc., a Delaware 

corporation with its principal place of business at  955 Beacon St, Brea, CA 92821 (“Contractor”).  

District and Contractor are sometimes individually referred to as “Party” and collectively as 

“Parties” in this Agreement. 

Section 1. DEFINITIONS. 

A. “Equipment” means all machinery, equipment, items, parts, materials, labor or 

other services, including design, engineering and installation services, provided by Contractor as 

specified in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

B. “Delivery Date(s)” means that date or dates upon which the Equipment is to be 

delivered to District, ready for approval, testing and/or use as specified in Section 8, Schedule for 

Delivery. 

C. “Solicitation” means the procedure followed, per NRS 332.115 1. (o). Proof of such 

Solicitation is included as Exhibit “B,” Sourcewell Solicitation Number: RFP #031121, contract 

with The Toro Company. 

Section 2. MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP. 

When Exhibit “A” specifies machinery, equipment or material by manufacturer, model or 

trade name, no substitution will be made without District’s written approval.  Machinery, 

equipment or material installed in the Equipment without the approval required by this Section 2 

will be deemed to be defective material for purposes of Section 4.  Where machinery, equipment 

or materials are referred to in Exhibit “A” as equal to any particular standard, District will decide 

the question of equality.  When requested by District, Contractor will furnish District with the 

name of the manufacturer, the performance capabilities and other pertinent information necessary 

to properly determine the quality and suitability of any machines, equipment and material to be 

incorporated in the Equipment.  Material samples will be submitted at District’s request.   

Section 3. INSPECTIONS AND TESTS. 

District shall have the right to inspect and/or test the Equipment prior to acceptance.  If 

upon inspection or testing the Equipment or any portion thereof are found to be nonconforming, 

unsatisfactory, defective, of inferior quality or workmanship, or fail to meet any requirements or 

specifications contained in Exhibit “A,” then without prejudice to any other rights or remedies, 

District may reject the Equipment or exercise any of its rights under Section 4.Cection 4.C.  The 

inspection, failure to make inspection, acceptance of goods, or payment for goods shall not impair 

District’s right to reject nonconforming goods, irrespective of District’s failure to notify Contractor 

of a rejection of nonconforming goods or revocation of acceptance thereof or to specify with 

particularity any defect in nonconforming goods after rejection or acceptance thereof. 

Page 212 of 309

Bree Waters
Text Box
Attachment 1



 

 2  

Section 4. WARRANTY. 

A. Contractor warrants that the Equipment will be of merchantable quality and free 

from defects in design, engineering, material and workmanship for a period of two (2) years, or 

such longer period as provided by a manufacturer’s warranty or set forth in Exhibit “A,” from the 

date of final written acceptance of the Equipment by District as required for final payment under 

Section 7.  Contractor further warrants that any services provided in connection with the 

Equipment will be performed in a professional and workmanlike manner and in accordance with 

the highest industry standards.   

B. Contractor further warrants that all machinery, equipment or process included in 

the Equipment will meet the performance requirements and specifications specified in Exhibit “A” 

and shall be fit for the purpose intended.  District’s inspection, testing, approval or acceptance of 

any such machinery, equipment or process will not relieve Contractor of its obligations under this 

Section 4.B.   

C. For any breach of the warranties contained in Section 4.A. and Section 4.B., 

Contractor will, immediately after receiving notice from District, at the option of District, and at 

Contractor’s own expense and without cost to District:  

1. Repair the defective Equipment; 

2. Replace the defective Equipment with conforming Equipment, F.O.B. 

District’s plant, office or other location of District where the Equipment was originally 

performed or delivered; or 

3. Repay to District the purchase price of the defective Equipment. 

If District selects repair or replacement, any defects will be remedied without cost 

to District, including but not limited to, the costs of removal, repair and replacement of the 

defective Equipment, and reinstallation of new Equipment.  All such defective Equipment that 

is so remedied will be similarly warranted as stated above.  In addition, Contractor will repair 

or replace other items of the Equipment which may have been damaged by such defects or the 

repairing of the same, all at its own expense and without cost to District. 

D. Contractor also warrants that the Equipment is free and clear of all liens and 

encumbrances whatsoever, that Contractor has a good and marketable title to same, and that 

Contractor owns or has a valid license for all of the proprietary technology and intellectual property 

incorporated within the Equipment.  Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold District 

harmless against any and all third party claims resulting from the breach or inaccuracy of any of 

the foregoing warranties.  

E. In the event of a breach by Contractor of its obligations under this Section 4, District 

will not be limited to the remedies set forth in this Section 4, but will have all the rights and 

remedies permitted by applicable law. 

Page 213 of 309



3 

Section 5. PRICES. 

Unless expressly provided otherwise, all prices and fees specified in Exhibit “A,” attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by reference, are firm and shall not be subject to change without 

the written approval of District.  No extra charges of any kind will be allowed unless specifically 

agreed to in writing by District’s authorized representative.  The total price shall include (i) all 

federal, state and local sales, use, excise, privilege, payroll, occupational and other taxes applicable 

to the Equipment furnished to District hereunder; and (ii) all charges for packing, freight and 

transportation to destination. The anticipated complete purchase price for this equipment is One 

Hundred Nine Thousand Four Hundred Four Dollars and Forty Eight Cents ($109,404.48).

Section 6. CHANGES. 

District, at any time, by a written order, and without notice to any surety, may make 

changes in the Equipment, including but not limited to, District’s requirements and specifications.  

If such changes affect the cost of the Equipment or time required for its performance, an equitable 

adjustment will be made in the price or time for performance or both.  Any change in the price 

necessitated by such change will be agreed upon between District and Contractor and such change 

will be authorized by a change order document signed by District and accepted by Contractor. 

Section 7. PAYMENTS. 

A. Terms of payment are net thirty (30) days, less any applicable retention, after

receipt of final invoice.  Final payment shall be made by District after Contractor has satisfied all 

contractual requirements.  Payment of invoices shall not constitute acceptance of Equipment.  All 

invoices shall be sent to Ronnie Rector, Public Works Contracts Administrator, at rlr@ivgid.org. 

B. Payments otherwise due may be withheld by District on account of defective

Equipment not remedied, liens or other claims filed, reasonable evidence indicating probable filing 

of liens or other claims, failure of Contractor to make payments properly to its subcontractors or 

for material or labor, the failure of Contractor to perform any of its other obligations under the 

Agreement, or to protect District against any liability arising out of Contractor’s failure to pay or 

discharge taxes or other obligations.  If the causes for which payment is withheld are removed, the 

withheld payments will be made promptly.  If the said causes are not removed within a reasonable 

period after written notice, District may remove them at Contractor’s expense. 

C. Final payment for the Equipment, or any retention, will be made by District upon:

1. Written acceptance of the Equipment by District;

2. Delivery of all drawings and specifications, if required by District;

3. Delivery of executed full releases of any and all liens arising out of this

Agreement; and 

4. Delivery of an affidavit listing all persons who might otherwise be entitled

to file, claim or maintain a lien of any kind or character, and containing an averment that all of 

the said persons have been paid in full.   

Page 214 of 309



 

 4  

If any person refuses to furnish an actual release or receipt in full, Contractor may 

furnish a bond satisfactory to District to indemnify District against any claim or lien at no cost 

to District. 

D. Acceptance by Contractor of final payment pursuant to Section 7.C. will constitute 

a waiver, release and discharge of any and all claims and demands of any kind or character which 

Contractor then has, or can subsequently acquire against District, its successors and assigns, for or 

on account of any matter or thing arising out of, or in any manner connected with, the performance 

of this Agreement.  However, final payment by District will not constitute a waiver, release or 

discharge of any claims or demands which District then has, or can subsequently acquire, against 

Contractor, its successors and assigns, for or on account of any matter or thing arising out of, or in 

any manner connected with, the performance of this Agreement. 

Section 8. SCHEDULE FOR DELIVERY. 

A. The time of Contractor’s performance is of the essence for this Agreement.  The 

Equipment will be delivered on or before June 1, 2024.  Contractor must immediately notify 

District in writing any time delivery is behind schedule or may not be completed on schedule.  In 

addition to any other rights District may have under this Agreement or at law, Contractor shall pay 

District the sum of $100.00 per item of Equipment for each calendar day for which the item of 

Equipment is unavailable beyond the scheduled delivery date(s) specified above. 

B. In the event that the Equipment is part of a larger project or projects that require the 

coordination of multiple contractors or suppliers, then Contractor will fully cooperate in 

scheduling the delivery so that District can maximize the efficient completion of such project(s). 

Section 9. TAXES. 

A. Contractor agrees to timely pay all sales and use tax (including any value added or 

gross receipts tax imposed similar to a sales and use tax) imposed by any federal, state or local 

taxing authority on the ultimate purchase price of the Equipment provided under this Agreement.   

B. Contractor will withhold, and require its subcontractors, where applicable, to 

withhold all required taxes and contributions of any federal, state or local taxing authority which 

is measured by wages, salaries or other remuneration of its employees or the employees of its 

subcontractors.  Contractor will deposit, or cause to be deposited, in a timely manner with the 

appropriate taxing authorities all amounts required to be withheld. 

C. All other taxes, however denominated or measured, imposed upon the price of the 

Equipment provided hereunder, will be the responsibility of Contractor.  In addition, all taxes 

assessed by any taxing jurisdiction based on Contractor property used or consumed in the provision 

of the Equipment such as and including ad valorem, use, personal property and inventory taxes 

will be the responsibility of Contractor.  

D. Contractor will, upon written request, submit to District written evidence of any 

filings or payments of all taxes required to be paid by Contractor hereunder.   

Page 215 of 309



 

 5  

Section 10. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

Contractor enters into this Agreement as an independent contractor and not as an employee 

of District.  Contractor shall have no power or authority by this Agreement to bind District in any 

respect.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to be inconsistent with this relationship or 

status.  All employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors hired or retained by the Contractor 

are employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors of the Contractor and not of District.  District 

shall not be obligated in any way to pay any wage claims or other claims made against Contractor 

by any such employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors or any other person resulting from 

performance of this Agreement. 

Section 11. SUBCONTRACTS.  

Unless otherwise specified, Contractor must obtain District’s written permission before 

subcontracting any portion of the Equipment.  Except for the insurance requirements in Section 

14.A, all subcontracts and orders for the purchase or rental of supplies, materials or equipment, or 

any other part of the Equipment, will require that the subcontractor be bound by and subject to all 

of the terms and conditions of the Agreement.  No subcontract or order will relieve Contractor 

from its obligations to District, including, but not limited to Contractor’s insurance and 

indemnification obligations.  No subcontract or order will bind District.   

Section 12. TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS. 

Unless otherwise agreed, District will have title to, and risk of loss of, all completed and 

partially completed portions of the Equipment upon delivery, as well as materials delivered to and 

stored on District property which are intended to become a part of the Equipment.  However, 

Contractor will be liable for any loss or damage to the Equipment and/or the materials caused by 

Contractor or its subcontractors, their agents or employees, and Contractor will replace or repair 

said Equipment or materials at its own cost to the complete satisfaction of District.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the District has paid Contractor for all or a portion 

of the Equipment which remains in the possession of Contractor, then District shall have title to, 

and the right to take possession of, such Equipment at any time following payment therefor.  Risk 

of loss for any Equipment which remains in the possession of Contractor shall remain with 

Contractor until such Equipment has been delivered or District has taken possession thereof.  

Contractor will have risk of loss or damage to Contractor’s property used in the construction of 

the Equipment but which does not become a part of the Equipment. 

Section 13. INDEMNIFICATION. 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold 

the District, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless from any 

and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, liability, loss, damage or injury, in law 

or equity, to property or persons, including wrongful death, in any manner arising out of or incident 

to any alleged acts, omissions, negligence or willful misconduct of Contractor, its officials, 

officers, employees, agents, subcontractors and subconsultants arising out of or in connection with 

the Equipment or the performance of this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of 

Page 216 of 309



 

 6  

all consequential damages and attorneys’ fees and other related costs and expenses except such 

loss or damage which was caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the District.   

B. Contractor’s defense obligation for any and all such aforesaid suits, actions or other 

legal proceedings of every kind that may be brought or instituted against the District, its officials, 

officers, employees, agents or volunteers shall be at Contractor’s own cost, expense and risk.  

Contractor shall pay and satisfy any judgment, award or decree that may be rendered against 

District or its officials, officers, employees, agents or volunteers, in any such suit, action or other 

legal proceeding.  Contractor shall reimburse District and its officials, officers, employees, agents 

and/or volunteers, for any and all legal expenses and costs incurred by each of them in connection 

therewith or in enforcing the indemnity herein provided. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to indemnify shall not be restricted to insurance proceeds, 

if any, received by the District, its officials, officers, employees, agents or volunteers. 

Section 14. INSURANCE. 

A. General.  Contractor shall take out and maintain: 

1. Commercial General Liability Insurance, of at least $1,000,000 per 

occurrence/ $2,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage;   

2. Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injury and property damage 

including coverage for owned, non-owned and hired vehicles, of at least $1,000,000 per 

accident for bodily injury and property damage; 

3. Workers’ Compensation in compliance with applicable statutory 

requirements; and 

4. If Contractor is also the manufacturer of any equipment included in the 

Equipment, Contractor shall carry Product Liability and/or Errors and Omissions Insurance 

which covers said equipment with limits of not less than $1,000,000.   

B. Additional Insured; Primary; Waiver of Subrogation; No Limitation on Coverage.  

The policies required under this Section shall give District, its officials, officers, employees, agents 

or volunteers additional insured status.  Such policies shall contain a provision stating that 

Contractor’s policy is primary insurance and that any insurance, self-insurance or other coverage 

maintained by the District or any additional insureds shall not be called upon to contribute to any 

loss, and shall contain or be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in favor of the District, its 

officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers.  The limits set forth herein shall apply 

separately to each insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect 

to the limits of liability.  Requirements of specific coverage or limits contained in this section are 

not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage 

normally provided by any insurance.  Any available coverage shall be provided to the parties 

required to be named as additional insured pursuant to this Agreement. 

C. Insurance Carrier.  All insurance required under this Section is to be placed with 

insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating no less than A-VII, licensed to do business in Nevada, 

and satisfactory to the District. 

Page 217 of 309



 

 7  

D. Evidence of Insurance.  Contractor shall furnish District with original certificates 

of insurance and endorsements effecting coverage required by the Agreement.  The certificates 

and endorsements for each insurance policy shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer 

to bind coverage on its behalf, and shall be on forms supplied or approved by the District.  All 

certificates and endorsements must be received and approved by the District before delivery 

commences.  The District reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required 

insurance policies, at any time. 

E. Subcontractors.  All subcontractors shall meet the requirements of this Section 

before commencing work.  In addition, Contractor shall include all subcontractors as insureds 

under its policies or shall furnish separate certificates and endorsements for each subcontractor.  

All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to all of the requirements stated herein. 

F. Freight.  Contractor shall ensure that third party shippers contracted by Contractor 

have adequate insurance coverage for the shipped Equipment. 

Section 15. LIENS. 

A. Contractor, subcontractors and suppliers will not make, file or maintain a 

mechanic’s or other lien or claim of any kind or character against the Equipment, for or on account 

of any labor, materials, fixtures, tools, machinery, equipment, or any other things furnished, or any 

other work done or performance given under, arising out of, or in any manner connected with the 

Agreement (such liens or claims referred to as “Claims”); and Contractor, subcontractor and 

suppliers expressly waive and relinquish any and all rights which they now have, or may 

subsequently acquire, to file or maintain any Claim and Contractor, subcontractor and suppliers 

agree that this provision waiving the right of Claims will be an independent covenant. 

B. Contractor will save and hold District harmless from and against any and all Claims 

that may be filed by a subcontractor, supplier or any other person or entity and Contractor will, at 

its own expense, defend any and all actions based upon such Claims and will pay all charges of 

attorneys and all costs and other expenses arising from such Claims. 

Section 16. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT BY DISTRICT. 

A. Should Contractor at any time refuse or fail to deliver the Equipment with 

promptness and diligence, or to perform any of its other obligations under the Agreement, District 

may terminate Contractor’s right to proceed with the delivery of the Equipment by written notice 

to Contractor.  In such event District may obtain the Equipment by whatever method it may deem 

expedient, including the hiring of another contractor or other contractors and, for that purpose, 

may take possession of all materials, machinery, equipment, tools and appliances and exercise all 

rights, options and privileges of Contractor.  In such case Contractor will not be entitled to receive 

any further payments until the Equipment is delivered.  If District’s cost of obtaining the 

Equipment, including compensation for additional managerial and administrative services, will 

exceed the unpaid balance of the Agreement, Contractor will be liable for and will pay the 

difference to District. 

B. District may, for its own convenience, terminate Contractor’s right to proceed with 

the delivery of any portion or all of the Equipment by written notice to Contractor.  Such 

Page 218 of 309



8 

termination will be effective in the manner specified in such notice, will be without prejudice to 

any claims which District may have against Contractor, and will not affect the obligations and 

duties of Contractor under the Agreement with respect to portions of the Equipment not terminated. 

C. On receipt of notice under Section 16.B., Contractor will, with respect to the portion

of the Equipment terminated, unless the notice states otherwise, 

1. Immediately discontinue such portion of the Equipment and the placing of

orders for materials, facilities, and supplies in connection with the Equipment, 

2. Unless otherwise directed by District, make every reasonable effort to

procure cancellation of all existing orders or contracts upon terms satisfactory to District; and 

3. Deliver only such portions of the Equipment which District deems

necessary to preserve and protect those portions of the Equipment already in progress and to 

protect material, plant and equipment at the Equipment site or in transit to the Equipment site. 

D. Upon termination pursuant to Section 16.B., Contractor will be paid a pro rata

portion of the compensation in the Agreement for any portion of the terminated Equipment already 

delivered, including material and services for which it has made firm contracts which are not 

canceled, it being understood that District will be entitled to such material and services.  Upon 

determination of the amount of said pro rata compensation, District will promptly pay such amount 

to Contractor upon delivery by Contractor of the releases of liens and affidavit, pursuant to Section 

7.C.

Section 17. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

A. Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement shall

be given to the respective parties at the following address or at such other address as the respective 

parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

DISTRICT: 

Incline Village General Improvement District 
893 Southwood Blvd. 
Incline Village, NV 89451 
Attn:  Kate Nelson, Interim Dir. Of Public 

Works 

CONTRACTOR: 

The Toro Company 

8111 Lyndale Avenue South 

Bloomington, MN 55420 

Attn: Don Kittilsen 

Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight 

(48) hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at

its applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice

occurred, regardless of the method of service.

B. Assignment or Transfer.  Contractor shall not assign or transfer any interest in this

Agreement whether by assignment or novation, without the prior written consent of the District, 

which will not be unreasonably withheld.  Provided, however, that claims for money due or to 

become due Contractor from the District under this Agreement may be assigned to a financial 

institution or to a trustee in bankruptcy, without such approval.  Notice of any assignment or 

transfer, whether voluntary or involuntary, shall be furnished promptly to the District. 

Page 219 of 309



 

 9  

C. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the successors and 

assigns of the Parties. 

D. Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification or amendment of this 

Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. 

E. Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other default or 

breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, privilege or 

service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any contractual rights 

by custom, estoppel or otherwise. 

F. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Nevada.  Venue shall be in Washoe County. 

G. Interpretation.  Since the Parties or their agents have participated fully in the 

preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be construed simply, 

according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party. 

H. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party beneficiaries of 

any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

I. Authority to Enter Agreement.  Each Party warrants that the individuals who have 

signed this Agreement have the legal power, right and authority to make this Agreement and bind 

each respective Party. 

J. Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal 

or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions shall 

continue in full force and effect. 

K. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall  

constitute an original. 

L. District’s Right to Employ Other Contractors.  District reserves its right to employ 

other contractors in connection with the Equipment.  

M. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

Parties relative to the Equipment specified herein.  There are no understandings, agreements, 

conditions, representations, warranties or promises with respect to this Agreement, except those 

contained in or referred to in the writing. 

N. Limitation of Liability.  In no event shall this Agreement be interpreted to waive 

the limitations of liability applicable to the District set forth in NRS Chapter 41 or other applicable 

law. 

O. Whistleblower Provisions. This Agreement is not intended to and will not preclude 

Consultant’s employees from exercising available rights under the District’s Whistleblower Policy 

and associated procedures for reporting suspected misconduct, as that term is defined in the 

Page 220 of 309



10 

Whistleblower Policy. All reports of suspected misconduct will be handled by the District in 

accordance with the Whistleblower Policy. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 

and year first above written. 

OWNER:  

INCLINE VILLAGE G. I. D. 

CONTRACTOR:  

Turf Star, Inc. 

Agreed to: Agreed to: 

By: By: 

Kate Nelson, P. E. 

Interim Director of Public Works 

Signature of Authorized Agent 

Print or Type Name and Title 

Date 

Reviewed as to Form: 

Date

Joshua Nelson 

District General Counsel 

Date 

Territory Sales Manager

10/13/23

Page 221 of 309



 

 Exhibit A  

EXHIBIT “A” 

EQUIPMENT QUOTES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638873-00

1 | P a g e

Prepared For: Travis Riley Quote No: 638873-00
Incline Village Gen Improv iQuote No: 135429
931 Fairway Blvd
Incline Village, NV  89451

Sales Person: Don Kittilsen
don.kittilsen@turfstar.com
(916) 709-7104

Sourcewell Pricing, 
Incline Village General Improvement District Sourcewell Number is 91417

Quoted price is good through FY2024 and quoted unit is in stock

Summary

Configuration Name Qty Unit Price Sub Total Sales Tax            Total

 010-Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $18,234.08 $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Totals: $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Page 223 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638873-00

2 | P a g e

Configuration Product Details
010-Greenmaster Flex 1021

Model Product Description Qty Unit Price Extended Sales Tax       Total  

04860 Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $9,650.16 $9,650.16 $0.00 $9,650.16

04864 14blade 21in Flex ES CU 1 $5,139.42 $5,139.42 $0.00 $5,139.42

04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller Asm 1 $446.94 $446.94 $0.00 $446.94

04648 Univ Groomer Drive Newgen DPA Greens CU 1 $2,010.06 $2,010.06 $0.00 $2,010.06

04802 21in Twin Tip Groomer 1 $797.16 $797.16 $0.00 $797.16

115-1881 BEDKNIFE-EDGEMAX, TOURNA MENT (21IN GR) 2 $95.17 $190.34 $0.00 $190.34

Totals: $18,234.08

Page 224 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638874-00

1 | P a g e

Prepared For: Travis Riley Quote No: 638874-00
Incline Village Gen Improv iQuote No: 136164
931 Fairway Blvd
Incline Village, NV  89451

Sales Person: Don Kittilsen
don.kittilsen@turfstar.com
(916) 709-7104

Sourcewell Pricing,
Incline Village General Improvement District Sourcewell Number is 91417

Quoted price is good through FY2024 and quoted unit is in stock

Summary

Configuration Name Qty Unit Price Sub Total Sales Tax            Total

 010-Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $18,234.08 $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Totals: $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Page 225 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638874-00

2 | P a g e

Configuration Product Details
010-Greenmaster Flex 1021

Model Product Description Qty Unit Price Extended Sales Tax       Total  

04860 Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $9,650.16 $9,650.16 $0.00 $9,650.16

04864 14blade 21in Flex ES CU 1 $5,139.42 $5,139.42 $0.00 $5,139.42

04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller Asm 1 $446.94 $446.94 $0.00 $446.94

04648 Univ Groomer Drive Newgen DPA Greens CU 1 $2,010.06 $2,010.06 $0.00 $2,010.06

04802 21in Twin Tip Groomer 1 $797.16 $797.16 $0.00 $797.16

115-1881 BEDKNIFE-EDGEMAX, TOURNA MENT (21IN GR) 2 $95.17 $190.34 $0.00 $190.34

Totals: $18,234.08

Page 226 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638875-00

1 | P a g e

Prepared For: Travis Riley Quote No: 638875-00
Incline Village Gen Improv iQuote No: 136165
931 Fairway Blvd
Incline Village, NV  89451

Sales Person: Don Kittilsen
don.kittilsen@turfstar.com
(916) 709-7104

Sourcewell Pricing,
Incline Village General Improvement District Sourcewell Number is 91417

Quoted price is good through FY2024 and quoted unit is in stock

Summary

Configuration Name Qty Unit Price Sub Total Sales Tax            Total

 010-Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $18,234.08 $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Totals: $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Page 227 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638875-00

2 | P a g e

Configuration Product Details
010-Greenmaster Flex 1021

Model Product Description Qty Unit Price Extended Sales Tax       Total  

04860 Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $9,650.16 $9,650.16 $0.00 $9,650.16

04864 14blade 21in Flex ES CU 1 $5,139.42 $5,139.42 $0.00 $5,139.42

04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller Asm 1 $446.94 $446.94 $0.00 $446.94

04648 Univ Groomer Drive Newgen DPA Greens CU 1 $2,010.06 $2,010.06 $0.00 $2,010.06

04802 21in Twin Tip Groomer 1 $797.16 $797.16 $0.00 $797.16

115-1881 BEDKNIFE-EDGEMAX, TOURNA MENT (21IN GR) 2 $95.17 $190.34 $0.00 $190.34

Totals: $18,234.08

Page 228 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638876-00

1 | P a g e

Prepared For: Travis Riley Quote No: 638876-00
Incline Village Gen Improv iQuote No: 136166
931 Fairway Blvd
Incline Village, NV  89451

Sales Person: Don Kittilsen
don.kittilsen@turfstar.com
(916) 709-7104

Sourcewell Pricing,
Incline Village General Improvement District Sourcewell Number is 91417

Quoted price is good through FY2024 and quoted unit is in stock

Summary

Configuration Name Qty Unit Price Sub Total Sales Tax            Total

 010-Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $18,234.08 $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Totals: $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Page 229 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638876-00

2 | P a g e

Configuration Product Details
010-Greenmaster Flex 1021

Model Product Description Qty Unit Price Extended Sales Tax       Total  

04860 Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $9,650.16 $9,650.16 $0.00 $9,650.16

04864 14blade 21in Flex ES CU 1 $5,139.42 $5,139.42 $0.00 $5,139.42

04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller Asm 1 $446.94 $446.94 $0.00 $446.94

04648 Univ Groomer Drive Newgen DPA Greens CU 1 $2,010.06 $2,010.06 $0.00 $2,010.06

04802 21in Twin Tip Groomer 1 $797.16 $797.16 $0.00 $797.16

115-1881 BEDKNIFE-EDGEMAX, TOURNA MENT (21IN GR) 2 $95.17 $190.34 $0.00 $190.34

Totals: $18,234.08

Page 230 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638877-00

1 | P a g e

Prepared For: Travis Riley Quote No: 638877-00
Incline Village Gen Improv iQuote No: 136167
931 Fairway Blvd
Incline Village, NV  89451

Sales Person: Don Kittilsen
don.kittilsen@turfstar.com
(916) 709-7104

Sourcewell Pricing,
Incline Village General Improvement District Sourcewell Number is 91417

Quoted price is good through FY2024 and quoted unit is in stock

Summary

Configuration Name Qty Unit Price Sub Total Sales Tax            Total

 010-Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $18,234.08 $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Totals: $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Page 231 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638877-00

2 | P a g e

Configuration Product Details
010-Greenmaster Flex 1021

Model Product Description Qty Unit Price Extended Sales Tax       Total  

04860 Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $9,650.16 $9,650.16 $0.00 $9,650.16

04864 14blade 21in Flex ES CU 1 $5,139.42 $5,139.42 $0.00 $5,139.42

04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller Asm 1 $446.94 $446.94 $0.00 $446.94

04648 Univ Groomer Drive Newgen DPA Greens CU 1 $2,010.06 $2,010.06 $0.00 $2,010.06

04802 21in Twin Tip Groomer 1 $797.16 $797.16 $0.00 $797.16

115-1881 BEDKNIFE-EDGEMAX, TOURNA MENT (21IN GR) 2 $95.17 $190.34 $0.00 $190.34

Totals: $18,234.08

Page 232 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638878-00

1 | P a g e

Prepared For: Travis Riley Quote No: 638878-00
Incline Village Gen Improv iQuote No: 136168
931 Fairway Blvd
Incline Village, NV  89451

Sales Person: Don Kittilsen
don.kittilsen@turfstar.com
(916) 709-7104

Sourcewell Pricing,
Incline Village General Improvement District Sourcewell Number is 91417

Quoted price is good through FY2024 and quoted unit is in stock

Summary

Configuration Name Qty Unit Price Sub Total Sales Tax            Total

 010-Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $18,234.08 $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Totals: $18,234.08 $0.00 $18,234.08

Page 233 of 309



Date: September 14, 2023
Quotation for Incline Village Gen Improv

Quote No:638878-00

2 | P a g e

Configuration Product Details
010-Greenmaster Flex 1021

Model Product Description Qty Unit Price Extended Sales Tax       Total  

04860 Greenmaster Flex 1021 1 $9,650.16 $9,650.16 $0.00 $9,650.16

04864 14blade 21in Flex ES CU 1 $5,139.42 $5,139.42 $0.00 $5,139.42

04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller Asm 1 $446.94 $446.94 $0.00 $446.94

04648 Univ Groomer Drive Newgen DPA Greens CU 1 $2,010.06 $2,010.06 $0.00 $2,010.06

04802 21in Twin Tip Groomer 1 $797.16 $797.16 $0.00 $797.16

115-1881 BEDKNIFE-EDGEMAX, TOURNA MENT (21IN GR) 2 $95.17 $190.34 $0.00 $190.34

Totals: $18,234.08

Page 234 of 309



Superior putting
starts with superior cutting.

Call your Toro distributor at 800-803-8676©2020 The Toro Company. All rights reserved. Rev. 1/20

F E A T U R E S

Greensmaster® Flex™ 1018/1021
W A L K  G R E E N S M O W E R S

The new Toro Flex Series mowers deliver the new standard of pristine greens that top 

courses demand. Offering the choice of 18” (45.7 cm) or 21” (53.3 cm) width of cut, the 

Greensmaster Flex 1018 and Flex 1021 models include a patented Flex suspension.  

This allows the cutting unit to easily follow the contours of the green – delivering a 

superior quality of cut. Both models boast new innovative controls and design features 

that synchronize the operator and the machine to help 

eliminate operator influences on cut consistency. The new 

Greensmasters feature a telescoping loop handle that 

customizes in seconds to an individual operator’s size 

for comfort and reduced fatigue, ensuring a consistent, 

immaculate cut. These units are designed for minimal 

maintenance and a long, productive life to save labor  

and operational costs.

EdgeSeries™ Reels

Greensmaster Flex 1018/1021  
Common Features:

 –  Heavy-duty, 3.5 hp (2.6 kW) Honda® engine  
for optimal power

 –  Patented Flex Suspension with proven  
DPA Cutting Unit technology

 –  Multiple, easy to configure clip rate settings

 –  Telescoping loop handle design with 
combined operational and safety bail

 –  Operational bail allows slowing down  
or a complete stop in tight turns without 
disengaging traction

 –  Rubber-mounted handle to reduce 
oscillation motion from walking for cutting 
consistency

 –  No greasing requirement and modular 
deigns for labor saving maintenance

 –  Choice of cutting units (11 and 14-blade)  
to accommodate different cutting heights

 –  Excellent balance for superior tracking  
and easy turn around

 –  Squeeze service / parking brake for 
enhanced control 

 –  Traction drive release lever for easy 
movement while the mower is off

 –  Tool-free cutting unit removal 

Greensmaster Flex 1018:

 –  18-inch (45.7 cm) width of cut

 –  Narrow mowing swath for narrow striping 
and superior ground-following over 
undulations

 –  Choose 11-blade or 14-blade reel provides a 
smooth, consistent cut resulting in superior 
ball roll

Greensmaster Flex 1021:

 –  21-inch (53.3 cm) width of cut

 –  Superior quality of cut and reliable 
performance

 –  Choose 11-blade or 14-blade reel for 
superior performance in any mowing 
condition

Page 235 of 309



2Rev. 1/20

* Specifications and design subject to change without notice. Products depicted in 
this literature are for demonstration purposes only. Actual products offered for sale 
may vary in use, design, required attachments and safety features. Consult your local 
Toro Distributor. The Greensmaster Flex 1018 & 1021 are 

manufactured in Tomah, WI  ISO 9002 
Certified Plant.

Greensmaster® Flex™ 1018 & 1021 Specifications*

GREENSMASTER FLEX 1018, MODEL 04850 GREENSMASTER FLEX 1021, MODEL 04860
ENGINE Honda GX120 - 3.5 hp (2.6 kW) @3600 rpm, gasoline with integral lighting coil.

FUEL CAPACITY 2.1 qts (2L)

FRAME Fully modular design allows quick disassembly for service / maintenance of all major components.

TRACTION DRIVE Full gear drive transmission with integral traction differential and traction drive disconnect to ease movement during service/maintenance  operations.                                                                                                              
Interchangeable drum drive gear cases.

TRACTION DRUM Tapered traction drum for improved after cut appearance.

GROUND SPEED Mowing Speed: 2.0 mph (3.2 km/h) to 3.5 mph (5.6 km/h)              Transport Speed: 5.3 mph (8.5 km/h)

CLUTCH Externally-mounted two sided dry disc clutch actuated by dual motion bail.

BRAKE Service/parking – band type.

CUTTING UNIT DRIVE Quick-change dual-speed gear drive, combined with positive drive belt – 4 possible reel speeds/clip settings.

CUTTING UNIT ATTACHMENT Tool-free cutting unit removal for service/maintenance or cutting unit exchange for different uses.

CUTTING UNIT OPTIONS 11-blade cutting unit     14-blade cutting unit

CONTROLS Engine mounted: recoil starter, choke, fuel shutoff.  
Handle mounted: on/off switch, throttle lever, dual motion traction / safety bail, reel engage lever, service/park brake lever, hour meter, light switch (optional).

HANDLE Loop handle with telescoping adjustment with 5" (12.7 cm) total travel, rubber isolated to minimize operator influence during mowing.

TRANSPORT TIRES / KICKSTAND Optional – Two, quick-detachable pneumatic tires (3.00X3.25-6). Kickstand is standard.

WIDTH OF CUT 18" (45.7 cm) 21" (53.3 cm)

HEIGHT OF CUT RANGE
For Greens: (Spacer Position One)  0.062" to 0.250" (1.5 mm to 6 mm) 

For Tees: (Spacer Position Two)  0.125" to 0.500" (3 mm to 12 mm) 
High Height of Cut Kit:  0.375 to 1.00" (9 mm to 25 mm)

WEIGHT 267 lbs (121 kg) with 11-blade cutting unit, aluminum Wiehle roller. 275 lbs (125 kg) with 11-blade cutting unit, aluminum Wiehle roller.

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS No daily greasing required.

CERTIFICATION Designed in accordance to applicable ANSI and CE specifications. 

WARRANTY Two-year limited warranty. Refer to the Operator’s Manual for further details.

GREENSMASTER FLEX 1021 ACCESSORIESGREENSMASTER FLEX 1018 ACCESSORIES

GROOMER OPTIONS
04648 Universal Groomer Drive
04802 Twin Tip Groomer Blade ASM
04270 Grooming Brush  – Soft
04271 Grooming Brush  – Stiff

CUTTING UNITS & REEL OPTIONS
04863 11-Blade Flex ES Cutting Unit
04864 14-Blade Flex ES Cutting Unit

SCRAPER OPTIONS
125-3503 Narrow Wiehle Roller Scraper Kit
115-7377 Narrow Wiehle Roller Scraper/Brush Kit
125-3504 Wide Wiehle Roller Scraper Kit
115-7378 Wide Wiehle Roller Scraper/Brush Kit
125-3505 Smooth Roller Scraper Kit
115-7379 Smooth Roller Scraper/Brush Kit

ROLLER OPTIONS
04027 Narrow Wiehle Roller ASM
04825 Wide Wiehle Roller ASM
04815 Full Roller ASM
04028 Paspalum Roller ASM
04029 Extended Narrow Wiehle Roller ASM
04249 Split Full Roller ASM
04250 Split Narrow Wiehle Roller ASM
107-3510 Narrow Wiehle Roller ASM – Steel
115-7361 Roller Extension Kit

CUTTING UNITS & REEL OPTIONS
04853 11-Blade Flex ES Cutting Unit
04854 14-Blade Flex ES Cutting Unit

BEDKNIFE OPTIONS
117-1530 EdgeMaxTM  Microcut Bedknife
110-2300 Extended Microcut Bedknife
110-2301 Lowcut Bedknife
117-1532 EdgeMaxTM  Tournament Bedknife
139-4318 EdgeMaxTM  Short Microcut Bedknife
139-4319 EdgeMaxTM  Short Tournament Bedknife
98-7260 Tournament Bedknife
98-7261 Microcut Bedknife

ROLLER OPTIONS
04026 Narrow Wiehle Roller ASM
140-3441 Wide Wiehle Roller ASM
04814 Full Roller ASM
140-9214 Extended Narrow Wiehle Roller ASM
115-7361 Roller Extension Kit

TRACTION UNIT ACCESSORIES
04135 LED Light Kit
04136 Push Broom Kit
04123 Wheel Kit
139-4342 Backlap Access Kit
139-4369 Wireless Hour Meter

TRACTION UNIT ACCESSORIES
04135 LED Light Kit
04136 Push Broom Kit
04123 Wheel Kit
139-4342 Backlap Access Kit
139-4369 Wireless Hour Meter

SCRAPER/BRUSH OPTIONS
120-9615 Narrow Wiehle Roller Scraper Kit
120-9621 Narrow Wiehle Roller Scraper/Brush Kit
120-9616 Wide Wiehle Roller Scraper Kit
120-9622 Wide Wiehle Roller Scraper/Brush Kit
120-9617 Smooth Roller Scraper Kit
120-9623 Smooth Roller Scraper/Brush Kit

GROOMER OPTIONS
04648 Universal Groomer Drive
04801 Twin Tip Groomer Blade ASM
04268 Grooming Brush – Soft
04269 Grooming Brush – Stiff

TOOLS AND MAINTENANCE OPTIONS
04399 Turf Evaluator
125-5610 Paper – Reel
125-5611 Shim – Reel
94-9010 Height of Cut Adjustment Bar
131-6828 Angle Indicator
131-6829 Mount-Angle Indicator

TOOLS AND MAINTENANCE OPTIONS
04399 Turf Evaluator
125-5610 Paper – Reel
125-5611 Shim – Reel
94-9010 Height of Cut Adjustment Bar
131-6828 Angle Indicator
131-6829 Mount-Angle Indicator

BEDKNIFE OPTIONS
115-1880 EdgeMaxTM  Microcut Bedknife
108-4303 Extended Microcut Bedknife
108-4302 Extended Tournament Bedknife
115-1881 EdgeMaxTM  Tournament Bedknife
139-4320 EdgeMaxTM  Short Microcut Bedknife
139-4321 EdgeMaxTM  Short Tournament Bedknife
63-8610 Fairway Bedknife
93-4262 Microcut Bedknife
93-4263 Tournament Bedknife
93-4264 Low Cut Bedknife
94-6392 High Cut Bedknife

Page 236 of 309



 

 Exhibit B  

EXHIBIT “B” 

SOURCEWELL SOLICITATION NUMBER: RFP #031121, CONTRACT WITH THE TORO COMPANY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 237 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           1 
 

 
 

Solicitation Number: RFP #031121 
 

CONTRACT 
 
 
This Contract is between Sourcewell, 202 12th Street Northeast, P.O. Box 219, Staples, MN 
56479 (Sourcewell) and The Toro Company, 8111 Lyndale Avenue South, Bloomington, MN  
55420 (Vendor). 

  
Sourcewell is a State of Minnesota local government agency and service cooperative created 
under the laws of the State of Minnesota (Minnesota Statutes Section 123A.21) that offers 
cooperative procurement solutions to government entities. Participation is open to federal, 
state/province, and municipal governmental entities, higher education, K-12 education, 
nonprofit, tribal government, and other public entities located in the United States and Canada. 
Sourcewell issued a public solicitation for Grounds Maintenance Equipment, Attachments, and 
Accessories with Related Services from which Vendor was  awarded a contract.     

  
Vendor desires to contract with Sourcewell to provide equipment, products, or services to 
Sourcewell and the entities that access Sourcewell’s cooperative purchasing contracts 
(Participating Entities).  

 
1. TERM OF CONTRACT 

 
A. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Contract is effective upon the date of the final signature below.  
 
B. EXPIRATION DATE AND EXTENSION. This Contract expires April 30, 2025, unless it is 
cancelled sooner pursuant to Article 22. This Contract may be extended up to one additional 
one-year period upon request of Sourcewell and with written agreement by Vendor. 
 
C. SURVIVAL OF TERMS. Articles 11 through 14 survive the expiration or cancellation of this 
Contract.  
 

2. EQUIPMENT, PRODUCTS, OR SERVICES 
 
A. EQUIPMENT, PRODUCTS, OR SERVICES. Vendor will provide the Equipment, Products, or 
Services as stated in its Proposal submitted under the Solicitation Number listed above. 
Vendor’s Equipment, Products, or Services Proposal (Proposal) is attached and incorporated 
into this Contract.    
 

Page 238 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           2 
 

All Equipment and Products provided under this Contract must be new/current model.  Vendor 
may offer close-out or refurbished Equipment or Products if they are clearly indicated in 
Vendor’s product and pricing list. Unless agreed to by the Participating Entities in advance, 
Equipment or Products must be delivered as operational to the Participating Entity’s site.     
 
This Contract offers an indefinite quantity of sales, and while substantial volume is anticipated, 
sales and sales volume are not guaranteed.   
 
B. WARRANTY. Vendor warrants that all Equipment, Products, and Services furnished are free 
from liens and encumbrances, and are free from defects in design, materials, and workmanship. 
In addition, Vendor warrants the Equipment, Products, and Services are suitable for and will 
perform in accordance with the ordinary use for which they are intended for the duration of 
Vendor’s written warranty for such item. Other than the warranties in this paragraph and 
Vendor’s express written warranty for its product, Vendor expressly disclaims all other 
warranties, express or implied. Vendor agrees to work with its dealers and distributors to assist 
the Participating Entity in reaching a resolution in any dispute over warranty terms with the 
manufacturer.  Any manufacturer’s warranty that is effective past the expiration of the 
Vendor’s warranty will be passed on to the Participating Entity.   
 
C. DEALERS, DISTRIBUTORS, AND/OR RESELLERS. Upon Contract execution, Vendor will 
make available to Sourcewell a means to validate or authenticate Vendor’s authorized dealers, 
distributors, and/or resellers relative to the Equipment, Products, and Services related to this 
Contract. This list may be updated from time-to-time and is incorporated into this Contract by 
reference. It is the Vendor’s responsibility to ensure Sourcewell receives the most current 
version of this list.  
 

3. PRICING 
 
All Equipment, Products, or Services under this Contract will be priced as stated in Vendor’s 
Proposal.  
 
When providing pricing quotes to Participating Entities, all pricing quoted must reflect a 
Participating Entity’s total cost of acquisition. This means that the quoted cost is for delivered 
Equipment, Products, and Services that are operational for their intended purpose, and 
includes all costs to the Participating Entity’s requested delivery location.   
 
Regardless of the payment method chosen by the Participating Entity, the total cost associated 
with any purchase option of the Equipment, Products, or Services must always be disclosed in 
the pricing quote to the applicable Participating Entity at the time of purchase.   
 
A. SHIPPING AND SHIPPING COSTS. All delivered Equipment and Products must be properly 
packaged. Damaged Equipment and Products may be rejected. If the damage is not readily 
apparent at the time of delivery, Vendor must permit the Equipment and Products to be 

Page 239 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           3 
 

returned within a reasonable time at no cost to Sourcewell or its Participating Entities. 
Participating Entities reserve the right to inspect the Equipment and Products at a reasonable 
time after delivery where circumstances or conditions prevent effective inspection of the 
Equipment and Products at the time of delivery. 
   
Vendor must arrange for and pay for the return shipment on Equipment and Products that arrive 
in a defective or inoperable condition.  
 
Sourcewell may declare the Vendor in breach of this Contract if the Vendor intentionally 
delivers substandard or inferior Equipment or Products. In the event of the delivery of 
nonconforming Equipment and Products, the Participating Entity will notify the Vendor as soon 
as possible and the Vendor will replace nonconforming Equipment and Products with 
conforming Equipment and Products that are acceptable to the Participating Entity. 
 
B. SALES TAX. Each Participating Entity is responsible for supplying the Vendor with valid tax-
exemption certification(s). When ordering, a Participating Entity must indicate if it is a tax-
exempt entity.  
 
C. HOT LIST PRICING. At any time during this Contract, Vendor may offer a specific selection 
of Equipment, Products, or Services at discounts greater than those listed in the Contract. 
When Vendor determines it will offer Hot List Pricing, it must be submitted electronically to 
Sourcewell in a line-item format. Equipment, Products, or Services may be added or removed 
from the Hot List at any time through a Sourcewell Price and Product Change Form as defined 
in Article 4 below.   
 
Hot List program and pricing may also be used to discount and liquidate close-out and 
discontinued Equipment and Products as long as those close-out and discontinued items are 
clearly identified as such. Current ordering process and administrative fees apply. Hot List 
Pricing must be published and made available to all Participating Entities. 
 

4. PRODUCT AND PRICING CHANGE REQUESTS 
 

Vendor may request Equipment, Product, or Service changes, additions, or deletions at any 
time. All requests must be made in writing by submitting a signed Sourcewell Price and Product 
Change Request Form to the assigned Sourcewell Contract Administrator. This form is available 
from the assigned Sourcewell Contract Administrator. At a minimum, the request must:  
 

 Identify the applicable Sourcewell contract number; 
 Clearly specify the requested change; 
 Provide sufficient detail to justify the requested change; 
 Individually list all Equipment, Products, or Services affected by the requested change, 

along with the requested change (e.g., addition, deletion, price change); and 

Page 240 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           4 
 

 Include a complete restatement of pricing documentation in Microsoft Excel with the 
effective date of the modified pricing, or product addition or deletion. The new pricing 
restatement must include all Equipment, Products, and Services offered, even for those 
items where pricing remains unchanged. 

 
A fully executed Sourcewell Price and Product Request Form will become an amendment 
to this Contract and be incorporated by reference.  

 
5. PARTICIPATION, CONTRACT ACCESS, AND PARTICIPATING ENTITY REQUIREMENTS 

  
A. PARTICIPATION. Sourcewell’s cooperative contracts are available and open to public and 
nonprofit entities across the United States and Canada; such as federal, state/province, 
municipal, K-12 and higher education, tribal government, and other public entities.   
 
The benefits of this Contract should be available to all Participating Entities that can legally 
access the Equipment, Products, or Services under this Contract. A Participating Entity’s 
authority to access this Contract is determined through its cooperative purchasing, interlocal, 
or joint powers laws. Any entity accessing benefits of this Contract will be considered a Service 
Member of Sourcewell during such time of access. Vendor understands that a Participating 
Entity’s use of this Contract is at the Participating Entity’s sole convenience and Participating 
Entities reserve the right to obtain like Equipment, Products, or Services from any other source. 
 
Vendor is responsible for familiarizing its sales and service forces with Sourcewell contract use 
eligibility requirements and documentation and will encourage potential participating entities 
to join Sourcewell.  Sourcewell reserves the right to add and remove Participating Entities to its 
roster during the term of this Contract.   
 
B. PUBLIC FACILITIES. Vendor’s employees may be required to perform work at government-
owned facilities, including schools. Vendor’s employees and agents must conduct themselves in 
a professional manner while on the premises, and in accordance with Participating Entity 
policies and procedures, and all applicable laws.   
 

6. PARTICIPATING ENTITY USE AND PURCHASING 
 
A. ORDERS AND PAYMENT. To access the contracted Equipment, Products, or Services under 
this Contract, a Participating Entity must clearly indicate to Vendor that it intends to access this 
Contract; however, order flow and procedure will be developed jointly between Sourcewell and 
Vendor. Typically, a Participating Entity will issue an order directly to Vendor. If a Participating 
Entity issues a purchase order, it may use its own forms, but the purchase order should clearly 
note the applicable Sourcewell contract number. All Participating Entity orders under this 
Contract must be issued prior to expiration of this Contract; however, Vendor performance, 

Page 241 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           5 
 

Participating Entity payment, and any applicable warranty periods or other Vendor or 
Participating Entity obligations may extend beyond the term of this Contract.  
 
Vendor’s acceptable forms of payment are included in Attachment A.  Participating Entities will 
be solely responsible for payment and Sourcewell will have no liability for any unpaid invoice of 
any Participating Entity.   
 
B. ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS/PARTICIPATING ADDENDUM. Additional terms and 
conditions to a purchase order, or other required transaction documentation, may be 
negotiated between a Participating Entity and Vendor, such as job or industry-specific 
requirements, legal requirements (e.g., affirmative action or immigration status requirements), 
or specific local policy requirements. Some Participating Entitles may require the use of a 
Participating Addendum; the terms of which will be worked out directly between the 
Participating Entity and the Vendor.  Any negotiated additional terms and conditions must 
never be less favorable to the Participating Entity than what is contained in this Contract. 
 
C. SPECIALIZED SERVICE REQUIREMENTS. In the event that the Participating Entity requires 
service or specialized performance requirements (such as e-commerce specifications, 
specialized delivery requirements, or other specifications and requirements) not addressed in 
this Contract, the Participating Entity and the Vendor may enter into a separate, standalone 
agreement, apart from this Contract. Sourcewell, including its agents and employees, will not 
be made a party to a claim for breach of such agreement.   
 
D. TERMINATION OF ORDERS. Participating Entities may terminate an order, in whole or 
in part, immediately upon notice to Vendor in the event of any of the following events:   
 

1. The Participating Entity fails to receive funding or appropriation from its governing body 
at levels sufficient to pay for the goods to be purchased; 
2. Federal,  state, or provincial laws or regulations prohibit the purchase or change the 
Participating Entity’s requirements; or 
3. Vendor commits any material breach of this Contract or the additional terms agreed to 
between the Vendor and a Participating Entity. 

 
E. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE. The governing law and venue for any action related to a 
Participating Entity’s order will be determined by the Participating Entity making the purchase.   
 

7. CUSTOMER SERVICE 
 
A. PRIMARY ACCOUNT REPRESENTATIVE. Vendor will assign an Account Representative to 
Sourcewell for this Contract and must provide prompt notice to Sourcewell if that person is 
changed. The Account Representative will be responsible for: 
  

Page 242 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           6 
 

 Maintenance and management of this Contract; 
 Timely response to all Sourcewell and Participating Entity inquiries; and 
 Business reviews to Sourcewell and Participating Entities, if applicable. 

 
B. BUSINESS REVIEWS. Vendor must perform a minimum of one business review with 
Sourcewell per contract year. The business review will cover sales to Participating Entities, 
pricing and contract terms, administrative fees, supply issues, customer issues, and any other 
necessary information.  
 

8. REPORT ON CONTRACT SALES ACTIVITY AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEE PAYMENT 
 
A. CONTRACT SALES ACTIVITY REPORT. Each calendar quarter, Vendor must provide a contract 
sales activity report (Report) to the Sourcewell Contract Administrator assigned to this 
Contract. A Report must be provided regardless of the number or amount of sales during that 
quarter (i.e., if there are no sales, Vendor must submit a report indicating no sales were made).  
 
The Report must contain the following fields: 
 

 Customer Name (e.g., City of Staples Highway Department); 
 Customer Physical Street Address; 
 Customer City; 
 Customer State/Province; 
 Customer Zip Code; 
 Customer Contact Name; 
 Customer Contact Email Address; 
 Customer Contact Telephone Number; 
 Sourcewell Assigned Entity/Participating Entity Number; 
 Item Purchased Description; 
 Item Purchased Price;  
 Sourcewell Administrative Fee Applied; and 
 Date Purchase was invoiced/sale was recognized as revenue by Vendor. 

 
B. ADMINISTRATIVE FEE. In consideration for the support and services provided by Sourcewell, 
the Vendor will pay an administrative fee to Sourcewell on all Equipment, Products, and 
Services provided to Participating Entities. The Administrative Fee must be included in, and not 
added to, the pricing. Vendor may not charge Participating Entities more than the contracted 
price to offset the Administrative Fee. 
 
The Vendor will submit payment to Sourcewell for the percentage of administrative fee stated 
in the Proposal multiplied by the total sales of all Equipment, Products, and Services purchased 
by Participating Entities under this Contract during each calendar quarter. Payments should 
note the Vendor’s name and Sourcewell-assigned contract number in the memo; and must be 

Page 243 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           7 
 

mailed to the address above “Attn: Accounts Receivable” or remitted electronically to 
Sourcewell’s banking institution per Sourcewell’s Finance department instructions. Payments 
must be received no later than 45 calendar days after the end of each calendar quarter. 

 
Vendor agrees to cooperate with Sourcewell in auditing transactions under this Contract to 
ensure that the administrative fee is paid on all items purchased under this Contract. 

 
In the event the Vendor is delinquent in any undisputed administrative fees, Sourcewell 
reserves the right to cancel this Contract and reject any proposal submitted by the Vendor in 
any subsequent solicitation. In the event this Contract is cancelled by either party prior to the 
Contract’s expiration date, the administrative fee payment will be due no more than 30 days 
from the cancellation date.  
 

9. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 
 
Sourcewell's Authorized Representative is its Chief Procurement Officer.   

 
Vendor’s Authorized Representative is the person named in the Vendor’s Proposal. If Vendor’s 
Authorized Representative changes at any time during this Contract, Vendor must promptly 
notify Sourcewell in writing. 

 
10. AUDIT, ASSIGNMENT, AMENDMENTS, WAIVER, AND CONTRACT COMPLETE 

 
A. AUDIT. Pursuant to Minnesota Statutes Section 16C.05, subdivision 5, the books, records, 
documents, and accounting procedures and practices relevant to this Agreement are subject to 
examination by Sourcewell or the Minnesota State Auditor for a minimum of six years from the 
end of this Contract. This clause extends to Participating Entities as it relates to business 
conducted by that Participating Entity under this Contract. 
 
B. ASSIGNMENT. Neither the Vendor nor Sourcewell may assign or transfer any rights or 
obligations under this Contract without the prior consent of the parties and a fully executed 
assignment agreement. Such consent will not be unreasonably withheld.     
 
C. AMENDMENTS. Any amendment to this Contract must be in writing and will not be effective 
until it has been fully executed by the parties.   
 
D. WAIVER. If either party fails to enforce any provision of this Contract, that failure does not 
waive the provision or the right to enforce it. 
 
E. CONTRACT COMPLETE. This Contract contains all negotiations and agreements between 
Sourcewell and Vendor. No other understanding regarding this Contract, whether written or 
oral, may be used to bind either party. For any conflict between the attached Proposal and the 
terms set out in Articles 1-22, the terms of Articles 1-22 will govern. 

Page 244 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           8 
 

 
F. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES. The relationship of the parties is one of independent 
contractors, each free to exercise judgment and discretion with regard to the conduct of their 
respective businesses. This Contract does not create a partnership, joint venture, or any other 
relationship such as master-servant, or principal-agent.  

 
11. LIABILITY 

  
Vendor must indemnify, save, and hold Sourcewell and its Participating Entities, including their 
agents and employees, harmless from any claims or causes of action, including injury or death 
to persons or property and attorneys’ fees, alleged to have been caused by some defect in the 
Equipment, Products, or Services under this Contract to the extent the Equipment, Product, or 
Service has been used according to its specifications and operating instructions. 

 
12. GOVERNMENT DATA PRACTICES 

 
Vendor and Sourcewell must comply with the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, 
Minnesota Statutes Chapter 13, as it applies to all data provided by or provided to Sourcewell 
under this Contract and as it applies to all data created, collected, received, stored, used, 
maintained, or disseminated by the Vendor under this Contract.  
 
If the Vendor receives a request to release the data referred to in this article, the Vendor must 
immediately notify Sourcewell and Sourcewell will assist with how the Vendor should respond 
to the request. 
 

13. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PUBLICITY, MARKETING, AND ENDORSEMENT 
 

A. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
1. Grant of License. During the term of this Contract: 

a. Sourcewell grants to Vendor a royalty-free, worldwide, non-exclusive right and 
license to use theTrademark(s) provided to Vendor by Sourcewell in advertising and 
promotional materials for the purpose of marketing Sourcewell’s relationship with 
Vendor. 
b. Vendor grants to Sourcewell a royalty-free, worldwide, non-exclusive right and 
license to use Vendor’s Trademarks in advertising and promotional materials for the 
purpose of marketing Vendor’s relationship with Sourcewell. 

2. Limited Right of Sublicense. The right and license granted herein includes a limited right 
of each party to grant sublicenses to its and their respective distributors, marketing 
representatives, and agents (collectively “Permitted Sublicensees”) in advertising and 
promotional materials for the purpose of marketing the Parties’ relationship to Participating 
Entities. Any sublicense granted will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Article. 
Each party will be responsible for any breach of this Article by any of their respective 
sublicensees.  

Page 245 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           9 
 

3. Use; Quality Control.  
a. Sourcewell must not alter Vendor’s Trademarks from the form provided by 
Vendor and must comply with Vendor’s removal requests as to specific uses of its 
trademarks or logos.   
b. Vendor must not alter Sourcewell’s Trademarks from the form provided by 
Sourcewell and must comply with Sourcewell’s removal requests as to specific uses 
of its trademarks or logos.   
c. Each party agrees to use, and to cause its Permitted Sublicensees to use, the 
other party’s Trademarks only in good faith and in a dignified manner consistent 
with such party’s use of the Trademarks. Upon written notice to the breaching party, 
the breaching party has 30 days of the date of the written notice to cure the breach 
or the license will be terminated.  

4. As applicable, Vendor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Sourcewell and its 
Participating Entities against any and all suits, claims, judgments, and costs instituted or 
recovered against Sourcewell or Participating Entities by any person on account of the use 
of any Equipment or Products by Sourcewell or its Participating Entities supplied by Vendor 
in violation of applicable patent or copyright laws. 
5. Termination. Upon the termination of this Contract for any reason, each party, including 
Permitted Sublicensees, will have 30 days to remove all Trademarks from signage, websites, 
and the like bearing the other party’s name or logo (excepting Sourcewell’s pre-printed 
catalog of vendors which may be used until the next printing).  Vendor must return all 
marketing and promotional materials, including signage, provided by Sourcewell, or dispose 
of it according to Sourcewell’s written directions. 

 
B. PUBLICITY. Any publicity regarding the subject matter of this Contract must not be released 
without prior written approval from the Authorized Representatives. Publicity includes notices, 
informational pamphlets, press releases, research, reports, signs, and similar public notices 
prepared by or for the Vendor individually or jointly with others, or any subcontractors, with 
respect to the program, publications, or services provided resulting from this Contract. 
 
C. MARKETING. Any direct advertising, marketing, or offers with Participating Entities must be 
approved by Sourcewell. Materials should be sent to the Sourcewell Contract Administrator 
assigned to this Contract.   
 
D. ENDORSEMENT. The Vendor must not claim that Sourcewell endorses its Equipment, 
Products, or Services. 

 
14. GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

 
Minnesota law governs this Contract. Venue for all legal proceedings out of this Contract, or its 
breach, must be in the appropriate state court in Todd County or federal court in Fergus Falls, 
Minnesota.  
 

Page 246 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           10 
 

15. FORCE MAJEURE 
 
Neither party to this Contract will be held responsible for delay or default caused by acts of God 
or other conditions that are beyond that party’s reasonable control. A party defaulting under 
this provision must provide the other party prompt written notice of the default. 
 

16. SEVERABILITY 
 
If any provision of this Contract is found to be illegal, unenforceable, or void then both 
Sourcewell and Vendor will be relieved of all obligations arising under such provisions. If the 
remainder of this Contract is capable of performance, it will not be affected by such declaration 
or finding and must be fully performed. 
 

17. PERFORMANCE, DEFAULT, AND REMEDIES 
 
A. PERFORMANCE. During the term of this Contract, the parties will monitor performance and 
address unresolved contract issues as follows:  
 

1. Notification. The parties must promptly notify each other of any known dispute and 
work in good faith to resolve such dispute within a reasonable period of time. If necessary, 
Sourcewell and the Vendor will jointly develop a short briefing document that describes the 
issue(s), relevant impact, and positions of both parties.  
2. Escalation. If parties are unable to resolve the issue in a timely manner, as specified 
above, either Sourcewell or Vendor may escalate the resolution of the issue to a higher 
level of management. A Party will have 30 calendar days to cure an outstanding issue.  
3. Performance while Dispute is Pending. Notwithstanding the existence of a dispute, the 
Vendor must continue without delay to carry out all of its responsibilities under the 
Contract that are not affected by the dispute. If the Vendor fails to continue without delay 
to perform its responsibilities under the Contract, in the accomplishment of all undisputed 
work, any additional costs incurred by Sourcewell and/or its Participating Entities as a result 
of such failure to proceed will be borne by the Vendor. 

 
B. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES. Either of the following constitutes cause to declare this Contract, 
or any Participating Entity order under this Contract, in default:   

 
1. Nonperformance of contractual requirements, or  
2. A material breach of any term or condition of this Contract.   

 
Written notice of default and a reasonable opportunity to cure must be issued by the party 
claiming default. Time allowed for cure will not diminish or eliminate any liability for liquidated 
or other damages. If the default remains after the opportunity for cure, the non-defaulting 
party may: 
 

Page 247 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           11 
 

 Exercise any remedy provided by law or equity, or 
 Terminate the Contract or any portion thereof, including any orders issued against the 

Contract. 
 

18. INSURANCE 
  
A. REQUIREMENTS. At its own expense, Vendor must maintain insurance policy(ies) in effect at 
all times during the performance of this Contract with insurance company(ies) licensed or 
authorized to do business in the State of Minnesota having an “AM BEST” rating of A- or better, 
with coverage and limits of insurance not less than the following:  

 
1. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability.  
Workers’ Compensation: As required by any applicable law or regulation.  
Employer's Liability Insurance: must be provided in amounts not less than listed below: 

Minimum limits: 
$500,000 each accident for bodily injury by accident 
$500,000 policy limit for bodily injury by disease 
$500,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease 

  
2. Commercial General Liability Insurance. Vendor will maintain insurance covering its 
operations, with coverage on an occurrence basis, and must be subject to terms no less 
broad than the Insurance Services Office (“ISO”) Commercial General Liability Form 
CG0001 (2001 or newer edition), or equivalent. At a minimum, coverage must include 
liability arising from premises, operations, bodily injury and property damage, 
independent contractors, products-completed operations including construction defect, 
contractual liability, blanket contractual liability, and personal injury and advertising 
injury. All required limits, terms and conditions of coverage must be maintained during 
the term of this Contract. 

 Minimum Limits:  
$1,000,000 each occurrence Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
$1,000,000 Personal and Advertising Injury 
$2,000,000 aggregate for Products-Completed operations  
$2,000,000 general aggregate 

 
3. Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance. During the term of this Contract, Vendor 
will maintain insurance covering all owned, hired, and non-owned automobiles in limits 
of liability not less than indicated below. The coverage must be subject to terms no less 
broad than ISO Business Auto Coverage Form CA 0001 (2010 edition or newer), or 
equivalent. 

 Minimum Limits: 
$1,000,000 each accident, combined single limit 

 

Page 248 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           12 
 

4. Umbrella Insurance. During the term of this Contract, Vendor will maintain umbrella 
coverage over Workers’ Compensation, Commercial General Liability, and Commercial 
Automobile. 

 Minimum Limits: 
$2,000,000  

 
Failure of Vendor to maintain the required insurance will constitute a material breach entitling 
Sourcewell to immediately terminate this Contract for default.  
 
B. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE. Prior to commencing under this Contract, Vendor must furnish 
to Sourcewell a certificate of insurance, as evidence of the insurance required under this 
Contract. Prior to expiration of the policy(ies), renewal certificates must be mailed to 
Sourcewell, 202 12th Street Northeast, P.O. Box 219, Staples, MN 56479 or sent to the 
Sourcewell Contract Administrator assigned to this Contract. The certificates must be signed by 
a person authorized by the insurer(s) to bind coverage on their behalf. 
 
Failure to request certificates of insurance by Sourcewell, or failure of Vendor to provide 
certificates of insurance, in no way limits or relieves Vendor of its duties and responsibilities in 
this Contract. 
 
C. ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT AND PRIMARY AND NON-CONTRIBUTORY 
INSURANCE CLAUSE. Vendor agrees to list Sourcewell and its Participating Entities, including 
their officers, agents, and employees, as an additional insured under the Vendor’s commercial 
general liability insurance policy with respect to liability arising out of activities, “operations,” or 
“work” performed by or on behalf of Vendor, and products and completed operations of 
Vendor. The policy provision(s) or endorsement(s) must further provide that coverage is 
primary and not excess over or contributory with any other valid, applicable, and collectible 
insurance or self-insurance in force for the additional insureds.   
 
D. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. Vendor waives and must require (by endorsement or 
otherwise) all its insurers to waive subrogation rights against Sourcewell and other additional 
insureds for losses paid under the insurance policies required by this Contract or other 
insurance applicable to the Vendor or its subcontractors. The waiver must apply to all 
deductibles and/or self-insured retentions applicable to the required or any other insurance 
maintained by the Vendor or its subcontractors. Where permitted by law, Vendor must require 
similar written express waivers of subrogation and insurance clauses from each of its 
subcontractors.   
 
E. UMBRELLA/EXCESS LIABILITY/SELF-INSURED RETENTION. The limits required by this 
Contract can be met by either providing a primary policy or in combination with 
umbrella/excess liability policy(ies), or self-insured retention. 
 

Page 249 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           13 
 

19. COMPLIANCE 
 
A. LAWS AND REGULATIONS. All Equipment, Products, or Services provided under this 
Contract must comply fully with applicable federal laws and regulations, and with the laws in 
the states and provinces in which the Equipment, Products, or Services are sold.  
 
B. LICENSES. Vendor must maintain a valid and current status on all required federal, 
state/provincial, and local licenses, bonds, and permits required for the operation of the 
business that the Vendor conducts with Sourcewell and Participating Entities. 

 
20. BANKRUPTCY, DEBARMENT, OR SUSPENSION CERTIFICATION 

 
Vendor certifies and warrants that it is not in bankruptcy or that it has previously disclosed in 
writing certain information to Sourcewell related to bankruptcy actions. If at any time during 
this Contract Vendor declares bankruptcy, Vendor must immediately notify Sourcewell in 
writing. 
 
Vendor certifies and warrants that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, 
suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from programs 
operated by the State of Minnesota; the United States federal government or the Canadian 
government, as applicable; or any Participating Entity. Vendor certifies and warrants that 
neither it nor its principals have been convicted of a criminal offense related to the subject 
matter of this Contract. Vendor further warrants that it will provide immediate written notice 
to Sourcewell if this certification changes at any time. 
 

21. PROVISIONS FOR NON-UNITED STATES FEDERAL ENTITY PROCUREMENTS UNDER 
UNITED STATES FEDERAL AWARDS OR OTHER AWARDS 

 
Participating Entities that use United States federal grant or FEMA funds to purchase goods or 
services from this Contract may be subject to additional requirements including the 
procurement standards of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards, 2 C.F.R. § 200. Participating Entities may also require 
additional requirements based on specific funding specifications. Within this Article, all 
references to “federal” should be interpreted to mean the United States federal government. 
The following list only applies when a Participating Entity accesses Vendor’s Equipment, 
Products, or Services with United States federal funds. 
 
A. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY. Except as otherwise provided under 41 C.F.R. § 60, all 
contracts that meet the definition of “federally assisted construction contract” in 41 C.F.R. § 60-
1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause provided under 41 C.F.R. §60-1.4(b), in 
accordance with Executive Order 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” (30 FR 12319, 
12935, 3 C.F.R. §, 1964-1965 Comp., p. 339), as amended by Executive Order 11375, “Amending 
Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” and implementing 

Page 250 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           14 
 

regulations at 41 C.F.R. § 60, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal 
Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor.” The equal opportunity clause is incorporated 
herein by reference. 
 
B. DAVIS-BACON ACT, AS AMENDED (40 U.S.C. § 3141-3148). When required by federal 
program legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by non-
federal entities must include a provision for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. § 
3141-3144, and 3146-3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. § 5, 
“Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted 
Construction”). In accordance with the statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to 
laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage 
determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors must be required to pay 
wages not less than once a week. The non-federal entity must place a copy of the current 
prevailing wage determination issued by the Department of Labor in each solicitation. The 
decision to award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the 
wage determination. The non-federal entity must report all suspected or reported violations to 
the federal awarding agency. The contracts must also include a provision for compliance with 
the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. § 3145), as supplemented by Department of Labor 
regulations (29 C.F.R. § 3, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work 
Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States”). The Act provides that 
each contractor or subrecipient must be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person 
employed in the construction, completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the 
compensation to which he or she is otherwise entitled. The non-federal entity must report 
all suspected or reported violations to the federal awarding agency. Vendor must be in 
compliance with all applicable Davis-Bacon Act provisions. 
 
C. CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT (40 U.S.C. § 3701-3708). Where 
applicable, all contracts awarded by the non-federal entity in excess of $100,000 that involve 
the employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision for compliance with 40 
U.S.C. §§ 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. § 5). 
Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of 
every mechanic and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess 
of the standard work week is permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of 
not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 
hours in the work week. The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction 
work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or 
under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements 
do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on the 
open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence. This provision is 
hereby incorporated by reference into this Contract. Vendor certifies that during the term of an 
award for all contracts by Sourcewell resulting from this procurement process, Vendor must 
comply with applicable requirements as referenced above. 
 

Page 251 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           15 
 

D. RIGHTS TO INVENTIONS MADE UNDER A CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT. If the federal award 
meets the definition of “funding agreement” under 37 C.F.R. § 401.2(a) and the recipient or 
subrecipient wishes to enter into a contract with a small business firm or nonprofit organization 
regarding the substitution of parties, assignment or performance of experimental, 
developmental, or research work under that “funding agreement,” the recipient or subrecipient 
must comply with the requirements of 37 C.F.R. § 401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit 
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative 
Agreements,” and any implementing regulations issued by the awarding agency. Vendor 
certifies that during the term of an award for all contracts by Sourcewell resulting from this 
procurement process, Vendor must comply with applicable requirements as referenced above. 
 
E. CLEAN AIR ACT (42 U.S.C. § 7401-7671Q.) AND THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL 
ACT (33 U.S.C. § 1251-1387). Contracts and subgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 require 
the non-federal award to agree to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations 
issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401- 7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. § 1251- 1387). Violations must be reported to the Federal 
awarding agency and the Regional Office of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Vendor 
certifies that during the term of this Contract will comply with applicable requirements as 
referenced above. 
 
F. DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (EXECUTIVE ORDERS 12549 AND 12689). A contract award 
(see 2 C.F.R. § 180.220) must not be made to parties listed on the government wide exclusions 
in the System for Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 C.F.R. 
§180 that implement Executive Orders 12549 (3 C.F.R. § 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 
C.F.R. § 1989 Comp., p. 235), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names 
of parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared 
ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549. Vendor 
certifies that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation by any federal 
department or agency. 
 
G. BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT, AS AMENDED (31 U.S.C. § 1352). Vendors must file 
any required certifications. Vendors must not have used federal appropriated funds to pay any 
person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member 
of Congress in connection with obtaining any federal contract, grant, or any other award 
covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Vendors must disclose any lobbying with non-federal funds that 
takes place in connection with obtaining any federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded 
from tier to tier up to the non-federal award. Vendors must file all certifications and disclosures 
required by, and otherwise comply with, the Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. § 
1352). 
 

Page 252 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           16 
 

H. RECORD RETENTION REQUIREMENTS. To the extent applicable, Vendor must comply with 
the record retention requirements detailed in 2 C.F.R. § 200.333. The Vendor further certifies 
that it will retain all records as required by 2 C.F.R. § 200.333 for a period of 3 years after 
grantees or subgrantees submit final expenditure reports or quarterly or annual financial 
reports, as applicable, and all other pending matters are closed. 
 
I. ENERGY POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT COMPLIANCE. To the extent applicable, Vendor 
must comply with the mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are 
contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy 
and Conservation Act. 
 
J. BUY AMERICAN PROVISIONS COMPLIANCE. To the extent applicable, Vendor must comply 
with all applicable provisions of the Buy American Act. Purchases made in accordance with the 
Buy American Act must follow the applicable procurement rules calling for free and open 
competition. 
 
K. ACCESS TO RECORDS (2 C.F.R. § 200.336). Vendor agrees that duly authorized 
representatives of a federal agency must have access to any books, documents, papers and 
records of Vendor that are directly pertinent to Vendor’s discharge of its obligations under this 
Contract for the purpose of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and transcriptions. The right 
also includes timely and reasonable access to Vendor’s personnel for the purpose of interview 
and discussion relating to such documents. 
 
L. PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS (2 C.F.R. § 200.322). A non-federal entity that is 
a state agency or agency of a political subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply 
with Section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act. The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in 
guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 C.F.R. § 247 that contain the 
highest percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a 
satisfactory level of competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the 
value of the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000; procuring 
solid waste management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; 
and establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered materials 
identified in the EPA guidelines.  
 

22. CANCELLATION 
 

Sourcewell or Vendor may cancel this Contract at any time, with or without cause, upon 60 
days’ written notice to the other party. However, Sourcewell may cancel this Contract 
immediately upon discovery of a material defect in any certification made in Vendor’s Proposal.  
Cancellation of this Contract does not relieve either party of financial, product, or service 
obligations incurred or accrued prior to cancellation. 
 

Page 253 of 309



031121-TTC 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           17 
 

 
Sourcewell            The Toro Company 

 
 

By: __________________________ By: __________________________ 
Jeremy Schwartz Brad Hamilton 

Title: Chief Procurement Officer Title: Group VP 
 
Date: ________________________ 

 
Date: ________________________ 

Approved:  
  

By: __________________________ 

 

Chad Coauette  
Title: Executive Director/CEO  
 
Date: ________________________ 

 

 
 

Page 254 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 255 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 256 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 257 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 258 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 259 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 260 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 261 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 262 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 263 of 309



★

★

★
★

★

★
★
★

★

★

★

★

Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 264 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 265 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 266 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 267 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 268 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 269 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 270 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 271 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 272 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 273 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 274 of 309



Exceptions to Terms, Conditions, or Specifications Form 
 
Only those proposer Exceptions to Terms, Conditions, or Specifications that have been accepted by Sourcewell have been 
incorporated into the contract text. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company 
Page 275 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 276 of 309



Bid Number: RFP 031121 Vendor Name: The Toro Company

Page 277 of 309



Sourcewell Contract #031121-TTC | Amendment #1 
Page 1 of 2 

AMENDMENT #1 
TO  

CONTRACT # 031121-TTC 
 
 
THIS AMENDMENT is by and between Sourcewell and The Toro Company (Vendor).  
 
Sourcewell awarded a contract to Vendor to provide Grounds Maintenance Equipment, 
Attachments, and Accessories with Related Services to Sourcewell and its Participating Entities, 
effective April 29, 2021, through April 30, 2025 (Contract). 
 
The parties wish to amend the following terms within the Contract.  

 
1. This Amendment is effective upon the date of the last signature below. 

 
2. Vendor wishes to modify its pricing model to offer Product-category discounts off of 

current MSRP will apply as described in items 54-60. In Canada, the pricing model will be 
US MSRP multiplied by the exchange rate at the time of order (exchange rate based on 
the monthly average published rate at the time of order, according to the Bank of 
Canada – Monthly Exchange Rate). This creates a new MSRP for Canada and then the 
discount off that price is applied. Bank of Canada – Monthly Exchange Rate: 
https://www.bankofcanada.ca/rates/exchange/monthly-exchange-rates/  
 

3. Vendor will offer a “Smart Value” volume discount that includes the following incentive 
for individual large orders. 

 
Toro Commercial 

Purchases 
Customer 

Goods 
 Toro Commercial 

Purchases 
Customer 

Goods 
$ 150K - $ 199K 
$ 200K - $ 249K 
$ 250K - $ 299K 
$ 300K - $ 349K 
$ 350K - $ 399K 
$ 400K - $ 449K 
$ 450K - $ 499K 
$ 500K - $ 549K 

$ 4,500 
$ 6,000 

$ 10,000 
$ 12,000 
$ 14,000 
$ 16,000 
$ 18,000 
$ 20,000 

 $ 550K - $ 599K 
$ 600K - $ 649K 
$ 650K - $ 699K 
$ 700K - $ 749K 
$ 750K - $ 799K 
$ 800K - $ 849K 
$ 850K - $ 899K 

$ 900K* 

$ 22,000 
$ 24,000 
$ 26,000 
$ 28,000 
$ 30,000 
$ 32,000 
$ 34,000 
$ 36,000 

 
Only single Purchase Orders (POs) on Toro Commercial Equipment qualify. Multiple POs 
may not be combined to qualify. 
 
Vendor-authorized distributors/dealers understand these are ceiling prices and may 
choose to provide additional discounts based on unit quantity or total purchase volume. 
 

Page 278 of 309



Sourcewell Contract #031121-TTC | Amendment #1 
Page 2 of 2 

4. Vendor-authorized distributors/dealers may provide third-part equipment that attach 
to, or are used in, the configuration with any of Toro’s products. These products will be 
priced no higher than the products List Price. 
 
Freight and setup fees may apply. 
 
Vendor-authorized distributors/dealers may include setup fees – not to exceed 2% of 
the total Product cost, plus up to an additional 6% for cab-unit setups. Setup fees must 
be identified as a separate line- item on the quotation. 
 
For the contiguous United States, delivery fees may be included at the 
distributor/dealer discretion – not to exceed 2% of the total product cost. Delivery fees 
must be identified as a separate line-item on the quotation. 
 
For Alaska, Hawaii, US Islands, and Canada, freight and delivery fees may be included at 
distributor/dealer discretion – delivery fees not to exceed 2% of the total product cost; 
freight not to exceed actual pass-through costs. Freight and deliver fees must be 
identified as a separate line-item on the quotation. 
 

5. Vendor will encourage and incent its authorized dealers to provide contract terms to 
Sourcewell members consistent with the terms of this Amendment; however, 
participation in the program described in the Amendment will be at the discretion of 
each Toro dealer. 

 
Except as amended by this Amendment, the Contract remains in full force and effect. 
 
Sourcewell      The Toro Company 
 
 
By:       By:      
Jeremy Schwartz, Chief Procurement Officer  Brad Hamilton 
 
Date:        Title:        
 
Approved:      Date:       
  
 
By:      
Chad Coauette, Executive Director/CEO   
 
Date:       

Page 279 of 309



ITEM G.3. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Board of Trustees 

THROUGH: Kate Nelson, Interim Public Works Director 

FROM: Hudson Klein, Principal Engineer  

SUBJECT: Review and discuss the Total Project Cost for completion of Phase 2 
of the Effluent Export Pipeline including the negotiated schedule of 
values, risk reserve, contingency, and administration/inspection 
requirements prepared for Guaranted Maximum Price (GMP)2; 
2023/2024 Capital Improvement Project; Fund: Utilites; Division: 
Sewer; Project #2524SS1010 and provide direction on finalizing the 
CMAR contract for GMP2. (Requesting Staff Member: Interim 
Director of Public Works Kate Nelson) 

RELATED STRATEGIC 
PLAN BUDGET 
INITIATIVE(S): 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

• Budgeted Initiatives C - Work with
CMAR and design consultants to
finalize design and begin construction of 
the Effluent Export Pipeline Project.

• Budgeted Initiatives D - Allocate capital
expenditures to maintain services and
facilities.

RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

Board Policies 12.1.0 Multi-year Capital 
Planning; 13.2.0 Capital Planning Capital 
Expenditures; 21.1.0 Purchasing Policy for 
Public Works Contracts 

DATE: October 25, 2023 

I. RECOMMENDATION 

Page 280 of 309



That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to: 

1. Approve Granite Construction as the CMAR for the Construction of GMP2.  
2. Direct Staff to finalize a contract for the completion of Phase 2 of the 

Effluent Export Pipeline with Granite Construction as CMAR under GMP2 
at the Nov. 8, 2022 Board of Trustees meeting. 

  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
On August 30, 2023, Staff presented a report to the Board summarizing the 
estimated total project cost for Phase 2 of the Effluent Export Pipeline inclusive of 
all design, administration and construction costs from GMP1 and the 100% 
Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC) for GMP2 following initial 
contract negotiations with Granite Construction, Construction Manager at Risk 
(CMAR). The OPCC was prepared in July 2023 and at that time, Staff were 
engaged in application processes for financial assistance from the US Army 
Corps of Engineers (USACE) under Section 595 of the Water Resources 
Development Act. Therefore, the July 2023 OPCC did not include a competitive 
subcontractor bidding process as the USACE requires completion of a formal 
project environmental assessment process prior to solicitation of public bids. 
 
The July 2023 OPCC included a GMP2 construction cost estimate of $39.8M, a 
risk reserve of $7.5M, and $2.85M in administrative and inspection costs ($50.1M 
GMP2 total). Total project cost was estimated at $64.1M, inclusive of $14M for 
GMP1. 
 
The revised total project cost is currently $63.7M as outlined in the table below: 
 
 

GMP1 Total Cost $14M 
($9.4M CMAR/$1.5M Risk/$3.2M 
Admin & Material Pruchase) 

GMP2 Direct/Construction Cost $40.2M 

Rosk Reserve (IVGID Controlled) $6.7M 

Contract Contingency, Admin & Inspection  $2.8M 

TOTAL PROJECT COST $63.7M 
 
The GMP2 project costs were developed by Granite and IVGID Staff following 
several project debrief meetings to review construction activity, safety practices, 
rock investigation, and lessons learned from GMP1. Final GMP2 cost figures 
were reviewed and negotiated during multiple cost-reconciliation, risk review, and 
project scheduling meetings with Granite personnel and IVGID Staff as well as 
two Trustees present for some of the review meetings. 
 

Page 281 of 309



Adjustments to unit rates, direct construction costs, and risk reserve incorporated 
increased productivity allowance, information from extensive investigation of 
existing rock formations (refer to Attachment A) along the GMP2 pipeline 
alignment, revised pressure testing methodology, CMAR project staffing 
utilization, formal material and subcontractor bids, and a reduction in the 
aggregate CMAR fee (refer to Section VI - Comments). 
 
Once final pay applications and substantial completion for GMP1 is issued, Staff 
anticipates 'release' of remaining contingency, risk reserve (Attachment B), and 
unused administration and inspection fees. This is currently estimated at $1M. 
Refer to Section IV -Financial Impact for additional description of the overall 
financial impact. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
Granite completed subcontractor bid solicitation as part of the required CMAR 
process in September 2023; the bid results were opened in front of Staff on 
September 29 and October 3, 2023. The recommended selections were 
presented to Staff on October 3, 2023 and Staff agreed with the CMAR 
recommendations for subcontractor selection. 
 
The selected subcontractor bid results are incorporated in the total project costs 
table presented in Section II - Background. 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
The current total project cost estimate is $63.7M; Staff anticipates a reduction to 
$62.7M following the closeout of GMP1 and the 'release' of unused 
risk/contingency/admin budget. If the GMP2 risk reserve and contract 
contingency are not fully exhausted, there will be additional total project cost 
reductions realized at the completion of GMP2 and project closeout; for example, 
if half of the GMP2 risk reserve and contingency is used, the total project cost 
would be $60.2M. 
 
The total estimated funding needed to award GMP2 (inclusive of risk register), 
IVGID management, HDR, Inspection and Testing, Funding Administration, 
Contract Contingency, Start-up Design/Permitting is approximately $49,723,000.  
 
Funding currently available for the project is $36.98M in remaining SRF Loan 
Funds, $1.6M in EPA Community Grant Funds, and $15.4M in Utility Funds, 
totaling $53,980,000. 
 
Staff continues to pursue Section 595 grant funding with the USACE for GMP2. 
Staff is currently awaiting the approved USACE amendment to the existing 
Project Partnership Agreement (PPA) for Effluent Pipeline project funding 
(Increment 2). 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
There are no advisable alternatives proposed by Staff at this time.  

Page 282 of 309



 
VI. COMMENTS  
GMP2 includes an allowance for the previously agreed 14% CMAR fee. 
However, as part of GMP2 contract negotiations, Granite Construction 
recommended removal of the pipeline material purchase from direct pipe 
installation unit rate (subject to the 14% fee) and to instead apply a reduced 5% 
administration and handling fee to the material purchase. The result to the GMP2 
overall CMAR fee was a net reduction from 14% to 12.7% ($466k or 8% of total 
project CMAR fee).  
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
This item is not a "rule" within the meaning of Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 
237, and does not require a Business Impact Statement.  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. ATTACHMENT A - Rock Investigation Summary 
2. ATTACHMENT B - EEP GMP 2 Risk Register_ 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
That the Board of Trustess makes a motion to: 

1. Approve Granite Construction as the CMAR for the Construction of GMP2.  
2. Direct Staff to finalize a contract for the completion of Phase 2 of the 

Effluent Export Pipeline with Granite Construction as CMAR under GMP2. 

 

Page 283 of 309



- Horiz. Gridlines = 500LF (400+00 to 450+00 = 5,000LF)

- Indicates confirmed rock locations

ATTACHMENT B

Page 284 of 309

hwk
Rectangle

hwk_1
Rectangle

hwk_2
Stamp

Bree Waters_1
Text Box
ATTACHMENT A



ATTACHMENT B

Page 285 of 309



Page 286 of 309



Page 287 of 309



Page 288 of 309



      MEMORANDUM         Item G.4.

TO: Board of Trustees

THROUGH: Mike Bandelin
Interim District General Manager

FROM: Bobby Magee 
Interim Director of Finance

SUBJECT: Review, discuss and possibly approve augmentations to the 
Fiscal Year the 2023/24 approved budget to reflect carry-
forward of available appropriations from the 2022/23 budget 
in support of ongoing capital improvement (per NRS 
354.598005 procedures for augmentation) and other projects 
with funding provided in the prior fiscal year, subject to further 
context provided in the discussion and background sections 
of this memorandum, and the attachments hereto.

STRATEGIC PLAN: Long Range Principle #2 - Finance

DATE: October 25, 2023

I. RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to approve augmentation of the 2023/24 
approved budget to reflect carry-forward of available appropriations from the 2022/23 
budget in support of ongoing capital improvement and other projects with funding 
provided in the prior fiscal year, subject to further context provided in the discussion and 
background sections of this memorandum, and the attachments hereto.   

II. BACKGROUND

At the meeting of May 25, 2023, the Board of Trustees approved the District’s 
2023/24 budget which included Capital Improvement Program appropriations 
totaling $72,536,886 funded through $72,424,443 in new appropriations and 
$112,443 in net carry-forward appropriations from the 2022/23 capital budget 
supporting ongoing projects. In addition, the 2023/24 approved budget included 
capital plan expense items with appropriations totaling $1,379,500.

The carry-forward appropriations included in the 2023/24 final budget approved on 
May 25, 2023 were limited to estimates of available General Fund appropriations 
supporting ongoing capital improvement and other projects funded in the prior 
fiscal year’s budget.

Page 289 of 309



Review, discuss and possibly approve augmentations to the Fiscal- -2- August 30, 2022
 Year 2023/24 approved budget to reflect carry-forward of available appropriations
 from the Fiscal Year 2022/23 budget to support ongoing capital improvement and other projects with
 funding provided in the prior fiscal year

Prior to 2021/22, the Board was asked to approve capital program carry-forward 
appropriations in conjunction with the approval of the annual budget, based on 
estimates of available funding expected to be remaining at the end of the fiscal 
year for specified projects. Starting with the adoption of the 2021/22 budget, Board 
action related to carry-forward appropriations has been deferred until early in the 
new fiscal year so that carry-forward appropriations are now based on actual funds 
available at the end of the fiscal year, rather than preliminary estimates. 

III. DISCUSSION

This item recommends Board approval to carry-forward an additional $20,186,725 
in available, unexpended 2022/23 capital budget appropriations to augment the 
2023/24 budget for ongoing projects. Of this amount, a total of $14,202,265 
represents encumbered appropriations as a result of executed contracts and 
purchase orders issued during 2022/23. The balance represents unencumbered 
appropriations for budgeted capital improvements, repair and maintenance 
projects, and equipment purchases that are planned to be implemented in the new 
2023/24 budget.

Attachment A provides a listing of available 2022/23 capital budget appropriations 
recommended for carry-forward to the 2023/24 budget, totaling $18,440,942 
across all funds. Attachment B provides a listing of available 2022/23 operating 
budget appropriations recommended for carry-forward to 2023/24 related to non-
capital projects, in the amount of $1,745,783.

The following table summarizes the recommended carry-forward appropriations 
from each category, across all funds:

Page 290 of 309



Review, discuss and possibly approve augmentations to the Fiscal- -3- August 30, 2022
 Year 2023/24 approved budget to reflect carry-forward of available appropriations
 from the Fiscal Year 2022/23 budget to support ongoing capital improvement and other projects with
 funding provided in the prior fiscal year

Capital vs. Expense Items. 
As part of the 2023/24 budget process, a total of $1,379,500 in project funding 
included in the capital plan was identified as operating expenses rather than capital 
assets to be depreciated. This includes funding for routine repairs and 
maintenance, individual items that fall below existing capitalization thresholds, and 
funds to support master plans and studies. These appropriations were budgeted 
as operating expenditures across applicable funds.

Of the carry-forward appropriation amount recommended for Board approval with 
this agenda item, $1,745,783 is supporting expenditures that do not meet 
capitalization criteria, and therefore will be appropriated to expense account codes 
within the 2023/24 budget. 

Attachments:

A) Recommended augmentations to the 2023/24 approved budget 
representing carry-forward appropriations for ongoing capital projects 
funded in the prior fiscal year.

B) Recommended augmentations to the 2023/24 approved budget 
representing carry-forward appropriations for ongoing non-capital projects 
funded in the prior fiscal year.

C) Project “Status” Definitions

FY2022/23
Capital Projects
(Attachment A)

FY2022/23
Expense 
Projects

(Attachment B)

Total FY2022/23
Carry-Forward
Appropriations

100-000 General 89,387$              32,762$              122,149$           
100-380 Parks 71,633 34,333 105,966
200-000 Utility 14,693,903 1,247,176 15,941,079
300-320 Golf 1,530,684 47,543 1,578,227
300-330 Facilities 17,891 62,800 80,691
300-340 Ski 1,374,426 36,905 1,411,331
300-350 Recreation 92,628 13,332 105,960
300-360 CS Admin - 33,644 33,644
300-370 Tennis - 7,604 7,604
390-000 Beach 570,390 229,684 800,075

18,440,942$      1,745,783$        20,186,725$      

Fund

Recommended FY 2022/23 Carry-Forward Appropriations

Page 291 of 309



Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment A

Fund / New TYLER FY2022/23 Final

BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available Project Status 

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget (8/31/22) Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget (6/30/23)

 Recommended 

Carryforward Encumbrance

General Fund

Accounting/Information Systems

1099OE1401 Replace Xerox Printer -                          24,197                       24,197                   24,197                      -                          Completed

1213BD2106 Network Closet Updates (HVAC) 15,000                   15,000                   -                            15,000                   Delayed 15,000                 

1213CE2101 Power Infrastructure Improvements 78,000                   (24,197)                      53,803                   25,272                      28,531                   Completed

1213CE2102 Network Upgrades - Switches, Controllers, WAP 285,000                 285,000                 235,613                    49,387                   In Progress 49,387                 49,387                

1213CE2104 Fiber Installation/Replacement 25,000                   25,000                   -                            25,000                   Delayed 25,000                 

1213CE2105 Security Cameras 100,000                 100,000                 92,659                      7,341                      Completed

1315CO1801 HRIS, Payroll, & Finance Software Implementation -                          -                          61,140                      (61,140)                  Xfer to Operating

Sub-Total 503,000                 -                                   -                               -                              -                              503,000                 438,881                    64,119                   89,387                 49,387                

General

4378LI2104 IVGID Community Dog Park 100,000                 100,000                 573                           99,427                   Ongoing

1099CE2201 CE23100100 Board Meeting - Technology Upgrades 30,000                   30,000                   3,095                        26,905                   In Progress

Sub-Total 130,000                 -                                   -                               -                              -                              130,000                 3,668                        126,332                 -                       -                       

 Total General Fund 633,000                 -                                   -                               -                              -                              633,000                 442,549                    190,451                 89,387                 49,387                

Utilities

Public Works Shared

2097CO2101 Public Works Billing Software Replacement -                          20,000                            20,000                   -                            20,000                   Delayed 20,000                 

2097HE1725 Loader Tire Chains - 2 sets -                          20,000                            6,352                          26,352                   -                            26,352                   In Progress - On Order 26,352                 26,352                

2097HE1729 2002 Caterpillar 950G Loader #523
-                          265,000                          (6,352)                        258,648                 -                            258,648                 In Progress - On Order 225,000               225,000              

2097HE1730 2003 Caterpillar 950G Loader #525 -                          265,000                          265,000                 -                            265,000                 In Progress - On Order 225,000               225,000              

2097LE1720 Snowplow #300A -                          19,000                            19,000                   -                            19,000                   In Progress 19,000                 

2097LE1721 Snowplow #307A -                          19,000                            19,000                   -                            19,000                   In Progress 19,000                 

2097LI1701 Pavement Maintenance, Reservoir 3-1 WPS 4-2/5-1 90,000                   130,000                          220,000                 -                            220,000                 In Progress 220,000               

2097LE2221 LV23200100 Medium Duty Truck Plow 16,500                   16,500                   16,564                      (64)                          Completed

2097LV2220 LV23200200 Chevy 1/2-Ton Pick-up Truck 37,200                   37,200                   37,166                      34                           Completed

Sub-Total 143,700                 738,000                          -                               -                              -                              881,700                 53,730                      827,970                 754,352               476,352              

Water

2299DI1707 Burnt Cedar Water Disinfection Plant Emerg. 

Generator Fuel Tank -                          137,429                          137,429                 14,766                      122,663                 In Progress - Multi Year 122,663               6,663                  

2299WS1705 Watermain Replacement - Crystal Peak Road 1,500,000              68,642                            (196,382)                    1,372,260              915,764                    456,496                 In Progress - Multi Year 456,496               418,748              

2299WS1802 Watermain Replacement - Alder Avenue
65,000                   65,000                   1,731                        63,269                   In Progress - Multi Year 62,956                 7,000                  

2299WS1706 Watermain Replacement Slott Peak Ct
72,230                            72,230                   25,306                      46,924                   Completed

2299DI1102 Water Pumping Station Improvements 50,000                   50,000                   33,565                      16,435                   Ongoing 16,435                 23,000                

2299DI1401 Burnt Cedar Water Disinfection Plant Improvements 25,000                   19,208                            44,208                   -                            44,208                   Ongoing 44,208                 12,807                

2299CO2203 SW23200100 LIMSs Software 55,000                   55,000                   -                            55,000                   See Footnote 1 55,000                 

Sub-Total 1,695,000              297,509                          -                               (196,382)                    -                              1,796,127              991,132                    804,995                 757,758               468,218              

Sewer -                          

2524SS1010 Effluent Pipeline Project
10,000,000            2,069,507                       1,936,993                  14,006,500            6,227,909                7,778,591              See Footnote 2 7,778,591           10,182,490        

2599SS2010 Effluent Pond Lining / Storage Tank
3,000,000              1,069,185                       4,069,185              573,443                    3,495,742              See Footnote 3 3,495,742           724,406              

2599DI1703 Sewer Pump Station #1 Improvements 500,000                 1,038,370                       1,538,370              10,759                      1,527,611              In Progress 1,527,611           

2599DI1104 Sewer Pumping Station Improvements 50,000                   50,000                   24,700                      25,300                   Ongoing 32,248                 14,885                

2599SS1102 Water Resource Recovery Facility Improvements 100,000                 86,607                            186,607                 94,046                      92,561                   Ongoing 92,561                 40,040                

2599SS1103 Wetlands Effluent Disposal Facility Improvements 100,000                 173,523                          273,523                 18,483                      255,040                 In Progress 255,040               200,524              

2599SS2107 Update Camera Equipment
60,000                            60,000                   49,465                      10,535                   Completed

Sub-Total
13,750,000            4,497,191                       -                               1,936,993                  -                              20,184,184            6,998,805                13,185,379            13,181,793         11,162,345        

 Total Utilities             15,588,700                         5,532,700                                    -                      1,740,611                                  -               22,862,011                  8,043,667             14,818,344           14,693,903          12,106,915 

FY2022/23 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET  

Page 292 of 309



Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment A

Fund / New TYLER FY2022/23 Final

BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available Project Status 

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget (8/31/22) Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget (6/30/23)

 Recommended 

Carryforward Encumbrance

FY2022/23 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET  

Community Services Funds

Championship Golf

3141LI1202 Cart Path Replacement - Champ Course
55,000                   114,667                          169,667                 5,716                        163,951                 In Progress 163,951               

3141LV1898 Championship Golf Course Electric Cart Fleet and 

GPS
533,360                          533,360                 533,360                    -                          Completed -                       

3153BD2001 Recoat Chateau F&B Grill and Catering Kitchen Floors 39,700                   39,700                   -                            39,700                   Delayed 39,700                 

3142LE1741 2016 Bar Cart #724 20,000                   20,000                   -                            20,000                   In Progress - On Order 20,000                 20,000                

3142LE1742 2016 Bar Cart #725
20,000                   20,000                   -                            20,000                   In Progress - On Order 20,000                 20,000                

3142LE1744 2014 Toro Tri-Plex Mower 3250D #694 42,781                            42,781                   -                            42,781                   In Progress - On Order 42,781                 42,781                

3142LE1745 2017 Toro 3500D Mower #743 36,184                            36,184                   -                            36,184                   In Progress - On Order 36,184                 36,184                

3142LE1746 2012 JD 8500 Fairway Mower #670 93,486                            93,486                   93,486                      -                          Completed

3142LE1747 2011 Toro Groundmaster 4000D #650 66,211                            66,211                   -                            66,211                   In Progress - On Order 66,211                 66,211                

3142LE1750 2013 JD 3235 Fairway Mower #685 98,000                   98,000                   -                            98,000                   In Progress - On Order 97,467                 97,467                

3142LE1759 2014 3500D Toro Rotary Mower #693 40,028                            40,028                   40,028                      -                          Completed

3142LE1760 Replacement of 2010 John Deere 8500 #641 92,000                   92,000                   93,486                      (1,486)                    Completed

3143GC2002 Range Ball Machine Replacement 20,000                            20,000                   4,234                        15,766                   In Progress 5,000                   

3199OE1501 Championship Golf Printer Copier Replacement 

955 Fairway
10,000                   10,000                   -                            10,000                   In Progress - On Order 6,419                   6,419                  

Sub-Total 334,700                 946,717                          -                               -                              -                              1,281,417              770,310                    511,107                 497,713               289,062              

Mountain Golf -                          

3241LI2001 Mountain Golf Cart Path Replacement - Phase II 1,100,000              -                                   1,100,000              99,860                      1,000,140              In Progress 1,000,140           416,640              

3241GC1404 Irrigation Improvements 18,000                   18,000                   785                           17,215                   In Progress 12,831                 12,831                

3242LE1726 2016 Bar Cart #726 20,000                   20,000                   -                            20,000                   In Progress - On Order 20,000                 20,000                

Sub-Total 1,138,000              -                                   -                               -                              -                              1,138,000              100,645                    1,037,355              1,032,971           449,471              

Facilities -                          66,048                      

3351BD1703 Aspen Grove Outdoor Seating BBQ and Landscaping 10,000                   10,000                            20,000                   2,109                        17,891                   Delayed 17,891                 

Sub-Total 10,000                   10,000                            -                               -                              -                              20,000                   2,109                        17,891                   17,891                 -                       

Ski -                          

3453BD1806 Base Lodge Walk In Cooler and Food Prep (Kitchen) 

Reconfiguration 110,000                 31,398                            478,557                      619,955                 35,795                      584,160                 In Progress 584,160               516,390              

3462HE1702 Lakeview Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements 1,613                               1,613                      4,248                        (2,635)                    Completed

3462HE1701 Lodgepole Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements 18,000                   18,000                   2,361                        15,639                   In Progress 15,639                 

3462HE1712 Red Fox Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements
75,000                   75,000                   11,559                      63,441                   In Progress - On Order 63,441                 61,371                

3463HE1722 Loader Tire Chains (1-Set) 9,750                               3,426                          13,176                   -                            13,176                   In Progress 13,176                 13,176                

3463HE1723 2002 Caterpillar 950G Loader #524 265,000                          (3,426)                        261,574                 -                            261,574                 In Progress - On Order 265,000               225,000              

3464LE1601 Ski Resort Snowmobile Fleet Replacement
17,000                   14,295                            31,295                   16,904                      14,391                   Completed

3464LE1729 Snowplow #304A 19,000                            19,000                   -                            19,000                   In Progress 19,000                 

3464LE1734 2016 Polaris Ranger Crew #723 19,000                   19,000                   19,384                      (384)                        Completed

3464SI1002 Snowmaking Infrastructure Replacement 3,227                        (3,227)                    Completed

3467LE1703 Replace Child Ski Center Surface Lift 10,000                            10,000                   3,600                        6,400                      Completed

3468RE0002 Replace Ski Rental Equipment 259,133                          259,133                 -                            259,133                 In Progress 131,880               131,880              

3469HE1740 14-passenger Van
125,000                 125,000                 -                            125,000                 In Progress 125,000               

3469BD2101 Replace Ski Lodge Facility Equipment
115,000                          115,000                 1,027                        113,973                 In Progress 110,494               6,500                  

3453FF1706 Replace Main Lodge/Snowflake Lodge Dining 

Furniture and Fixtures 49,000                   49,000                   2,364                        46,636                   In Progress 46,636                 

3499OE1502 Skier Services Printer/Copier 8,870                               8,870                      8,870                        -                          Completed

3499CE2201 CO23340100 Installation RFID - Software and Gantries 410,000                 410,000                 319,594                    90,406                   Completed

Sub-Total
823,000                 734,059                          -                               481,983                      (3,426)                        2,035,616              428,933                    1,606,683              1,374,426           954,317              

Parks

4378LI2104 IVGID Community Dog Park -                          -                                   -                          -                            

4378LI1604 Pump Track 78,196                            78,196                   28,042                      50,154                   In Progress

4378BD2202 Skate Park Enhancement 10,000                   10,000                   -                            10,000                   In Progress

4378LE1742 2015 Ball Field Groomer #706 24,000                            (13,000)                      11,000                   -                            11,000                   Cancelled

4378LE2220 HV23370100 Toolcat with Bucket and Snowblower 70,000                   70,000                   61,367                      8,633                      In Progress 8,633                   8,633                  

4378LV1734 2011 Pick-Up with Lift gate #646 50,000                   13,000                       63,000                   -                            63,000                   In Progress 63,000                 

4378LV1735 2005 Pick-up Truck 4x4 (1-ton) #554 45,166                            45,166                   45,166                      -                          Completed

4378RS2103

Village Green Drainage and Park Improvement Project

20,000                            20,000                   -                            20,000                   Cancelled

Sub-Total 130,000                 167,362                          -                               -                              -                              297,362                 134,575                    162,787                 71,633                 8,633                  

Page 293 of 309



Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment A

Fund / New TYLER FY2022/23 Final

BOT Approved  Carry 

Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available Project Status 

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget (8/31/22) Cancelled Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget (6/30/23)

 Recommended 

Carryforward Encumbrance

FY2022/23 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET  

Tennis -                          

4588BD1604
Tennis Center Renovation

Total
-                          

Recreation Center

4884BD2201 BI23350100 Recreation Center Expansion Project 25,435,000            (24,348,044)                (38,009)                      1,048,947              680,146                    368,801                 Cancelled/Complete

BI23350300 Recreation Center Tennant Improvments 38,009                       38,009                   13,047                      24,962                   Cancelled/Complete

4884BD2202 BI23350200 Rec Center Exterior Wall Waterproofing & French 

Drain 100,000                 100,000                 7,372                        92,628                   In Progress 92,628                 5,850                  

4899FF1202 Rec Center Locker Room Improvements 969,212                          969,212                 1,176,820                (207,608)                Completed

4884BD1804 Chemtrol System for Recreation Center Pool 22,000                   22,000                   -                            22,000                   Completed

4886LE0001 Fitness Equipment
49,000                   49,000                   42,259                      6,741                      Completed

Sub-Total 25,606,000            969,212                          (24,348,044)                -                              -                              2,227,168              1,919,644                307,524                 92,628                 5,850                  

Community Services Shared

-                          

Total -                          

Total Community Services             28,041,700                         2,827,350                 (24,348,044)                       481,983                          (3,426)                6,999,563                  3,356,216                3,643,347             3,087,262            1,707,333 

Beaches

3970BD2601 Burnt Cedar Swimming Pool and Site Improvements 350,000                          (44,872)                      305,128                 17,755                      287,373                 In Progress 175,000               75,928                

3972BD1501 Beaches Flatscape and Retaining Wall Enhancement 

and Replacement 55,000                   110,000                          165,000                 5,824                        159,176                 Cancelled -                       

3972BD2101 Ski Beach Boat Ramp Improvement Project 100,000                 100,000                 1,151                        98,849                   In Progress 98,849                 

3999BD1708 Ski Beach Bridge Replacement 120,000                 120,000                 -                            120,000                 See Footnote 4 120,000               

3999FF2201 FF23390100 Beach Furnishings 10,000                   (10,000)                      -                          -                            -                          In Progress -                       

3972BD2102 Beach Access Improvements 200,000                 200,000                 23,459                      176,541                 In Progress 176,541               

Total Beaches
485,000                 460,000                          -                               -                              (54,872)                      890,128                 48,189                      841,939                 570,390               75,928                

-                          

Total All Funds  $         44,748,400  $                    8,820,050  $             (24,348,044)  $                2,222,594  $                   (58,298)  $         31,384,702  $            11,890,621  $         19,494,081  $      18,440,942  $      13,939,563 

Footnote 1 - On hold until laboratory equipment is in place; software must match equipment

Footnote 2 - This is a multi-year project funding will be expended fall/winter of 2023

Footnote 3 - This is a multi year project construction will begin May 2024 after USACE NEPA clearance

Footnote 4 - Grant in progress with Nevada Division of Wildlife; keeping in the budget pending grant outcome

Page 294 of 309



Incline Village General Improvement District Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment B

Fund / New TYLER

FY2022/23 

Final

BOT Approved  

Carry Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget 8/31/2022 Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget Project Status

 Recommended 

Carryforward  Final Carryover Encumbrance

General Fund

1212OE1701 EX23100100 Accounting Printer Replacement 8,400             8,400              -                   8,400                     In Progress 8,462                   8,462                     

1213CO1703 District Wide PC, Laptops, Peripheral Equipment and 

Desk Top Printers
75,000           75,000           60,915             14,085                   Ongoing 47,592                   

Total 83,400           -                          83,400           60,915             22,485                   8,462                   56,054                   

4999OE1399 EX23100200 Web Site Redesign and Upgrade 10,000           10,000           -                   10,000                   In Progress 10,000                

1099LI1705 Pavement Maintenance - Administration Building 14,300           14,300           -                   14,300                   In Progress 14,300                

Total 24,300           -                          24,300           -                   24,300                   24,300                -                         

 Total General Fund          107,700                              -             107,700               60,915                     46,785                  32,762                     56,054 

Utilities

Shared 2097DI1401 Adjust Utility Facilities in NDOT/Washoe County Right 

of Way
60,000           183,000                 243,000         42,974             200,026                 Ongoing 200,026              

2097LI1401 Pavement Maintenance, Utility Facilities 180,000         141,495                 321,495         48,405             273,090                 In Progress 273,090              

4999OE1399 EX23100200 Web Site Redesign and Upgrade 10,000           10,000           -                   10,000                   In Progress 10,000                

NEW EX23200200 Rain Gutters, Garage Door Openers, Drainage, Heat 

Tape for Building C
100,000         100,000         -                   100,000                 In Progress 100,000              

NEW EX23200300 Utility Infrastructure Masterplan 500,000         500,000         57,559             442,441                 In Progress 442,441              

Total 850,000         324,495                 1,174,495      148,938           1,025,557             1,025,557           -                         

Water 2299DI1103 Replace Commercial Water Meters, Vaults and Lids 40,000           40,000           4,663               35,337                   Ongoing 35,337                15,350                   

2299DI1204 Water Reservoir Coatings and Site Improvements 60,000           25,000                   85,000           13,973             71,027                   In Progress 71,027                

Total 100,000         25,000                   125,000         18,636             106,364                 106,364              15,350                   

Sewer 2599BD1105X Building Upgrades Water Resource Recovery Facility 30,000           5,600                     35,600           2,269               33,331                   Ongoing 33,331                

2599SS1203X Replace & Reline Sewer Mains, Manholes and 

Appurtenances
55,000           55,000           14,876             40,124                   Ongoing 40,124                

NEW EX23200400 Effluent Pipeline Repairs 100,000         100,000         -                   100,000                 Ongoing 41,800                41,800                   

Total 185,000         5,600                     190,600         17,145             173,455                 115,255              41,800                   

 Total Utilities 1,135,000     355,095                 1,490,095      184,719           1,305,376             1,247,176           57,150                   

Community Services

Championship 3141GC1103 Irrigation Improvements 15,000           15,000           12,206             2,794                     In Progress

3141LI1201 Pavement Maintenance of Parking Lots - Champ 

Course & Chateau
25,000           17,500                   42,500           25,575             16,925                   In Progress 16,925                

Total 40,000           17,500                   57,500           37,781             19,719                   16,925                -                         

Mountain 3241GC1101 Mountain Course Greens, Tees and Bunkers 8,000             8,000              3,194               4,806                     In Progress 4,806                   

3242LI1204 Pavement Maintenance of Parking Lot - Mountain 

Golf Course
12,500           17,400                   29,900           4,088               25,812                   In Progress 25,812                28,355                   

Total 20,500           17,400                   37,900           7,282               30,618                   30,618                28,355                   

Facilities 3350BD1103 Chateau - Replace Carpet 49,500           49,500           55,942             (6,442)                    Completed

3350BD1506 Paint Exterior of Chateau 22,300                   22,300           -                   22,300                   In Progress 22,300                

3350BD1803 Replace Carpet in Chateau Grill 2,090                     2,090              -                   2,090                     Completed

3350BD1505 Paint Interior of Chateau 40,500           40,500           -                   40,500                   Delayed 40,500                

3351BD1501 Aspen Grove Replace Carpet 3,880                     3,880              408                  3,472                     Completed

Total 90,000           28,270                   118,270         56,350             61,920                   62,800                -                         

Ski 3469LI1105 Pavement Maintenance, Diamond Peak and Ski Way 75,000           25,000                   100,000         80,960             19,040                   In Progress 19,040                67,206                   

3499BD1710 Diamond Peak Facilities Flooring Material 

Replacement
20,000           35,603                   55,603           37,738             17,865                   In Progress 17,865                

Total 95,000           60,603                   155,603         118,698           36,905                   36,905                67,206                   

Parks 4378BD1604 Resurface and Coat Preston Park Bathroom, Mech. 2,100                     2,100              -                   2,100                     In Progress 2,100                   

4378BD2001 Grout Repair Upstaris Parks Office & Tile Replace 10,000                   10,000           -                   10,000                   Cancel -                       

4378LI1303 Pavement Maintenance, Village Green Parking 5,000             -                          5,000              10,434             (5,434)                    Completed

4378LI1403 Pavement Maintenance, Preston Field 5,000             7,500                     12,500           1,610               10,890                   In Progress 10,980                

4378LI1602 Pavement Maintenance, Overflow Parking Lot 5,000             5,000                     10,000           890                  9,110                     In Progress 9,110                   

4378LI1802 Pavement Maintenance - Incline Park 6,000             7,500                     13,500           1,357               12,143                   In Progress 12,143                

4378RS1601X Playground Repairs - Preston 7,500             -                          7,500              -                   7,500                     Cancel

Total 28,500           32,100                   60,600           14,291             46,309                   34,333                -                         

Tennis 4588LI1201 Pavement Maintenance, Tennis Facility 5,000             5,000                     10,000           2,396               7,604                     In Progress 7,604                   

Total 5,000             5,000                     10,000           2,396               7,604                     7,604                   -                         

Rec Center 4884LI1102x Pavement Maintenance, Recreation Center Area 7,500             7,500                     15,000           1,668               13,332                   In Progress 13,332                

Total 7,500             7,500                     15,000           1,668               13,332                   13,332                -                         

FY2022/23 CAPITAL PLAN  - EXPENSE ITEMS

Page 295 of 309



Incline Village General Improvement District Capital Improvement Projects Report to the Board of Trustees Attachment B

Fund / New TYLER

FY2022/23 

Final

BOT Approved  

Carry Forward

FY2022/23 

Amended

FY2022/23 

Expenditures Available

Dept. Div. Project # Project # Project Title Budget 8/31/2022 Adjustments Reallocation Budget (6/30/23) Budget Project Status

 Recommended 

Carryforward  Final Carryover Encumbrance

FY2022/23 CAPITAL PLAN  - EXPENSE ITEMS

CS Admin 4999OE1399 EX23100200 Web Site Redesign and Upgrade 20,000           79,990                   99,990           66,346             33,644                   In Progress 33,644                

Total 20,000           79,990                   99,990           66,346             33,644                   33,644                -                         

Total Community Services 306,500         248,363                 554,863         304,812           250,051                 236,161              95,561                   

Beaches

3972BD1301X Pavement Maintenance, Ski Beach 15,000           8,500                     23,500           1,556               21,944                   In Progress 21,944                

3972BD1707 Burnt Cedar Dumpster enclosure 27,648                   27,648           -                   27,648                   Canceled

3972BD2102 Beach Access Improvement Project 40,775                   40,775           69,901             (29,126)                  In Progress 16,899                   

3972FF1704 Beach Furnishings 21,000                   10,000                  31,000           -                   31,000                   In Progress - On Order 31,000                31,000                   

3970BD2601 Burnt Cedar Swimming Pool and Site Improvements 44,872                  44,872           29,785             15,087                   In Progress 15,087                

3972LI1201 Pavement Maintenance, Incline Beach 6,500             6,500                     13,000           3,210               9,790                     In Progress 9,790                   

3972LI1202X Pavement Maintenance, Burnt Cedar Beach -                 24,800                   24,800           1,142               23,658                   In Progress 23,658                

3972RS1701X Playground Repairs - Beaches 7,500             -                          7,500              -                   7,500                     Canceled

3973LI1302 Incline Beach Facility Replacement -                 100,000                 100,000         25,760             74,240                   In Progress 74,240                

3999DI1706 Burnt Cedar Beach Backflow Device Replacement 55,000           55,000           1,035               53,965                   In Progress 53,965                6,038                     

Total 84,000           229,223                 54,872                  368,095         132,388           235,707                 229,684              53,937                   

Grand Total  $   1,633,200  $              832,681  $                         -    $               54,872  $   2,520,753  $        682,834  $           1,837,919  $        1,745,783  $                         -    $              262,703 

Page 296 of 309



Attachment C

IVGID Capital Improvement Project Reporting

Definitions for Status Terms

• Added – An unbudgeted project that meets capital improvement criteria and established after the start of the fiscal 
year.

• Cancelled – A project that was scheduled but is no longer being considered for construction or acquisition.
• Carried Over – A project re-scheduled to another fiscal year and has had its remaining budget updated.
• Completed – A project that has finished all phases and is set up as a capital asset.
• Delayed – A project timeline extended for either for a change in scope of work or the conditions without 

adjustment to its budget.
• In Progress – A project which is not completed and may incur additional costs.
• In Progress – On Order – A project which is in progress and materials/equipment has been ordered but the project 

is not yet completed.
• In Progress - Multi-Year – A project that has been started and was scheduled to be executed over multiple fiscal 

years to facilitate each phase (pre-design, design and construction or acquisition).
• Multi-Year – A project scheduled to be executed over multiple fiscal years to facilitate each phase (pre-design, 

design and construction or acquisition).
• Ongoing – A project that represents a continuous flow of rehabilitation or renewal of an operating system with 

added revenues and costs over time.
• Opened Early – A scheduled project that starts ahead of plan due to a change in conditions or assumptions.
• Postponed – A project with some reason to not be active but is still intended to be executed at some future time.
• Reallocation – A project added or altered by the addition of spending authority from a specified completed or 

cancelled project from the same fiscal year.
• Xfer to Operating – A project that will be transferred to the capital plan – expense items.

Page 297 of 309



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM: Matthew Dent
Chair

Josh Nelson
General Counsel

SUBJECT: Review, discuss, and provide direction on 
redactions for pending public records requests

RELATED STRATEGIC
PLAN INITIATIVES: Long Range Principle #7 Governance

RELATED DISTRICT
POLICY: Policy and Procedure No. 137/Resolution No. 

1801 (Policy for the Provision of Records and 
Information to the Public)

DATE: October 25, 2023

I. RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Trustees review, discuss, and provide direction on redactions 
for pending public records requests.

II. BACKGROUND

Attached is a list of the pending public records redactions since our last report.

III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET

No direct impact by this item.

IV. ALTERNATIVES

Below is an alternative to the recommended action:

1. Discontinue or modify the proposed reporting for public records.

Page 298 of 309



Review, discuss, and consider -2- October 25, 2023
redactions for pending records requests

V. BUSINESS IMPACT

This item is not a "rule" within the meaning of Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 
237, and does not require a Business Impact Statement.

VI. ATTACHMENTS

N/A

Page 299 of 309



Date of 
Request

Requestor Request Dated 
Responded

Dated 
Records 
Provided

Exemption Applied and 
Rationale

09/24/2023 Cliff Dobler Silver State Law Invoices 10/04/2023 10/04/2023 The invoices included 
attorney-client privileged 
information.  Redactions 
were applied narrowly 
consistent with past Board 
direction.

Page 300 of 309



BOARD OF TRUSTEES LONG RANGE CALENDAR 

November 8 
Finance Contract: Forensic Audit 
Marketing Report: IVGID Magazine – survey results 
BOT Policy: Discussion on Creating a Policy on Language i.e. Spanish, 

Italian, Polish, etc. (Tonking) 
BOT Practice: All-you-can-play golf pass review 
PW Agreement: SPS #1 Construction Contract Approval & Award 
PW SPS #5 and Manhole Recoating 
PW Agreement: Reservoir 3-1 WPS 4-2/5-1 Road – Approve & Award 

Design Contract 
SKI Agreement: Agreement for Procurement of 14-Passenger Shuttle Van 
SKI Agreement Amendment Between District Ski area and Hyatt Corp  

Staff Report Parks and Recreation 

December 13 
PW Easement: SPS #5 Easement 
PW Contract: Burnt Cedar Emergency Fuel Tank Replacement 
Board 
Advisory Golf 
Committee 

Report: Golf Advisory Committee initial findings/recommendations 
(without financials) 

PW Agreement: Centrifuge Reconditioning Approval & Award  
PW Agreement: Skate Park Design/Build Award with a stop at 30%, and 

return to the BOT, to review the two options (spend $250K or spend 
$500K) 

PW Agreement: Incline Beach House Design/Build Award with a stop at 
30%, and return to the BOT to select the preferred design option 

PW Approval of SRF Funding for GMP2 of the Effluent Export Line 
PW GMP2 Contract Award with Granite Construction for Effluent Export 

Line 

JANUARY 2024 
PW Procurement: Lab Equipment 

IItem I.1. 

Page 301 of 309



 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES LONG RANGE CALENDAR 

PARKING LOT ITEMS 
Date of 

Request 
Item Requester Status/Notes Date 

Completed 
1/18/21 Possible discussion on 

IVGID needs as it relates 
to potential land use 
agreement with DPSEF  

Trustee 
Schmitz 

DPSEF continues 
to have discussion 
amongst 
themselves about 
this item 

 

11/3/21 Request that the Board 
discuss a strategy for 
dealing with e-mails and 
correspondence that the 
Board receives. Need to 
have a strategy and 
approach on who 
responded – come up 
with a consensus by the 
Board on who responds.  

Trustee 
Schmitz 

Related to Policy 
20.1.0. Follow up 
with District 
Counsel Nelson 
 
Trustee Noble is 
responding to each 
correspondence. 

 

Unknown Next step on Diamond 
Peak parking lot/Ski Way 
– Staff added reminder 

GM DPSR 
Bandelin 

  

Unknown Modifications to current 
budget to reflect grant 
funding and cost sharing 
on Effluent Tank  

Director of 
Public 
Works 

 Completed 
5/25/2023 

Unknown Liaisons with Washoe 
County 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

  

2/8/23 Capitalization Policy  Trustee 
Schmitz 

  

2/8/23 Update on Snowflake 
Lodge  

Trustee 
Noble 

  

2/8/23 Workforce Housing for 
Seasonal Employees 

Trustee 
Noble 

Staff to share with 
Trustee Noble the 
current situation. 

 

4/5/23 Policy 16.1 – Recreation 
Roll 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

  

4/5/23 Punch Card 
Recommendations 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

  

  

Page 302 of 309



 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES LONG RANGE CALENDAR 

Date of 
Request 

Item Requester Status/Notes Date 
Completed 

4/5/23 Review policy re: use 
of procurement cards 

Trustee 
Tulloch 

  

5/25/23 Family tree 
(Ordinance 7) review 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

  

5/25/23 Two (2) Policy 20.1.0 
on the website 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

This is correct 
and it will be 
corrected when 
one of these 
policies comes 
before the Board 

 

5/25/23 Pyramid (within 
Practice 6.1.0) – The 
Board never 
discussed how our 
venues fit into the 
practice 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

Will be on the 
9/27/2023 agenda 

 

5/25/23 Do a survey for the 
IVGID Magazine to 
see if there is value in 
producing a paper 
copy and mailing 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

The survey 
remains open 
until 10/31. A 
report will be 
made in Nov or 
Dec. 

 

06/14/23 Clarification on Scope 
#3 (IT) with Moss 
Adams  

Trustee 
Schmitz 

RFP out; bids due 
back 10/4 

 

06/14/23 Skate Park update Trustee 
Schmitz 

Plan is to send 
the RFP out for 
skate park design 
build contractors 
in October and be 
able to go back to 
the Board for 
selection in 
December 

 

06/14/23 Discuss the possibility 
of scheduling a 
community Town Hall 
or perhaps having a 
30-minute social half 
hour before each 
Board meeting 

Trustee 
Schmitz 

Will discuss at the 
9/27 Board 
meeting – Trustee 
Tonking to 
prepare the 
memorandum. 

 

06/28/23 Review and Possible 
Approval of Revisions 
to Policy 2.1.0 

GM Bandelin   

Date of 
Request 

Item Requester Status/Notes Date 
Completed 

Page 303 of 309



 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES LONG RANGE CALENDAR 

06/28/23 Review CIP Roles & 
Responsibilities 
(Policies 12.1, 13.1 
and Practice 13.2 

GM Bandelin   

Date of 
Request 

Item Requester Status/Notes Date 
Completed 

06/28/23 Chairman Dent to 
propose 2 days for a 
Trustee Forum 

Chairman Dent   

06/28/23 Redactions – needs a 
legal non-meeting as a 
Trustee requested that 
the PE’s be made 
public 

Chairman Dent   

07/12/23 Waste Management Trustee Schmitz   
07/12/23 Strategic Plan Trustee Tulloch October  
07/12/23 Writing a letter to 

schools regarding 
programs 

Chairman Dent   

07/26/23 Update on Food and 
Beverage (from 
7/26/2023 meeting) 

GM Bandelin Will come before 
the Board before 
year end. 

 

08/01/23 General Fund 
Augmentation 
including public 
hearing 

GM 
Bandelin/Interim 
Director of 
Finance Magee 

Will be 
scheduled for 
January or 
February 2024 

 

08/09/23 5-year Capital 
Improvement Plan 
(CIP) 

Trustee Schmitz/ 
Tulloch 

  

08/09/23 UNR and Washoe 
County BOT’s 
Additional Training 

Trustee Tonking Date to be 
determined after 
2nd training is 
rescheduled 

 

08/09/23 Revise State Budget 
Forms (if needed) 

GM 
Bandelin/Interim 
Director of 
Finance Magee 

Will be 
agendized at the 
appropriate time 

 

 

Page 304 of 309



Item J.4. 

CONTRACTS REVIEWED BY TRUSTEE SCHMITZ PER POLICY 3.1
Date of 

Requested 
Review Vendor SOW Type

Date of 
Contract

Date of Vendor 
Signature Amount Status

10/17/2023 Mann Built Construction SPS#8 new ‐ T&M ‐ charged 
to NDOT ROW 
realignment

10/17/2023 No Date $8,000 Appears to have the same error 
‐ section 3.2 references Exhibit 
B as 'plans and specification', 
yet Exhibit B is Requirements 
for Construction Manual. Same 
error as prior Mann 
Construction contract reviewed 
on 10/12; Additionally, 3.7.1 b 
incorrectly refers to Exhibit B as 
the rate schedule which is 
Exhibit C.

10/12/2023 Resource Concepts extend terms 
to 
12/13/2023 

amendment 10/3/2023 The amendment had a date 
that was backdated as a 
reference because the original 
contract was backdated. The 
orginal contract reads 
12/14/2022. but was backdated 
to 12/5/2022

10/12/2023 Resource Concepts extended 
terms 
through 
10/31/2023

amendment 10/3/2023 The amendment had a date 
that was backdated as a 
reference because the original 
contract was backdated. The 
orginal contract was on 
12/14/2022 but was backdated 
to 12/5/2022

10/12/2023 Mann Built Construction Burnt Cedar 
RFID 
earthwork

new 10/10/2023 10/11/2023 $10,500 There was an error and a 
reference to Exhibit B as plans 
and specs, but was the fee 
schedule.

Page 305 of 309



Item J.4. 
10/12/2023 E‐Z‐Go Textron routine 

maintenance 
of 58 golf 
carts

PO 10/10/2023 $11,160 Fleet no longer does this 
maintenance

10/10/2023 Frontier Advisors Nolan Umana 
services ‐ 
MD&A for 
ACFR

new ‐ T&M 10/10/2023 0/10/2023 $6,000 the exhibit referred to the 
MD&A for CAFR, was changed 
to ACFR. Dates also required 
changes.

9/27/2023 GSO3 Services, LLC annual 
service and 
calibration of 
ozone 
analyzer

PO NO DATE on 
PO

9/22/2023 $15,850 PO has amount for travel and a 
blanket $4500 for parts. * on 
page not defined but upon 
question an email was received 
to state it meant receipts would 
be provided

9/26/2023 Kodiak Roofing repair of 
Mountain 
Course Roof ‐ 
covered by 
insurance

new NO DATES none provided $80,125 Who had signing authority? 
Who tracks insurance 
payment?

9/26/2023 DOWL, LLC surveying 
serv ices, 
Alder Ave.

new 9/25/2023 9/26/2023 $12,881 OK

9/25/2023 DOWL,LLC SPS#1 project amendment 1 ‐ code 
issues with electrical 
originAL DATED 
6/29/23

8/31/2023 9/21/2023 $17,250 Is this another backdating? The 
original contract was for $33K 
so what was the budget?

9/13/2023 LA Perks DP work for 
diesel use

PO ‐ No Date on PO No Date No Date $16,404 OK other than no dates

9/13/2023 Armac pavement 
maintenance

new No Date $17,635 OK

9/1/2023 Lumos Tahoe Resort ‐
capacity 
analysis

amendment 1  8/31/2023 9/1/2023 $5,000 fees to be reimbursed by 
developer

Page 306 of 309



Item J.4. 
9/1/2023 Lumos Tahoe Resort ‐

sewer 
evaluation

amendment 2 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 $21,300 The amendement was 
incorrectly referred to as 
Amendment 1 (corrected). No 
fee schedule included in the 
contract with Task #4 being 
T&M. Fees to be reimbursed by 
developer

8/30 (BOT), 
then again 

upon request 
to sign, 9/11 
and 9/12

TechnoAlpin DP 
Snowmaking 
Equipment 
purchase

$413,169.22  9/12/2023 8/9/2023 This contract had many errors 
that were discovered to be 
introduced when converting to 
a .pdf. NOTE Noble AND the 
Vendor and Legal Counsel 
signed PRIOR to the finaal 
contract indicating the 
SIGNATURE PAGE WAS 
SWAPPED.

7/31/2023 Tobey Consulting Group structural 
engineering 
work for 
Mountain 
Course Roof 
at entry 
repair

NEW ‐ template used 7/31/2023 not signed $11,600 Required rework. Exhibit B was 
referenced, but not included. 
The reference to Exhibit B was 
removed.

7/31/2023 Walsh Odyssey Engineering
survey for 
Reservior 3‐1 NEW ‐ template used 7/31/2023 not signed $3,600 Good ‐ Exhibit A called out

7/31/2023 Walsh Odyssey Engineering
survey for 
skate park NEW ‐ template used 7/31/2023 not signed $4,300 Good ‐ Exhibit A called out

7/31/2023 Black Eagle Consulting

GeoTechnical 
Investigation 
for Reservior 
3‐1 NEW ‐ template used 7/31/2023 not signed $6,400

Good ‐ exhibits called out 

7/18/2023 Q & D Construction

IVGID utility 
relocation in 
NDOT ROW NEW ‐ template used 7/17/2023 7/17/2023 $36,500

Contract required modication 
to the Scope of Work to call out 
Exhibit A, the costs for the 
work. 

Page 307 of 309



Item J.4. 
5/15/2023 FW Carson replace 

lateral water 
main prior to 
NDOT curb 
work 
beginning on 
5/18/2023

NEW 5/15/2023 none provided ######### Work Complete

5/13/2023 HERO Environmental Hazardous 
Materials 
Collection 
services 

New ‐ Renewed 4/11/2023 ‐ 
11/15/2023

4/4/2023 ######### Approved after adding language 
to the agreement and the 
confidentiality agreement for 
assigined employees to include 
reference to IVGID's 
whistleblower policy and 
process

4/27/2023 Jacobs Engineering On‐Call 
Engineering 
Services

UPDATED contract 
form from CH2M 
from 2009

Not Included none provided Not to 
exceed 
$20,000

This was my request to have the 
contract form brought up to 
date.

3/23/2023 Diamond Peak Reciprocal 
Agreement

Form for use 
between 
resorts

2023‐24 season 2023‐24 ski 
season ‐ 
form

3/3/2023 CH2M, Inc. technical 
services from 
1‐31‐2023 
through 12‐
31‐2023 ‐ see 
attached 
SOW

On‐Call Professional 
Services Agreement 
Task Order 27, dated 
July 31, 2009, and as 
amended by Task 
Order 27.1 dated 
February 10, 2020 
and Amendment 2 
dated February 16, 
2022

3‐Mar‐23 N/A using 
unused 
funds of 
$18,141.25 
from prior 
contract 

Awaiting answers as to why this 
is back dated and the review of 
the orignal 2009 and 2/2022 
contracts for which funds are 
being used for this effort. Legal 
counsel was asked why this 
contract hasn't been convered 
to the new template.

Page 308 of 309



Item J.4. 
2/16/2023 DOWL pond project 

field survey
NEW 2/14/2023 none provided $3,160 approved with SOW language  

change from 'effluent export 
line' to  'effluent export storage 
tank'

1/30/2023 LSC Traffic Study NEW 1/9/2023 1/17/2023 $39,550 approved with budget 
verification

1/30/2023 Brown & Read Engineering Change of 
completion to 
May 30, 2023 
‐ 
Replacement 
of WRRF 

Amendment 1/5/2022 1/26/2023 No Charge approved

1/30/2023 Farr Engineering Undefined 
additional 
work

Amendment 10/13/2022 1/23/2023 $10,000 not approved ‐ advised staff to 
make use of specific change 
orders for clarity and defined 
scope

1/30/2023 Jacobs Engineering Extend 
completion 
date to 
7/1/2023 for 
the 100% 
design of 
pond lining 
project 
completion

Amendment 6/9/2021 1/13/2023 No Charge approved

Page 309 of 309


	A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE*
	B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES*
	C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS
	D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	E. REPORTS TO THE BOARD - Reports are intended to inform the Board and/or the public.
	1. Verbal report to the Board on Point of Sale Reques
	2. Report to the Board on Fiscal Year 2022/ 2023 Four
	Item E.2. FY 2022-23 Q4 Popular CIP Status Report 
	2023.10.18 - Q4 FY22-23 CIP Popular Report_06.30.23 REVISED

	3. Treasurers Report - A Summary of the Activities of
	Treasurer's Report September 2023


	F. CONSENT CALENDAR (for possible action)	
	1. Approval of the Meeting Minutes of September 19, 2
	09-19-2023-IVGID-IVGID-4-MULTI
	Invoice 4 dated 09252023
	Public Comment 09192023

	2. Approval of the Meeting Minutes of September 27, 2
	09-27-2023-IVGID-IVGID-6-MULTI
	Invoice 6 dated 10-08-2023
	09-27-2023 Public Comment

	3. Adopt Policy and Procedure No. 143/Resolution No. 
	Item F.3. - District Advertising Policy
	IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy [BBK redlines 10
	IVGID Districtwide Advertisement Policy [BBK clean 10.13]-c1


	G. GENERAL BUSINESS (for possible action)	
	1. Review, discuss, and potentially answer the remain
	Item J.3. Memorandum
	IVGID Townhall - All Questions (Submitted and Addressed)

	2. Review, Discuss and Possibly Authorize the Purchas
	Memorandum
	Equipment Purchase Agreement_Turf Star Western

	3. Review and discuss the Total Project Cost for comp
	Item E.1. Memo
	ATTACHMENT A - Rock Investigation Summary
	ATTACHMENT B - EEP GMP 2 Risk Register_

	4. Review, discuss and possibly approve augmentations
	Item G.4. Memorandum
	Q4 FY22-23 CIP Popular Report_06.30.23 REVISED 8.24.23


	H. REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS (for possible action)
	1. Redactions for Public Records
	Redactions


	I. LONG RANGE CALENDAR
	1. Long Range Calendar
	For 1025 Packet with schedule


	J. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE
	1. Verbal Report from Capital Investment Committee Ch
	2. Verbal Report from Golf Advisory Committee Chair M
	3. Contracts Review by Trustee Sara Schmitz per Polic
	ContractReview (003)


	K. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - See Item C for applicable rules.
	L. ADJOURNMENT (for possible action)	
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



